NQF-Endorsed Measures for Endocrine Conditions: Cycle 1, 2014

TECHNICAL REPORT

November 21, 2014



This report is funded by the Department of Health and Human Services under contract HHSM-500-2012-00009I Task HHSM-500-T0008

NATIONAL QUALITY FORUM

NATIONAL QUALITY FORUM

Contents

Executive Summary	5
Introduction	6
Diabetes	6
Osteoporosis	7
National Quality Strategy	7
Trends and Performance	8
Endocrine Measure Evaluation: Refining the Evaluation Process	
Standing Steering Committee	9
Piloting More Frequent Submission and Evaluation	9
NQF Portfolio of Performance Measures for Endocrine Conditions	
Use of Measures in the Portfolio	
Improving NQF's Endocrine Portfolio	
Endocrine Measure Evaluation: Cycle 1 Review: December 2013 – March 2014	
Comments Received	
Overarching Issues	
Summary of Cycle 1 Measure Evaluation	
References	25
Appendix A: Details of Measure Evaluation	27
Endorsed Measures	
Measures Not Recommended	
Measures Withdrawn from Consideration	
Appendix B: NQF Endocrine Portfolio and Related Measures	60
NQF –Endorsed Diabetes Measures	60
NQF –Endorsed Osteoporosis Measures	64
NQF-endorsed measures for patients with osteoporosis	64
Appendix C: Endocrine Portfolio—Use In Federal Programs	66
Appendix D: Project Standing Committee and NQF Staff	
Appendix E: Measure Specifications	71
Appendix F: Related and Competing Measures	
Appendix G: FMQAI Memo	

NATIONAL QUALITY FORUM

NQF-Endorsed Measures for Endocrine Conditions: Cycle 1, 2014

TECHNICAL REPORT

Executive Summary

Endocrine conditions result from disorders of the endocrine system, most often when either too much or too little of a particular hormone is produced.¹ In the United States, two of the most common endocrine disorders are diabetes and osteoporosis.² Diabetes, a group of diseases characterized by high blood glucose levels, affects as many as 25.8 million Americans and ranks as the 7th leading cause of death in the United States.³ Major complications³ of diabetes include heart disease and heart attack, stroke, high blood pressure, retinopathy and blindness, chronic kidney disease and end-stage renal disease, peripheral neuropathy, poor wound healing and chronic ulceration, and lower limb amputation. Osteoporosis, a bone disease characterized by low bone mass and density, affects an estimated 9 percent of U.S. adults aged 50 and over.⁴ Major complications of osteoporosis include hip fracture, spinal compression fracture, and other fragility fractures.⁵

Currently, NQF's Endocrine portfolio includes measures for diabetes and osteoporosis only. Many of the diabetes measures in the portfolio are among NQF's longest-standing measures. Several of the measures in the portfolio currently are used in public and/or private accountability and quality improvement programs.

NQF selected the Endocrine measure evaluation project to pilot a potential change in the measure submission process, allowing for more frequent submission and evaluation of measures than what is possible in our current 3-year measure maintenance cycle. This 22-month project will include three full endorsement "cycles," allowing for the submission and review of both new and previously-endorsed measures every six months. In addition, this project is one of the first to transition to the use of Standing Committees. The 20-member Endocrine Standing Committee will oversee the NQF Endocrine measure portfolio, including evaluating both newly-submitted and previously-endorsed measures against NQF's measure evaluation criteria, identifying gaps in the measurement portfolio, providing feedback on how the portfolio should evolve, and serving on any ad hoc or expedited projects in their designated topic areas. All other elements of the standard endorsement process will remain unchanged in this pilot.

In cycle 1 of the pilot, the Standing Committee evaluated 5 new measures and 12 measures undergoing maintenance review against NQF's standard evaluation criteria. Fourteen of the measures were recommended for endorsement by the Committee, one was not recommended (#2418), and two were withdrawn from consideration (these were brought back to the Committee in cycle 2 of the pilot). All 14 of the measures recommended for endorsement by the Standing Committee have been endorsed by NQF; these include:

• 0055: Comprehensive Diabetes Care: Eye Exam (retinal) performed

- 0056: Diabetes: Foot Exam
- 0057: Comprehensive Diabetes Care: Hemoglobin A1c (HbA1c) testing
- 0059: Comprehensive Diabetes Care: Hemoglobin A1c (HbA1c) Poor Control (>9.0%)
- 0062: Comprehensive Diabetes Care: Medical Attention for Nephropathy
- 0519: Diabetic Foot Care and Patient Education Implemented
- 0545: Adherence to Statins for Individuals with Diabetes Mellitus
- 0575: Comprehensive Diabetes Care: Hemoglobin A1c (HbA1c) Control (<8.0%)
- 2362: Glycemic Control Hyperglycemia
- 2363: Glycemic Control Hypoglycemia
- 2416: Laboratory Investigation for Secondary Causes of Fracture
- 2417: Risk Assessment/Treatment After Fracture
- 2467: Adherence to ACEIs/ARBs for Individuals with Diabetes Mellitus
- 2468 (Adherence to Oral Diabetes Agents for Individuals with Diabetes Mellitus)

Brief summaries of the measures review in this cycle of the project are included in the body of this report; detailed summaries of the Committee's discussion and ratings of the criteria are included in <u>Appendix A</u>.

Introduction

Endocrine conditions result from disorders of the endocrine system—the network of glands that produce and release hormones that regulate many bodily functions such as growth and development, metabolism, and reproduction.⁶ Endocrine disorders most often result when either too much or too little of a particular hormone is produced.¹ In the United States, two of the most common endocrine disorders are diabetes and osteoporosis.²

Diabetes

Diabetes is a group of diseases characterized by high blood glucose levels. An estimated 25.8 million people in the United States have the disease, including more than one-quarter of whom are undiagnosed.³ Diabetes affects all age groups but is most prevalent in those ages 45-64 (13.7 percent) and in those ages 65 and older (26.9 percent).³ It is the 7th leading cause of death in the United States and is associated with an estimated \$174 billion in direct medical costs and costs related to disability, work loss, and premature mortality.³ Major complications³ of diabetes include:

- Heart disease and heart attack (heart disease mortality is 2-4 times higher in those with diabetes)
- **Stroke** (stroke risk is 2-4 times higher among those with diabetes)
- High blood pressure (two-thirds of those with diabetes have hypertension)
- **Retinopathy and blindness** (over one quarter of those ages 40 and older with diabetes have diabetic retinopathy and diabetes is the leading cause of new cases of blindness for people aged 20-74 years)
- Chronic kidney disease/end-stage renal disease (diabetes is the leading cause of kidney failure)

- **Peripheral neuropathy** (as many as 60-70 percent of those with diabetes have nervous system damage)
- Peripheral arterial disease
- Poor wound healing/chronic ulceration
- Lower limb amputation (more than 60 percent occur among those with diabetes)

Osteoporosis

Osteoporosis is bone disease characterized by low bone mass and density. An estimated 9percent of U.S. adults aged 50 and over have osteoporosis.⁴ Overall, osteoporosis is more common in women than in men (4 percent vs. 16 percent); in women, the prevalence increases for each decade of age after age 50, but in men, the prevalence remains fairly stable between the ages of 50 and 80, but increases substantially afterwards.⁴ Osteoporosis can be diagnosed either through the occurrence of fragility fracturesⁱ or through measurement of bone mineral density.^{5, 7} The major complications⁵ of osteoporosis include:

- **Hip fracture**. Hip fracture is more common in women than in men (>250,000 per year vs. > 75,000 per year) and an estimated 33 percent of women and 17 percent of men will have a hip fracture by age 90. Typically, half of women with hip fracture do not recover full functionality post- fracture. Approximately 1 in 5 older adults die within one year following hip fracture, although the risk is higher for men than for women.
- **Spinal compression fracture.** Spinal compression fractures are more common in women that in men (>500,000 per year vs. > 175,000 per year); the lifetime risk is approximately 12 percent for both men and women.
- **Other fragility fractures**. These fractures, which include wrist/forearm fractures, pelvic fractures, and other types of fractures, comprise an estimated 59 percent of osteoporosis-related fractures.⁸

Such fractures decrease quality of life and increase the likelihood of functional impairment, morbidity, and mortality.⁵ As much as \$20 billion in direct medical costs can be attributed to osteoporosis.⁸

National Quality Strategy

The National Quality Strategy (NQS) serves as the overarching framework for guiding and aligning public and private efforts across all levels (local, state, and national) to improve the quality of health care in the United States.⁹ The NQS establishes the "triple aim" of better care, affordable care, and healthy people/communities, focusing on six priorities to achieve those aims: *Safety, Person and Family Centered Care, Communication and Care Coordination, Effective Prevention and Treatment of Illness, Best Practices for Healthy Living,* and *Affordable Care.*¹⁰

Improvement efforts for diabetes and osteoporosis care are consistent with the NQS triple aim and align with several of the NQS priorities, including:

ⁱ Breaks caused by falls from standing height or less, usually in spine, wrist, or hip

- Effective Prevention and Treatment of Illness. Diabetes is the 7th leading cause of death in the United States and both diabetes and osteoporosis rank as two of the 20 high-impact Medicare conditions.¹¹
- Communication and Care Coordination. Coordination is a priority because often care for patients with diabetes occurs across provider types (e.g., primary care, endocrinologists, podiatrists, optometrists) and similarly, fractures due to osteoporosis require both acute and post-acute care across settings (e.g., emergency departments, inpatient facilities, rehabilitation-facilities). Also, improving care for these conditions can reduce complications, thus helping to decrease the number of hospital admissions and readmissions.
- Best Practices for Healthy Living. Engagement in healthy behavior (e.g., weight control, smoking cessation) and accessing preventive services such as screening is critical for the prevention and management of both diabetes and osteoporosis.

Trends and Performance

Studies have shown that providing routine preventive care such as foot and eye exams and controlling risk factors (e.g., blood pressure, LDL cholesterol, and HbA1cⁱⁱ levels) can prevent or ameliorate some complications of diabetes.^{12, 13} The proportions of patients receiving these preventive services have increased since the mid-1990s, when performance measures for these activities were first developed.^{14, 15} Similarly, the proportions of diabetic patients with well-controlled HbA1c, blood pressure, and LDL levels have increased.^{14, 15} There has also been an overall decrease in the United States in several of the major complications of diabetes, including visual impairment, mortality due to hyperglycemic crises, end-stage renal disease, and lower-extremity amputations, and these decreases have been due, at least in part, to quality measurement efforts.^{14, 15} Localized impact of measurement also has been quantified. For example, after implementation of the 5-component Optimal Diabetes Care composite (NQF #0729) in Minnesota, performance on the measure increased from 4% to 38%; for one large regional health plan, this lead to 387 fewer heart attacks and 69 fewer leg amputations, and 777 fewer members who developed vision complications.¹⁶

Results from the Healthcare Effectiveness Data and Information Set (HEDIS) indicate relatively small, yet steady, increases since 2007 in the percentage of older women who received a bone density test to screen for osteoporosis and in the percentage older women with a fracture who had a bone density test or pharmacological treatment within six months of the fracture.¹⁷ Data spanning the 18-year period between 1986 and 2004 indicate a decrease in the incidence of hip fracture since the mid-1990s among both men and women, as well as a decrease in post-hip fracture mortality since 2002.¹⁸

Endocrine Measure Evaluation: Refining the Evaluation Process

Two changes to the Consensus Development Process (CDP)—transitioning to Standing Steering Committees and allowing for more frequent measure submission and evaluation—have been

ⁱⁱ HbA1c is a measure of the average levels of glucose in the blood.

incorporated into the ongoing maintenance activities for the Endocrine portfolio. These changes are described below.

Standing Steering Committee

In an effort to remain responsive to its stakeholders' needs, NQF is constantly working to improve the CDP. Volunteer, multi-stakeholder steering committees are the central component to the endorsement process, and the success of the CDP projects is due in large part to the participation of its Steering Committee members. In the past, NQF initiated the Steering Committee nominations process and seated new project-specific committees only when funding for a particular project had been secured. Seating new committees with each project not only lengthened the project timeline, but also resulted in a loss of process continuity and consistency because committee membership changed—often quite substantially—over time.

To address these issues in the CDP, NQF is beginning to transition to the use of Standing Steering Committees for various topic areas. These Standing Committees will oversee the various measure portfolios; this oversight function will include evaluating both newly-submitted and previously-endorsed measures against NQF's measure evaluation criteria, identifying gaps in the measurement portfolio, providing feedback on how the portfolio should evolve, and serving on any ad hoc or expedited projects in their designated topic areas.

The Endocrine Standing Committee currently includes 20 members (see <u>Appendix C</u>). Each member has been randomly appointed to serve an initial two- or three- year term, after which he/she may serve a subsequent 3-year term if desired.

Piloting More Frequent Submission and Evaluation

In response to stakeholder desire for a more efficient, consistent, and user-friendly process for measure evaluation, NQF recently has developed new educational products, implemented new procedures and activities, and begun piloting two new elements for the CDP. One of these new elements—allowing for more frequent submission and evaluation of measures than what is possible in our current 3-year measure maintenance cycle—is being piloted in the current endocrine measure evaluation project. Specifically, NQF has structured this 22-month project to conduct three full endorsement "cycles", allowing for the submission and review of both new and previously-endorsed measures every six months.

Although the frequency of the measure submission and evaluation is changing for this pilot project, the remainder of the endorsement process remains unchanged. The Standing Committee will evaluate all measures submitted in each cycle against the NQF Measure Evaluation Criteria. Stakeholders will continue to be able to attend meetings and conference calls and provide comments, and NQF members will continue to have the opportunity to vote on endorsement recommendations.

Although the desire for more flexible CDP scheduling is long-standing for many of NQF's stakeholders, NQF is aware that such a change could result in unintended consequences for staff, measure developers, members, volunteers, and other stakeholders. Accordingly, as a part of this pilot effort,

NQF will seek feedback throughout the project duration from our committees, measure developers, and those who provide comments, votes, or attend our meetings and use this information to compile an analysis of "lessons learned" at the conclusion of the project. This analysis will include a formal evaluation of the pilot, as well as recommendations for full-scale implementation of more frequent measure submission and evaluation, as warranted.

NQF Portfolio of Performance Measures for Endocrine Conditions

Currently, NQF's portfolio of endocrine measures includes measures for diabetes and osteoporosis only. This portfolio contains 39 measures: 28 process measures, 10 outcome and resource use measures, and 1 composite measure (see table below).

NQF Endocrine Portfolio of Measures

	Process	Outcome/Resource Use	Composite
Diabetes	21	9	1
Osteoporosis	7	1	0
Total	28	10	1

Twenty-three of the measures in the portfolio will be evaluated by the Endocrine Committee. The remaining 16 measures have been assigned, for various reasons, to other projects. These include various diabetes assessment and screening measures (Health and Well-being/Behavioral Health project), eye care measures (HEENT project), ACEI/ARB medication measures (Cardiovascular project), complications and outcomes measures (Health and Well-being/Surgery projects), and one cost and resource use measure (Resource Use project).

Endorsement of measures by NQF is valued not only because the evaluation process itself is both rigorous and transparent, but also because evaluations are conducted by multi-stakeholder committees comprised of clinicians and other experts from hospitals and other healthcare providers, employers, health plans, public agencies, community coalitions, and patients—many of whom use measures on a daily basis to ensure better care. Moreover, NQF-endorsed measures undergo routine "maintenance" (i.e., re-evaluation) to ensure that they are still the best-available measures and reflect the current science. Importantly, legislative mandate requires that preference be given to NQF-endorsed measures for use in federal public reporting and performance-based payment programs. NQF measures also are used by a variety of stakeholders in the private sector, including hospitals, health plans, and communities.

Over time, and for various reasons, some previously-endorsed endocrine-related measures have been dropped from the full NQF portfolio (see <u>Appendix B</u>). In some cases, the measure steward may not want to continue maintaining the measure for endorsement (e.g., to update specifications as new drugs/tests become available or as diagnosis/procedure codes evolve or go through NQF's measure maintenance process). In other cases, measures may lose endorsement upon maintenance review. Loss of endorsement can occur for many different reasons including—but not limited to—a change in

evidence without an associated change in specifications, high performance on a measure signifying no further opportunity for improvement, and endorsement of a superior measure.

The Endocrine portfolio of measures is organized—for diabetes and osteoporosis separately—according to NQF's Episode of Care model.¹⁹ This patient-centric framework, which is broadly applicable to both acute and chronic conditions, can be used to map existing performance measures and highlight gaps in measurement.

The model for diabetes²⁰ was developed in 2008 by a panel of experts in diabetes and performance measurement in an effort designed to provide recommendations for a pathway forward for diabetes quality measurement (see <u>Appendix B</u>). It reflects the full spectrum of the disease by incorporating four trajectories specific to diabetes type and related outcomes/comorbidities. Key measurement opportunities portrayed in the model include prevention through behavioral and lifestyle interventions and glycemic, lipid, and blood pressure management (Phase 1), screening and diagnosis and prevention/screening/early treatment for complications (Phase2), and management and treatment of complications (Phase 3).

NQF staff applied the Episode of Care model to osteoporosis as part of the current Endocrine endorsement maintenance work (see <u>Appendix B</u>). In the initial draft of this framework, three trajectories were described: one reflecting ongoing control and management of the disease needed for those who are relatively healthy, and two reflecting the exacerbation of the disease, including fracture and other complications.

Use of Measures in the Portfolio

Many of the diabetes measures in the portfolio are among NQF's most long-standing measures, several of which have been endorsed since 2002. Many are in use in at least one federal program¹¹ and/or in at least one of the communities involved in the Aligning Forces for Quality initiative.^{III} Also, several of the diabetes measures have been included in the Diabetes Family of Measures²¹ by the NQF-convened Measure Applications Partnership (MAP). The osteoporosis measures in the portfolio currently are used in at least one federal program, as well as in various internal quality improvement accreditation programs. See <u>Appendix C</u> for details of federal program use for the measures in the portfolio that are currently under review.

Improving NQF's Endocrine Portfolio

Update to measurement framework

As mentioned earlier, NQF staff drafted a measurement framework for osteoporosis using the Episode of Care model. During the portfolio review discussion at the in-person meeting, Committee members suggested several modifications to that draft, including:

ⁱⁱⁱ Data from NQF's Community Tool to Align Measurement Measure Spreadsheet (<u>http://www.qualityforum.org/AlignmentTool/</u>)

- Including fracture prevention in all three trajectories, not just in trajectory A (because having a previous fracture is the biggest risk factor for subsequent fracture)
- Including injury prevention in all three trajectories

This revised framework is included in <u>Appendix B</u>.

Alignment with diabetes and osteoporosis Episode of Care models

NQF's Endocrine portfolio (or related portfolios) includes at least a few measures for each of the Episode of Care phases for both diabetes and osteoporosis. However, as mentioned earlier, most are process measures and therefore do not address the need for patient-reported outcomes that are noted in the diabetes model. Also, several of the issues noted in the models (e.g., need for consideration of access, psychosocial needs, therapy risk) are not reflected in the measures that are currently in the portfolio.

Committee input on gaps in the portfolio

During their discussions the Committee identified numerous areas where additional measure development is needed, including:

- Measures of other endocrine-related conditions, particularly thyroid disease, both for adults and for the pediatric population
- Incidence of heart attacks and strokes among persons with diabetes, measured at the health plan level
- Measures of overuse, particularly for thyroid conditions (e.g., ultrasound for thyroid nodules, overdiagnosis/overtreatment of thyroid cancer)
- Measures for pre-diabetes/metabolic syndrome
- "Delta" measures for intermediate clinical outcomes (e.g., LDL levels, HbA1c levels)
- Education measures (e.g., for diabetes) that go beyond asking if education was provided and instead assesses whether the patient was able to understand and apply the education (needed at diagnosis, not just when complications arise)
- Measures that utilize other types of patient information (e.g., time-in-range measures for patients with continuous glucose monitors)
- More complex measures, including composite measures for diabetes screening and for neuropathy care
- Measures of hypoglycemia among the elderly, including medication safety measures
- Measures focusing on the use of testosterone
- Measures of Body Mass Index (BMI) or in adult patients with diabetes mellitus

Additional gaps in diabetes and osteoporosis measurement have been identified by the MAP²² and by NQF staff (as part of a recent analysis¹¹ of the full NQF portfolio). These include:

- Patient-centered measures of lifestyle management and health-related quality of life
- Access to care and medications
- Treatment preferences, psychosocial needs, shared decision making, family engagement, cultural diversity, and health literacy
- Communication, coordination, and transitions of care

NATIONAL QUALITY FORUM

- General prevention and treatment of diabetes, as well as measures of the sequelae of diabetes
- Glycemic control for complex patients (e.g., geriatric population, multiple chronic conditions) and for the pediatric population at the clinician, facility, and system levels of analysis
- Evaluation of bone density, and prevention and treatment of osteoporosis in ambulatory settings

Measures in the "pipeline"

NQF recently launched a *Measure Inventory Pipeline*—a virtual space for developers to share information on measure development activities. Developers can use the Pipeline to display data on current and planned measure development and to share successes and challenges. Information shared via the Pipeline is available in real time and can be revised at any time. NQF expects that developers will use the Pipeline as a tool to connect to, and collaborate with, their peers on measurement development ideas.

Currently, no measures related to endocrine conditions have been submitted to the Pipeline. However, in their discussions, Committee members did report familiarity with on-going development of radiology measures, particularly around overuse (e.g., thyroid nodules).

Endocrine Measure Evaluation: Cycle 1 Review: December 2013 – March 2014

In cycle 1 of the Endocrine Measure Evaluation pilot, the Endocrine Standing Committee evaluated 5 new measures and 12 measures undergoing maintenance review against NQF's standard evaluation criteria. Two of the new measures were intermediate clinical outcome measures of hyperglycemia and hypoglycemia, and three were process measures related to osteoporosis. All of the measures under maintenance review were diabetes measures.

The full Committee discussed these measures during their February 26-27, 2014 in-person meeting and in a follow-up call on March 12, 2014. To facilitate this evaluation, the Committee and candidate standards were divided into four workgroups for preliminary evaluation of the measures prior to consideration by the full Committee.

Endocrine Cycle 1 Measure Review Summary

	Maintenance	New	Total
Measures under consideration	12	5	17
Measures withdrawn from consideration	2	0	2
Measures recommended	9	5	14
Measures not recommended	1	0	1

	Maintenance	New	Total
Reasons for not recommending	Importance – 0	Importance – 1	
	Scientific Acceptability – 1	Scientific Acceptability – 0	
	Overall – 0	Overall – 0	
	Competing Measure – 0	Competing Measure – 0	

Comments Received

NQF solicits comments on endorsed measures on an ongoing basis through the Quality Positioning System (QPS). In addition, NQF has begun soliciting comments prior to the evaluation of the measures via an online tool located on the project webpage. NQF solicits comments on measures undergoing review in various ways and at various times throughout the evaluation process. First, NQF solicits comments on endorsed measures on an ongoing basis through the Quality Positioning System (QPS). Second, NQF soliciting member and public comments prior to the evaluation of the measures via an online tool located on the project webpage. Third, NQF opens a 30-day comment period to both members and the public after measures have been evaluated by the full committee and once a report of the proceedings has been drafted.

Comments received prior to Committee evaluation

For this evaluation cycle, the pre-evaluation comment period was open from January 21-February 7, 2014 for 8 of the 17 measures under review.^{iv} All submitted comments were provided to the Committee prior to their initial deliberations held during the workgroups calls.

A total of 76 pre-evaluation <u>comments</u> were received. Seventy-one of these comments pertained to, and were supportive of, the three newly-submitted osteoporosis measures. Commenters on these measures included members of the public and NQF members from the consumer and supplier/industry councils. Many of these commenters particularly noted the effectiveness of Fracture Liaison Service programs in reducing risk of subsequent fragility fractures. Two comments documented concerns with the specifications and feasibility of the hyperglycemia and hypoglycemia measures (#2362 and #2363) but acknowledged the potential usefulness of the measures. Three comments documented concerns with the specifications of the foot care measures stewarded by American Podiatric Medical Association (measures #0416 and #0417), noting non-alignment with American Diabetes Association standards. Finally, in reference to the CMS foot care education measure, one comment questioned the need for additional education if it had been provided prior to the home health episode.

Comments received after Committee evaluation

The 30-day post-evaluation comment was open from April 03, 2014 to May 2, 2014. During this commenting period, NQF received 83 <u>comments</u> from 10 member organizations. The Committee discussed these comments and took action on measure-specific comments, as needed, during the

^{iv} Comments on the six measures stewarded by NCQA and the three medication adherence measures stewarded by CMS were not requested because measure submission materials could not be posted during this period.

Committee's post-comment call that was held on May 20, 2014. A majority of the comments expressed support of the Committee's decisions; some also requested clarification regarding measure specifications.

Four comments reflected support of the Committee's initial decision not to recommend measure #2468 (Adherence to Oral Diabetes Agents for Individuals with Diabetes Mellitus) for endorsement because it did not exclude patients who switch from oral agents to insulin during the measurement period. The Committee encouraged the developer to quantify the number of patients who transitioned to insulin and, if possible, revise the measure to exclude those patients. In response, the measure developer conducted additional analyses, made changes to the measure specifications, and retested the measure. The committee agreed to revote on the measure, and ultimately recommended the re-specified measure for endorsement.

Four of the comments reflected disagreement with the Committee's decision not to recommend measure #2418 (Discharge Instructions – Emergency Department) for endorsement; however, none of the comments referenced any additional evidence to show that provision of discharge instructions would help to prevent future fractures and the Committee declined to revote on the measure.

Several comments pertained to measure #0055 (Comprehensive Diabetes Care: Eye Exam (retinal) performed): most were supportive of the measure, although one questioned allowing remote imaging as an option for meeting the measure and one suggested that the upper age limit be removed. Committee members noted that the ADA guidelines, as well as other evidence, indicate that retinal photographs are acceptable and therefore did not recommend a change to the specifications of the measure. Also, the Committee agreed that because complications of diabetes disproportionately affects older patients, the measure developer should consider changing the specifications to include those aged 18 and older rather than including only those aged 18-75.

Finally, six comments pertained to measures #2362 (Glycemic Control – Hyperglycemia) and #2363 (Glycemic Control – Hypoglycemia), two of which questioned the reliability of the measures and requested that the measures be constructed consistently. The Committee supported the construction of the measures and accepted the explanation of the developer regarding reliability.

Overarching Issues

During the Standing Committee's discussion of the measures, two overarching issues emerged and were factored into the Committee's ratings and recommendations for multiple measures; these issues are not repeated in detail with each individual measure.

Threshold values

Committee members noted that although threshold values used for clinical decision making (and therefore for measurement) typically are derived from population-based studies, they often are arbitrary (e.g., bone mineral density values to define osteoporosis; HbA1c values to diagnose/manage diabetes). Members acknowledged the need for threshold values, particularly for intermediate clinical

outcomes such as HbA1c levels, but noted the potential for unintended negative consequences for some patients, particularly if their values are close to the threshold values.

Implications of removing endorsement

Committee members were concerned with the implications of removal of endorsement. In particular, they wanted to ensure that a recommendation against endorsement would not be interpreted as meaning that the associated care process is unimportant. They acknowledged the evolving needs for performance measurement, especially policy or programmatic reasons for endorsing particular measures that may or may not still apply in the current healthcare environment. They also briefly discussed the "higher bar" for endorsement because of changes in evaluation criteria and guidance, as well as the potential for unintended consequences due to how measures eventually may be used.

Summary of Cycle 1 Measure Evaluation

The following brief summaries of the measures and the evaluation highlight the major issues that were considered by the Committee. Details of the Committee's discussion and ratings of the criteria are included in <u>Appendix A</u>.

Diabetes: Foot care

Four previously-endorsed measures addressing foot care were reviewed. Two of the four measures were recommended for endorsement. The remaining two foot care measures (#0416 and #0417) were withdrawn from consideration by the developer after the in-person meeting.^v

0056: Diabetes: Foot Exam (NCQA): Recommended

Description: The percentage of patients 18-75 years of age with diabetes (type 1 and type 2) who received a foot exam (visual inspection and sensory exam with mono filament and a pulse exam) during the measurement year. **Measure Type**: Process; **Level of Analysis**: Clinician Group/Practice, Clinician Individual; **Setting of Care**: Ambulatory Care Clinician Office/Clinic; **Data Source**: Administrative Claims, Paper Medical Records, Electronic Clinical Data Pharmacy

This measure has been NQF-endorsed since 2002 and is used by CMS in the Physician Quality Reporting System (PQRS) program and in the NCQA Diabetes Recognition Program (DRP). When reviewing this measure, the Committee raised concern that evidence does not exist for the specific intervention of performing a foot exam alone, without also performing risk assessment and creating treatment plans for high risk patients; however, the Committee determined that the evidence provided was sufficient to indicate that foot exams for high risk patients can lead to improved outcomes. The Committee recommended that the developer remove the upper age limit on the measure, as those over age 75 are at highest risk for lower limb complications; the developer agreed to this change in specifications. The Committee acknowledged the overall high performance rate for this measure and the lack of demonstrated improvement over the past 3 years; however, the Committee stated that the high priority of preventing amputations and other lower limb complications in diabetes patients warranted

^v These measures were re-submitted in cycle 2 of the Endocrine project.

maintaining endorsement of the measure. Given this and the sufficient reliability and validity of the measure, the Committee ultimately recommended the measure for endorsement.

0519 Diabetic Foot Care and Patient Education Implemented (CMS): Recommended

Description: Percentage of home health episodes of care in which diabetic foot care and patient/caregiver education were included in the physician-ordered plan of care and implemented for diabetic patients since the previous OASIS assessment. **Measure Type**: Process; **Level of Analysis**: Facility; **Setting of Care**: Home Health; **Data Source**: Electronic Clinical Data

This measure has been NQF-endorsed since 2009 and is used by CMS for public reporting and quality improvement with benchmarking. Similar to the NCQA foot exam measure (#0056), when reviewing this measure, the Committee raised the concern that evidence does not exist for the specific intervention of providing foot care education alone, without also performing risk assessment and creating treatment plans for high risk patients. Further, the evidence provided was from an ambulatory care setting, not home health. The Committee discussed the differences between care provided through home health agencies to that provided in ambulatory care settings, noting that in home health care, many plan-of-care orders from the physician come at the behest of the agency. The Committee also acknowledged the high performance rate for the measure; this was attributed to fact that the conduct of the OASIS assessment is required by CMS. Concern was raised that absent this reporting requirement, diabetes patient foot education in home health facilities would decrease. As such, and while also considering the high priority of preventing amputations and other lower limb complications in diabetes patients, the Committee recommended the measure for endorsement in order to maintain accountability for home health agencies to continue requesting orders for foot education for diabetes patients and/or their caregivers.

Diabetes: Eye care

One previously NQF-endorsed measure addressing eye care was reviewed and recommended for endorsement.

0055 Comprehensive Diabetes Care: Eye Exam (retinal) performed (NCQA): Recommended

Description: The percentage of patients 18-75 years of age with diabetes (type 1 and type 2) who had an eye exam (retinal) performed. **Measure Type**: Process; **Level of Analysis**: Clinician Group/Practice, Health Plan, Clinician Individual, Integrated Delivery System; **Setting of Care**: Ambulatory Care Clinician Office/Clinic; **Data Source**: Administrative Claims, Electronic Clinical Data, Paper Medical Records, Electronic Clinical Data Pharmacy

This measure has been NQF-endorsed since 2002 and is used for public reporting, payment, and quality improvement programs at the health plan level, and in public reporting at the clinician level. When recommending this measure, the Committee stated the importance of the retinal exam to diabetes patients, as diabetes is the leading cause of blindness in adults ages 20-74. The Committee agreed that there was a strong demonstration of reliability at the health plan level of analysis but expressed concerned at the weaker demonstration of reliability at the clinician level. Ultimately, the Committee found the physician-level reliability to be acceptable, determining it to be an artifact of the data tested through the NCQA DRP.

NATIONAL QUALITY FORUM

Diabetes: Nephropathy Screening

One previously NQF-endorsed measure addressing eye care was reviewed and recommended for endorsement.

0062 Comprehensive Diabetes Care: Medical Attention for Nephropathy (NCQA): Recommended

Description: The percentage of patients 18-75 years of age with diabetes (type 1 and type 2) who received a nephropathy screening test or had evidence of nephropathy during the measurement year. **Measure Type:** Process; **Level of Analysis:** Clinician Group/Practice, Clinician Individual, Health Plan, Integrated Delivery System; **Setting of Care:** Ambulatory Care Clinician Office/Clinic; **Data Source:** Administrative Claims, Electronic Clinical Data, Electronic Clinical Data Laboratory, Electronic Clinical Data Pharmacy, Paper Medical Records

This measure has been NQF-endorsed since 2002 and is used at the health plan level for public reporting and payment, and is used at the physician level by CMS in the PQRS program and by NCQA for their DRP program. When recommending the measure, the Committee determined that the evidence for nephropathy screening was high, and also noted that the information presented indicated that a substantial number of physician and practices fail to meet minimum screening requirements. The Committee stated that kidney disease is a serious concern for diabetes patients, as it results in high levels of largely preventable morbidity, mortality, and costs; additionally, it was noted that early diagnosis of kidney disease via nephropathy screening can help slow the progression of chronic kidney disease and end-stage renal disease. The Committee agreed that the reliability and validity of the measure at both the physician and the health plan level was sufficient.

Diabetes: Blood glucose control

Three previously NQF-endorsed measures and two newly submitted measures addressing blood glucose were reviewed. All five measures were recommended for endorsement.

0057 Comprehensive Diabetes Care: Hemoglobin A1c (HbA1c) testing (NCQA): Recommended

Description: The percentage of patients 18-75 years of age with diabetes (type 1 and type 2) who received an HbA1c test during the measurement year. **Measure Type:** Process; **Level of Analysis:** Health Plan, Integrated Delivery System; **Setting of Care:** Ambulatory Care Clinician Office/Clinic; **Data Source:** Administrative Claims, Electronic Clinical Data Electronic Health Record, Electronic Clinical Data Laboratory, Paper Medical Records

This measure has been NQF-endorsed since 2002 and is used for payment, public reporting, regulatory and accreditation programs, professional certification or recognition, and quality improvement with benchmarking. When reviewed by the Committee, there was strong agreement about the importance of performing HbA1c testing for diabetes patients; however, there was some concern that the frequency of testing should be greater than what is specified by the measure. Though performance on testing for HbA1c is relatively high, there is substantial variation, particularly for certain ethnic patient populations. Given this and the sufficient reliability and validity of the measure, the Committee ultimately recommended the measure for endorsement. Because this measure competes with the HbA1c poor control measure (HbA1c >9%, #0059) and the HbA1c "good control" measure (HbA1c <8%, #0575) (that

is, the absence of testing is incorporated into these two HbA1c measures), the Committee was asked to discuss whether there is justification for continued endorsement of this testing measure. The Committee acknowledged that some implementers must rely on this measure to identify those patients who have not been tested because they cannot easily obtain the information through measures #0059 and #0575. Members agreed that the data collection burden for this measure is relatively low and that performance rates still indicate opportunity for improvement; therefore, they concluded that there is justification to continue endorsement of this measure at this time.

0059 Comprehensive Diabetes Care: Hemoglobin A1c (HbA1c) Poor Control (>9.0%) (NCQA): Recommended

Description: The percentage of patients 18-75 years of age with diabetes (type 1 and type 2) whose most recent HbA1c level during the measurement year was greater than 9.0% (poor control) or was missing a result, or if an HbA1c test was not done during the measurement year. **Measure Type:** Intermediate Outcome; **Level of Analysis:** Clinician Group/Practice, Clinician Individual, Health Plan, Integrated Delivery System, Population National, Population Regional, Population State; **Setting of Care:** Ambulatory Care Clinician Office/Clinic; **Data Source:** Administrative Claims, Electronic Clinical Data, Electronic Clinical Data Laboratory, Electronic Clinical Data Pharmacy, Paper Medical Records

This measure has been NQF-endorsed since 2002 and is used in public reporting, payment, accreditation, and quality improvement programs at the health plan level, and in the PQRS and NCQA DRP programs at the clinician level. The Committee agreed that evidence clearly indicates that poor control of blood glucose levels results in poor (and costly) health outcomes. While the Committee noted that there was no evidence supporting a particular threshold value for poor control, members acknowledged that HbA1c >9% is a reasonable cutoff given that risk has been demonstrated when values are greater than 9 percent. The Committee also agreed that the reliability testing results were strong at the health plan level but weak at the physician level; however, the Committee found the physician-level reliability to be acceptable, determining it to be an artifact of the testing data that were obtained through the NCQA DRP.

0575 Comprehensive Diabetes Care: Hemoglobin A1c (HbA1c) Control (<8.0%) (NCQA): Recommended

Description: The percentage of patients 18-75 years of age with diabetes (type 1 and type 2) whose most recent HbA1c level is <8.0% during the measurement year. Measure Type: Intermediate Outcome; Level of Analysis: Clinician Group/Practice, Health Plan, Clinician Individual, Integrated Delivery System; Setting of Care: Ambulatory Care Clinician Office/Clinic; Data Source: Administrative Claims, Electronic Clinical Data, Electronic Clinical Data Laboratory; Paper Medical Records, Electronic Clinical Data Pharmacy

This measure has been NQF-endorsed since 2009 and is used at the health plan level for payment and public reporting, and at the physician level in the PQRS program and the NCQA DRP. When recommended by the Committee, there was strong agreement that uncontrolled diabetes is responsible for the majority of severe and costly complications and poor quality of life for patients and their families. However, the Committee raised concern that while the evidence clearly indicates that poor control of blood glucose levels results in poorer outcomes and good control results in better outcomes,

there is evidence that where HbA1c is too tightly controlled, there are unintended consequences such as increased total mortality. However, the Committee noted that the unintended consequences occurred with HbA1c targets less than 7.0 percent. After significant discussion and review of the evidence, the Committee reached consensus that the 8.0 percent cutoff was a reasonable target for the majority of the population; however, the Committee stated that this may result in a disincentive for providers to treat those patients with difficult to manage HbA1c. The Committee also stated that while health plan level reliability testing results were strong, the physician level results were weak; however, the Committee found the physician level reliability to be acceptable, determining it to be an artifact of the data tested through the NCQA DRP.

2362 Glycemic Control – Hyperglycemia (CMS): Recommended

Description: Average percentage of hyperglycemic hospital days for individuals with a diagnosis of diabetes mellitus, anti-diabetic drugs (except metformin) administered, or at least one elevated glucose level during the hospital stay. **Measure Type:** Intermediate Outcome; **Level of Analysis:** Facility; **Setting of Care:** Hospital/Acute Care Facility; **Data Source:** Electronic Clinical Data, Electronic Clinical Data : Electronic Health Record, Electronic Clinical Data : Laboratory, Electronic Clinical Data : Pharmacy

This measure was newly submitted to NQF as one of the first de novo e-measures for review. While not currently in use, it has been submitted for use in the CMS Hospital Inpatient Quality Reporting Program and Meaningful Use Stage 3. When reviewing this measure, the Committee noted the evidence that poor outcomes are associated with hyperglycemia and also highlighted the importance of this being the first measure of hospital glucometrics, stating that currently there is no baseline assessment of how hospitals are performing with respect to hyperglycemic control. The Committee acknowledged that there are many ways to capture and use glucometric data and that the evidence does not necessarily indicate that the measure specifications reflect the gold standard; however, the Committee agreed that the measure presented a reasonable approach and would allow for data to be collected and used, with opportunity for refinement of the approach once more data had been collected and results analyzed. The Committee recommended the measure for endorsement, noting in particular that this measure will serve as a companion measure to balance the Glycemic Control – Hypoglycemia measure (#2363).

2363 Glycemic Control – Hypoglycemia (CMS): Recommended

Description: The rate of hypoglycemic events following the administration of an anti-diabetic agent. **Measure Type:** Intermediate Outcome; **Level of Analysis:** Facility; **Setting of Care:** Hospital/Acute Care Facility; **Data Source:** Electronic Clinical Data, Electronic Clinical Data : Electronic Health Record, Electronic Clinical Data : Laboratory, Electronic Clinical Data : Pharmacy

This measure was newly submitted to NQF as one of the first de novo e-measures for review. While not currently in use, it has been submitted for use in the CMS Hospital Inpatient Quality Reporting Program and Meaningful Use Stage 3. When reviewing this measure, the Committee agreed that the evidence that poor outcomes and mortality are associated with hypoglycemia is very strong, as this is a recognized Adverse Drug Event and has been identified as an important issue to address by the National Quality Strategy. The Committee acknowledged that even though this event is relatively rare, it is such a severe and dangerous event that it should be publicly reported. The Committee discussed whether blood glucose <40 mg/dL was the appropriate cutoff for hypoglycemia, noting that some patients can

NATIONAL QUALITY FORUM

experience poor outcomes with blood glucose of <70 mg/dL; however, the Committee coalesced around the notion that blood glucose <40 mg/dL should be preventable, but blood glucose <70 mg/dL may not be preventable in some patients. The Committee agreed that for public reporting and accountability purposes, <40 mg/dL was an appropriate cutoff for identifying hypoglycemia. The Committee recommended the measure for endorsement, noting in particular that this measure will serve as a companion measure to balance the Glycemic Control – Hyperglycemia measure (#2362).

Diabetes: Medication Adherence

Three previously NQF-endorsed measures addressing adherence to medications were reviewed. All three measures were recommended for endorsement.

0545 Adherence to Statins for Individuals with Diabetes Mellitus (CMS): Recommended

Description: The measure addresses adherence to statins. The measure is reported as the percentage of eligible individuals with diabetes mellitus who had at least two prescriptions for statins and who have a Proportion of Days Covered (PDC) of at least 0.8 during the measurement period (12 consecutive months). **Measure Type:** Process; **Level of Analysis:** Clinician Group/Practice, Health Plan, Integrated Delivery System, Population State; **Setting of Care:** Ambulatory Care Clinician Office/Clinic; **Data Source:** Administrative Claims, Electronic Clinical Data Pharmacy, Other

This measure has been NQF-endorsed since 2009 and, while not currently in use, has been submitted for use in the CMS Accountable Care Organization (ACO) Shared Savings program. When reviewing this measure, the Committee acknowledged that adherence to statins is not directly assessed in the clinical practice guidelines. However, the Committee was comfortable inferring that a link between adherence to a statin medication and achievement of target LDL cholesterol does exist, given that the benefits of statin use described in the literature assume adherence to the medication. The Committee acknowledged that this measure does not address appropriateness of statin prescriptions, but agreed that the measure was important given the significant gap in adherence supplied by the developer. The reliability of the measure was assessed to be strong for states and ACOS and moderate for physician groups and drug plans. The Committee recommended the measure, acknowledging that its use has the potential to encourage development of processes to improve adherence to statins, resulting in lower rates of hyperlipidemia, cardiovascular events, and mortality.

2467 Adherence to ACEIs/ARBs for Individuals with Diabetes Mellitus: Recommended

Description: The measure addresses adherence to angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitors (ACEIs)/angiotensin receptor blockers (ARBs). The measure is reported as the percentage of eligible individuals with diabetes mellitus who had at least two prescriptions for ACEIs/ARBs and who have a Proportion of Days Covered (PDC) of at least 0.8 during the measurement period (12 consecutive months). **Measure Type:** Process; **Level of Analysis:** Clinician Group/Practice, Health Plan, Integrated Delivery System, Population State; **Setting of Care:** Ambulatory Care Clinician Office/Clinic; **Data Source:** Administrative Claims, Electronic Clinical Data Pharmacy, Other

This measure has been NQF-endorsed since 2009 and, while not currently in use, has been submitted for use in the CMS Accountable Care Organization (ACO) Shared Savings program. When reviewing this measure, the Committee acknowledged that adherence to ACEIs/ARBs is not directly assessed in the

guidelines. The Committee was comfortable inferring that a link between adherence to ACEIs/ARBs and lower rates of cardiovascular disease exists, as the benefits related to use of ACEIs/ARBs assume medication adherence. The reliability of the measure was assessed to be strong for states and ACOS and moderate for physician groups and drug plans. The Committee recommended the measure for endorsement, acknowledging that its use has the potential to encourage development of processes to improve adherence to ACEIs/ARBs, resulting in lower rates of elevated blood pressure, cardiovascular events, and mortality.

2468 Adherence to Oral Diabetes Agents for Individuals with Diabetes Mellitus (CMS): Recommended

Description: The measure addresses adherence to oral diabetes agents (ODA). The measure is reported as the percentage of eligible individuals with diabetes mellitus who had at least two prescriptions for a single oral diabetes agent or at least two prescriptions for multiple agents within a diabetes drug class and who have a Proportion of Days Covered (PDC) of at least 0.8 for at least one diabetes drug class during the measurement period (12 consecutive months. **Measure Type:** Process; **Level of Analysis:** Clinician Group/Practice, Health Plan, Integrated Delivery System, Population State; **Setting of Care:** Ambulatory Care Clinician Office/Clinic; **Data Source:** Administrative Claims, Electronic Clinical Data Pharmacy, Other

This measure has been NQF-endorsed since 2009 and, while not currently in use, has been submitted for use in the CMS Accountable Care Organization (ACO) Shared Savings program. When reviewing this measure, the Committee acknowledged that adherence to oral diabetes agents is not directly assessed in the guidelines. The Committee was comfortable inferring that a link between adherence to oral diabetes agents and lower rates of cardiovascular disease exists, as the benefits of oral diabetes medications that were described in the submitted evidence s assume medication adherence. The reliability of the measure was assessed to be strong for states and ACOS and moderate for physician groups and drug plans. However, the Committee questioned the validity of the specifications, as the measure does not exclude patients who switch from oral agents to insulin during the measurement period. The Committee stated that this exclusion is necessary for this measure to be endorsed, as the measure as currently specified could incentivize physicians to leave patients on oral diabetes agents rather than switch the patients to insulin when indicated. Although the developer agreed to investigate this exclusion, the Committee voted not to recommend this measure for NQF endorsement as initially specified.

During the Member and Public Commenting period, the measure developer conducted additional analyses, made changes to the measure specifications so as to account for those patients who switch from oral diabetes agents to insulin-only therapy, and retested the measure (see <u>Appendix G</u>). The Committee agreed that these changes to the measure addressed their concerns, and ultimately recommended the re-specified measure for endorsement.

Osteoporosis—Post-fracture treatment

Three newly-submitted measures addressing fracture treatment were reviewed. Two of the three measures were recommended for endorsement.

2416 Laboratory Investigation for Secondary Causes of Fracture (TJC): Recommended

Description: Percentage of patients age 50 and over with fragility fracture who have had appropriate laboratory investigation for secondary causes of fracture ordered or performed prior to discharge from inpatient status. **Measure Type:** Process; **Level of Analysis:** Facility; **Setting of Care:** Hospital/Acute Care Facility; **Data Source:** Electronic Clinical Data, Electronic Clinical Data Electronic Health Record, Paper Medical Records

This measure was newly submitted to NQF and, while not currently in use, is anticipated to be used by The Joint Commission for accreditation purposes and public reporting. In its evaluation of this measure, the Committee noted the importance of evaluating patients for secondary causes of fractures so that underlying causes can be treated and potentially prevent future fractures, readmissions, mortality, and unnecessary associated costs. The Committee acknowledged the opportunity for improvement, as an average performance of 16.6 percent was reported by the developers. Concern was raised as to whether the evidence substantiated the specified tests required for the measure; however, the consensus of the Committee was that these tests would provide actionable information for treating underlying secondary causes of fracture. The Committee recommended the measure for endorsement, stating that it as an excellent starting point for improving the care of osteoporosis patients that have had a fragility fracture and is essential in the prevention of subsequent fractures.

During the Consensus Standards Advisory Committee (CSAC) review, a CSAC member questioned why the measure numerator includes either tests that were ordered or tests that were performed, noting that tests ordered in the in-patient setting typically are performed. The developers explained that both options are included to avoid prolonging an in-patient stay solely to perform testing. Including both options would help assure that the necessary tests were performed at the next level of care if timely test performance in the hospital could not be accomplished. Patient compliance with tests ordered remained a concern for some CSAC members. Nonetheless, the CSAC approved the Committee's recommendation to endorse this measure.

2417 Risk Assessment/Treatment After Fracture (TJC): Recommended

Description: Patients age 50 or over with a fragility fracture who have either a dual-energy X-Ray absorptiometry (DXA) scan ordered or performed, or a prescription for FDA-approved pharmacotherapy for osteoporosis, or who are seen by or linked to a fracture liaison service prior to discharge from inpatient status,. If DXA is not available and documented as such, then any other specified fracture risk assessment method may be ordered or performed. **Measure Type:** Process; **Level of Analysis:** Facility; **Setting of Care:** Hospital/Acute Care Facility; **Data Source:** Electronic Clinical Data, Electronic Clinical Data Electronic Health Record, Paper Medical Records

This measure was newly submitted to NQF and, while not currently in use, is anticipated to be used by The Joint Commission for accreditation purposes and public reporting. The Committee stated that there is strong evidence supporting use of DXA to measure bone density, and agreed that by including a fracture liaison service in the numerator, the measure would capture hospitals without an in-house DXA machine. The Committee raised concern that ordering the test or setting up the appointment is not equivalent to completing the test; however, this was not seen as detracting from the overall importance of the measure. The Committee recommended the measure for endorsement, stating that it as an excellent starting point for improving the care of osteoporosis patients that have had a fragility fracture and is essential in the prevention of subsequent fractures.

2418 Discharge Instructions – Emergency Department (TJC): Not Recommended

Description: Proportion of patients age 50 or over with a fracture of the vertebra, pelvis, wrist, ankle, or humerus discharged from the Emergency Department to home, or their caregivers, who have received written discharge instructions regarding the need to follow up with a primary care physician, hospital outpatient department or specialist for possible osteoporosis to reduce the risk of future fracture, or who were contacted by a fracture liaison service. **Measure Type:** Process; **Level of Analysis:** Facility; **Setting of Care:** Hospital/Acute Care Facility; **Data Source:** Electronic Clinical Data, Electronic Clinical Data Electronic Health Record, Paper Medical Records

This measure was newly submitted to NQF and, while not currently in use, is anticipated to be used by The Joint Commission for accreditation purposes and public reporting. When reviewing this measure, the Committee acknowledged the importance of care coordination following an Emergency Department visit; however, the Committee stated that discharge instructions do not equate to coordination of care. The Committee noted that there is minimal evidence indicating that provision of written discharge instructions improve care for osteoporosis patients or have any impact on outcomes such as prevention of future fractures. Consequently, the Committee voted not to recommend this measure for NQF endorsement.

Measures withdrawn by the developer from further consideration of endorsement

Measure	Measure Steward	Reason for withdrawal
0416: Diabetic Foot and Ankle Care, Ulcer Prevention – Evaluation of Footwear	ΑΡΜΑ	Developer to update measure specifications and resubmit to NQF in cycle #2 of the Endocrine pilot project.
0417: Diabetic Foot and Ankle Care, Peripheral Neuropathy – Neurological Evaluation	ΑΡΜΑ	Developer to update measure specifications and resubmit to NQF in cycle #2 of the Endocrine pilot project.

The following measures were withdrawn during the measure evaluation period.

References

1. WebMD. Endocrine Disorders. 2014;March 14 A.D.

2. Golden SH, Robinson KA, Saldanha I, et al. Clinical review: Prevalence and incidence of endocrine and metabolic disorders in the United States: a comprehensive review. The Journal Of Clinical Endocrinology And Metabolism, 2009;94(6):1853-1878.

3. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. National Diabetes Fact Sheet: National estimates and general information on diabetes and prediabetes in the United Staes, 2011. 2014;Atlanta, GA: US Department of Health and Human Services, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention;

4. Looker AC, Borrud LG, Dawson-Hughes B, et al. Osteoporosis or low bone mass at the femur neck or lumbar spine in older adults: United States, 2005-2008. NCHS Data Brief, 2012;(93):1-8.

5. Duque G, Troen BR. Osteoporosis. In: Halter JB, Ouslander JG, Tinetti ME, Studenski S, High KP, Asthana S, editors. Hazzard's Geriatric Medicine and Gerontology, 6 ed., New York: McGraw-Hill; 2009, pp. 1421-1434.

6. Hiller-Sturmhofel S, Bartke A. The endocrine system: an overview. Alcohol Health & Research World, 1998;22(3):153-164.

7. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE). Osteoporosis: Assessing the Risk of Fragility Fracture. NICE Clinical Guideline 146. 2014. Available at http://www.nice.org.uk/nicemedia/live/13857/60399/60399.pdf. Last accessed March 14 A.D.

8. Burge R, Dawson-Hughes B, Solomon DH, et al. Incidence and economic burden of osteoporosisrelated fractures in the United States, 2005-2025. Journal of Bone and Mineral Research, 2007;22(3):465-475.

9. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. National Strategy for Quality Improvement in Health Care. 2014.

10. Health Services Advisory Group I. National Impact Assessment of Medicare Quality Measures. Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services; 2014.

11. National Quality Forum (NQF). Report From the National Quality Forum: 2012 NQF Measure Gap Analysis. Washington, DC: NQF; 2013.

12. Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality. 2012 National Healthcare Quality Report. Rockville, MD: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services; 2014. Report No.: 13-0002. Available at http://www.ahrq.gov/research/findings/nhqrdr/nhqr12/2012nhqr.pdf.

13. O'Connor PJ, Bodkin NL, Fradkin J, et al. Diabetes performance measures: current status and future directions. Diabetes Care, 2011;34(7):1651-1659.

14. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Diabetes data and trends. 2014;

15. Ali MK, Bullard KM, Saaddine JB, et al. Achievement of goals in US diabetes care, 1999GÇô2010. New England Journal of Medicine, 2013;368(17):1613-1624.

16. Boelens A, Bolon M. Composite Measures: A New Gold Standard in Diabetes Care. Washington, DC: Aligning Forces for Quality; 2014. Available at

http://www.google.com/url?sa=t&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&frm=1&source=web&cd=1&cad=rja&uact=8&ved= 0CCsQFjAA&url=http%3A%2F%2Fforces4quality.org%2Faf4q%2Fdownload-

document%2F7229%2F4205&ei=8eE6U7e7OcmwsASX5oGgBQ&usg=AFQjCNFpwrte8P64wH3kgKoXIv4t pyG8oA. Last accessed April 2014.

17. National Committee for Quality Assurance (NCAQ). Improving Quality and Patient Experience: The State of Health Care Quality 2013. NCQA; 2014.

18. Brauer CA, Coca-Perraillon M, Cutler DM, et al. INcidence and mortality of hip fractures in the united states. JAMA, 2009;302(14):1573-1579.

19. National Quality Forum (NQF). Measurement Framework: Evaluating Efficiency Across Patient-Focused Episodes of Care. Washington, DC: NQF; 2009.

20. National Quality Forum (NQF). Towards a comprehensive diabetes measure set: Value-based episodes of care. 2008;March 2014.

21. National Quality Forum (NQF). MAP Families of Measures: Safety, Care Coordination, Cardiovascular Conditions, Diabetes. Washington, DC: NQF; 2012. Available at http://www.qualityforum.org/WorkArea/linkit.aspx?LinkIdentifier=id&ItemID=71952.

22. National Quality Forum (NQF). MAP 2014 Recommendations on Measures for More Than 20 Federal Programs. Washington, DC: NQF; 2014.

Appendix A: Details of Measure Evaluation

Endorsed Measures	27
Measures not recommended	58
Measures withdrawn from consideration	59

Endorsed Measures

0056 Diabetes: Foot Exam	28
0519 Diabetic Foot Care and Patient Education Implemented	29
0055 Comprehensive Diabetes Care: Eye Exam (retinal) performed	31
0062 Comprehensive Diabetes Care: Medical Attention for Nephropathy	34
0057 Comprehensive Diabetes Care: Hemoglobin A1c (HbA1c) testing	35
0059 Comprehensive Diabetes Care: Hemoglobin A1c (HbA1c) Poor Control (>9.0%)	37
0575 Comprehensive Diabetes Care: Hemoglobin A1c (HbA1c) Control (<8.0%)	40
2362 Glycemic Control – Hyperglycemia	42
2363 Glycemic Control - Hypoglycemia	44
0545 Adherence to Statins for Individuals with Diabetes Mellitus	46
2467 Adherence to ACEIs/ARBs for Individuals with Diabetes Mellitus	49
2468 Adherence to Oral Diabetes Agents for Individuals with Diabetes Mellitus	51
2416 Laboratory Investigation for Secondary Causes of Fracture	53
2417 Risk Assessment/Treatment After Fracture	55

Measures Not Recommended

2418 Discharge Instructions – Emerg	ncy Department
-------------------------------------	----------------

Measures Withdrawn from Consideration

0416:	Diabetic Foot and Ankle Care,	Ulcer Prevention – Evalu	ation of Footwear (AP	MA)59
0417:	Diabetic Foot and Ankle Care,	Peripheral Neuropathy –	· Neurological Evaluati	on (APMA)59

Endorsed Measures

Rating Scale: H=High; M=Moderate; L=Low; I=Insufficient; IE=Insufficient with Exception; NA=Not Applicable; Y=Yes; N=No

0056 Diabetes: Foot Exam

Submission Specifications

Description: The percentage of patients 18-75 years of age with diabetes (type 1 and type 2) who received a foot exam (visual inspection and sensory exam with mono filament and a pulse exam) during the measurement year. **Numerator Statement**: Patients who received a foot exam (visual inspection and sensory exam with monofilament and pulse exam) during the measurement period.

Denominator Statement: Patients 18-75 years of age by the end of the measurement year who had a diagnosis of diabetes (type 1 or type 2) during the measurement year or the year prior to the measurement year.

Exclusions: A diagnosis of gestational or steroid-induced diabetes

Adjustment/Stratification: None

Level of Analysis: Clinician : Group/Practice, Clinician : Individual

Setting of Care: Ambulatory Care : Clinician Office/Clinic

Type of Measure: Process

Data Source: Administrative claims, Paper Medical Records, Electronic Clinical Data : Pharmacy **Measure Steward**: National Committee for Quality Assurance

STANDING COMMITTEE MEETING [02/26/2014-02/27/2015]

1. Importance to Measure and Report: The measure meets the Importance criteria

(1a. Evidence: 1b. Performance Gap, 1c. High Priority)

1a. Evidence: H-4; M-13; L-3; I- 0; IE-0; 1b. Performance Gap: H-14; M-5; L-1; I-0 1c. High Priority: H-17; M-3; L-0; I-0

Rationale:

- The Committee acknowledged that evidence exists indicating the benefit of a foot exam in conjunction with other interventions such as performing risk assessment and creating treatment plans for high risk patients; however, the Committee found it difficult to apply the evidence to performing a foot exam alone.
- While the evidence for foot exams may not exist, the Committee felt the evidence provided does indicate that foot exam interventions for patients who are high risk can lead to improved outcomes.
- The measure specifies that a foot exam include a visual inspection, a sensory exam with monofilament, and a pulse exam. While there was agreement that the monofilament foot exam is an acceptable method for reducing diabetes complications and improving quality of life, the Committee questioned if the evidence was strong enough to classify this exam as the gold standard intervention. Some Committee members felt that the monofilament exam is cumbersome, difficult to use, and not that useful, while others felt it was better than the alternatives. Data presented by the developer indicates that monofilament, vibratory, and other similar interventions have equal predictive value for lower limb complications.
- Data presented by the developer showed relatively high performance, with most percentiles reaching 100%. Though performance data was high, the Committee stated that during the time period that the measure has been used, there is evidence of decreased lower limb complications. The Committee stated that it is difficult to ascertain whether the measure itself or another unknown intervention led to this improvement; as such, the Committee concluded maintaining endorsement of the measure was necessary.
- Diabetes is the 7th leading cause of death in the U.S. and when unmanaged can cause serious health complications, including heart disease and stroke, hypertension, blindness, kidney disease, nervous system disease, amputations, dental disease, and pregnancy complications.

2. Scientific Acceptability of Measure Properties: <u>The measure meets the Scientific Acceptability criteria</u> (2a. Reliability - precise specifications, testing; 2b. Validity - testing, threats to validity)
2a. Reliability: H-3; M-13; L-4; I-0 2b. Validity: H-8; M-9; L-2; I-0 <u>Rationale</u>:

 (3a. Data generated during care; 3b. Electronic sources; and 3c. Data collection can be implemented (eMeasure feasibility assessment of data elements and logic) <u>Rationale</u>: The Committee agreed that the measure was feasible to implement, as the measure has already been i use and the data elements necessary to compute the measure score are generated during care and are easily captured. The Committee expressed concern that the measure requires three actions to occur in order to meet the requirements of the measure, which may create confusion regarding proper documentation as there is not currently a common data element that collects this information. The Committee felt this may result difficulties in extracting data correctly. Ultimately the Committee agreed that the endorsement of the measure would drive EMR developers to create a distinct field to collect the data. 4. Use and Usability: H-7; M-9; L-2; I-0 (4a. Accountability/transparency; and 4b. Improvement – progress demonstrated; and 4c. Benefits outweigh evidence of unintended negative consequences)
 stated concern that the upper age limit of 75 specified in the denominator was not justified by the evidence, as patients over 75 are at a higher risk for lower limb complications and thus would benefit th most from this measure intervention. The developer agreed to remove the upper age limit. 3. Feasibility: H-1; M-15; L-3; I-0 (3a. Data generated during care; 3b. Electronic sources; and 3c. Data collection can be implemented (eMeasure feasibility assessment of data elements and logic) <u>Rationale:</u> The Committee agreed that the measure was feasible to implement, as the measure has already been i use and the data elements necessary to compute the measure score are generated during care and are easily captured. The Committee expressed concern that the measure requires three actions to occur in order to meet th requirements of the measure, which may create confusion regarding proper documentation as there is not currently a common data element that collects this information. The Committee felt this may result difficulties in extracting data correctly. Ultimately the Committee agreed that the endorsement of the measure would drive EMR developers to create a distinct field to collect the data. 4. Use and Usability: H-7; M-9; L-2; I-0 (4a. Accountability/transparency; and 4b. Improvement – progress demonstrated; and 4c. Benefits outweigh evidence of unintended negative consequences) <u>Rationale:</u> The measure is currently used in NCQA's NQCA's Diabetes Physician Recognition Program (DPRP) and ir
 evidence, as patients over 75 are at a higher risk for lower limb complications and thus would benefit the most from this measure intervention. The developer agreed to remove the upper age limit. 3. Feasibility: H-1; M-15; L-3; I-0 (3a. Data generated during care; 3b. Electronic sources; and 3c. Data collection can be implemented (eMeasure feasibility assessment of data elements and logic) <u>Rationale</u>: The Committee agreed that the measure was feasible to implement, as the measure has already been i use and the data elements necessary to compute the measure score are generated during care and are easily captured. The Committee expressed concern that the measure requires three actions to occur in order to meet the requirements of the measure, which may create confusion regarding proper documentation as there is not currently a common data element that collects this information. The Committee felt this may result difficulties in extracting data correctly. Ultimately the Committee agreed that the endorsement of the measure would drive EMR developers to create a distinct field to collect the data. 4. Use and Usability: H-7; M-9; L-2; I-0 (4a. Accountability/transparency; and 4b. Improvement – progress demonstrated; and 4c. Benefits outweigh evidence of unintended negative consequences) <u>Rationale</u>: The measure is currently used in NCQA's NQCA's Diabetes Physician Recognition Program (DPRP) and ir
 most from this measure intervention. The developer agreed to remove the upper age limit. 3. Feasibility: H-1; M-15; L-3; I-0 (3a. Data generated during care; 3b. Electronic sources; and 3c. Data collection can be implemented (eMeasure feasibility assessment of data elements and logic) <u>Rationale:</u> The Committee agreed that the measure was feasible to implement, as the measure has already been i use and the data elements necessary to compute the measure score are generated during care and are easily captured. The Committee expressed concern that the measure requires three actions to occur in order to meet th requirements of the measure, which may create confusion regarding proper documentation as there is not currently a common data element that collects this information. The Committee felt this may result difficulties in extracting data correctly. Ultimately the Committee agreed that the endorsement of the measure would drive EMR developers to create a distinct field to collect the data. 4. Use and Usability: H-7; M-9; L-2; I-0 (4a. Accountability/transparency; and 4b. Improvement – progress demonstrated; and 4c. Benefits outweigh evidence of unintended negative consequences) <u>Rationale:</u> The measure is currently used in NCQA's NQCA's Diabetes Physician Recognition Program (DPRP) and ir
 3. Feasibility: H-1; M-15; L-3; I-0 (3a. Data generated during care; 3b. Electronic sources; and 3c. Data collection can be implemented (eMeasure feasibility assessment of data elements and logic) Rationale: The Committee agreed that the measure was feasible to implement, as the measure has already been i use and the data elements necessary to compute the measure score are generated during care and are easily captured. The Committee expressed concern that the measure requires three actions to occur in order to meet th requirements of the measure, which may create confusion regarding proper documentation as there is not currently a common data element that collects this information. The Committee felt this may result difficulties in extracting data correctly. Ultimately the Committee agreed that the endorsement of the measure would drive EMR developers to create a distinct field to collect the data. 4. Use and Usability: H-7; M-9; L-2; I-0 (4a. Accountability/transparency; and 4b. Improvement – progress demonstrated; and 4c. Benefits outweigh evidence of unintended negative consequences) Rationale: The measure is currently used in NCQA's NQCA's Diabetes Physician Recognition Program (DPRP) and ir
 use and the data elements necessary to compute the measure score are generated during care and are easily captured. The Committee expressed concern that the measure requires three actions to occur in order to meet the requirements of the measure, which may create confusion regarding proper documentation as there is not currently a common data element that collects this information. The Committee felt this may result difficulties in extracting data correctly. Ultimately the Committee agreed that the endorsement of the measure would drive EMR developers to create a distinct field to collect the data. 4. Use and Usability: H-7; M-9; L-2; I-0 (4a. Accountability/transparency; and 4b. Improvement – progress demonstrated; and 4c. Benefits outweigh evidence of unintended negative consequences) Rationale: The measure is currently used in NCQA's NQCA's Diabetes Physician Recognition Program (DPRP) and ir
 feasibility assessment of data elements and logic) <u>Rationale</u>: The Committee agreed that the measure was feasible to implement, as the measure has already been i use and the data elements necessary to compute the measure score are generated during care and are easily captured. The Committee expressed concern that the measure requires three actions to occur in order to meet the requirements of the measure, which may create confusion regarding proper documentation as there is not currently a common data element that collects this information. The Committee felt this may result difficulties in extracting data correctly. Ultimately the Committee agreed that the endorsement of the measure would drive EMR developers to create a distinct field to collect the data. 4. Use and Usability: H-7; M-9; L-2; I-0 (4a. Accountability/transparency; and 4b. Improvement – progress demonstrated; and 4c. Benefits outweigh evidence of unintended negative consequences) <u>Rationale</u>: The measure is currently used in NCQA's NQCA's Diabetes Physician Recognition Program (DPRP) and ir
 <u>Rationale</u>: The Committee agreed that the measure was feasible to implement, as the measure has already been i use and the data elements necessary to compute the measure score are generated during care and are easily captured. The Committee expressed concern that the measure requires three actions to occur in order to meet the requirements of the measure, which may create confusion regarding proper documentation as there is not currently a common data element that collects this information. The Committee felt this may result difficulties in extracting data correctly. Ultimately the Committee agreed that the endorsement of the measure would drive EMR developers to create a distinct field to collect the data. 4. Use and Usability: H-7; M-9; L-2; I-0 (4a. Accountability/transparency; and 4b. Improvement – progress demonstrated; and 4c. Benefits outweigh evidence of unintended negative consequences) Rationale: The measure is currently used in NCQA's NQCA's Diabetes Physician Recognition Program (DPRP) and ir
 The Committee agreed that the measure was feasible to implement, as the measure has already been i use and the data elements necessary to compute the measure score are generated during care and are easily captured. The Committee expressed concern that the measure requires three actions to occur in order to meet th requirements of the measure, which may create confusion regarding proper documentation as there is not currently a common data element that collects this information. The Committee felt this may result difficulties in extracting data correctly. Ultimately the Committee agreed that the endorsement of the measure would drive EMR developers to create a distinct field to collect the data. 4. Use and Usability: H-7; M-9; L-2; I-0 (4a. Accountability/transparency; and 4b. Improvement – progress demonstrated; and 4c. Benefits outweigh evidence of unintended negative consequences) <u>Rationale</u>: The measure is currently used in NCQA's NQCA's Diabetes Physician Recognition Program (DPRP) and ir
 use and the data elements necessary to compute the measure score are generated during care and are easily captured. The Committee expressed concern that the measure requires three actions to occur in order to meet the requirements of the measure, which may create confusion regarding proper documentation as there is not currently a common data element that collects this information. The Committee felt this may result difficulties in extracting data correctly. Ultimately the Committee agreed that the endorsement of the measure would drive EMR developers to create a distinct field to collect the data. 4. Use and Usability: H-7; M-9; L-2; I-0 (4a. Accountability/transparency; and 4b. Improvement – progress demonstrated; and 4c. Benefits outweigh evidence of unintended negative consequences) Rationale: The measure is currently used in NCQA's NQCA's Diabetes Physician Recognition Program (DPRP) and ir
 easily captured. The Committee expressed concern that the measure requires three actions to occur in order to meet the requirements of the measure, which may create confusion regarding proper documentation as there is not currently a common data element that collects this information. The Committee felt this may result difficulties in extracting data correctly. Ultimately the Committee agreed that the endorsement of the measure would drive EMR developers to create a distinct field to collect the data. 4. Use and Usability: H-7; M-9; L-2; I-0 (4a. Accountability/transparency; and 4b. Improvement – progress demonstrated; and 4c. Benefits outweigh evidence of unintended negative consequences) Rationale: The measure is currently used in NCQA's NQCA's Diabetes Physician Recognition Program (DPRP) and ir
 The Committee expressed concern that the measure requires three actions to occur in order to meet the requirements of the measure, which may create confusion regarding proper documentation as there is not currently a common data element that collects this information. The Committee felt this may result difficulties in extracting data correctly. Ultimately the Committee agreed that the endorsement of the measure would drive EMR developers to create a distinct field to collect the data. 4. Use and Usability: H-7; M-9; L-2; I-0 (4a. Accountability/transparency; and 4b. Improvement – progress demonstrated; and 4c. Benefits outweigh evidence of unintended negative consequences) Rationale: The measure is currently used in NCQA's NQCA's Diabetes Physician Recognition Program (DPRP) and ir
 requirements of the measure, which may create confusion regarding proper documentation as there is not currently a common data element that collects this information. The Committee felt this may result difficulties in extracting data correctly. Ultimately the Committee agreed that the endorsement of the measure would drive EMR developers to create a distinct field to collect the data. 4. Use and Usability: H-7; M-9; L-2; I-0 (4a. Accountability/transparency; and 4b. Improvement – progress demonstrated; and 4c. Benefits outweigh evidence of unintended negative consequences) <u>Rationale</u>: The measure is currently used in NCQA's NQCA's Diabetes Physician Recognition Program (DPRP) and ir
 not currently a common data element that collects this information. The Committee felt this may result difficulties in extracting data correctly. Ultimately the Committee agreed that the endorsement of the measure would drive EMR developers to create a distinct field to collect the data. 4. Use and Usability: H-7; M-9; L-2; I-0 (4a. Accountability/transparency; and 4b. Improvement – progress demonstrated; and 4c. Benefits outweigh evidence of unintended negative consequences) <u>Rationale</u>: The measure is currently used in NCQA's NQCA's Diabetes Physician Recognition Program (DPRP) and ir
 difficulties in extracting data correctly. Ultimately the Committee agreed that the endorsement of the measure would drive EMR developers to create a distinct field to collect the data. 4. Use and Usability: H-7; M-9; L-2; I-0 (4a. Accountability/transparency; and 4b. Improvement – progress demonstrated; and 4c. Benefits outweigh evidence of unintended negative consequences) <u>Rationale</u>: The measure is currently used in NCQA's NQCA's Diabetes Physician Recognition Program (DPRP) and ir
 measure would drive EMR developers to create a distinct field to collect the data. 4. Use and Usability: H-7; M-9; L-2; I-0 (4a. Accountability/transparency; and 4b. Improvement – progress demonstrated; and 4c. Benefits outweigh evidence of unintended negative consequences) <u>Rationale</u>: The measure is currently used in NCQA's NQCA's Diabetes Physician Recognition Program (DPRP) and ir
 4. Use and Usability: H-7; M-9; L-2; I-0 (4a. Accountability/transparency; and 4b. Improvement – progress demonstrated; and 4c. Benefits outweigh evidence of unintended negative consequences) <u>Rationale</u>: The measure is currently used in NCQA's NQCA's Diabetes Physician Recognition Program (DPRP) and ir
 (4a. Accountability/transparency; and 4b. Improvement – progress demonstrated; and 4c. Benefits outweigh evidence of unintended negative consequences) <u>Rationale</u>: The measure is currently used in NCQA's NQCA's Diabetes Physician Recognition Program (DPRP) and ir
 evidence of unintended negative consequences) <u>Rationale</u>: The measure is currently used in NCQA's NQCA's Diabetes Physician Recognition Program (DPRP) and ir
 <u>Rationale</u>: The measure is currently used in NCQA's NQCA's Diabetes Physician Recognition Program (DPRP) and ir
• The measure is currently used in NCQA's NQCA's Diabetes Physician Recognition Program (DPRP) and ir
 The Committee acknowledged that there has been little improvement in performance of the measure
over time; however, mean performance of 78% at the physician level in 2012 indicates a significant
opportunity for more improvement.
 Continued use of this measure maintains pressure and a priority on performing (and measuring) annual
foot exams. Foot exams are a low-burden procedure with minimal risks to patient, with significant
potential benefits for patients including decreased wounds and amputations.
5. Related and Competing Measures
 No related or competing measures noted.
Standing Committee Recommendation for Endorsement: Y-16; N-3
6. Public and Member Comment:
Comments received:
• Commenters generally expressed support for the measure and the Committee's recommendation for
endorsement.
7. Consensus Standards Approval Committee (CSAC) Vote: Y-17; N-0

0519 Diabetic Foot Care and Patient Education Implemented

Submission Specifications

Description: Percentage of home health episodes of care in which diabetic foot care and patient/caregiver education were included in the physician-ordered plan of care and implemented for diabetic patientssince the previous OASIS assessment.

Numerator Statement: Number of home health episodes where at end of episode, diabetic foot care and education specified in the care plan had been implemented.

Denominator Statement: Number of home health episodes of care ending with a discharge or transfer to inpatient facility during the reporting period, other than those covered by generic or measure-specific exclusions. **Exclusions**: Episodes in which the patient was not diabetic and/or had bilateral foot/lower leg amputations.

0519 Diabetic Foot Care and Patient Education Implemented

Episodes ending in patient death.

Adjustment/Stratification: None

Level of Analysis: Facility

Setting of Care: Home Health

Type of Measure: Process

Data Source: Electronic Clinical Data

Measure Steward: Centers for Medicare & Medicaid

STANDING COMMITTEE MEETING [02/26/2014-02/27/2014]

1. Importance to Measure and Report: The measure meets the Importance criteria

(1a. Evidence: 1b. Performance Gap, 1c. High Priority)

1a. Evidence: H-0; M-1; L-4; I-1; IE-13; 1b. Performance Gap: H-0; M-11; L-8; I-0 1c. High Priority: H-9; M-8; L-1; I-1 <u>Rationale</u>:

- Evidence provided by the developer included the 2013 ADA guideline recommendation to provide foot care education to all patients with diabetes and a systematic review of 12 RCTs related to patient education for preventing diabetic foot ulceration. However, the systematic review concluded that there is insufficient evidence showing that patient education alone is effective in reducing diabetic foot ulcers. The studies included in the review were conducted in an ambulatory setting rather than in the home health setting. The developer did not provide evidence that foot care leads to improved outcomes, although the Committee noted that there is evidence that an assessment and referral for comprehensive care—which would include foot care and patient education—has been shown to improve outcomes. The Committee recommended invoking the evidence exception due to a desire to maintain accountability in home health agencies for performing this intervention, particularly given the overall declines in amputation rates.
- The average performance on the measure was 93.4%, with a 7.7% performance gap between the 75th and 25th percentiles. Some Committee members interpreted these results as demonstration of a performance gap, while others viewed them as an indication that there is not an opportunity for improvement. Members noted that this measure is derived from an item from the mandatory CMS OASIS assessment form and that high performance on the measure would be expected.
- Developers noted that the prevalence of diabetes among older people is 6-10%, that more than 5% of diabetic patients have foot ulcers, the lifetime prevalence of foot ulcer development is estimated to be 15-25%, and more than 80% of non-traumatic amputations for persons with diabetes are due to foot ulcers.

2. Scientific Acceptability of Measure Properties: <u>The measure meets the Scientific Acceptability criteria</u> (2a. Reliability - precise specifications, testing; 2b. Validity - testing, threats to validity) 2a. Reliability: H-17; M-1; L-1; I-0 2b. Validity: H-15; M-4; L-0; I-0 Rationale:

- The developers verified that the measure includes all patients with diabetes (except those with bilateral amputation), includes all home health episodes regardless of length, and allows for education to be provided to either the patient or the caregiver. They also explained that the measure specifications do not require performance of a particular type of educational or foot care intervention; instead, the measure incents the home health agency to collaborate with the physician to include specific interventions in the patient plan of care and requires documentation in the patient chart that the intervention(s) has occurred.
- Signal-to-noise testing using the beta binomial method resulted in an average reliability statistic of 0.92. Developers also examined variation within and between agencies; the resulting Interclass correlation (ICC) coefficient value was 0.89 for agencies with at least 40 valid episodes, indicating that most of the total variation is due to between-agency variation.
- To demonstrate validity of the measure, developers correlated the scores from this measure with several
 other publicly-reported home health measures; results indicated slight-to-moderate positive correlations
 with most of the other measures and a slight negative correlation with ED visits. Developers also
 described a face validity assessment of the measure score by a technical expert panel, where 8 of the 9
 panel members agreed that the measure partially or completely reflects the quality of care.

3. Feasibility: H-19; M-0; L-0; I-0

(3a. Data generated during care; 3b. Electronic sources; and 3c. Data collection can be implemented (eMeasure feasibility assessment of data elements and logic)

<u>Rationale</u>:

• The data elements are included in the OASIS assessment and are thus routinely collected in the course of care.

4. Use and Usability: H-12; M-7; L-0; I-0

(4a. Accountability/transparency; and 4b. Improvement – progress demonstrated; and 4c. Benefits outweigh evidence of unintended negative consequences)

Rationale:

- The Committee noted that the measure is publicly reported and also used for internal quality improvement.
- The Committee concluded that performance on the measure has improved in the three years since it was implemented (from 87% to 92%).
- The Committee noted that a potential unintended consequence with this measure might be that the time and attention spent on patient education on foot care might be better spent on something else.

5. Related and Competing Measures

• No related or competing measures noted.

Standing Committee Recommendation for Endorsement: Y-17; N-2

6. Public and Member Comment

Comments included:

- Comments were received in support of this measure and the Committee's recommendation for endorsement.
- One commenter expressed concern that the evidence that foot care leads to improved outcome exception was not provided and that the evidence exception was invoked.

Developer response:

- The developer responded that there is sufficient evidence that the care processes being measured are
 valid and important ones and the literature supports the use of these care processes in other settings.
 The evidence exception for Diabetic Foot Care and Education was related to the lack of evidence in the
 literature specific to the home health setting, where there is frequently a shortage of evidence available.
- 7. Consensus Standards Approval Committee (CSAC) Vote: Y-17; N-0

8. NQF Board Ratification: Yes

0055 Comprehensive Diabetes Care: Eye Exam (retinal) performed

Submission | Specifications

Description: The percentage of patients 18-75 years of age with diabetes (type 1 and type 2) who had an eye exam (retinal) performed.

Numerator Statement: Patients who received an eye screening for diabetic retinal disease. This includes people with diabetes who had the following: -a retinal or dilated eye exam by an eye care professional (optometrists or ophthalmologist) in the measurement year OR –a negative retinal exam or dilated eye exam (negative for retinopathy) by an eye care professional in the year prior to the measurement year. For exams performed in the year prior to the measurement year, a result must be available.

Denominator Statement: Patients 18-75 years of age by the end of the measurement year who had a diagnosis of diabetes (type 1 or type 2) during the measurement year or the year prior to the measurement year. **Exclusions**: Exclusions (optional):

-Exclude patients who did not have a diagnosis of diabetes, in any setting, during the measurement year or the year prior to the measurement year.

AND

-Exclude patients who meet either of the following criteria:

-A diagnosis of polycystic ovaries, in any setting, any time in the patient's history through December 31 of the

0055 Comprehensive Diabetes Care: Eye Exam (retinal) performed

measurement year.

-A diagnosis of gestational or steroid-induced diabetes, in any setting, during the measurement year or the year prior to the measurement year

Adjustment/Stratification: None

Level of Analysis: Clinician : Group/Practice, Health Plan, Clinician : Individual, Integrated Delivery System **Setting of Care:** Ambulatory Care : Clinician Office/Clinic

Type of Measure: Process

Data Source: Administrative claims, Electronic Clinical Data, Paper Medical Records, Electronic Clinical Data : Pharmacy

Measure Steward: National Committee for Quality Assurance

STANDING COMMITTEE MEETING [02/26/2014-02/27/2014]

1. Importance to Measure and Report: The measure meets the Importance criteria

(1a. Evidence: 1b. Performance Gap, 1c. High Priority)

1a. Evidence: H-4; M-12; L-4; I-0; IE-0; 1b. Performance Gap: H-18; M-2; L-0; I-0 1c. High Priority: H-15; M-3; L-0; I-1

Rationale:

- The Committee agreed that the evidence presented from clinical practice guidelines from the American Diabetes Association (2013) and the American Academy of Ophthalmology (2008) supported the measure intervention, as the performance of retinal exams leads to maintenance of diabetic retinopathy and improvement in quality of life.
- Data submitted by the developer suggests that a majority of adults with diabetes do not receive annual eye exams and performance levels for this measure are low; performance rates for the years 2011-2013 are as follows: commercial HMO mean rate: 57.74% 56.82%; commercial PPO mean rate: 45% 48%; Medicaid HMO rate: 53%; Medicare HMO rate: 64-66%; Medicare PPO: 62%-64%.
- Diabetes is the 7th leading cause of death in the US and is the leading cause of blindness in adults ages 20-74 years. The impact of a loss in vision, either partial or full, is substantial, affecting quality of life and functional status (e.g., the ability to work.

2. Scientific Acceptability of Measure Properties: <u>The measure meets the Scientific Acceptability criteria</u> (2a. Reliability - precise specifications, testing; 2b. Validity - testing, threats to validity)
2a. Reliability: H-7; M-13; L-0; I-0 2b. Validity: H-6; M-13; L-1; I-0
Rationale:

- The Committee determined that the measure specifications were precise, noting that all codes necessary to calculate the measure were present and the specifications were consistent with the evidence presented.
- •
- The Committee expressed concern that the measure specifications require the exam to be performed too frequently, as the evidence indicates that eye exams are only necessary every 3 years; however, the Committee concluded that the benefits from having the exam outweighed the consequences of potential extra screenings.
- The measure was tested for reliability at the level of the measure score using the beta binomial method. The Committee concluded the measure was reliable, as the majority of reliability ratings for the different health plans and physicians were greater than 0.8.

3. Feasibility: H-2; M-13; L-5; I-0

(3a. Data generated during care; 3b. Electronic sources; and 3c. Data collection can be implemented (eMeasure feasibility assessment of data elements and logic)

Rationale:

- The Committee noted it may be difficult to capture this data in electronic sources, as this information is not all currently captured electronically.
- Overall the Committee agreed that = the measure is feasible to implement at the plan level but may be
 more difficult at the provider level. They noted that data may not be available because patients may see a
 different doctor for the exam and/or often use vision insurance instead of their regular health insurance
 for the eye exam.

4. Use a	nd Usability: H-7; M-11; L-2; I-0
	ountability/transparency; and 4b. Improvement – progress demonstrated; and 4c. Benefits outweigh
	e of unintended negative consequences)
Rationa	
•	The developer describes at least five current accountability uses of the measure, including public
	reporting of health plan data.
•	The Committee acknowledged that there has been little improvement in performance of the measure
	over time; however, mean performance ranging from 45-66% at the health plan level in particular and to
	some degree at the physician level indicates a significant opportunity for more improvement.
•	The Committee agreed that there is little measurement burden associated with the measure, no
	evidence unintended consequences, and substantial benefits to continuing the measure.
5. Relat	ed and Competing Measures
•	No related or competing measures noted.
Standin	g Committee Recommendation for Endorsement: Y-18; N-2
	c and Member Comment
Comme	nts included:
•	Comments were received in support of the measure and the Committee's decision to recommend the
	measure for endorsement.
•	Commenters requested clarification as to why women with polycystic ovarian syndrome are excluded
	from the measure.
•	A commenter noted that using the remote imaging CPT codes in the specifications for the measure causes
	quality concerns and is contrary to the American Diabetes Association and the AOA's clinical guidelines
	for patients with diabetes. Including the remote retinal imaging codes in the measure specifications could
	indicate that remote retinal imaging is sufficient eye care for a patient with diabetes.
٠	One commenter suggested that this measure be aligned with the new age specifications agreed to by the
	developer for measure #0056 (i.e., NCQA removed the upper age restriction so that the measure now
	applies to diabetes patients ages 18 and older).
Develop	er response:
•	NCQA responded that polycystic ovarian syndrome is a long-standing exclusion that was recommended by
	their first joint NCQA-AMA-PCPI expert panel when the diabetes measures were first developed. NCQA
	will take this comment into consideration during their next re-evaluation of the diabetes care measures.
•	NCQA responded they will review the use of the CPT codes with expert panels and if appropriate, update
	the Diabetic Retinal Screening value set.
•	NCQA responded that they will evaluate appropriate age thresholds during the next re-evaluation of the
	diabetes care measures.
Commit	tee response:
•	Committee members noted that the ADA guidelines, as well as other evidence, indicate that retinal
	photographs are acceptable and therefore did not recommend a change to the specifications of the
	measure.
•	The Committee also agreed that because complications of diabetes disproportionately affects older
	patients, the measure developer should consider changing the specifications to include those aged 18
	and older rather than including only those aged 18-75.
7 Conc	ensus Standards Approval Committee (CSAC) Vote: Y-17; N-0

0062 Comprehensive Diabetes Care: Medical Attention for Nephropathy

Submission | Specifications

Description: The percentage of patients 18-75 years of age with diabetes (type 1 and type 2) who received a nephropathy screening test or had evidence of nephropathy during the measurement year.

Numerator Statement: Patients who received a nephropathy screening test or had evidence of nephropathy during the measurement year.

Denominator Statement: Patients 18-75 years of age by the end of the measurement year who had a diagnosis of diabetes (type 1 or type 2) during the measurement year or the year prior to the measurement year. **Exclusions**:

Adjustment/Stratification: None

Level of Analysis: Clinician : Group/Practice, Health Plan, Clinician : Individual, Integrated Delivery System Setting of Care: Ambulatory Care : Clinician Office/Clinic

Type of Measure: Process

Data Source: Administrative claims, Electronic Clinical Data, Electronic Clinical Data : Laboratory, Paper Medical Records, Electronic Clinical Data : Pharmacy

Measure Steward: National Committee for Quality Assurance

STANDING COMMITTEE MEETING [02/26/2014-02/27/2014]

1. Importance to Measure and Report: The measure meets the Importance criteria

(1a. Evidence: 1b. Performance Gap, 1c. High Priority)

1a. Evidence: H-13; M-7; L-0; I-0; IE-0; 1b. Performance Gap: H-11; M-7; L-2; I-0 1c. High Priority: H-16; M-4; L-0; I-0 0

Rationale:

- The Committee agreed that the evidence presented from clinical practice guidelines from the American Diabetes Association (2013), American Geriatrics Society (2003), and American Association of Clinical Endocrinologists (AACE) (2011) supported the link between nephropathy screening and improvement in diabetes complications and quality of life.
- Some Committee members mentioned a glomerular filtration rate (GFR) count may be able to capture nephropathy sooner than a microalbumin test. The developer stated the test was meant to detect a urinary protein burden and the GFR would not fulfill that. The Committee accepted this explanation.
- The Committee concluded the data presented by the developer indicate that a substantial number of
 physicians and practices still fail to meet minimum nephropathy screening recommendations. Mean
 performance rates based on HEDIS health plan data from 2011-2013 are as follows: Commercial HMO:
 83%-84%; Commercial PPO: 74%-78%; Medicaid HMO: 77%-78%; Medicare HMO: 89%; Medicare PPO:
 87%-88%..
- Kidney disease is a major concern for diabetes patients. Early diagnosis through screening can help slow the progression of chronic kidney disease and possibly prevent end-stage renal disease.

2. Scientific Acceptability of Measure Properties: <u>The measure meets the Scientific Acceptability criteria</u> (2a. Reliability - precise specifications, testing; 2b. Validity - testing, threats to validity)
2a. Reliability: H-10; M-8; L-2; I-0 2b. Validity: H-10; M-9; L-1; I-0
<u>Rationale</u>:

- The Committee agreed the measure was reliable. Signal-to-noise testing using the beta binomial method resulted in reliability scores higher than the generally acceptable threshold of 0.7.
- To demonstrate validity of the measure, developers correlated the score from this measure with other measures. Pearson correlation test results indicated a positive association between nephropathy screening and HbA1c testing, and an inverse association between nephropathy screening and poor diabetes control.

0062 Comprehensive Diabetes Care: Medical Attention for Nephropathy

3. Feasibility: H-13; M-7; L-0; I-0

(3a. Data generated during care; 3b. Electronic sources; and 3c. Data collection can be implemented (eMeasure feasibility assessment of data elements and logic)

Rationale:

• The Committee expressed concern that data can be collected from different databases, such as billing, pharmacy, and lab, which might create burden on those reporting the measure. However, the Committee acknowledged that the measure is currently in use and the data is routinely generated during the process of care deliver and captured in electronic sources.

4. Use and Usability: H-13; M-6; L-0; I-0

(4a. Accountability/transparency; and 4b. Improvement – progress demonstrated; and 4c. Benefits outweigh evidence of unintended negative consequences)

Rationale:

- The developer described at least five current accountability uses of the measure, including public reporting of health plan data.
- The Committee acknowledged that there has been little improvement in performance of the measure over the past 3 years; however, mean performance at the health plan level, and to some degree at the physician level, indicates that an opportunity for additional improvement exists.

5. Related and Competing Measures

No related or competing measures noted.

Standing Committee Recommendation for Endorsement: Y-19; N-0

6. Public and Member Comment:

Comments received:

• Commenters generally expressed support for the measure and the Committee's recommendation for endorsement.

7. Consensus Standards Approval Committee (CSAC) Vote: Y-17; N-0

8. NQF Board Ratification: Yes

0057 Comprehensive Diabetes Care: Hemoglobin A1c (HbA1c) testing

Submission | Specifications

Description: The percentage of patients 18-75 years of age with diabetes (type 1 and type 2) who received an HbA1c test during the measurement year.

Numerator Statement: Patients who had an HbA1c test performed during the measurement year.

Denominator Statement: Patients 18-75 years of age by the end of the measurement year who had a diagnosis of diabetes (type 1 or type 2) during the measurement year or the year prior to the measurement year.

Exclusions: Exclusions (optional):

-Exclude patients who did not have a diagnosis of diabetes, in any setting, during the measurement year or the year prior to the measurement year.

AND

-Exclude patients who meet either of the following criteria:

-A diagnosis of polycystic ovaries, in any setting, any time in the patient's history through December 31 of the measurement year.

-A diagnosis of gestational or steroid-induced diabetes, in any setting, during the measurement year or the year prior to the measurement year.

Adjustment/Stratification: None

Level of Analysis: Health Plan, Integrated Delivery System

Setting of Care: Ambulatory Care : Clinician Office/Clinic

Type of Measure: Process

Data Source: Administrative claims, Electronic Clinical Data : Electronic Health Record, Electronic Clinical Data : Laboratory, Paper Medical Records

0057 Comprehensive Diabetes Care: Hemoglobin A1c (HbA1c) testing

Measure Steward: National Committee for Quality Assurance

STANDING COMMITTEE MEETING [02/26/2014-02/27/2014]

1. Importance to Measure and Report: The measure meets the Importance criteria

(1a. Evidence: 1b. Performance Gap, 1c. High Priority)

1a. Evidence: H-10; M-6; L-1; I-0; IE-3; 1b. Performance Gap: H-3; M-13; L-4; I-0 1c. High Priority: H-8; M-7; L-5; I-0 Rationale:

- The Committee stated that the evidence supporting HbA1c testing for diabetes patients, which included clinical guideline recommendations from the American Diabetes Association (2013) and the VA (2010), was strong, as HbA1c is the only laboratory test measure validated in randomized controlled trials as a predictor of risk for microvascular complications.
- While testing for HbA1c is relatively high overall, with the mean performance ranging from 82-91%, the data presented suggest a low level of testing within some health plans and in some population subgroups (e.g., Hispanics, younger adults)
- Information presented by the developer indicates that diabetes is the 7th leading cause of death in the US, costing approximately \$245 billion in 2012.

2. Scientific Acceptability of Measure Properties: <u>The measure meets the Scientific Acceptability criteria</u> (2a. Reliability - precise specifications, testing; 2b. Validity - testing, threats to validity)
2a. Reliability: H-16; M-4; L-0; I-0 2b. Validity: H-11; M-9; L-0; I-0

Rationale:

- The Committee agreed the measure was reliable, given that the majority of the reliability statistics from the signal-to-noise analysis of the measure were above the generally acceptable threshold of 0.7.
- Results of Pearson correlation testing indicated a positive association between HbA1c testing and measures of eye exams and good control of HbA1C and an inverse association between HbA1c testing and poor diabetes control (HbA1c >9). The Committee noted that these associations should expected, as high performers on a measure of HbA1c testing likely would also perform well for eye exams and good control of diabetes; likewise, high performers on HbA1c testing should have fewer patients with poorly controlled diabetes.
- Additionally, the developer indicated that face validity was assessed by three groups within NCQA for the health plan level. The Committee found this assessment to be acceptable.
- Committee members expressed some concern regarding the frequency of HbA1c testing as assessed in this measure, given that the evidence indicates HbA1c testing should be performed more frequently than the measure specifies. However, the Committee acknowledged that although assessing whether only one HbA1c test per year may be a low bar, the importance of performing this exam necessitated recommending the measure for endorsement.

3. Feasibility: H-18; M-2; L-0; I-0

(3a. Data generated during care; 3b. Electronic sources; and 3c. Data collection can be implemented (eMeasure feasibility assessment of data elements and logic)

Rationale:

• The Committee agreed that the data are routinely generated through care delivery and captured in electronic sources.

4. Use and Usability: H-14; M-4; L-2; I-0

(4a. Accountability/transparency; and 4b. Improvement – progress demonstrated; and 4c. Benefits outweigh evidence of unintended negative consequences)

Rationale:

- The developer describes at least five current accountability uses of the measure including public reporting of health plan data.
- While performance of HbA1c testing is relatively high and has shown little improvement in the past three years, the variation seen within certain ethnic patient populations suggests further improvements are needed.
- The Committee found the benefit of performing HbA1c testing to outweigh any potential unintended consequences.
0057 Comprehensive Diabetes Care: Hemoglobin A1c (HbA1c) testing

5. Related and Competing Measures

- This measure directly competes with:
 - 0059 Comprehensive Diabetes Care: Hemoglobin A1c (HbA1c) Poor Control (>9.0%)
 - The percentage of patients 18-75 years of age with diabetes (type 1 and type 2) whose most recent HbA1c level during the measurement year was greater than 9.0% (poor control) or was missing a result, or if an HbA1c test was not done during the measurement year]
 - 0 0575 Comprehensive Diabetes Care: Hemoglobin A1c (HbA1c) Control (<8.0%)
 - The percentage of patients 18-75 years of age with diabetes (type 1 and type 2) whose most recent HbA1c level is <8.0% during the measurement year.
- Because this measure competes with the HbA1c poor control measure (HbA1c >9%, #0059) and the HbA1c "good control" measure (HbA1c <8%, #0575) (that is, the absence of testing is incorporated into these two HbA1c measures), the Committee was asked to discuss whether there is justification for continued endorsement of this testing measure. The Committee acknowledged that some implementers must rely on this measure to identify those patients who have not been tested because they cannot easily obtain the information through measures #0059 and #0575. Members agreed that the data collection burden for this measure is relatively low and that performance rates still indicate opportunity for improvement; therefore, they concluded that there is justification to continue endorsement of this measure at this time.

Standing Committee Recommendation for Endorsement: Y-18; N-2

6. Public and Member Comment:

Comments received:

• Commenters generally expressed support for the measure and the Committee's recommendation for endorsement.

7. Consensus Standards Approval Committee (CSAC) Vote: Y-17; N-0

8. NQF Board Ratification: Yes

0059 Comprehensive Diabetes Care: Hemoglobin A1c (HbA1c) Poor Control (>9.0%)

Submission | Specifications

Description: The percentage of patients 18-75 years of age with diabetes (type 1 and type 2) whose most recent HbA1c level during the measurement year was greater than 9.0% (poor control) or was missing a result, or if an HbA1c test was not done during the measurement year.

Numerator Statement: Patients whose most recent HbA1c level is greater than 9.0% or is missing a result, or for whom an HbA1c test was not done during the measurement year. The outcome is an out of range result of an HbA1c test, indicating poor control of diabetes. Poor control puts the individual at risk for complications including renal failure, blindness, and neurologic damage. There is no need for risk adjustment for this intermediate outcome measure.

Denominator Statement: Patients 18-75 years of age by the end of the measurement year who had a diagnosis of diabetes (type 1 or type 2) during the measurement year or the year prior to the measurement year. **Exclusions**: Exclusions (optional):

-Exclude patients who did not have a diagnosis of diabetes, in any setting, during the measurement year or the year prior to the measurement year.

AND

-Exclude patients who meet either of the following criteria:

-A diagnosis of polycystic ovaries, in any setting, any time in the patient's history through December 31 of the measurement year.

-A diagnosis of gestational or steroid-induced diabetes, in any setting, during the measurement year or the year prior to the measurement year.

Adjustment/Stratification: None

Level of Analysis: Clinician : Group/Practice, Health Plan, Clinician : Individual, Integrated Delivery System,

0059 Comprehensive Diabetes Care: Hemoglobin A1c (HbA1c) Poor Control (>9.0%)

Population : National, Population : Regional, Population : State

Setting of Care: Ambulatory Care : Clinician Office/Clinic

Type of Measure: Outcome

Data Source: Administrative claims, Electronic Clinical Data, Electronic Clinical Data : Laboratory, Paper Medical Records, Electronic Clinical Data : Pharmacy

Measure Steward: National Committee for Quality Assurance

STANDING COMMITTEE MEETING [02/26/2014-02/27/2014]

1. Importance to Measure and Report: The measure meets the Importance criteria

(1a. Evidence: 1b. Performance Gap, 1c. High Priority)

1a. Evidence: H-3; M-16; L-1; I-0; IE-0; 1b. Performance Gap: H-17; M-3; L-0; I-0 1c. High Priority: H-20; M-0; L-0; I-0 0

Rationale:

- Evidence presented by the developer included information from systematic reviews associated with clinical practice guideline recommendations from four entities, each of which indicate that HbA1c targets should be 9.0% or less, depending on individual patient characteristics.
- Data presented by the developer showed a gap in care from HEDIS for years 2011-2013 for health plans, and from the Diabetes Recognition Program and 2012 PQRS program for individual physicians with performance, as follows: commercial HMO mean rate: 71.5- 72.7%; commercial PPO mean rate: 53.4 64.8%; Medicaid HMO rate: 55.6-57%; Medicare HMO rate: 73.6-74.1%; Medicare PPO rate: 65.3-71.3%; Diabetes Recognition Program: 12%. There was also evidence of disparities in certain high-risk groups including as African Americans, Asians, and Latinos.
- Data presented by the developer demonstrates that the measure affects large numbers, as it is estimated that 1 in 3 US adults could have diabetes by 2050. The measure targets a condition that is a leading cause of morbidity/mortality, as diabetes is the seventh leading cause of death in the U.S. The measure targets a high cost condition, as diabetes costs the US an estimated \$245 billion in 2012.

2. Scientific Acceptability of Measure Properties: <u>The measure meets the Scientific Acceptability criteria</u> (2a. Reliability - precise specifications, testing; 2b. Validity - testing, threats to validity) 2a. Reliability: H-5; M-13; L-2; I-0 2b. Validity: H-7; M-13; L-0; I-0

- <u>Rationale</u>:The Committee noted that the evidence of the committee noted the committee not committee noted the committee n
 - The Committee noted that the evidence did not specifically support 9.0% as the cutoff value for poor glucose control but found that threshold to be acceptable given that evidence is clear that patients with poor diabetes control have poorer outcomes.
 - The Committee agreed that the measure was reliable at the health plan level, given that the majority of the reliability statistics from the signal-to-noise analysis of the measure were >0.9. However, the Committee expressed concern over the low reliability values at the physician level, many of which were below the generally accepted threshold of 0.7. The developer explained that the clinician-level reliability results were obtained using data from the NCQA Diabetes Recognition Program. They noted that providers who participate in this program are a self-selected group of high performers with little variation in performance on this measure, and that the lack of variation was the reason for the low reliability statistics. The Committee accepted this explanation.
 - For health plans, empiric validity testing results indicated a strong inverse relationship between this measure (>9.0%) and the HbA1c good control measure (<8.0%); for physicians, the empiric validity testing results indicated a moderate inverse relationship between this measure (>9.0%) and the HbA1c good control measure (<8.0%). Face validity also was assessed by three groups within NCQA for both the plan and physician–level measure.
 - The Committee expressed some concern about whether this clinical outcome measure truly represents quality of care, given that HbA1c results can be influenced by patient factors that cannot be completely controlled by the clinician. Members also noted that the measure is not risk-adjusted and queried the developers about whether they had considered risk adjustment, particularly for socioeconomic status. The developer explained their policy of not risk-adjusting for socioeconomic status, noting that excellent care can be provided to challenging populations. Committee members noted that stratifying results for various subgroups or comparing results to "like" peers can be used to illuminate quality problems.

0059 Comprehensive Diabetes Care: Hemoglobin A1c (HbA1c) Poor Control (>9.0%)
 Committee members also expressed concern about the validity of the measure and its ability to reflect quality of clinician care, particularly in a fee-for-service environment where the clinician may not know definitively if a particular patient is really a part of the practice (or if, for example, he/she has moved away). The developer acknowledged this difficulty and reminded the committee about how the denominator is specified (i.e., multiple office visits, at least one hospital/ED encounter, and/or anti- diabetic prescriptions dispensed).
3. Feasibility: H-14; M-5; L-1; I-0
(3a. Data generated during care; 3b. Electronic sources; and 3c. Data collection can be implemented (eMeasure
feasibility assessment of data elements and logic)
Rationale:
• The Committee agreed that the data used in the measure are routinely generated during care delivery and captured in electronic sources; members also noted that the measure currently is in use, thus demonstrating its feasibility.
4. Use and Usability: H-9; M-11; L-0; I-0
(4a. Accountability/transparency; and 4b. Improvement – progress demonstrated; and 4c. Benefits outweigh evidence of unintended negative consequences) Rationale:
 The Committee noted the measure currently is in use in at least eight public reporting and accountabili programs, including the Physician Quality Reporting System, the Healthcare Effectiveness Data and Information Set (HEDIS), and the Diabetes Recognition Program. The Committee agreed that while there has been improvement nationally in lowering HbA1c rates over time, in the past three years the improvement trend has remained fairly stable; nonetheless, members
 The Committee questioned whether this measure might result in the unintended negative consequence of disincentivizing providers from caring for more complex or difficult-to-treat patients (i.e., "cherry-picking"); however, they agreed that there is no concrete evidence that this is happening (and some evidence from the UK that it is actually not happening).
5. Related and Competing Measures
 This measure directly competes with: 0057: Comprehensive Diabetes Care: Hemoglobin A1c (HbA1c) testing The percentage of patients 18-75 years of age with diabetes (type 1 and type 2) who received an HbA1c test during the measurement year.
Not having an HbA1c test is captured in the numerators of #0059 and #0575, in that if the test is not performed for a particular patient, the provider "fails" the measure for that patient. Some members thought that the testing measure (#0057) isn't needed since that information is captured in #0059 and #0575. However, other members perceive #0057 as a way to identify those patients who have not bee tested, noting that this information would be hard for certain practices (e.g., small private practices that may not use EHRS) to obtain if the testing measure is not endorsed. Members also agreed that the dat collection burden for the testing measure is not high and that performance rates still indicate opportunifor improvement.
Standing Committee Recommendation for Endorsement: Y-20; N-0
6. Public and Member Comment:
Comments received:
Commenters generally expressed support for the measure and the Committee's recommendation for endorsement.
7. Consensus Standards Approval Committee (CSAC) Vote: Y-17; N-0
8 NOF Board Ratification: Ves

8. NQF Board Ratification: Yes

0575 Comprehensive Diabetes Care: Hemoglobin A1c (HbA1c) Control (<8.0%)

Submission | Specifications

Description: The percentage of patients 18-75 years of age with diabetes (type 1 and type 2) whose most recent HbA1c level is <8.0% during the measurement year.

Numerator Statement: Patients whose most recent HbA1c level is less than 8.0% during the measurement year. The outcome is a result of an HbA1c test, indicating desirable control of diabetes. Poor control puts the individual at risk for complications including renal failure, blindness, and neurologic damage. There is no need for risk adjustment for this intermediate outcome.

Denominator Statement: Patients 18-75 years of age by the end of the measurement year who had a diagnosis of diabetes (type 1 or type 2) during the measurement year or the year prior to the measurement year. **Exclusions**: Exclusions (optional):

-Exclude patients who did not have a diagnosis of diabetes, in any setting, during the measurement year or the year prior to the measurement year.

AND

-Exclude patients who meet either of the following criteria:

-A diagnosis of polycystic ovaries, in any setting, any time in the patient's history through December 31 of the measurement year.

-A diagnosis of gestational or steroid-induced diabetes, in any setting, during the measurement year or the year prior to the measurement year.

Adjustment/Stratification: None

Level of Analysis: Clinician : Group/Practice, Health Plan, Clinician : Individual, Integrated Delivery System **Setting of Care:** Ambulatory Care : Clinician Office/Clinic

Type of Measure: Outcome

Data Source: Administrative claims, Electronic Clinical Data, Electronic Clinical Data : Laboratory, Paper Medical Records, Electronic Clinical Data : Pharmacy

Measure Steward: National Committee for Quality Assurance

STANDING COMMITTEE MEETING [02/26/2014-02/27/2014]

1. Importance to Measure and Report: The measure meets the Importance criteria

(1a. Evidence: 1b. Performance Gap, 1c. High Priority)

1a. Evidence: H-9; M-8; L-3; I-0; IE-0; 1b. Performance Gap: H-16; M-4; L-0; I-0 1c. High Priority: H-16; M-3; L-1; I-0 <u>Rationale</u>:

- The Committee found the evidence underpinning the clinical practice guideline recommendations from American Diabetes Association (2013), American Geriatric Society (2003), VA/DOD (2010), and American Association of Clinical Endocrinologists (AACE) (2011) to be sufficient to support this measure. The evidence showed significant reductions in risk of microvascular complications, retinopathy, and MI for patients with HbA1c levels less than 8.0%.
- The Committee agreed that there is a large gap in performance based on health plan level data for years 2011-2013 (commercial HMO mean rate: 62-61%; commercial PPO mean rate: 50-54%; Medicaid HMO mean rate: 47-46%; Medicare HMO mean rate: 65-64%; Medicare PPO mean rate: 57-62%), and on self-reported physician level results from PQRS 2010 -2012 (mean: 75.2% 76.7%; 10th percentile: 63-64%).
- Data presented by the developer notes that diabetes is the 7th leading cause of death in the U.S., costing an estimated \$245 billion annually, and that reducing HbA1c level results by one percentage point (e.g., from 8.0 percent to 7.0 percent) helps reduce the risk of microvascular complications (eye, kidney and nerve diseases) by as much as 40 percent.

2. Scientific Acceptability of Measure Properties: <u>The measure meets the Scientific Acceptability criteria</u> (2a. Reliability - precise specifications, testing; 2b. Validity - testing, threats to validity)
2a. Reliability: H-3; M-14; L-3; I-0 2b. Validity: H-4; M-12; L-4; I-0 Rationale:

- Committee members agreed that 8.0% is a realistic, evidence-based threshold for good control of diabetes. The Committee noted that prior attempts to target HbA1c levels lower than 7.0% were shown to produce a high level of a risk relative to the benefit, when compared to target levels below 8.0%.
- The Committee determined that the measure specifications were precise, that all codes necessary to calculate the measure were present, and that the specifications were consistent with the evidence

0575 Comprehensive Diabetes Care: Hemoglobin A1c (HbA1c) Control (<8.0%)

presented.

- There was some confusion about whether the denominator is calculated differently for clinicians versus for health plans. The developer clarified that the denominator is consistent across the levels of analysis (i.e., diabetic patients are identified in the same way), although when implemented in the NCQA Diabetes Recognition Program, only a sampling of patients is used to compute the clinician-level rate.
- The Committee agreed that the measure was reliable at the health plan level, given that the majority of the reliability statistics from the signal-to-noise analysis of the measure were >0.9. However, the Committee expressed concern over the low reliability values at the physician level, many of which were below the generally accepted threshold of 0.7. The developer explained that the clinician-level reliability results were obtained using data from the NCQA Diabetes Recognition Program. They noted that providers who participate in this program are a self-selected group of high performers with little variation in performance on this measure, and that the lack of variation was the reason for the low reliability statistics. The Committee accepted this explanation.
- Empiric validity testing results indicate a strong inverse correlation of this measure with poor glucose control (HbA1c >9) and good correlation with HbA1c testing and provision of eye exams for health plans; for physicians, testing results indicate an inverse correlation with poor glucose control but no correlation with HbA1c testing or provision of eye exams. Face validity also was assessed by three groups within NCQA for both the plan- and physician–level measure.
- Committee members noted the role of the patient in glucose control and the need for individualized care, as for some patients, an 8% threshold might not be appropriate

3. Feasibility: H-17; M-3; L-0; I-0

(3a. Data generated during care; 3b. Electronic sources; and 3c. Data collection can be implemented (eMeasure feasibility assessment of data elements and logic)

Rationale:

• The Committee agreed that the data used in the measure are routinely generated during care delivery and are captured in electronic sources.

4. Use and Usability: H-7; M-8; L-4; I-0

(4a. Accountability/transparency; and 4b. Improvement – progress demonstrated; and 4c. Benefits outweigh evidence of unintended negative consequences)

Rationale:

- The Committee noted that the developer listed five current uses of the measure, including public reporting.
- The Committee agreed there has been improvement in HbA1c rates over time(e.g., from 67.4% between 1999-2010 to 79.1% between 2007-2010, as noted in a 2013 CDC report)
- As in their discussion of measure #0059, the Committee questioned whether this measure might result in the unintended negative consequence of disincentivizing providers from caring for more complex or difficult-to-treat patients. They also suggested that some providers may inappropriately consider this measure to encourage tight control, even though evidence suggests that very tight control may be harmful. Finally, members noted that for some patients (e.g., frail elderly patients, those with limited life expectancy) HbAc1 values slightly above 8% might be reasonable and that target HbA1c values for such patients should be individualized.

5. Related and Competing Measures

0

- This measure directly competes with:
 - 0057 Comprehensive Diabetes Care: Hemoglobin A1c (HbA1c) testing
 - The percentage of patients 18-75 years of age with diabetes (type 1 and type 2) who received an HbA1c test during the measurement year.
- Not having an HbA1c test is captured in the numerators of #0059 and #0575, in that that if the test is not performed for a particular patient, the provider "fails" the measure for that patient. Some members thought that the testing measure (#0057) isn't needed since that information is captured in #0059 and #0575. However, other members perceive #0057 as a way to identify those patients who have not been tested, noting that this information would be hard for certain practices (e.g., small private practices that

0575 Comprehensive Diabetes Care: Hemoglobin A1c (HbA1c) Control (<8.0%)

may not use EHRS) to obtain if the testing measure is not endorsed. Members also agreed that the data collection burden for the testing measure is not high and that performance rates still indicate opportunity for improvement.

Standing Committee Recommendation for Endorsement: Y-17; N-2

6. Public and Member Comment:

Comments received:

• Commenters generally expressed support for the measure and the Committee's recommendation for endorsement.

7. Consensus Standards Approval Committee (CSAC) Vote: Y-17; N-0

8. NQF Board Ratification: Yes

2362 Glycemic Control – Hyperglycemia

Submission | Specifications

Description: Average percentage of hyperglycemic hospital days for individuals with a diagnosis of diabetes mellitus, anti-diabetic drugs (except metformin) administered, or at least one elevated glucose level during the hospital stay

Numerator Statement: Sum of the percentage of hospital days in hyperglycemia for each admission in the denominator

Denominator Statement: Total number of admissions with a diagnosis of diabetes mellitus, at least one administration of insulin or any anti-diabetic medication except metformin, or at least one elevated blood glucose value (>200 mg/dL [11.1 mmol/L]) at any time during the entir

Exclusions: The following admissions are excluded from the denominator:

• Admissions with diagnosis of diabetic ketoacidosis (DKA) or hyperglycemic hyperosmolar syndrome (HHS)

• Admissions without any hospital days included in analysis

• Admissions with lengths of stay greater than 120 days

Adjustment/Stratification: None

Level of Analysis: Facility

Setting of Care: Hospital/Acute Care Facility

Type of Measure: Outcome

Data Source: Electronic Clinical Data, Electronic Clinical Data : Electronic Health Record, Electronic Clinical Data : Laboratory, Electronic Clinical Data : Pharmacy

Measure Steward: Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services

STANDING COMMITTEE MEETING [02/26/2014-02/27/2014]

1. Importance to Measure and Report: The measure meets the Importance criteria

(1a. Evidence: 1b. Performance Gap, 1c. High Priority)

1a. Evidence: H-5; M-8; L-1; IE-5; I-0; 1b. Performance Gap: H-16; M-3; L-0; I-0 1c. High Priority: H-16; M-2; L-0; I-1 Rationale:

- Evidence presented by the developer included nine studies that considered the relationship between hyperglycemia and mortality, infection rates, and length of stay among hospitalized adults; these studies found that patients with hyperglycemia (defined differently across each study) had a higher risk of mortality, higher rates of urinary tract infection, postoperative infection, and pneumonia, and longer lengths of inpatient stays. Members noted that interventional studies showing benefit have been in ICU settings, although some data have shown an association between interventions and benefit in non-ICU settings. Although Committee members acknowledged that there isn't evidence that better control of hyperglycemia in the inpatient setting leads to better outcomes, members did agree that there is strong evidence supporting the relationship of hyperglycemia with poor outcomes and that keeping HbA1c levels below 200mg/dL is beneficial.
- Data presented by the developer indicate that average performance scores range from 22-33% and that half of the tested facilities had measure results higher than 28.24%.

2362 Glycemic Control – Hyperglycemia

The Committee agreed that the measure addressed a significant health problem, as hyperglycemia is
associated with higher mortality, higher infection rates, increased hospital length of stay, and higher
costs.

2. Scientific Acceptability of Measure Properties: <u>The measure meets the Scientific Acceptability criteria</u> (2a. Reliability - precise specifications, testing; 2b. Validity - testing, threats to validity)

2a. Reliability: H-1; M-17; L-1; I-0; 2b. Validity: H-4; M-14; L-1; I-0 Rationale:

- The Committee had several questions about how the measure was specified, particularly regarding the timing of the glucose measurement, why only one day with one measurement > 200mg/dL would be considered a hyperglycemic day, why measurement is truncated after the 10th day of admission, whether very high values are treated the same as values just over 200mg/dL, and why non-diabetics are included in the measure. The developer explained the following:
 - The measure requires at least two hyperglycemic events that occur at least 6 hours apart
 - The 1st admission day not is included
 - ER values are not included
 - Only one day of testing >200mg/dL is included to incent additional testing
 - A maximum of 10 days is used to ensure that one patient doesn't dominate the results
 - o The measure focuses on sustained hyperglycemia rather than peak values
 - The measure also incents blood glucose monitoring because many non-diabetic patients have sustained hyperglycemia while in the hospital
- Committee members asked about how the patients are attributed to the various stratification groupings; the developer explained that the stratification was suggested for reporting purposes (not as part of the measure calculation) but that if done, assignment to the various reporting strata could be based on where a patient spent the majority of time in a particular day.
- One Committee member questioned whether meter variation would decrease the reliability of this measure; another member noted that such variation would likely be random (i.e., as many readings just above the 200mg/dL level as below) and that this variation also likely be would uniform across hospitals.
- The developer presented reliability testing results at the level of the performance measure score. All hospitals tested except one (which had only 225 patients and 74 qualifying admissions) had signal-to-noise reliability statistics >= .92.
- Committee members agreed that while the definition of hyperglycemia was different across the various studies included in the evidence, there is evidence that keeping HbA1c levels below 200mg/dL is beneficial; they therefore agreed that the specifications are consistent with the evidence.
- Developers presented empirical validity testing results with high percent agreement (>90%) for all critical data elements except for the ICU date/time. They also described a systematic assessment of face validity by an 18-member expert panel.
- Committee members asked whether the measure might unfairly penalize tertiary care hospitals that often have higher-acuity patients. The developer noted that, in testing, tertiary hospitals actually had better performance on this measure than did others, possibly due to better insulin infusion protocols.
- There was some concern that there is currently no benchmark value for inpatient hyperglycemic rate; however, NQF staff clarified that lack of a benchmark value should not be considered a threat to validity.

3. Feasibility: H-9; M-8; L-1; I-0

(3a. Data generated during care; 3b. Electronic sources; and 3c. Data collection can be implemented (eMeasure feasibility assessment of data elements and logic)

Rationale:

- Because this is an eMeasure, one Committee member raised concern about the programming burden required to implement the measure. The developer noted that the difficulty for the testing facilities was the up-front work to identify which lab tests/values should be included in the measure (e.g., metabolic panel, normal daily draws, etc.) and that the subsequent retrieval of the data was not burdensome.
- The Committee agreed that data element scores from the feasibility scorecard that was submitted by the developer (which indicated average scores of 2.5 or higher on a 3-point scale) supported the feasibility of

2362 Glycemic Control – Hyperglycemia

the measure.

4. Use and Usability: H-11; M-7; L-1; I-0

(4a. Accountability/transparency; and 4b. Improvement – progress demonstrated; and 4c. Benefits outweigh evidence of unintended negative consequences)

Rationale:

- This de novo eMeasure is not currently in use but has been submitted for consideration in the CMS Hospital Inpatient Quality Reporting Program (IQR) and for Meaningful Use (MU) Stage 3.
- The Committee noted that a possible unintended negative consequence of the measure might be a tendency for tight glucose control, which could lead to hypoglycemia. However, members noted that this measure is paired with a hypoglycemia measure (#2363).

5. Related and Competing Measures

• No related or competing measures noted.

Standing Committee Recommendation for Endorsement: Y-18; N-1

6. Public and Member Comment

Comments received:

- One commenter expressed the desire that the measure be made consistent with NQF # 2363.
- Comments were also received questioning the need for this measure, as well as in support of this the Committee's recommendation for endorsement.

Developer response:

• Regarding measure consistency, the measures are designed to measure two very different events clinically. Hyperglycemia is usually sustained and can occur in patients that do not have a current diagnosis of diabetes; whereas, severe hypoglycemia is a relatively rare event that typically occurs after the administration of an anti-diabetic agent.

Committee response:

• The Committee supported the construction of the measure and accepted the developer's response.

7. Consensus Standards Approval Committee (CSAC) Vote: Y-17; N-0

8. NQF Board Ratification: Yes

2363 Glycemic Control - Hypoglycemia

Submission Specifications

Description: The rate of hypoglycemic events following the administration of an anti-diabetic agent **Numerator Statement**: Total number of hypoglycemic events (<40 mg/dL) that were preceded by administration of rapid/short-acting insulin within 12 hours or an anti-diabetic agent other than short-acting insulin within 24 hours, were not followed by another glucose value greater than 80 mg/dL within five minutes, and were at least 20 hours apart

Optional numerator: Total number of hypoglycemic events (<70 mg/dL) that were preceded by administration of rapid/short-acting insulin within 12 hours or an anti-diabetic agent other than short-acting insulin within 24 hours, were not followed by another glucose value greater than 80 mg/dL within five minutes, and were at least 20 hours apart

Denominator Statement: Total number of hospital days with at least one anti-diabetic agent administered **Exclusions**: Admissions with lengths of stay greater than 120 days are excluded.

Adjustment/Stratification: None

Level of Analysis: Facility

Setting of Care: Hospital/Acute Care Facility

Type of Measure: Outcome

Data Source: Electronic Clinical Data, Electronic Clinical Data : Electronic Health Record, Electronic Clinical Data : Laboratory, Electronic Clinical Data : Pharmacy

Measure Steward: Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services

STANDING COMMITTEE MEETING [02/26/2014-02/27/2014]

2363 Glycemic Control - Hypoglycemia
1. Importance to Measure and Report: The measure meets the Importance criteria
(1a. Evidence: 1b. Performance Gap, 1c. High Priority)
1a. Evidence: H-13; M-6; L-0; IE-0; I-0; 1b. Performance Gap: H-12; M-6; L-1; I-0 1c. High Priority: H-17; M-2; L-0; I-
0
Rationale:
 The developer identified, reviewed, and reported on 5 studies regarding the relationship between hypoglycemia and outcomes of mortality and length of stay. The Committee agreed that the evidence that poor outcomes and mortality are associated with hypoglycemia is very strong. Data presented by the developer indicate that average performance scores range from 36% to 89%. Although a low-incidence outcome, the best performance score was less than half of the poorest
performance score.
• The Committee agreed that the measure addressed a significant health problem, as hypoglycemia has
been associated with higher mortality, increased length of stay, and discharge to a nursing home.
2. Scientific Acceptability of Measure Properties: <u>The measure meets the Scientific Acceptability criteria</u>
(2a. Reliability - precise specifications, testing; 2b. Validity - testing, threats to validity)
2a. Reliability: H-11; M-7; L-1; I-0; 2b. Validity: H-10; M-8; L-0; I-0
Rationale:
 The Committee discussed whether blood glucose <40mg/dL was an appropriate cutoff for hypoglycemia, noting that some patients can experience poor outcomes with blood glucose of <70mg/dL. However, the Committee agreed that blood glucose <40mg/dL should be preventable, but blood glucose <70 may not be preventable in some patients. The Committee agreed that for public reporting and accountability purposes, <40mg/dL was an appropriate cutoff for identifying hypoglycemia. The developer clarified that the optional <70mg/dL threshold measurement was intended for internal quality improvement uses only. However, because NQF endorsement implies suitability for use in both
 accountability applications and internal quality improvement efforts, the Committee requested that the developer remove the optional numerator of <70mg/dL. The developer agreed to this change. A signal-to-noise analysis was used to test the reliability of the performance measure scores. Although there were only 8 testing sites, 6 of the 8 had reliability scores of 0.7 or greater (which is typically considered the minimum acceptable value). The one test site with a very low reliability statistic (0.08) was a small provider with only 340 patient days in denominator and 3 hypoglycemic events. The developer tested data element validity by comparing electronic data used in the measure to data abstracted from the full electronic medical record; the percent agreement was high (>95%) for all critical data elements.
3. Feasibility: H-15; M-4; L-0; I-0
(3a. Data generated during care; 3b. Electronic sources; and 3c. Data collection can be implemented (eMeasure feasibility assessment of data elements and logic) Rationale:
• The Committee agreed that data element scores from the feasibility scorecard submitted by the developer supported the feasibility of the measure (all critical data elements had average scores of 2.5 or higher on a 3-point scale).
4. Use and Usability: H-16; M-2; L-1; I-0
(4a. Accountability/transparency; and 4b. Improvement – progress demonstrated; and 4c. Benefits outweigh evidence of unintended negative consequences)
Rationale: This de novo eMeasure is not currently in use but has been submitted for consideration in the CMS Hospital Inpatient Quality Reporting Program (IQR) and for Meaningful Use (MU) Stage 3.
5. Related and Competing Measures
No related or competing measures noted.
Standing Committee Recommendation for Endorsement: Y-19; N-0
Rationale
The Committee noted that this measure will serve as a companion measure to balance the Glycemic

٦

	Control – Hyperglycemia (#2362) measure.
•	The Committee also recommended that the developer change the name of the measure to "Glycemic
	Control – Severe Hypoglycemia". The developer agreed to this change.
•	The Committee also noted that use of this measure to assess severe hypoglycemia should not be
	construed to mean that hospitals can ignore blood glucose levels that are between 40-70mg/dL.
6. Pub	lic and Member Comment
Comm	ents received:
•	One commenter noted low reliability scores for one of the hospitals included in the testing of the
	measure and questioning the reliability of the measure for smaller facilities. The commenter also
	expressed the desire that the measure be made consistent with NQF #2362.
•	One commenter questioned the need for these measures while another expressed support for the
	measures.
Develo	per response:
•	The developer noted that it is correct the smallest facility tested had inadequate reliability; however, the other facility had a score of 0.67, which would indicate the measure is closely approaching the reliability threshold of 0.7. The developer will monitor reliability carefully for small facilities if implemented.
•	Regarding measure consistency, the measures are designed to measure two very different events
	clinically. Hyperglycemia is usually sustained and can occur in patients that do not have a current
	diagnosis of diabetes; whereas, severe hypoglycemia is a relatively rare event that typically occurs after
	the administration of an anti-diabetic agent.
Comm	ittee response:
•	The Committee supported the construction of the measure and accepted the explanation of the
	developer regarding reliability.
7. Con	sensus Standards Approval Committee (CSAC) Vote: Y-17; N-0
	Board Ratification: Yes

0545 Adherence to Statins for Individuals with Diabetes Mellitus

Submission | Specifications

Description: The measure addresses adherence to statins. The measure is reported as the percentage of eligible individuals with diabetes mellitus who had at least two prescriptions for statins and who have a Proportion of Days Covered (PDC) of at least 0.8 during the measurement period (12 consecutive months).

Numerator Statement: Individuals in the denominator with at least two prescriptions for statins with a PDC of at least 0.8 for statins.

Denominator Statement: Individuals at least 18 years of age as of the beginning of the measurement period with diabetes mellitus and at least two prescriptions for statins during the measurement period (12 consecutive months).

Exclusions: We excluded the following individuals from the denominator:

Individuals with polycystic ovaries, gestational diabetes, or steroid-induced diabetes who do not have a face-to-face visit with a diagnosis of diabetes in any setting during the measurement period.

Exclusion 1

Individuals with a diagnosis of polycystic ovaries who do not have a visit with a diagnosis of diabetes in any setting during the measurement period*; and,

Exclusion 2

Individuals with a diagnosis of gestational diabetes or steroid-induced diabetes who do not have a visit with a diagnosis of diabetes mellitus in any setting during the measurement period.

*Adapted from NCQA HEDIS 2013 (2013). Note: HEDIS uses a look-back period of one year prior to the measurement period for both the prescription data and diagnosis.

Adjustment/Stratification: None

Level of Analysis: Clinician : Group/Practice, Health Plan, Integrated Delivery System, Population : State

0545 Adherence to Statins for Individuals with Diabetes Mellitus

Setting of Care: Ambulatory Care : Clinician Office/Clinic

Type of Measure: Process

Data Source: Administrative claims, Other, Electronic Clinical Data : Pharmacy

Measure Steward: Centers for Medicare & Medicaid

STANDING COMMITTEE MEETING [02/26/2014-02/27/2014]

1. Importance to Measure and Report: The measure meets the Importance criteria

(1a. Evidence: 1b. Performance Gap, 1c. High Priority)

1a. Evidence: H-10; M-8; L-1; I-0; IE-0; 1b. Performance Gap: H-15; M-4; L-0; I-0 1c. High Priority: H-14; M-4; L-1; I-0

Rationale:

- Evidence submitted by the developer included clinical practice guideline recommendations from three organizations and a 2010 systematic review of the efficacy of statin use. The Committee agreed that there is strong evidence supporting the use of statins to reduce cardiovascular risk in diabetic patients. Members acknowledged that adherence to statins is not directly addressed in the guidelines, but noted that studies referenced by the developer and an observational study identified by a Committee member showed there was a difference in outcomes between patients with poor adherence versus patients with better adherence.
- Results from measure testing using 2012 Medicare data indicate average performance rates of 71.8% for states (n=10), 72.2% for drug plans (n=72), and 70.8% for physicians (n= 7,393).
- The Committee noted the high burden of both diabetes and of cardiovascular disease in diabetic patients, and agreed that these conditions affects high numbers, are a leading cause of morbidity and mortality, and require high resource use.

2. Scientific Acceptability of Measure Properties: <u>The measure meets the Scientific Acceptability criteria</u> (2a. Reliability - precise specifications, testing; 2b. Validity - testing, threats to validity) 2a. Reliability: H-14; M-4; L-0; I-0 2b. Validity: H-3; M-13; L-1; I-2 Pationale:

Rationale:

- The Committee questioned why the measure is specified for those aged 18 or older, given that the American Diabetes Association guideline recommendations are for diabetics aged 40 and older and that the measure is computed using Part D Medicare claims. The developer reminded the Committee that the measure focus is adherence among those patients whose physicians have prescribed statin medications at least twice in the measurement year and that it is not meant to address whether the prescriptions were or were not appropriate.
- The Committee asked that the title of the measure be changed to "Adherence to Statins for Medicare Eligible Individuals with Diabetes Mellitus" as a way to emphasize that the measure was specified for those enrolled in Medicare Part D, and the developer initially agreed to this change. However, upon further reflection, the developer and steward realized that this change would be counter to previous NQF guidance regarding naming conventions and would not be harmonized with other medication adherence measures, and therefore declined to change the name. The developer noted that clarifying language could added in public reporting applications.
- The Committee also asked for clarification about what would happen if a physician stops statin therapy (e.g., because of adverse reactions) The developer again noted the denominator requirement for at least two prescriptions but acknowledged that if therapy were discontinued for a particular patient during the measurement year, that patient could be considered non-adherent. However, the developer clarified that change from one brand of statins to another would not result in a finding of non-adherence.
- There was some discussion among the Committee about whether there should be an exclusion for women who become pregnant (because statins are not indicated for women who are pregnant). The developer noted that in an analysis of Medicare data from 10 states for the population covered by this measure, the occurrence of pregnancy was "exceedingly rare".
- The developer conducted a signal to noise analysis to test the reliability of the measure; all values of the reliability statistics were > 0.98 for states and >0.82 for ACOs; the average value of the reliability statistics was 0.72 for drug plans and 0.70 for physician groups. The Committee agreed that these results

	dherence to Statins for Individuals with Diabetes Mellitus
	demonstrated high reliability for states and ACOs and moderate reliability for physician groups and drug plans.
•	The Committee accepted the systematic assessment of face validity conducted by the developers; in this assessment, a technical expert panel rated the measure on whether the measure results are a valid
	representation of quality and 77.8% of the panelists responded that they either agreed or strongly agreed with that statement.
•	The Committee discussed the effect of missing data for those patients who do not use their Part D benefit to pay for their medications (e.g., by paying cash or getting it for free). The developers noted that they had performed sensitivity analyses to try to understand the effect of cash purchases on the performance rates and did not see an appreciable difference; they did acknowledge, however, that this analysis had some data limitations. The developer also suggested that cash prescriptions might not be problematic if patients generally fill the statin prescriptions in a consistent place and manner (e.g., those who always pay with cash would not be included in the denominator anyway).
3. Feasi	bility: H-14; M-4; L-1; I-0
	a generated during care; 3b. Electronic sources; and 3c. Data collection can be implemented (eMeasure ty assessment of data elements and logic)
<u>Rationa</u>	
•	The Committee agreed that the data used in this measure is routinely generated during care delivery and
	is electronically available.
	and Usability: H-5; M-10; L-4; I-0
	countability/transparency; and 4b. Improvement – progress demonstrated; and 4c. Benefits outweigh
	e of unintended negative consequences)
Rationa	
•	The measure is not currently in use but has been submitted through the Measures under Consideration process for the CMS ACO Shared Savings program.
•	Some Committee members expressed concern that because the measure includes young women and there is no exclusion for pregnancy, it might unintentionally lead to inappropriate adherence to statins
	among pregnant women if the measure is applied to a non-Medicare population.
٠	Some Committee members were concerned with the potential use of this measure in accountability
	applications because of the possibility of the unintended negative consequence of adverse patient
	selection (since adherence is not solely under the control of the physician). However, other members
	noted anecdotal and published accounts indicating that adherence can be influenced substantially by the
	physician/health system.
5. Relat	ed and Competing Measures
•	No related or competing measures noted.
Standin	g Committee Recommendation for Endorsement: Y-15; N-4
•	The developer has requested that the three adherence measures that were initially endorsed as one
	measure (#0545, #2467, and #2468) be paired.
• 6 D	c and Member Comment:
	c and Member Comment:
comme	Commenters generally expressed support for the measure and the Committee's recommendation for
•	endorsement.
7 Cores	ensus Standards Approval Committee (CSAC) Vote: Y-17; N-0
/ I ONS	ensus stanuarus Approval Committee (CSAC) vote: 1-17: N-U

8. NQF Board Ratification: Yes

2467 Adherence to ACEIs/ARBs for Individuals with Diabetes Mellitus

Submission | Specifications

Description: The measure addresses adherence to angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitors (ACEIs)/angiotensin receptor blockers (ARBs). The measure is reported as the percentage of eligible individuals with diabetes mellitus who had at least two prescriptions for ACEIs/ARBs and who have a Proportion of Days Covered (PDC) of at least 0.8 during the measurement period (12 consecutive months).

Numerator Statement: Individuals in the denominator with at least two prescriptions for ACEIs/ARBs with a PDC of at least 0.8 for ACEIs/ARBs.

Denominator Statement: Individuals at least 18 years of age as of the beginning of the measurement period with diabetes mellitus and at least two prescriptions for ACEIs/ARBs during the measurement period (12 consecutive months).

Exclusions: We excluded the following individuals from the denominator:

Individuals with polycystic ovaries, gestational diabetes, or steroid-induced diabetes who do not have a face-to-face visit with a diagnosis of diabetes in any setting during the measurement period.

Exclusion 1

Individuals with a diagnosis of polycystic ovaries who do not have a visit with a diagnosis of diabetes in any setting during the measurement period*; and,

Exclusion 2

Individuals with a diagnosis of gestational diabetes or steroid-induced diabetes who do not have a visit with a diagnosis of diabetes mellitus in any setting during the measurement period.

*Adapted from NCQA HEDIS 2013 (2013). Note: HEDIS uses a look-back period of one year prior to the measurement period for both the prescription data and diagnosis.

Adjustment/Stratification: None

Level of Analysis: Clinician : Group/Practice, Health Plan, Integrated Delivery System, Population : State **Setting of Care:** Ambulatory Care : Clinician Office/Clinic

Type of Measure: Process

Data Source: Administrative claims, Other, Electronic Clinical Data : Pharmacy

Measure Steward: Centers for Medicare & Medicaid

STANDING COMMITTEE MEETING [02/26/2014-02/27/2014]

1. Importance to Measure and Report: The measure meets the Importance criteria

(1a. Evidence: 1b. Performance Gap, 1c. High Priority)

1a. Evidence: H-6; M-12; L-1; IE-0; I-0; 1b. Performance Gap: H-15; M-3; L-1; I-0 1c. High Priority: H-14; M-3; L-0; I-0 0

Rationale:

- The developer presented clinical practice guideline recommendations from three organizations and a review that addresses the effects of blood pressure-lowering medications on cardiovascular events in patients with and without diabetes. In addition, one Committee member noted additional studies that linked adherence to ARBs in diabetics to desired outcomes. The Committee as agreed that the benefits of ACEIs/ARBs use assume medication adherence.
- Results from measure testing using 2012 Medicare data indicate average performance rates of 75.7% for states (n=10), 76.1% for drug plans (n=72), and 74.1% for physicians (n= 7,393).
- The Committee noted the high prevalence, severity, and cost of diabetes and of cardiovascular disease in diabetic patients.

2467 Adherence to ACEIs/ARBs for Individuals with Diabetes Mellitus

2. Scientific Acceptability of Measure Properties: The measure meets the Scientific Acceptability criteria (2a. Reliability - precise specifications, testing; 2b. Validity - testing, threats to validity) 2a. Reliability: H-10; M-9; L-0; I-0; 2b. Validity: H-5; M-13; L-1; I-0

Rationale:

- As with measure #0545, this measure is computed using Part D Medicare claims and the developer • initially agreed to change the title to "Adherence to ACEIs/ARBs for Medicare-Eligible Individuals with Diabetes Mellitus" as a way to emphasize that the measure was specified for those enrolled in Medicare Part D. However, upon further reflection, the developer and steward realized that this change would be counter to previous NQF guidance regarding naming conventions and would not be harmonized with other medication adherence measures, and therefore declined to change the name. The developer noted that clarifying language could be added in public reporting applications.
- The developer conducted a signal to noise analysis to test the reliability of the measure; all values of the reliability statistics were > 0.82 for states and >0.81 for ACOs; the average value of the reliability statistics was 0.76 for drug plans and 0.74 for physician groups. The Committee agreed that these results demonstrated high reliability for states and ACOs and moderate reliability for physician groups and drug plans.
- The Committee accepted the systematic assessment of face validity conducted by the developers. In this assessment, a technical expert panel rated the measure on whether the measure results are a valid representation of quality; 77.8% of the panelists responded that they either agreed or strongly agreed with that statement.
- The Committee's discussion of missing data for measure #0575 also applies to this measure, although members did not revisit the concern in their discussion of this measure.

3. Feasibility: H-16; M-3; L-0; I-0

(3a. Data generated during care; 3b. Electronic sources; and 3c. Data collection can be implemented (eMeasure feasibility assessment of data elements and logic)

Rationale:

The Committee agreed that the data used in this measure is routinely generated during care delivery and ٠ is electronically available.

4. Use and Usability: H-10; M-8; L-1; I-0

(4a. Accountability/transparency; and 4b. Improvement - progress demonstrated; and 4c. Benefits outweigh evidence of unintended negative consequences)

Rationale:

- The measure is not currently in use but has been submitted through the Measures under Consideration process for the CMS ACO Shared Savings program.
- The Committee's discussion (for measure #0575) of possible adverse patient selection also applies to this measure, although members did not revisit the concern in their discussion of this measure.

5. Related and Competing Measures

No related or competing measures noted.

Standing Committee Recommendation for Endorsement: Y-18; N-1

Rationale

- At the Committee's request, the developer agreed to change the title to Adherence to ACEI/ARBs for • Medicare-Eligible Individuals with Diabetes Mellitus.
- The developer has requested that the three adherence measures that were initially endorsed as one measure (#0545, #2467, and #2468) be paired.

6. Public and Member Comment:

Comments received:

Commenters generally expressed support for the measure and the Committee's recommendation for • endorsement.

7. Consensus Standards Approval Committee (CSAC) Vote: Y-17; N-0

The developer has requested that the three adherence measures that were initially endorsed as one measure (#0545, #2467, and #2468) be paired.

2467 Adherence to ACEIs/ARBs for Individuals with Diabetes Mellitus

8. NQF Board Ratification: Yes

2468 Adherence to Oral Diabetes Agents for Individuals with Diabetes Mellitus

Submission | Specifications

Description: The measure addresses adherence to oral diabetes agents (ODA). The measure is reported as the percentage of eligible individuals with diabetes mellitus who had at least two prescriptions for a single oral diabetes agent or at least two prescriptions for multiple agents within a diabetes drug class and who have a Proportion of Days Covered (PDC) of at least 0.8 for at least one diabetes drug class during the measurement period (12 consecutive months)

Numerator Statement: Individuals in the denominator with at least two prescriptions for oral diabetes agents, in any diabetes drug class, with a PDC of at least 0.8 for at least one diabetes drug class.

Denominator Statement: Individuals at least 18 years of age as of the beginning of the measurement period with diabetes mellitus and at least two prescriptions for a single oral diabetes agent or at least two prescriptions for multiple agents within a diabetes drug class during the measurement period (12 consecutive months). **Exclusions**: We excluded the following individuals from the denominator:

Individuals with polycystic ovaries, gestational diabetes, or steroid-induced diabetes who do not have a face-toface visit with a diagnosis of diabetes in any setting during the measurement period.

Exclusion 1

Individuals with a diagnosis of polycystic ovaries who do not have a visit with a diagnosis of diabetes in any setting during the measurement period*; and,

Exclusion 2

Individuals with a diagnosis of gestational diabetes or steroid-induced diabetes who do not have a visit with a diagnosis of diabetes mellitus in any setting during the measurement period.

*Adapted from NCQA HEDIS 2013 (2013). Note: HEDIS uses a look-back period of one year prior to the measurement period for both the prescription data and diagnosis.

Adjustment/Stratification: None

Level of Analysis: Clinician : Group/Practice, Health Plan, Integrated Delivery System, Population : State **Setting of Care:** Ambulatory Care : Clinician Office/Clinic

Type of Measure: Process

Data Source: Administrative claims, Other, Electronic Clinical Data : Pharmacy

Measure Steward: Centers for Medicare & Medicaid

STANDING COMMITTEE MEETING [02/26/2014-02/27/2014]

1. Importance to Measure and Report: The measure meets the Importance criteria

(1a. Evidence: 1b. Performance Gap, 1c. High Priority)

1a. Evidence: H-4; M-15; L-0; IE-0; I-0; 1b. Performance Gap: H-14; M-5; L-0; I-0 1c. High Priority: H-13; M-6; L-0; I-0 0

Rationale:

- Evidence presented by the developer included a summary of the quality, quantity, and consistency of six studies that relate good adherence to medications in patients with diabetes with a variety of desired health outcomes; the developer also presented the 2013 clinical practice guideline from the American Diabetes Association recommending use of oral hypoglycemic agents, but these recommendations did not specially address adherence to medication. The Committee agreed that there is evidence for use of oral hypoglycemic agents and that the benefits described in the evidence presented assume adherence to the medications.
- Results from measure testing using Medicare data indicate average performance rates of 73.9% for states (n=10), 74.2% for drug plans (n=72), and 72.6% for physicians (n= 7,393).
- The Committee agreed that diabetes affects high numbers, is a leading cause of morbidity and mortality, and requires high resource utilization.

2. Scientific Acceptability of Measure Properties: <u>The measure meets the Scientific Acceptability criteria</u> (2a. Reliability - precise specifications, testing; 2b. Validity - testing, threats to validity)

2468 Adherence to Oral Diabetes Agents for Individuals with Diabetes Mellitus

2a. Reliability: H-8; M-11; L-0; I-0; 2b. Validity: H-1; M-4; L-9; I-5; 2b. Validity (post-comment): H-1; M-13; L-I; I-0 Rationale:

- The Committee verified that patients who switch from one form of oral hypoglycemic agent to another would not be counted as non-adherent, assuming they were adherent to at least one of the medications.
- Average reliability statistics obtained from signal-to-noise analyses varied based on level of analysis, but were at or above the generally considered the minimum threshold of 0.7.
- The Committee questioned the validity of the measure because it does not exclude patients who switch from oral agents to insulin during the measurement period. The Committee noted that in older adults, transition to insulin (and associated discontinuation of oral medications) is common and that the measure as currently specified would incorrectly categorize such patients as non-adherent. They also expressed concern that the measure as specified might incentivize physicians to leave patients on oral diabetes agents rather than switch them to insulin when appropriate. The Committee encouraged the developer to quantify the number of patients who transitioned to insulin and, if possible, revise the measure to exclude those patients.
- Although not the deciding factor in their initial recommendation not to endorse the measure, Committee members also noted that some Medicaid programs limit the number of prescriptions that beneficiaries can fill per month. These members cautioned that the validity of the measure might be affected if dually-eligible beneficiaries are unable to maintain medication adherence due to this policy.
- As requested by the Committee, the measure developer conducted additional analysis during the public comment period and found that 13.1% of patients in their 10-state sample switched from oral diabetes agents to an insulin-only therapy. Based on these results, the developer re-specified the measure to 1) limit the number of days in the denominator for those with a switch from oral diabetes agents to insulin-only therapy and 2) compute an overall percentage of days covered value for those who switched between oral drug classes; they also re-tested the newly-specified measure for reliability and validity. After discussion, the Committee agreed to re-vote on the measure. Upon re-vote, the Committee agreed that the analysis, re-specification, and re-testing of the measure addressed their initial concerns with the validity of the measure.

3. Feasibility (post-comment): H-8; M-8; L-0; I-0

(3a. Data generated during care; 3b. Electronic sources; and 3c. Data collection can be implemented (eMeasure feasibility assessment of data elements and logic)

Rationale:

The Committee agreed that the data used in this measure is routinely generated during care delivery and is electronically available.

4. Use and Usability (post-comment): H-2; M-13; L-1; I-0

(4a. Accountability/transparency; and 4b. Improvement – progress demonstrated; and 4c. Benefits outweigh evidence of unintended negative consequences)

Rationale:

- The measure is not currently in use but has been submitted through the Measures under Consideration process for the CMS ACO Shared Savings program.
- The Committee's discussion (for measure #0575) of possible adverse patient selection also applies to this measure, although members did not revisit the concern in their discussion of this measure.

5. Related and Competing Measures

• No related or competing measures noted.

Standing Committee Recommendation for Endorsement (post-comment): Y-15; N-1

• The developer has requested that the three adherence measures that were initially endorsed as one measure (#0545, #2467, and #2468) be paired.

6. Public and Member Comment

Comments received:

 Comments were received supporting the Committee's initial decision not to recommend the measure for endorsement because of concern over excluding patients who switch from oral agents to insulin during the measurement period.

2468 Adherence to Oral Diabetes Agents for Individuals with Diabetes Mellitus

Developer response:

• FMQAI, on behalf of CMS, conducted additional analysis (see <u>Appendix G</u>) to ascertain how many patients switched from oral diabetes agents to an insulin-only therapy. Results from analyses of a 10-state sample indicated that 13.1% of patients made this switch. Based on these results, the developer re-specified the measure to 1) limit the number of days in the denominator for those with a switch from oral diabetes agents to insulin-only therapy and 2) compute an overall percentage of days covered value for those who switched between oral drug classes; they also re-tested the newly specified measure for reliability and validity.

Committee response:

• The Committee agreed that the analysis, re-specification, and re-testing of the measure addressed their initial concerns with the validity of the measure. After additional discussion, the Committee also voted on the Feasibility and Usability and Use criteria, and ultimately recommended the re-specified measure for endorsement.

7. Consensus Standards Approval Committee (CSAC) Vote: Y-17; N-0

• The developer has requested that the three adherence measures that were initially endorsed as one measure (#0545, #2467, and #2468) be paired.

8. NQF Board Ratification: Yes

2416 Laboratory Investigation for Secondary Causes of Fracture

Submission | Specifications

Description: Percentage of patients age 50 and over with fragility fracture who have had appropriate laboratory investigation for secondary causes of fracture ordered or performed prior to discharge from inpatient status. **Numerator Statement**: Patients who have all the specified laboratory tests ordered or performed prior to discharge:

- 1. Complete blood cell count (CBC)
- 2. Kidney function test
- 3. Liver function test
- 4. Serum calcium
- 5. 25(OH) Vitamin D level OR Oral Administration of Vitamin D

Denominator Statement: Patients age 50 and over discharged from inpatient status with an ICD-9-CM Principal or Other Diagnosis Code of selected fractures as defined in Table 3.1 Vertebral Fracture, Table 4.1 Hip Fracture, or Table 5.1 Other Fracture

Exclusions: Exclusions are those patients with:

- Age less than 50 years
- "Comfort Measures Only" documented
- Enrollment in a clinical trial pertaining to osteoporosis
- Laboratory testing performed in the prior 12 months
- Expired

Adjustment/Stratification: None

Level of Analysis: Facility

Setting of Care: Hospital/Acute Care Facility

Type of Measure: Process

Data Source: Electronic Clinical Data, Electronic Clinical Data : Electronic Health Record, Paper Medical Records **Measure Steward**: The Joint Commission

STANDING COMMITTEE MEETING [02/26/2014-02/27/2014]

1. Importance to Measure and Report: The measure meets the Importance criteria

(1a. Evidence: 1b. Performance Gap, 1c. High Priority)

1a. Evidence: H-1; M-12; L-6; IE-0; I-0; 1b. Performance Gap: H-11; M-7; L-0; I-0; 1c. High Priority: H-6; M-11; L-2; I-0

Rationale:

2416 Laboratory Investigation for Secondary Causes of Fracture

- The evidence presented for this measure included the 2010 clinical practice guideline recommendations
 from American Association of Clinical Endocrinologists as well as additional articles discussing a variety of
 laboratory tests for secondary causes of osteoporosis. The Committee agreed that the evidence was
 supportive of evaluating patients with fractures for secondary causes, as this allows for treatment of the
 underlying causes and potentially prevention of future fractures, readmissions, mortality, and
 unnecessary associated costs.
- The developer submitted data from pilot studies conducted in in testing hospitals that reflected an average performance rate of only 16.6%.
- The measure developer presented data indicating that about half of women and one-fourth of men over the age of 50 will sustain a fracture due to osteoporosis. Among these patients, osteoporosis that is secondary to other diseases or conditions occurs in almost two-thirds of men, more than half of premenopausal and perimenopausal women, and in about one-fifth of postmenopausal women.

2. Scientific Acceptability of Measure Properties: <u>The measure meets the Scientific Acceptability criteria</u> (2a. Reliability - precise specifications, testing; 2b. Validity - testing, threats to validity)
2a. Reliability: H-6; M-10; L-3; I-0; 2b. Validity: H-3; M-13; L-3; I-0
<u>Rationale</u>:

- The Committee expressed concern that the evidence provided, while supportive of investigating for secondary causes of fracture, did not support the need for the specific tests required by the numerator. The developer clarified that the five tests specified would allow the provider to determine whether there was an underlying cause for the fracture, such as osteoporosis, osteopenia, low bone mass, Vitamin D deficiency, glucocorticoid administration, etc. The Committee found this explanation to be sufficient.
- The developer presented results from reliability testing that was conducted on 133 patient charts from 6 hospitals that are diverse by geography, type and size. Inter-rater reliability testing was to compare the results of two different abstractors; five data elements of the numerator were tested. The results demonstrate a high degree of agreement (>94%) for the all data elements except "laboratory tests ordered or performed prior to discharge," where the percent agreement was 78%.
- Face validity was assessed by hospital test sites for all data elements, and the only data element scoring below 75% was "laboratory test performed in 12 months prior to fracture." However, face validity of the computed measure score was not assessed by the developer.

3. Feasibility: H-1; M-16; L-2; I-0

(3a. Data generated during care; 3b. Electronic sources; and 3c. Data collection can be implemented (eMeasure feasibility assessment of data elements and logic)

Rationale:

- Committee members expressed concern that Vitamin D levels may not be available when the measure is calculated; however, the developers noted that administration of Vitamin D meets the measure requirements and also that medical charts are abstracted at least 30 days post-discharge, which would allow sufficient time for the test results to be recorded prior to measure score calculation.
- The Committee acknowledged that the measure is specified for chart abstraction and is coded by someone other than the person obtaining the original information.

4. Use and Usability: H-4; M-14; L-1; I-0

(4a. Accountability/transparency; and 4b. Improvement – progress demonstrated; and 4c. Benefits outweigh evidence of unintended negative consequences)

Rationale:

- Although the measure is not currently in use, the Joint Commission plans to use the measure for accreditation purposes and to publicly report performance on its website by 2017.
- There was some discussion by the Committee that Vitamin D therapy might be started prior to definitive
 documentation of deficiency (given that it usually takes several days to get the results of the Vitamin D
 test). The Committee also noted that this measure might encourage hospitals to perform unnecessary or
 duplicative testing.

5. Related and Competing Measures

• No related or competing measures noted.

2416 Laboratory Investigation for Secondary Causes of Fracture

Standing Committee Recommendation for Endorsement: Y-16; N-6

6. Public and Member Comment:

Comments received:

- Commenters generally expressed support for the measure and the Committee's recommendation for endorsement.
- 7. Consensus Standards Approval Committee (CSAC) Vote: Y-9; N-5
 - During the Consensus Standards Advisory Committee (CSAC) review, a CSAC member questioned why the
 measure numerator includes either tests that were ordered or tests that were performed, noting that
 tests ordered in the in-patient setting typically are performed. The Joint Commission explained that both
 options are included to avoid prolonging an in-patient stay solely to perform testing. Including both
 options would help assure that the necessary tests were performed at the next level of care if timely test
 performance in the hospital could not be accomplished. Patient compliance with tests that are ordered
 remained a concern for some CSAC members. Nonetheless, the CSAC approved the Committee's
 recommendation to endorse the measure.

8. NQF Board Ratification: Yes

2417 Risk Assessment/Treatment After Fracture

Submission | Specifications

Description: Patients age 50 or over with a fragility fracture who have either a dual-energy X-Ray absorptiometry (DXA) scan ordered or performed, or a prescription for FDA-approved pharmacotherapy for osteoporosis, or who are seen by or linked to a fracture liaison service prior to discharge from inpatient status,. If DXA is not available and documented as such, then any other specified fracture risk assessment method may be ordered or performed. **Numerator Statement**: Patients who had either a DXA scan ordered or performed, OR a prescription for FDA-approved pharmacotherapy for osteoporosis treatment, OR those who were seen by, contacted by, or linked to a fracture liaison service prior to discharge OR had other fracture risk assessment method ordered or performed if DXA is not available.

Denominator Statement: Patients age 50 and over discharged from inpatient status with an ICD-9-CM Principal or Other Diagnosis Code of selected fractures as defined in Table 3.1 Vertebral Fracture, Table 4.1 Hip Fracture, or Table 5.1 Other Fracture,

Exclusions: • Age less than 50 years

- "Comfort Measures Only" documented
- Enrollment in a clinical trial pertaining to osteoporosis
- On FDA-Approved pharmacotherapy for osteoporosis treatment as defined in Table 1.1 prior to the fracture date
- Bone Mineral density test documented in the 12 months prior to the fracture
- Expired

See attached Excel file for definitions

Adjustment/Stratification: None

Level of Analysis: Facility

Setting of Care: Hospital/Acute Care Facility

Type of Measure: Process

Data Source: Electronic Clinical Data : Electronic Health Record, Paper Medical Records

Measure Steward: The Joint Commission

2417 Risk Assessment/Treatment After Fracture

STANDING COMMITTEE MEETING [02/26/2014-02/27/2014]

1. Importance to Measure and Report: The measure meets the Importance criteria

(1a. Evidence: 1b. Performance Gap, 1c. High Priority)

1a. Evidence: H-9; M-10; L-0; IE-0; I-0; 1b. Performance Gap: H-17; M-2; L-0; I-0; 1c. High Priority: H-18; M-1; L-; I-0 <u>Rationale</u>:

- The developer presented evidence based on a Cochrane review, clinical practice guidelines, and metaanalysis supporting measuring bone density by DXA and use of a fracture liaison service to diagnose osteoporosis for fragility fracture patients. Committee members agreed that there is strong evidence that detecting and treating osteoporosis prevents additional fracture. However, some Committee members noted that the evidence submitted did not fully support the linkage between other risk assessment methods and fracture prevention; members also questioned the efficacy of ordering a DXA in preventing future fractures.
- According to the developer, the rate of osteoporosis testing or treatment after fracture is approximately 20%.
- The developer presented information indicating that about half of women and one-fourth of men over the age of 50 will sustain a fracture due to osteoporosis. Of those who sustain a fragility fracture, the risk of future fractures increases by 1.5-2.0 times.

2. Scientific Acceptability of Measure Properties: <u>The measure meets the Scientific Acceptability criteria</u> (2a. Reliability - precise specifications, testing; 2b. Validity - testing, threats to validity)
2a. Reliability: H-8; M-11; L-0; I-0; 2b. Validity: H-9; M-11; L-0; I-0
Rationale:

- The Committee asked what other risk assessments might be performed (other than DXA of the hip/spine). The developers named several, including, the QCT of the spine, the QUS of the heel, DXA of the forearm, SXA/DXA of the heel, and the FRAX assessment; however, they noted that DXA of the hip/spine is the most commonly used method.
- The developer presented results from reliability testing that was conducted on 133 patient charts from 6 hospitals that are diverse by geography, type and size. Inter-rater reliability testing was performed comparing the results of two different abstractors; five data elements of the numerator were tested. The results demonstrate a high degree of agreement (>97%) for the all data elements tested; however, one numerator data element, "Fracture liaison service," and two exclusion data elements ("Bone Mineral Density Test Performed in the 12 Months Prior to the Fracture" and "On FDA-approved Pharmacotherapy for Treatment of Osteoporosis Prior to Fracture.") were not tested. The Committee found these results to be acceptable.
- The developer assessed the face validity for all data elements on their clarity, collectability, and correctness of data sources, finding that the only data element scoring below 75% was "BMD test performed in 12 months prior to fracture." However, face validity of the computed measure score was not assessed by the developer. The Committee agreed that provision of the care processes specified in the measure after a fragility fracture would be a valid assessment of quality.
- The Committee noted that DXA scans generally are not performed in hospitals and that documentation of previous DXA testing is not easily available to hospitals. The Committee agreed that the various other methods specified in the measure should allow any hospital to meet the measure.
- The Committee also questioned what "other fracture risk assessments" could be used if DXA was not available; the developer clarified that these were provided in the appendix of the measure submission.
- The Committee expressed concerns about exclusions; the developer clarified that the measure excludes patients who had a recent bone mineral density scan or were on prescription medication for osteoporosis at the time of the fracture. Data from testing indicate that the occurrence of exclusions is low (1.6% on prescription medication and 0.3% with prior bone mineral density test). The Committee also verified that non-fragility fractures are excluded from the measure.

3. Feasibility: H-2; M-11; L-6; I-0

(3a. Data generated during care; 3b. Electronic sources; and 3c. Data collection can be implemented (eMeasure feasibility assessment of data elements and logic)

2417 Ris	Assessment/Treatment After Fracture
Rationale	
•	Committee members had concerns that documentation of previous DXA scans may not be easily available for hospitals; however the majority of the Committee rated feasibility as moderate.
	The Committee acknowledged that the measure is specified for chart abstraction and is coded by someone other than the person obtaining the original information.
4. Use an	d Usability: H-7; M-10; L-2; I-0
(4a. Acco	ountability/transparency; and 4b. Improvement – progress demonstrated; and 4c. Benefits outweigh
evidence	of unintended negative consequences)
<u>Rationale</u>	
	Although the measure is not currently in use, the Joint Commission plans to use the measure for accreditation purposes and to publicly report results on its website by 2017.
•	The Committee noted that a possible unintended negative consequence is duplication of tests; however, members suggested that the risk of duplication likely would be low.
5. Relate	d and Competing Measures
•	No related or competing measures noted.
Standing	Committee Recommendation for Endorsement: Y-19; N-0
6. Public	and Member Comment:
Commen	ts received:
	Commenters generally expressed support for the measure and the Committee's recommendation for endorsement.

7. Consensus Standards Approval Committee (CSAC) Vote: Y-17; N-0

8. NQF Board Ratification: Yes

Measures Not Recommended

2418 Discharge Instructions – Emergency Department

Submission | Specifications

Description: Proportion of patients age 50 or over with a fracture of the vertebra, pelvis, wrist, ankle, or humerus discharged from the Emergency Department to home, or their caregivers, who have received written discharge instructions regarding the need to follow up with a primary care physician, hospital outpatient department or specialist for possible osteoporosis to reduce the risk of future fracture, or who were contacted by a fracture liaison service.

Numerator Statement: Patients or their caregivers who have received written discharge instructions regarding the need to follow up with a primary care physician, other specialist physician, or hospital outpatient department for possible osteoporosis to reduce the risk of future fracture, or who were seen by, contacted by, or linked to a fracture liaison service.

Denominator Statement: Patients age 50 or over discharged to home from the Emergency Department with an ICD-9-CM Principal or Other Diagnosis Code of Fracture of the vertebra, pelvis, wrist, humerus or ankle as defined in Table 3.1 Vertebral Fracture, or Table 5.1 Other Fracture.

See attached Excel Sheet for ICD-9-CM code descriptors

Exclusions: • Age less than 50 years

- "Comfort Measures Only" documented
- Participation in a clinical trial pertaining to osteoporosis

Adjustment/Stratification: None

Level of Analysis: Facility

Setting of Care: Hospital/Acute Care Facility

Type of Measure: Process

Data Source: Electronic Clinical Data : Electronic Health Record, Paper Medical Records

Measure Steward: The Joint Commission

STANDING COMMITTEE MEETING [02/26/2014-02/27/2014]

1. Importance to Measure and Report: The measure did not meet the Importance criteria

(1a. Evidence: 1b. Performance Gap, 1c. High Priority)

1a. Evidence: H-0; M-7; L-10; IE-0; I-2; 1b. Performance Gap: H-X; M-X; L-X; I-X 1c. High Priority: H-X; M-X; L-X; I-X Rationale:

- While the Committee agreed that there is strong evidence to support the use of a fracture liaison service (FLS), members noted that there is minimal evidence that provision of written discharge instructions improves care for osteoporosis patients or has any impact on outcomes such as prevention of future fractures. Committee members expressed concern that because either provision of discharge instructions or coordination with a FLS would meet the measure, facilities might focus on discharge instructions instead of FLS use, even though the supporting evidence is weak.
- The Committee encouraged the developer to strengthen the measure by replacing the discharge instruction component with some sort of coordination activity (e.g., making a follow-up appointment) and expanding the target population beyond those who are discharged to home (e.g., those discharged to other short- or long-term care institutions).

2. Scientific Acceptability of Measure Properties:

(2a. Reliability - precise specifications, testing; 2b. Validity - testing, threats to validity)

2a. Reliability: H-X; M-X; L-X; I-X 2b. Validity: H-X; M-X; L-X; I-X

Rationale:

3. Feasibility: H-X; M-X; L-X; I-X

(3a. Data generated during care; 3b. Electronic sources; and 3c. Data collection can be implemented (eMeasure feasibility assessment of data elements and logic)

Rationale:

4. Use and Usability: H-X; M-X; L-X; I-X

(4a. Accountability/transparency; and 4b. Improvement – progress demonstrated; and 4c. Benefits outweigh evidence of unintended negative consequences)

2418 Discharge Instructions – Emergency Department

Rationale:

5. Related and Competing Measures

• This measure directly competes with [NQF # and Title] [Description]. [Summarize the related/competing measure issue here, and the disposition of it]

OR

• No related or competing measures noted.

Standing Committee Recommendation for Endorsement: Y-X; N-X

Rationale

6. Public and Member Comment

Comments received:

- Comments were received reflecting disagreement with the Committee's decision not to recommend the measure for endorsement. However, none of the comments referenced any additional evidence to show that provision of discharge instructions would help to prevent future fractures.
- Committee response:
 - Members agreed that no additional information was presented to change their evaluation of the measure and therefore declined to re-vote on the measure.

Measures Withdrawn from Consideration

Two previously-endorsed measures were withdrawn from consideration after submission and initial evaluation by the Standing Committee.

Measure	Reason for withdrawal
0416: Diabetic Foot and Ankle Care, Ulcer Prevention – Evaluation of Footwear (APMA)	Developer to update measure specifications and resubmit to NQF in Cycle #2 of the Endocrine pilot project.
0417: Diabetic Foot and Ankle Care, Peripheral Neuropathy – Neurological Evaluation (APMA)	Developer to update measure specifications and resubmit to NQF in Cycle #2 of the Endocrine pilot project.

Appendix B: NQF Endocrine Portfolio and Related Measures

Patient-Focused Episode of Care for Diabetes



NQF – Endorsed Diabetes Measures

*Denotes measures that are applicable to persons with diabetes but will not be evaluated in the Endocrine project

Phase 1: Population at Risk

Assessment and screening

- 0024*: Weight Assessment and Counseling for Nutrition and Physical Activity for Children/Adolescents
- 0421*: Preventive Care and Screening: Body Mass Index (BMI) Screening and Follow-Up
- 0003*: Bipolar Disorder: Assessment for Diabetes
- 1932*: Diabetes screening for people with schizophrenia or bipolar disorder who are prescribed antipsychotic medications (SSD)

Phase 2: Evaluation and On-going Management

Eye care

• 0055: Comprehensive Diabetes Care: Eye exam

- 0088*: Diabetic Retinopathy: Documentation of Presence or Absence of Macular Edema and Level of Severity of Retinopathy
- 0089*: Diabetic Retinopathy: Communication with the Physician Managing Ongoing Diabetes Care

Foot care

- 0056: Diabetes: Foot exam
- 0416: Diabetic Foot & Ankle Care, Ulcer Prevention Evaluation of Footwear
- 0417: Diabetic Foot & Ankle Care, Peripheral Neuropathy Neurological Evaluation
- 0519: Diabetic Foot Care and Patient Education Implemented [home health]

Blood glucose control

- 0057: Comprehensive Diabetes Care: Hemoglobin A1c testing
- 1934*: Diabetes monitoring [A1c and LDL-C] for people with diabetes and schizophrenia (SMD)
- 0059: Comprehensive Diabetes Care: Hemoglobin A1c poor control (>9%)
- 0575: Comprehensive Diabetes Care: Hemoglobin A1c (HbA1c) control (<8%)
- 2362: Glycemic Control Hyperglycemia (under review in cycle 1)
- 2363: Glycemic Control Hypoglycemia (under review in cycle 1)

Cardiovascular

- 0063: Comprehensive Diabetes Care: LDL-C screening
- 0546: Diabetes: Appropriate Treatment of Hypertension
- 0066*: Chronic Stable Coronary Artery Disease: ACE Inhibitor or ARB Therapy Diabetes or Left Ventricular Systolic Dysfunction (LVEF <40%)
- 0061: Comprehensive Diabetes Care: Blood Pressure Control (<140/90)
- 0064: Comprehensive Diabetes Care: LDL-C control <100

Kidney disease

• 0062: Comprehensive Diabetes Care: Medical Attention for Nephropathy

Medication Adherence

- 0541*: Proportion of Days Covered (PDC): 3 Rates by Therapeutic Category
- 0545: Adherence to Statins for Individuals with Diabetes Mellitus
- 2467: Adherence to ACEI/ARBs for Individuals with Diabetes Mellitus
- 2468: Adherence to Oral Diabetes Agents for Individuals with Diabetes Mellitus

Composite

• 0729: Optimal Diabetes Care

Phase 3: Exacerbation and Complex Treatments

Outcomes

- 0272*: Diabetes Short-Term Complications Admission Rate (PQI 1)
- 0274*: Diabetes Long-Term Complications Admission Rate (PQI 3)
- 0285*: Rate of Lower-Extremity Amputation Among Patients With Diabetes (PQI 16)
- 0638*: Uncontrolled Diabetes Admission Rate (PQI 14)

Resource use

• 1557*: Relative Resource Use for People with Diabetes (RDI)

Portfolio	Measure Title	Measure Steward	Reason (potential options: retired, lost endorsement)	Date
Endocrine	0060 : HbA1c testing for pediatric patients	NCQA	Retired due to removal from CHIP Child Core set and NCQA DRP program	Jan 2014
	0603 : Adult(s) taking insulin with evidence of self- monitoring blood glucose testing	Ingenix	Retired	Nov 2013 CSAC
	0604 : Adult(s) with diabetes mellitus that had a serum creatinine in last 12 reported months	Ingenix	Retired	Nov 2013 CSAC
	0614 : Steriod Use-Osteoporosis screening	Active Health Management	Retired	Nov 2013 CSAC
	0618 : Diabetes with LDL greater than 100 – Use of a Lipid Lowering Agent	Active Health Management	Retired	Nov 2013 CSAC
	0619 : Diabetes with Hypertension or Proteinuria - Use of an ACE Inhibitor or ARB	Active Health Management	Retired	Nov 2013 CSAC
	0630 : Diabetes and Elevated HbA1C – Use of Diabetes Medications	Active Health Management	Retired	Nov 2013 CSAC
	0731 : Comprehensive Diabetes Care	NCQA	Retired due to the measure no longer being in use	Dec 2013

Previously-endorsed diabetes measures

Portfolio	Measure Title	Measure Steward	Reason (potential options: retired, lost endorsement)	Date
Cardiovascular	0632 : Primary Prevention of Cardiovascular Events in		Retired	Nov 2013 CSAC
	Diabetics – Use of Aspirin or Antiplatelet Therapy			

NQF – Endorsed Osteoporosis Measures

Patient-Focused Episode of Care for Osteoporosis



preferences Informed decision- •

making

- Comorbidities
- Symptom assessment
- Care coordination

NQF-endorsed measures for patients with osteoporosis

*Denotes measures that are applicable to persons with osteoporosis but will not be evaluated in the Endocrine project

Phase 1: Population at Risk:

- 0037: Osteoporosis testing in older women
- 2062*: IBD preventive care: corticosteroid related iatrogenic injury bone loss assessment • [concept only]

Phase 2: Evaluation and On-Going Management

- 0046: Osteoporosis: Screening or Therapy for Women Aged 65 Years and Older •
- 0049: Osteoporosis: Pharmacologic Therapy for Men and Women Aged 50 Years and Older

Phase 3: Exacerbation of Osteoporosis: Fracture and Complications

 0045: Osteoporosis: Communication with the Physician Managing On-going Care Post Fracture of Hip, Spine or Distal Radius for Men and Women Aged 50 Years and Older

- 0048: Osteoporosis: Management Following Fracture of Hip, Spine or Distal Radius for Men and Women Aged 50 Years and Older
- 0053: Osteoporosis Management in Women Who Had a Fracture
- 0354*: Hip Fracture Mortality Rate (IQI 19)
- 2416: Laboratory Investigation for Secondary Causes of Fracture (under review in cycle 1)
- 2417: Risk Assessment/Treatment After Fracture (under review in cycle 1)
- 2418: Discharge Instructions Emergency Department (under review in cycle 1)

Portfolio	Measure Title	Measure Steward	Reason (potential options: retired, lost endorsement)	Date
Endocrine	0633: Osteopenia and Chronic Steroid Use - Treatment to Prevent Osteoporosis	Active Health Management	Retired	Nov 2013 CSAC
	0634: Osteoporosis - Use of Pharmacological Treatment	Active Health Management	Retired	Nov 2013 CSAC

Previously-endorsed osteoporosis measures

		-
NQF #	Title	Federal Programs: Finalized as of April 3, 2014
0055	Comprehensive Diabetes Care: Eye Exam	Meaningful Use (EHR Incentive Program) - Eligible Professionals; Medicare Part C Plan Rating; Physician Feedback; Physician Quality Reporting System (PQRS)
0056	Diabetes: Foot exam	Meaningful Use (EHR Incentive Program) - Eligible Professionals; Physician Feedback; Physician Quality Reporting System (PQRS)
0057	Comprehensive Diabetes Care: Hemoglobin A1c (HbA1c) testing	Initial Core Set of Health Care Quality Measures for Medicaid-Eligible Adults; Physician Feedback
0059	Comprehensive Diabetes Care: Hemoglobin A1c (HbA1c) Poor Control (>9.0%)	Meaningful Use (EHR Incentive Program) - Eligible Professionals; Medicare Part C Plan Rating; Medicare Shared Savings Program; Physician Feedback; Physician Quality Reporting System (PQRS); HRSA
0062	Comprehensive Diabetes Care: Medical Attention for Nephropathy	Meaningful Use (EHR Incentive Program) - Eligible Professionals; Medicare Part C Plan Rating; Physician Feedback; Physician Quality Reporting System (PQRS)
0416	Diabetic Foot & Ankle Care, Ulcer Prevention – Evaluation of Footwear	Physician Feedback; Physician Quality Reporting System (PQRS)
0417	Diabetic Foot & Ankle Care, Peripheral Neuropathy – Neurological Evaluation	Physician Feedback; Physician Quality Reporting System (PQRS)
0519	Diabetic Foot Care and Patient Education Implemented	Home Health Quality Reporting
0545	Adherence to Statins for Individuals with Diabetes Mellitus	

Appendix C: Endocrine Portfolio—Use In Federal Programs

NQF #	Title	Federal Programs: Finalized as of April 3, 2014
0575	Comprehensive Diabetes Care: Hemoglobin A1c (HbA1c) Control (<8.0%)	
2362	Adverse Drug Events - Hyperglycemia	
2363	Adverse Drug Events - Hypoglycemia	
2467	Adherence to ACEI/ARBs for Individuals with Diabetes Mellitus	
2468	Adherence to Oral Diabetes Agents for Individuals with Diabetes Mellitus	
2416	2416: Laboratory Investigation for Secondary Causes of Fracture	
2417	Risk Assessment/Treatm ent After Fracture	
2418	Discharge Instructions – Emergency Department	

Appendix D: Project Standing Committee and NQF Staff

STANDING COMMITTEE

William Golden, MD, MACP (Co-Chair) Arkansas Medicaid Little Rock, Arkansas

James Rosenzweig, MD (Co-Chair) Boston University School of Medicine Boston, MA

Robert Bailey, MD Janssen Scientific Affairs, LLC Venice, FL

Tracey Breen, MD North Shore-LIJ Department of Medicine New Hyde Park, NY

William Curry, MD, MS Pennsylvania State University College of Medicine Hershey Park, PA

Vicky Ducworth The Boeing Company

Charleston, South Carolina

R. James Dudl, MD

Kaiser Permanente San Diego, California

Ingrid Duva, RN, PhD

Veterans Administration Norcross, Georgia

Starlin Haydon-Greatting, MS, BSPharm, FAPhA Illinois Pharmacists Association Springfiels, IL

Ann Kearns, MD, PhD Mayo Clinic Rochester, MN

M. Sue Kirkman, MD University of North Carolina Chapel Hill, NC

NATIONAL QUALITY FORUM

Anne Leddy, MD, FACE Glouchester-Mathews Free Clinic Moon, VA

Grace Lee, MD Virginia Mason Medical Center Seattle, Washington

Laura Makaroff, DO Health Resources Services Administration Rockville, Maryland

Anna McCollister-Slipp Galileo Analytics Washington, DC

Patricia McDermott, RN Aetna, Inc. St. Charles, IL

Janice Miller, DNP, CRNP, CDE Thomas Jefferson University Philadelphia, PA

Claudia Shwide-Slavin, MS, RD, DC-ADM, CDE

American Association of Diabetes Educators (AADE) New York, NY

Janet Sullivan, MD Hudson Health Plan Tarrytown, NY

William Taylor, MD Department of Population Medicine, Harvard Medical School Boston, MA

NQF STAFF

Helen Burstin, MD, MPH Senior Vice President Performance Measures

Karen Johnson, MS Senior Director Performance Measures **Lindsey Tighe, MS** Senior Project Manager Performance Measures

Kathryn Streeter, MS Project Manager Performance Measures

Poonam Bal, MHSA

Project Analyst Performance Measures

Appendix E: Measure Specifications

0055 Comprehensive Diabetes Care: Eye Exam (retinal) performed	72
0056 Diabetes: Foot Exam	76
0057 Comprehensive Diabetes Care: Hemoglobin A1c (HbA1c) testing	79
0059 Comprehensive Diabetes Care: Hemoglobin A1c (HbA1c) Poor Control (>9.0%)	82
0062 Comprehensive Diabetes Care: Medical Attention for Nephropathy	85
0519 Diabetic Foot Care and Patient Education Implemented	88
0545 Adherence to Statins for Individuals with Diabetes Mellitus	90
0575 Comprehensive Diabetes Care: Hemoglobin A1c (HbA1c) Control (<8.0%)	100
2362 Glycemic Control - Hyperglycemia	104
2363 Glycemic Control - Hypoglycemia	114
2416 Laboratory Investigation for Secondary Causes of Fracture	118
2417 Risk Assessment/Treatment After Fracture	123
2467 Adherence to ACEIs/ARBs for Individuals with Diabetes Mellitus	126
2468 Adherence to Oral Diabetes Agents for Individuals with Diabetes Mellitus	136

	0055 Comprehensive Diabetes Care: Eye Exam (retinal) performed
Steward	National Committee for Quality Assurance
Description	The percentage of patients 18-75 years of age with diabetes (type 1 and type 2) who had an eye exam (retinal) performed.
Туре	Process
Data Source	Administrative claims, Electronic Clinical Data, Paper Medical Records, Electronic Clinical Data Pharmacy This measure uses a combination of administrative claims data and medical records. Eye screening for diabetic retinal disease can be identified by the following administrative data:
	Retinal or dilated eye exam by an eye care professional (optometrist or ophthalmologist) in the measurement year.
	A negative retinal or dilated eye exam (negative for retinopathy) by an eye care professional in the year prior to the measurement year.
	Codes in the following value sets will meet these criteria:
	Any code in the Diabetic Retinal Screening Value Set billed by an eye care professional during the measurement year.
	Any code in the Diabetic Retinal Screening Value Set billed by an eye care professional during the year prior to the measurement year, with a negative result (negative for retinopathy).
	Any code in the Diabetic Retinal Screening with Eye Care Professional Value Set billed by any provider type during the measurement year.
	Any code in the Diabetic Retinal Screening with Eye Care Professional Value Set billed by any provider type during the year prior to the measurement year, with a negative result (negative for retinopathy).
	Any code in the Diabetic Retinal Screening Negative Value Set billed by any provider type during the measurement year.
	The minimum medical record documentation includes one of the following:
	A note or letter prepared by an ophthalmologist, optometrist, PCP or other health care professional indicating that an opthalmoscopic exam was completed by an eye care professional, the date when the procedure was performed and the results.
	A chart of photograph of retinal abnormalities indicating the date when the fundus photography was performed and evidence than an eye care professional reviewed the results. Alternatively, results may be read by a qualified reading center that operates under the direction of a medical director who is a retinal specialist.
	Documentation of a negative retinal or dilated exam by an eye care professional in the year prior to the measurement year, where results indicate retinopathy was not present (e. g. documentation of normal findings for a dilated or retinal eye exam performed by an eye care professional meets criteria).
	No data collection instrument provided Attachment 0055_CDC_Eye_Exam_Value_Sets-635219460290552131.xlsx
Level	Clinician : Group/Practice, Health Plan, Clinician : Individual, Integrated Delivery System
Setting	Ambulatory Care : Clinician Office/Clinic
Time Window	The measurement year (12 month period).
Numerator Statement	Patients who received an eye screening for diabetic retinal disease. This includes people with diabetes who had the following: -a retinal or dilated eye exam by an eye care professional (optometrists or ophthalmologist) in the measurement year OR –a negative retinal exam or dilated eye exam (negative for retinopathy) by an eye care professional in the year prior to the measurement year. For exams performed in the year prior to the measurement year, a result
	0055 Comprehensive Diabetes Care: Eye Exam (retinal) performed
--------------------------	---
	must be available.
Numerator Details	ADMINISTRATIVE CLAIMS: Due to the extensive volume of codes associated with identifying numerator events for this measure, we are attaching a separate file with code value sets. See code value sets located in question S.2b. MEDICAL RECORD: At a minimum, documentation in the medical record must include a note indicating the date when an eye exam was performed or negative eye exam result documented. The patient is numerator compliant if the eye exam was performed or a negative eye exam was documented in the year prior to the measurement year. The patient is not numerator compliant if the eye exam or negative result are missing. Ranges and
	thresholds do not meet criteria for this measure. A distinct numeric result is required for numerator compliance.
Denominator Statement	Patients 18-75 years of age by the end of the measurement year who had a diagnosis of diabetes (type 1 or type 2) during the measurement year or the year prior to the measurement year.
Denominator Details	 Patients with diabetes can be identified two ways: -CLAIM/ENCOUNTER DATA: Patients who had two face-to-face encounters, in an inpatient setting or nonacute inpatient setting, on different dates of service, with a diagnosis of diabetes, or one face-to-face encounter in an acute inpatient or ED setting, with a diagnosis of diabetes, during the measurement year or the year prior to the measurement year. Organizations may count services that occur over both years. *SEE ATTACHED EXCEL FILE FOR CODE VALUE SETS INCLUDED IN QUESTION S.2B
	-PHARMACY DATA: Patients who were dispensed insulin or oral hypoglycemics/antihyperglycemics during the measurement year or the year prior to the measurement year on an ambulatory basis.
	PRESCRIPTIONS TO IDENTIFY PATIENTS WITH DIABETES (TABLE CDC-A):
	Alpha-glucosidase inhibitors:
	Acarbose, Miglitol
	Amylin analogs:
	Pramlinitide
	Antidiabetic combinations:
	Glimepiride-pioglitazone, Glimepiride-rosiglitazone, Glipizide-metformin, Glyburide- metformin, Linagliptin-metaformin, Metformin-pioglitazone, Metformin-rosiglitazone, Metaformin-saxagliptin, Metformin-sitagliptin, Saxagliptin, Sitagliptin-simvastatin
	Insulin: Insulin aspart, Insulin aspart-insulin aspart protamine, Insulin detemir, Insulin glargine, Insulin glulisine, Insulin inhalation, Insulin isophane beef-pork, Insulin isophane human, Insulin isophane-insulin regular, Insulin lispro, Insulin lispro-insulin lispro protamine, Insulin regular human
	Meglitinides:
	Nateglinide, Repaglinide
	Miscellaneous antidiabetic agents:
	Exenatide, Linagliptin, Liraglutide, Metformin-repaglinide, Sitagliptin
	Sodium glucose cotransporter 2 (SGLT2) inhibitor:
	Canagliflozin
	Sulfonylureas:
	Acetohexamide, Chlorpropamide, Glimepiride, Glipizide, Glyburide, Tolazamide, Tolbutamide

	0055 Comprehensive Diabetes Care: Eye Exam (retinal) performed
	Thiazolidinediones:
	Pioglitazone, Rosiglitazone
Exclusions	 Exclusions (optional): -Exclude patients who did not have a diagnosis of diabetes, in any setting, during the measurement year or the year prior to the measurement year. AND
	-Exclude patients who meet either of the following criteria:
	-A diagnosis of polycystic ovaries, in any setting, any time in the patient's history through December 31 of the measurement year.
	-A diagnosis of gestational or steroid-induced diabetes, in any setting, during the measurement year or the year prior to the measurement year
Exclusion Details	ADMINISTRATIVE CLAIMS: Due to the extensive volume of codes associated with identifying the denominator for this measure, we are attaching a separate file with code value sets. See code value sets located in question S.2b. MEDICAL RECORD:
	-Exclusionary evidence in the medical record must include a note indicating the patient did not have a diagnosis of diabetes, in any setting, during the measurement year or the year prior to the measurement year and had a diagnosis of polycystic ovaries any time in the patient's history through December 31 of the measurement year. OR
	-Exclusionary evidence in the medical record must include a note indicating the patient did not have a diagnosis of diabetes, in any setting, during the measurement year or the year prior to the measurement year and a diagnosis of gestational or steroid-induced diabetes, in any setting, during the measurement year or the year prior to the measurement year.
Risk Adjustment	No risk adjustment or risk stratification
	N/A
Stratification	N/A
Type Score	Rate/proportion better quality = higher score
Algorithm	STEP 1. Determine the eligible population. To do so, identify patients who meet all the specified criteria.
	-AGES: 18-75 years as of December 31 of the measurement year. -EVENT/DIAGNOSIS: Identify patients with diabetes in two ways: by claim/encounter data and by pharmacy data.
	Claim/Encounter Data:
	-Patients who had at least two outpatient visits, observation visits or nonacute inpatient encounters on different dates of service, with a diagnosis of diabetes. Visit type need not be the same for the two visits.
	-Patients with at least one acute inpatient encounter with a diagnosis of diabetes.
	-Patients with at least one ED visit with a diagnosis of diabetes. *SEE ATTACHED EXCEL FILE FOR CODE VALUE SETS INCLUDED IN QUESTION S.2B
	Pharmacy Data:
	Patients who were dispensed insulin or hypoglycemics/antihyperglycemics on an ambulatory basis during the measurement year or the year prior to the measurement year. *SEE PRESCRIPTIONS TO IDENTIFY PATIENTS WITH DIABETES IN QUESTION S.9
	STEP 2. Determine the number of patients in the eligible population who had a recent eye exam (retinal) performed during the measurement year through the search of administrative

	0055 Comprehensive Diabetes Care: Eye Exam (retinal) performed
	 data systems. STEP 3. Identify patients with a most recent eye exam (retinal) performed and the result. STEP 4. Identify the most recent eye exam (retinal) during the measurement year or a negative result prior to the measurement year (numerator compliant). Identify missing eye exam or missing eye exam result (not numerator compliant). STEP 5. Exclude from the eligible population patients from step 2 for whom administrative system data identified an exclusion to the service/procedure being measured. *SEE DENOMINATOR EXCLUSION CRITERIA IN QUESTION S.10 STEP 6. Calculate the rate (number of patients with an eye exam (retinal) performed during the measurement year or negative result prior to the measurement year). No diagram provided
Submission items	 5.1 Identified measures: 5a.1 Are specs completely harmonized? 5a.2 If not completely harmonized, identify difference, rationale, impact: N/A 5b.1 If competing, why superior or rationale for additive value: N/A

	0056 Diabetes: Foot Exam
Steward	National Committee for Quality Assurance
Description	The percentage of patients 18-75 years of age with diabetes (type 1 and type 2) who received a foot exam (visual inspection and sensory exam with mono filament and a pulse exam) during the measurement year.
Туре	Process
Data Source	Administrative claims, Paper Medical Records, Electronic Clinical Data : Pharmacy No data collection instrument provided Attachment 0056_CDC_Foot_Exam_Value_Sets- 635219463363519462.xlsx
Level	Clinician : Group/Practice, Clinician : Individual
Setting	Ambulatory Care : Clinician Office/Clinic
Time Window	The measurement year (12 month period).
Numerator Statement	Patients who received a foot exam (visual inspection and sensory exam with monofilament and pulse exam) during the measurement period.
Numerator Details	ADMINISTRATIVE CLAIMS: Due to the extensive volume of codes associated with identifying numerator events for this measure, we are attaching a separate file with code value sets. See code value sets located in question S.2b.
	MEDICAL RECORD: At a minimum, documentation in the medical record must include a note indicating the date when the exam was performed and the result. The patient is numerator compliant if a foot exam during the measurement year and result are documented. The patient is not numerator compliant if the result for the foot exam and result during the measurement year are missing. Ranges and thresholds do not meet criteria for this measure. A distinct numeric result is required for numerator compliance.
Denominator Statement	Patients 18-75 years of age by the end of the measurement year who had a diagnosis of diabetes (type 1 or type 2) during the measurement year or the year prior to the measurement year.
Denominator Details	 PRESCRIPTIONS TO IDENTIFY PATIENTS WITH DIABETES Alpha-glucosidase inhibitors: Acarbose, Miglitol Amylin analogs: Pramlinitide Antidiabetic combinations: Glimepiride-pioglitazone, Glimepiride-rosiglitazone, Glipizide-metformin, Glyburide- metformin, Metformin-pioglitazone, Metformin-rosilitazone, Metformin-sitagliptin, Saxagliptin, Sitagliptin-simvastatin Insulin: Insulin aspart, Insulin aspart-insulin aspart protamine, Insulin detemir, Insulin glargine, Insulin glulisine, Insulin inhalation, Insulin isophane beef-pork, Insulin isophane human, Insulin isophane-insulin regular, Insulin lispro, Insulin lispro-protamine, Insulin regular human, Insulin zinc human Meglitinides: Nateglinide, Repaglinide Miscellaneous antidiabetic agents: Exenatide, Liraglutide, Metformin-repaglinide, Sitagliptin Sulfonylureas:
	Acetohexamide, Chlorpropamide, Glimepiride, Glipizide, Glyburide, Tolazamide, Tolbutamide

	0056 Diabetes: Foot Exam
	Thiazolidinediones: Pioglitazone, Rosiglitazone
	CODES TO IDENTIFY DIABETES
	ICD-9-CM Diagnosis: 250, 357.2, 362.0, 366.41, 648.0
Exclusions	-A diagnosis of gestational or steroid-induced diabetes
Exclusion Details	ADMINISTRATIVE CLAIMS
	CODES TO IDENTIFY EXCLUSIONS
	Steroid induced: 249, 251.8, 962.0
	Gestational diabetes: 648.8
	MEDICAL RECORD
	Exclusionary evidence in the medical record must include a note indicating a diagnosis of gestational or steroid-induced diabetes
Risk Adjustment	No risk adjustment or risk stratification N/A
Stratification	N/A
Type Score	Rate/proportion better quality = higher score
Algorithm	STEP 1. Determine the eligible population. To do so, identify patients who meet all the specified criteria.
	-AGES: 18-75 years as of December 31 of the reporting period.
	-EVENT/DIAGNOSIS:
	Identify patients who had a diagnosis of diabetes with a visit during the measurement period.
	Claim/Encounter Data: Codes to identify diabetes:
	-ICD-9-CM Diagnosis: 250.00, 250.01, 250.02, 250.03, 250.10, 250.11, 250.12, 250.13, 250.20, 250.21, 250.22, 250.23, 250.30, 250.31, 250.32, 250.33, 250.40, 250.41, 250.42, 250.43, 250.50, 250.51, 250.52, 250.53, 250.60, 250.61, 250.62, 250.63, 250.70, 250.71, 250.72, 250.73, 250.80, 250.81, 250.82, 250.83, 250.90, 250.91, 250.92, 250.93, 357.2, 362.01, 362.02, 362.03, 362.04, 362.05, 362.06, 362.07, 366.41, 648.00, 648.01, 648.02, 648.03, 648.04
	-ICD-10-CM Diagnosis: E10.8, E10.9, E10.10, E10.11, E10.21, E10.22, E10.29, E10.311, E10.319, E10.321, E10.329, E10.331, E10.339, E10.341, E10.349, E10.351, E10.359, E10.36, E10.39, E10.40, E10.41, E10.42, E10.43, E10.44, E10.49, E10.51, E10.52, E10.59, E10.610, E10.618, E10.620, E10.621, E10.622, E10.628, E10.630, E10.638, E10.641, E10.649, E10.65, E10.69, E11.00, E11.01, E11.21, E11.22, E11.29, E11.311, E11.319, E11.321, E11.329, E11.331, E11.339, E11.341, E11.349, E11.351, E11.359, E11.36, E11.39, E11.40, E11.41, E11.42, E11.43, E11.44, E11.49, E11.51, E11.52, E11.59, E11.65, E11.69, E11.610, E11.618, E11.620, E11.621, E11.622, E11.628 AND
	Patient encounter (CPT or HCPCS): 99201, 99202, 99203, 99204, 99205, 99211, 99212, 99213, 99214, 99215, 99217, 99218, 99219, 99220, 99221, 99222, 99223, 99231, 99232, 99233, 99238, 99238, 99239, 99281, 99282, 99283, 99284, 99285, 99291, 99304, 99305, 99306, 99307, 99308, 99309, 99310, 99315, 99316, 99318, 99324, 99325, 99326, 99327, 99328, 99334, 99335, 99336, 99337, 99341, 99342, 99343, 99344, 99345, 99347, 99348, 99349, 99350, 99455, 99456, G0402, G0438, G0439

	0056 Diabetes: Foot Exam
	- STEP 2. Determine the number of patients in the eligible population who had a recent foot exam (visual inspection with a sensory exam and a pulse exam) exam during the measurement year through the search of administrative data systems.
	STEP 3. Identify patients with a most recent foot exam performed and the result.
	STEP 4. Identify the most recent foot exam with a result during the reporting period (numerator compliant). Identify the most recent result foot exam without a result or a missing foot exam (not numerator compliant).
	STEP 5. Exclude from the eligible population patients from step 2 for whom administrative system data identified an exclusion to the service/procedure being measured. *SEE DENOMINATOR EXCLUSION CRITERIA IN QUESTION S.10
	STEP 6. Calculate the rate (number of patients that received a foot exam during the measurement year). No diagram provided
Submission items	5.1 Identified measures: 0417 : Diabetic Foot & Ankle Care, Peripheral Neuropathy – Neurological Evaluation
	5a.1 Are specs completely harmonized? No
	5a.2 If not completely harmonized, identify difference, rationale, impact: Measure 0056 identifies adults with diabetes (age 18-75) that had a foot exam (visual inspection with sensory and pulse exam) during the reporting year. Measure 0417 identifies adults with diabetes (age 18 and older) who had a lower extremity neurological exam at least once during the measurement year. HARMONIZED ELEMENTS: Both measures are harmonized on the target population of diabetic adults and the measure focus of lower extremity exam. The denominator for each measure are harmonized to include all adult patients with a diagnosis of diabetes mellitus. The care setting is harmonized for measure 0056 and 0417 in at least one care setting (Ambulatory Care: Clinician Office/ Clinic). In addition, the data source (administrative claims) and level of analysis (clinicians: individual) are harmonized for both measures. UNHARMONIZED MEASURE ELEMENTS: Data Source: Measure 0056 is specified for paper medical records, administrative claims and electronic clinical data while measure 0417 is specified for administrative claims only. Measure 0056 is included in the CMS PQRS program and in NCQA's Diabetes Recognition Program (DRP) for physician reporting. IMPACT ON INTERPRETABILITY AND DATA COLLECTION BURDEN: Measure 0056 provide more options for reporting based on available data sources. Measure 0417 is specified for only administrative claims.
	5b.1 If competing, why superior or rationale for additive value: 0056 has a long history of use and is implemented in two national programs (PRQS and DRP).

	0057 Comprehensive Diabetes Care: Hemoglobin A1c (HbA1c) testing
Steward	National Committee for Quality Assurance
Description	The percentage of patients 18-75 years of age with diabetes (type 1 and type 2) who received an HbA1c test during the measurement year.
Туре	Process
Data Source	Administrative claims, Electronic Clinical Data : Electronic Health Record, Electronic Clinical Data : Laboratory, Paper Medical Records This measure is based on administrative claims and medical record documentation collected in the course of providing care to health plan members. NCQA collects the Healthcare Effectiveness Data and Information Set (HEDIS) data for this measure directly from Health Management Organizations and Preferred Provider Organizations via NCQA's online data submission system. No data collection instrument provided Attachment 0057_CDC_HbA1c_Testing_Value_Sets- 635219472851147197.xlsx
Level	Health Plan, Integrated Delivery System
Setting	Ambulatory Care : Clinician Office/Clinic
Time Window	The measurement year (12 month period).
Numerator Statement	Patients who had an HbA1c test performed during the measurement year.
Numerator Details	ADMINISTRATIVE CLAIMS: Due to the extensive volume of codes associated with identifying numerator events for this measure, we are attaching a separate file with code value sets. See code value sets located in question S.2b. MEDICAL RECORD: At a minimum, documentation in the medical record must include a note indicating the date when the HbA1c test was performed and the result. The patient is numerator compliant if the HbA1c test completed during the measurement year and result are documented. The patient is not numerator compliant if the HbA1c test are missing. Ranges and thresholds do not meet criteria for this measure. A distinct numeric result is required for numerator compliance.
Denominator Statement	Patients 18-75 years of age by the end of the measurement year who had a diagnosis of diabetes (type 1 or type 2) during the measurement year or the year prior to the measurement year.
Denominator Details	 Patients with diabetes can be identified two ways: CLAIM/ENCOUNTER DATA: -Patients who had at least two outpatient visits, observation visits or nonacute inpatient encounters on different dates of service, with a diagnosis of diabetes. Visit type need not be the same for the two visits. -Patients with at least one acute inpatient encounter with a diagnosis of diabetes. -Patients with at least one ED visit with a diagnosis of diabetes. -Patients with at least one ED visit with a diagnosis of diabetes. *SEE ATTACHED EXCEL FILE FOR CODE VALUE SETS INCLUDED IN QUESTION S.2B PHARMACY DATA: Patients who were dispensed insulin or hypoglycemics/antihyperglycemics on an ambulatory basis during the measurement year or the year prior to the measurement year (Table CDC-A). PRESCRIPTIONS TO IDENTIFY MEMBERS WITH DIABETES (Table CDC-A) Alpha-glucosidase inhibitors: Acarbose, Miglitol Amylin analogs:

	0057 Comprehensive Diabetes Care: Hemoglobin A1c (HbA1c) testing
	Pramlinitide Antidiabetic combinations:
	Glimepiride-pioglitazone, Glimepiride-rosiglitazone, Glipizide-metformin, Glyburide- metformin, Metformin-pioglitazone, Metformin-rosilitazone, Metformin-sitagliptin, Saxagliptin, Sitagliptin-simvastatin Insulin:
	Insulin aspart, Insulin aspart-insulin aspart protamine, Insulin detemir, Insulin glargine, Insulin glulisine, Insulin inhalation, Insulin isophane beef-pork, Insulin isophane human, Insulin isophane-insulin regular, Insulin lispro, Insulin lispro-insulin lispro protamine, Insulin regular human, Insulin lispro, Insulin lispro-insulin lispro protamine, Insulin regular
	Meglitinides:
	Nateglinide, Repaglinide
	Miscellaneous antidiabetic agents:
	Exenatide, Liraglutide, Metformin-repaglinide, Sitagliptin Sulfonylureas:
	Acetohexamide, Chlorpropamide, Glimepiride, Glipizide, Glyburide, Tolazamide, Tolbutamide
	Thiazolidinediones:
	Pioglitazone, Rosiglitazone
Exclusions	Exclusions (optional):
	-Exclude patients who did not have a diagnosis of diabetes, in any setting, during the measurement year or the year prior to the measurement year. AND
	-Exclude patients who meet either of the following criteria:
	-A diagnosis of polycystic ovaries, in any setting, any time in the patient's history through December 31 of the measurement year.
	-A diagnosis of gestational or steroid-induced diabetes, in any setting, during the measurement year or the year prior to the measurement year.
Exclusion Details	ADMINISTRATIVE CLAIMS: Due to the extensive volume of codes associated with identifying the denominator for this measure, we are attaching a separate file with code value sets. See code value sets located in question S.2b.
	MEDICAL RECORD
	Exclusionary evidence in the medical record must include a note indicating a diagnosis of polycystic ovaries at any time in the member's history, but must have occurred by the end of the measurement year. The member must not have a face-to-face encounter in any setting, with a diagnosis of diabetes, during the measurement year or year prior to the measurement year.
	Exclusionary evidence in the medical record must include a note indicating a diagnosis of gestational or steroid-induced diabetes during the measurement year or the year prior to the measurement year. The member must not have a face-to-face encounter in any setting, with a diagnosis of diabetes, during the measurement year or the year prior to the measurement year.
Risk Adjustment	No risk adjustment or risk stratification N/A
a	N/A
Stratification	N/A

	0057 Comprehensive Diabetes Care: Hemoglobin A1c (HbA1c) testing
Algorithm	STEP 1. Determine the eligible population. To do so, identify patients who meet all the specified criteria.
	-AGES: 18-75 years as of December 31 of the measurement year.
	-EVENT/DIAGNOSIS: Identify patients with diabetes in two ways: by claim/encounter data and by pharmacy data.
	Claim/Encounter Data:
	-Patients who had at least two outpatient visits, observation visits or nonacute inpatient encounters on different dates of service, with a diagnosis of diabetes. Visit type need not be the same for the two visits.
	-Patients with at least one acute inpatient encounter with a diagnosis of diabetes.
	-Patients with at least one ED visit with a diagnosis of diabetes.
	*SEE ATTACHED EXCEL FILE FOR CODE VALUE SETS INCLUDED IN QUESTION S.2B
	Pharmacy Data:
	Patients who were dispensed insulin or hypoglycemics/antihyperglycemics on an ambulatory basis during the measurement year or the year prior to the measurement year. *SEE PRESCRIPTIONS TO IDENTIFY PATIENTS WITH DIABETES IN S.9
	STEP 2. Determine the number of patients in the eligible population who had a recent HbA1c test during the measurement year through the search of administrative data systems.
	STEP 3. Identify patients with a most recent HbA1c test performed.
	STEP 4. Identify the most recent HbA1c test with result (numerator compliant). Identify a missing result or no HbA1c test done during the measurement year (not numerator compliant).
	STEP 5. Exclude from the eligible population patients from step 2 for whom administrative system data identified an exclusion to the service/procedure being measured. *SEE DENOMINATOR EXCLUSION CRITERIA IN QUESTION S.10
	STEP 6. Calculate the rate (number of patients that had an HbA1c test). No diagram provided
Submission items	5.1 Identified measures:
	5a.1 Are specs completely harmonized?
	5a.2 If not completely harmonized, identify difference, rationale, impact: N/A
	5b.1 If competing, why superior or rationale for additive value: N/A

	0059 Comprehensive Diabetes Care: Hemoglobin A1c (HbA1c) Poor Control (>9.0%)
Steward	National Committee for Quality Assurance
Description	The percentage of patients 18-75 years of age with diabetes (type 1 and type 2) whose most recent HbA1c level during the measurement year was greater than 9.0% (poor control) or was missing a result, or if an HbA1c test was not done during the measurement year.
Туре	Outcome
Data Source	Administrative claims, Electronic Clinical Data, Electronic Clinical Data : Laboratory, Paper Medical Records, Electronic Clinical Data : Pharmacy This measure is based on administrative claims and medical record documentation collected in the course of providing care to health plan patients. NCQA collects the Healthcare Effectiveness Data and Information Set (HEDIS) data for this measure directly from Health Management Organizations and Preferred Provider Organizations via NCQA's online data submission system.
	No data collection instrument provided Attachment 0059_CDC_HbA1c_Poor_Control_Value_Sets-635219472170982837.xlsx
Level	Clinician : Group/Practice, Health Plan, Clinician : Individual, Integrated Delivery System, Population : National, Population : Regional, Population : State
Setting	Ambulatory Care : Clinician Office/Clinic
Time Window	Measurement year (12-month period.
Numerator Statement	Patients whose most recent HbA1c level is greater than 9.0% or is missing a result, or for whom an HbA1c test was not done during the measurement year. The outcome is an out of range result of an HbA1c test, indicating poor control of diabetes. Poor control puts the individual at risk for complications including renal failure, blindness, and neurologic damage. There is no need for risk adjustment for this intermediate outcome measure.
Numerator Details	 ADMINISTRATIVE CLAIMS: Due to the extensive volume of codes associated with identifying numerator events for this measure, we are attaching a separate file with code value sets. See code value sets located in question S.2b. MEDICAL RECORD: At a minimum, documentation in the medical record must include a note indicating the date when the HbA1c test was performed and the result. The patient is numerator compliant if the result for the most recent HbA1c level during the measurement year is >9.0% or is missing, or if an HbA1c test was not done during the measurement year. The patient is not numerator compliant if the result for the most recent HbA1c level during the measurement year. The patient is not numerator compliant if the result for the most recent HbA1c level during the measurement year is =9.0%. Ranges and thresholds do not meet criteria for this measure. A distinct numeric result is required for numerator compliance. *A lower rate indicates better performance for this indicator (i.e., low rates of poor control indicate better care).
Denominator Statement	Patients 18-75 years of age by the end of the measurement year who had a diagnosis of diabetes (type 1 or type 2) during the measurement year or the year prior to the measurement year.
Denominator Details	 Patients with diabetes can be identified two ways: -CLAIM/ENCOUNTER DATA: -Patients who had at least two outpatient visits, observation visits or nonacute inpatient encounters on different dates of service, with a diagnosis of diabetes. Visit type need not be the same for the two visits.
	 -Patients with at least one acute inpatient encounter with a diagnosis of diabetes. -Patients with at least one ED visit with a diagnosis of diabetes. *SEE ATTACHED EXCEL FILE FOR CODE VALUE SETS INCLUDED IN QUESTION S.2B -PHARMACY DATA: Patients who were dispensed insulin or hypoglycemics/antihyperglycemics

	0059 Comprehensive Diabetes Care: Hemoglobin A1c (HbA1c) Poor Control (>9.0%)
	on an ambulatory basis during the measurement year or the year prior to the measurement year (Table CDC-A).
	PRESCRIPTIONS TO IDENTIFY PATIENTS WITH DIABETES (TABLE CDC-A):
	Alpha-glucosidase inhibitors:
	Acarbose, Miglitol
	Amylin analogs:
	Pramlinitide
	Antidiabetic combinations:
	Glimepiride-pioglitazone, Glimepiride-rosiglitazone, Glipizide-metformin, Glyburide- metformin, Linagliptin-metaformin, Metformin-pioglitazone, Metformin-rosiglitazone, Metaformin-saxagliptin, Metformin-sitagliptin, Saxagliptin, Sitagliptin-simvastatin
	Insulin:
	Insulin aspart, Insulin aspart-insulin aspart protamine, Insulin detemir, Insulin glargine, Insulin glulisine, Insulin inhalation, Insulin isophane beef-pork, Insulin isophane human, Insulin isophane-insulin regular, Insulin lispro, Insulin lispro-insulin lispro protamine, Insulin regular human
	Meglitinides:
	Nateglinide, Repaglinide
	Miscellaneous antidiabetic agents:
	Exenatide, Linagliptin, Liraglutide, Metformin-repaglinide, Sitagliptin
	Sodium glucose cotransporter 2 (SGLT2) inhibitor:
	Canagliflozin
	Sulfonylureas:
	Acetohexamide, Chlorpropamide, Glimepiride, Glipizide, Glyburide, Tolazamide, Tolbutamide
	Thiazolidinediones:
	Pioglitazone, Rosiglitazone
Exclusions	Exclusions (optional):
	-Exclude patients who did not have a diagnosis of diabetes, in any setting, during the measurement year or the year prior to the measurement year. AND
	-Exclude patients who meet either of the following criteria:
	-A diagnosis of polycystic ovaries, in any setting, any time in the patient's history through December 31 of the measurement year.
	-A diagnosis of gestational or steroid-induced diabetes, in any setting, during the measurement year or the year prior to the measurement year.
Exclusion Details	ADMINISTRATIVE CLAIMS: Due to the extensive volume of codes associated with identifying the denominator for this measure, we are attaching a separate file with code value sets. See code value sets located in question S.2b.
	MEDICAL RECORD:
	-Exclusionary evidence in the medical record must include a note indicating the patient did nor have a diagnosis of diabetes, in any setting, during the measurement year or the year prior to the measurement year and had a diagnosis of polycystic ovaries any time in the patient's history through December 31 of the measurement year.
	OR -Exclusionary evidence in the medical record must include a note indicating the patient did not have a diagnosis of diabetes, in any setting, during the measurement year or the year prior to

	0059 Comprehensive Diabetes Care: Hemoglobin A1c (HbA1c) Poor Control (>9.0%)
	the measurement year and a diagnosis of gestational or steroid-induced diabetes, in any setting, during the measurement year or the year prior to the measurement year.
Risk Adjustment	No risk adjustment or risk stratification N/A
Stratification	N/A
Type Score	Rate/proportion better quality = lower score
Algorithm	STEP 1. Determine the eligible population. To do so, identify patients who meet all the specified criteria.
	-AGES: 18-75 years as of December 31 of the measurement year.
	-EVENT/DIAGNOSIS: Identify patients with diabetes in two ways: by claim/encounter data and by pharmacy data. Claim/Encounter Data:
	 Patients who had at least two outpatient visits, observation visits or nonacute inpatient encounters on different dates of service, with a diagnosis of diabetes. Visit type need not be the same for the two visits.
	-Patients with at least one acute inpatient encounter with a diagnosis of diabetes.
	-Patients with at least one ED visit with a diagnosis of diabetes.
	*SEE ATTACHED EXCEL FILE FOR CODE VALUE SETS INCLUDED IN QUESTION S.2B
	Pharmacy Data:
	Patients who were dispensed insulin or hypoglycemics/antihyperglycemics on an ambulatory basis during the measurement year or the year prior to the measurement year. *SEE PRESCRIPTIONS TO IDENTIFY PATIENTS WITH DIABETES IN QUESTION S.9
	STEP 2. Determine the number of patients in the eligible population who had a recent HbA1c test result during the measurement year through the search of administrative data systems.
	STEP 3. Identify patients with a most recent HbA1c test performed and the result.
	STEP 4. Identify the most recent result with an HbA1c level >9.0%, a missing result or no HbA1c test done during the measurement year (numerator compliant). Identify the most recent result with an HbA1c level <=9.0% (not numerator compliant).
	STEP 5. Exclude from the eligible population patients from step 2 for whom administrative system data identified an exclusion to the service/procedure being measured. *SEE DENOMINATOR EXCLUSION CRITERIA IN QUESTION S.10
	STEP 6. Calculate the rate (number of patients with poor HbA1c control >9.0%). No diagram provided
Submission items	5.1 Identified measures:
	5a.1 Are specs completely harmonized?
	5a.2 If not completely harmonized, identify difference, rationale, impact: N/A
	5b.1 If competing, why superior or rationale for additive value: N/A

	0062 Comprehensive Diabetes Care: Medical Attention for Nephropathy
Steward	National Committee for Quality Assurance
Description	The percentage of patients 18-75 years of age with diabetes (type 1 and type 2) who received a nephropathy screening test or had evidence of nephropathy during the measurement year.
Туре	Process
Data Source	 Administrative claims, Electronic Clinical Data, Electronic Clinical Data : Laboratory, Paper Medical Records, Electronic Clinical Data : Pharmacy This measure uses a combination of administrative claims data and medical records. Medical attention for nephropathy can be identified by the following administrative data and value sets: A nephropathy screening (Nephropathy screening tests value set)
	Evidence of treatment for nephropathy or ACE/ARB therapy (Nephropathy Treatment Value Set)
	Evidence of Stage 4 chronic kidney disease (CKD Stage 4 Value Set) Evidence of ESRD (ESRD Value Set)
	Evidence of kidney transplant (Kidney transplant value set)
	A visit with a nephrologist, as identified by the organization's specialty provider codes (no restriction on the diagnosis or procedure code submitted).
	A positive urine macroalbumin test (Positive Urine Macroalbumin tests value set)
	A urine microalbumin test (Urine Macroalbumin Tests Value Set) where laboratory data indicates a positive result ("trace" urine microalbumin test results are not considered numerator compliant).
	At least one ACE inhibitor or ARB dispensing event
	The medical record documentation includes:
	Nephropathy Screening Test: minimum documentation must include a note indicating the date for when a urine microalbumin test was performed and the result. The following meet the criteria for a urine microalbumin test: 24hr urine for microalbumin, Timed urine for microalbumin, Spot urine for microalbumin,Urine for microalbumin/creatinine ratio, 24hr urine for total protein, Random urine for protein/creatinine ratio
	Evidence of nephropathy: Documentation of visit to a nephrologist, Documentation of renal transplant, Documentation of medical attention for any of the following (no provider type restriction): Diabetic nephropathy, ESRD, Chronic renal failure (CRF), Chronic Kidney Disease (CKD), Renal insufficiency, Proteinuria, Albuminuria, Renal dysfunction, Acute renal failure (ARF), Dialysis, hemodialysis or peritoneal dialysis
	A positive urine microalbumin test. At minimum, documentation in the medical record must include a note indicating the date when the test was performed and a positive result. Any of the following meet the criteria for a positive urine microalbumin test, Positive urinalysis (random, spot or timed) for protein, Positive urine (random, spot or timed) for protein, Positive urine dipstick for protein, Positive tablet reagent for urine protein, Positive result for albuminuria, Positive result for macroalbuminuria, Positive result for proteinuria, Positive result for gross proteinuria
	Evidence of ACE inhibitor/ARB therapy. Documentation in the medical record must include, at minimum, a note indicating that the member received an ambulatory prescription for ACE inhibitors/ARBs in the measurement year.
	No data collection instrument provided Attachment 0062_CDC_Nephropathy_Value_Sets- 635219474449845445.xlsx
Level	Clinician : Group/Practice, Health Plan, Clinician : Individual, Integrated Delivery System
Setting	Ambulatory Care : Clinician Office/Clinic

	0062 Comprehensive Diabetes Care: Medical Attention for Nephropathy
Time Window	The measurement year (12 month period).
Numerator Statement	Patients who received a nephropathy screening test or had evidence of nephropathy during the measurement year.
Numerator Details	ADMINISTRATIVE CLAIMS: Due to the extensive volume of codes associated with identifying numerator events for this measure, we are attaching a separate file with code value sets. See code value sets located in question S.2b. MEDICAL RECORD: At a minimum, documentation in the medical record must include a note indicating the date when the nephropathy screening was performed or nephropathy evidence documented. The patient is numerator compliant if the nephropathy screening was performed or nephropathy evidence is documented. The patient is not numerator compliant if nephropathy screening and result are missing or if nephropathy evidence is not documented. Ranges and thresholds do not meet criteria for this measure. A distinct numeric result is required for numerator compliance.
Denominator Statement	Patients 18-75 years of age by the end of the measurement year who had a diagnosis of diabetes (type 1 or type 2) during the measurement year or the year prior to the measurement year.
Denominator Details	
Exclusions	
Exclusion Details	ADMINISTRATIVE CLAIMS: Due to the extensive volume of codes associated with identifying the denominator for this measure, we are attaching a separate file with code value sets. See code value sets located in question S.2b. MEDICAL RECORD: -Exclusionary evidence in the medical record must include a note indicating the patient did not have a diagnosis of diabetes, in any setting, during the measurement year or the year prior to the measurement year and had a diagnosis of polycystic ovaries any time in the patient's history through December 31 of the measurement year. OR -Exclusionary evidence in the medical record must include a note indicating the patient did not have a diagnosis of diabetes, in any setting, during the measurement year or the year prior to the measurement year and a diagnosis of gestational or steroid-induced diabetes, in any setting, during the measurement year.
Risk Adjustment	No risk adjustment or risk stratification N/A
Stratification	N/A
Type Score	Rate/proportion better quality = higher score
Algorithm	 STEP 1. Determine the eligible population. To do so, identify patients who meet all the specified criteria. -AGES: 18-75 years as of December 31 of the measurement year. -EVENT/DIAGNOSIS: Identify patients with diabetes in two ways: by claim/encounter data and by pharmacy data. Claim/Encounter Data: -Patients who had at least two outpatient visits, observation visits or nonacute inpatient encounters on different dates of service, with a diagnosis of diabetes. Visit type need not be the same for the two visits. -Patients with at least one acute inpatient encounter with a diagnosis of diabetes.

	0062 Comprehensive Diabetes Care: Medical Attention for Nephropathy
	-Patients with at least one ED visit with a diagnosis of diabetes. *SEE ATTACHED EXCEL FILE FOR CODE VALUE SETS INCLUDED IN QUESTION S.2B
	Pharmacy Data:
	Patients who were dispensed insulin or hypoglycemics/antihyperglycemics on an ambulatory basis during the measurement year or the year prior to the measurement year. *SEE PRESCRIPTIONS TO IDENTIFY PATIENTS WITH DIABETES IN QUESTION S.9
	STEP 2. Determine the number of patients in the eligible population who had a recent nephropathy screening or evidence of nephropathy during the measurement year through the search of administrative data systems.
	STEP 3. Identify patients with a nephropathy screening test or evidence of nephropathy.
	STEP 4. Identify the most recent nephropathy screening or evidence of nephropathy during the measurement year (numerator compliant). Identify the missing nephropathy screenings or no evidence of nephropathy (not numerator compliant).
	STEP 5. Exclude from the eligible population patients from step 2 for whom administrative system data identified an exclusion to the service/procedure being measured. *SEE DENOMINATOR EXCLUSION CRITERIA IN QUESTION S.10
	STEP 6. Calculate the rate (number of patients with nephropathy screening or evidence of nephropathy).
Submission items	5.1 Identified measures:
	5a.1 Are specs completely harmonized?
	5a.2 If not completely harmonized, identify difference, rationale, impact:
	5b.1 If competing, why superior or rationale for additive value:

	0519 Diabetic Foot Care and Patient Education Implemented
Steward	Centers for Medicare & Medicaid
Description	Percentage of home health episodes of care in which diabetic foot care and patient/caregiver education were included in the physician-ordered plan of care and implemented for diabetic patientssince the previous OASIS assessment.
Туре	Process
Data Source	Electronic Clinical Data The measure is calculated based on data obtained from the Home Health Outcome and Assessment Information Set (OASIS-C), which is a core standard assessment data set that home health agencies integrate into their own patient-specific, comprehensive assessment to identify each patient's need for home care. The data set is the foundation for valid and reliable information for patient assessment, care planning, and service delivery in the home health setting, as well as for the home health quality assessment and performance improvement program. HH agencies are required to collect OASIS data on all non-maternity Medicare/Medicaid patients, 18 or over, receiving skilled services. Data are collected at specific time points (admission, resumption of care after inpatient stay, recertification every 60 days that the patient remains in care, transfer, and at discharge). HH agencies are required to encode and transmit patient OASIS data to the state OASIS repositories. Each HHA has on-line access to outcome and process measure reports based on their own OASIS data submissions, as well as comparative state and national aggregate reports, case mix reports, and potentially avoidable event reports. CMS regularly collects OASIS data from the states for storage in the national OASIS repository, and makes measures based on these data (including the Diabetic Foot Care and Education measure) available to consumers and to the general public through the Medicare Home Health Compare website. Available at measure-specific web page URL identified in S.1 Attachment OASISQM_data_dictionary-635218488803072954.xls
Level	Facility
Setting	Home Health
Time Window	CMS systems report data on episodes that end within a rolling 12 month period, updated quarterly.
Numerator Statement	Number of home health episodes where at end of episode, diabetic foot care and education specified in the care plan had been implemented.
Numerator Details	Number of patient episodes where at end of episode:-(M0100) Reason for Assessment = 6 or 7 (transfer to inpatient) or 9(discharge) AND:-(M2400a)Diabetic Foot Care Plan implemented = 1 (yes)
Denominator Statement	Number of home health episodes of care ending with a discharge or transfer to inpatient facility during the reporting period, other than those covered by generic or measure-specific exclusions.
Denominator Details	A start/resumption of care assessment ((M0100) Reason for Assessment = 1 (Start of care) or 3 (Resumption of care)) paired with a corresponding discharge/transfer assessment ((M0100) Reason for Assessment = 6 (Transfer to inpatient facility – not discharged), 7 (Transfer to inpatient facility – discharged), 8 (Death at home), or 9 (Discharge from agency)), other than those covered by denominator exclusions.
Exclusions	Episodes in which the patient was not diabetic and/or had bilateral foot/lower leg amputations. Episodes ending in patient death.
Exclusion Details	Measure Specific Exclusions: All episodes where -the patient is not diabetic OR the patient is a bilateral amputee (M2400a=NA) OR - the episode did not have a discharge or transfer to inpatient facility assessment because the

	0519 Diabetic Foot Care and Patient Education Implemented
	episode of care ended in death at home
	Generic Exclusions:
	Medicare-certified home health agencies are currently required to collect and submit OASIS data only for adult (aged 18 and over) non-maternity Medicare and Medicaid patients who are receiving skilled home health care. Therefore, maternity patients, patients less than 18 years of age, non-Medicare/Medicaid patients, and patients who are not receiving skilled home services are all excluded from the measure calculation. However, the OASIS items and related measures could potentially be used for other adult patients receiving services in a community setting, ideally with further testing. The publicly-reported data on CMS' Home Health Compare web site also repress cells with fewer than 20 observations, and reports for home health agencies in operation less than six months.
Risk Adjustment	No risk adjustment or risk stratification
-	NA - process measure
Stratification	NA - no stratification
Type Score	Rate/proportion better quality = higher score
Algorithm	For each Episode of Care, do the following:
J	IF M2400_INTRVTN_SMRY_DBTS_FT[2] = NA OR M0100_ASSMT_REASON[2] = 08 THEN
	Diabetic_Ft_Care_Implmnt_All = MISSING
	ELSE IF M2400_INTRVTN_SMRY_DBTS_FT[2] = 01
	THEN
	Diabetic_Ft_Care_ImpImnt_All = 1
	ELSEIF M2400_INTRVTN_SMRY_DBTS_FT[2] = 00
	THEN
	Diabetic_Ft_Care_Implmnt_All = 0 END IF
	Note that OASIS data items are referred to using field names specified in OASIS Data Submission Specifications published by CMS. For additional details, please consult the technical specifications available at: http://www.cms.gov/Medicare/Quality-Initiatives- Patient-Assessment-Instruments/HomeHealthQualityInits/Downloads/HHQI- Revision1TechnicalDocumentationofMeasures.zip No diagram provided
Submission items	5.1 Identified measures:
	5a.1 Are specs completely harmonized? No
	5a.2 If not completely harmonized, identify difference, rationale, impact: See response 5b1
	5b.1 If competing, why superior or rationale for additive value: We found 2 NQF-endorsed measures that deal with diabetic foot care - 0416 - Diabetic Foot & Ankle Care, Ulcer Prevention – Evaluation of Footwear, and 0417 - Diabetic Foot & Ankle Care, Peripheral Neuropathy – Neurological Evaluation but the interventions that are the focus of both of these measures would not be provided as part of the home health plan of care. There are no measures that conceptually address both the same measure focus and the same target population.

	0545 Adherence to Statins for Individuals with Diabetes Mellitus
Steward	Centers for Medicare & Medicaid
Description	The measure addresses adherence to statins. The measure is reported as the percentage of eligible individuals with diabetes mellitus who had at least two prescriptions for statins and who have a Proportion of Days Covered (PDC) of at least 0.8 during the measurement period (12 consecutive months).
Туре	Process
Data Source	 Administrative claims, Other, Electronic Clinical Data : Pharmacy For measure calculation, the following Medicare files were required: Denominator tables Prescription drug benefit (Part D) coverage tables Beneficiary file Institutional claims (Part A) Non-institutional claims (Part B)—physician carrier/non-DME Prescription drug benefit (Part D) claims
	For ACO attribution, the following were required:
	Denominator tables for Parts A and B enrollment
	• Prescription drug benefit (Part D) coverage tables
	Beneficiary file
	Institutional claims (Part A)
	Non-institutional claims (Part B)—physician carrier/non-DME
	• Prescription drug benefit (Part D) claims
	For physician group attribution, the following were required:
	Non-institutional claims (Part B)—physician carrier/non-DME
	Denominator tables to determine individual enrollment
	• Beneficiary file or coverage table to determine hospice benefit and Medicare as secondary payor status
	CMS physician and physician specialty tables
	National Plan & Provider Enumeration System (NPPES) database
	No data collection instrument provided Attachment NQF0545Codes_Tablestatins.xls
Level	Clinician : Group/Practice, Health Plan, Integrated Delivery System, Population : State
Setting	Ambulatory Care : Clinician Office/Clinic
Time Window	The time period for data is defined as any time during the measurement period (12 consecutive months).
Numerator Statement	Individuals in the denominator with at least two prescriptions for statins with a PDC of at least 0.8 for statins.
Numerator	The numerator is defined as individuals with a PDC of 0.8 or greater.
Details	The PDC is calculated as follows:
	• PDC Numerator: The PDC numerator is the sum of the days covered by the days' supply of all drug claims in each respective drug class. The period covered by the PDC starts on the day the first prescription is filled (index date) and lasts through the end of the measurement period, or death, whichever comes first. For prescriptions with a days' supply that extends beyond the end of the measurement period, count only the days for which the drug was available to the individual during the measurement period. If there are prescriptions for the same drug (generic name) on the same date of service, keep the prescription with the largest days' supply. If prescriptions for the same drug (generic name) overlap, then adjust the prescription

	0545 Adherence to Statins for Individuals with Diabetes Mellitus
	start date to be the day after the previous fill has ended.
	• PDC Denominator: The PDC denominator is the number of days from the first prescription date through the end of the measurement period, or death date, whichever comes first.
Denominator Statement	Individuals at least 18 years of age as of the beginning of the measurement period with diabetes mellitus and at least two prescriptions for statins during the measurement period (12 consecutive months).
Denominator	Target population meets the following conditions:
Details	1. Continuously enrolled in Part D with no more than a one-month gap in enrollment during the measurement year;
	2. Continuously enrolled in Part A and Part B with no more than a one-month gap in Part A enrollment and no more than a one-month gap in Part B enrollment during the measurement year; and,
	3. No more than one month of HMO enrollment during the measurement year. IDENTIFICATION OF DIABETES MELLITUS
	Individuals with diabetes mellitus are identified using diagnosis codes and/or drug proxy to identify diabetes mellitus within the inpatient or outpatient claims data.* Individuals must have:
	At least two encounters with a principal or secondary diagnosis of diabetes with different dates of service in an outpatient setting or non-acute inpatient setting during the measurement period;
	OR
	At least one encounter with a principal or secondary diagnosis of diabetes in an acute inpatient or emergency department setting during the measurement period;
	OR At least one ambulatory prescription claim for insulin or other oral diabetes medication dispensed during the measurement period.
	*Adapted from NCQA HEDIS 2012 (2012). Note: HEDIS uses a look-back period of one year for both the prescription data and diagnosis.
	Table 1. Codes Used to Identify Diabetes Mellitus Diagnosis
	ICD-9-CM: 250.xx, 357.2, 362.01, 362.02, 362.03, 362.04, 362.05, 362.06, 362.07, 366.41, 648.00, 648.01, 648.02, 648.03, 648.04
	ICD-10-CM: E08.311, E08.319, E08.321, E08.329, E08.331, E08.339, E08.341, E08.349, E08.351, E08.359, E08.40, E08.42, E09.311, E09.319, E09.321, E09.329, E09.331, E09.339, E09.341, E09.349, E09.351, E09.359, E09.36, E09.40, E09.42, E10.10, E10.11, E10.21, E10.22, E10.29, E10.311, E10.319, E10.321, E10.329, E10.331, E10.339, E10.341, E10.349, E10.351, E10.359,
	E10.36, E10.39, E10.40, E10.41, E10.42, E10.43, E10.44, E10.49, E10.51, E10.52, E10.59, E10.610, E10.618, E10.620, E10.621, E10.622, E10.628, E10.630, E10.638, E10.641, E10.649, E10.65, E10.69, E10.8, E10.9, E11.00, E11.01, E11.21, E11.22, E11.29, E11.311, E11.319,
	E11.321, E11.329, E11.331, E11.339, E11.341, E11.349, E11.351, E11.359, E11.36, E11.39, E11.40, E11.41, E11.42, E11.43, E11.44, E11.49, E11.51, E11.52, E11.59, E11.610, E11.618, E11.620, E11.621, E11.622, E11.628, E11.630, E11.638, E11.641, E11.649, E11.65, E11.69, E11.620, E11.621, E11.621, E12.24, E
	E11.8, E11.9, E13.00, E13.01, E13.10, E13.11, E13.21, E13.22, E13.29, E13.311, E13.319, E13.321, E13.329, E13.331, E13.339, E13.341, E13.349, E13.351, E13.359, E13.36, E13.39, E13.40, E13.41, E13.42, E13.43, E13.44, E13.49, E13.51, E13.52, E13.59, E13.610, E13.618, E13.40, E13.41, E13.42, E13.43, E13.44, E13.49, E13.51, E13.52, E13.59, E13.610, E13.618, E13.40, E13.41, E13.42, E13.43, E13.44, E13.49, E13.51, E13.52, E13.51, E1
	E13.620, E13.621, E13.622, E13.628, E13.630, E13.638, E13.641, E13.649, E13.65, E13.69, E13.8, E13.9, O24.011, O24.012, O24.013, O24.019, O24.02, O24.03, O24.111, O24.112, O24.113, O24.119, O24.12, O24.13, O24.311, O24.312, O24.313, O24.319, O24.32, O24.33, O24.811, O24.812, O24.813, O24.819, O24.82, O24.83, O24.911, O24.912, O24.913, O24.919,

0545 Adherence to Statins for Individuals with Diabetes Mellitus
024.92, 024.93
DRG: 637,638
Codes Used to Identify Encounter Type
Table 2.1. Outpatient Setting
CPT: 92002, 92004, 92012, 92014, 99201-99205, 99211-99215, 99217-99220, 99241-99245, 99341-99345, 99347-99350, 99384-99387, 99394-99397, 99401-99404, 99411, 99412, 99420, 99429, 99455, 99456
UB-92 revenue: 051x, 0520-0523, 0526-0529, 057x-059x, 077x, 082x-085x, 088x, 0982, 0983
Table 2.2 Non-Acute Inpatient
CPT: 99304-99310, 99315, 99316, 99318, 99324-99328, 99334-99337
UB-92 revenue: 0118, 0128, 0138, 0148, 0158, 019x, 0524, 0525, 055x, 066x
Table 2.3 Acute Inpatient
CPT: 99221-99223, 99224-99226, 99231-99233, 99238, 99239, 99251-99255, 99291
UB-92 revenue: 010x, 0110-0114, 0119, 0120-0124, 0129, 0130-0134, 0139, 0140-0144, 0149, 0150-0154, 0159, 016x, 020x-022x, 072x, 080x, 0987
Table 2.4 Emergency Department
CPT: 99281-99285
UB-92 revenue: 045x, 0981
The following are the diabetic medications by class for the denominator. The route of administration includes all oral and injectable formulations of the medications listed below.
Table 3. Codes Used to Identify Diabetic Individuals
Alpha-glucosidase inhibitors:
acarbose
miglitol
Anti-diabetic amylin analogs:
pramlintide
Anti-diabetic combinations:
alogliptin-metformin
alogliptin-pioglitazone
glipizide-metformin
glyburide-metformin
pioglitazone-glimepiride
pioglitazone-metformin
rosiglitazone-glimepiride
rosiglitazone-metformin
saxagliptin-metformin
sitagliptin-metformin
repaglinide-metformin
sitagliptin-simvastatin
linagliptin- metformin
Dipeptidyl peptidase-4 (dpp-4) inhibitors:
alogliptin
sitagliptin,
saxagliptin,

0545 Adherence to Statins for Individuals with Diabetes Mellitus
linagliptin
Incretin mimetics:
exenatide
liraglutide
Insulin:
insulin aspart
insulin aspart
protamine & aspart (human)
insulin detemir
insulin glargine
insulin glulisine
insulin isophane & reg (human)
insulin isophane (human)
insulin lispro (human)
insulin lispro protamine & lispro (human)
insulin regular (human)
Meglitinides:
nateglinide
repaglinide
Sodium-glucose cotransporter 2 Inhibitors:
canagliflozin
Sulfonylureas:
chlorpropamide
glimepiride
glipizide
glyburide
tolazamide
tolbutamide
glyburide micronized
Thiazolidinediones:
pioglitazone
rosiglitazone
The following are the statin medications by class for the denominator. The route of administration includes all oral formulations of the medications listed below.
Table 4. Statin Medications
HMG-COA reductase inhibitors (statins):
atorvastatin
fluvastatin
lovastatin
pitavastatin
pravastatin
rosuvastatin
simvastatin
HMG-COA reductase inhibitors (statins) combinations:

	0545 Adherence to Statins for Individuals with Diabetes Mellitus
	amlodipine-atorvastatin
	ezetimibe-atorvastatin
	ezetimibe-simvastatin
	niacin-lovastatin
	niacin-simvastatin
	sitagliptin-simvastatin
Exclusions	We excluded the following individuals from the denominator:
	Individuals with polycystic ovaries, gestational diabetes, or steroid-induced diabetes who do not have a face-to-face visit with a diagnosis of diabetes in any setting during the measurement period.
	Exclusion 1
	Individuals with a diagnosis of polycystic ovaries who do not have a visit with a diagnosis of diabetes in any setting during the measurement period*; and,
	Exclusion 2
	Individuals with a diagnosis of gestational diabetes or steroid-induced diabetes who do not have a visit with a diagnosis of diabetes mellitus in any setting during the measurement period.
	*Adapted from NCQA HEDIS 2013 (2013). Note: HEDIS uses a look-back period of one year prior to the measurement period for both the prescription data and diagnosis.
Exclusion Details	Table 5. Diagnostic Exclusions for Diabetes Denominator
	Exclusion 1
	Polycystic Ovaries
	ICD-9-CM: 256.4
	ICD-10-CM: E28.2
	Exclusion 2
	Steroid-Induced Diabetes
	ICD-9-CM: 249.xx, 251.8, 962.0
	ICD-10-CM: E08.00, E08.01, E08.10, E08.11, E08.21, E08.22, E08.29, E08.311, E08.319, E08.321, E08.329, E08.331, E08.339, E08.341, E08.349, E08.351, E08.359, E08.36, E08.39, E08.40, E08.41, E08.42, E08.43, E08.44, E08.49, E08.51, E08.52, E08.59, E08.610, E08.618, E08.620, E08.621, E08.622, E08.628, E08.630, E08.638, E08.641, E08.649, E08.65, E08.69, E08.8, E08.9, E09.00, E09.01, E09.10, E09.11, E09.21, E09.22, E09.29, E09.311, E09.319, E09.321, E09.329, E09.331, E09.339, E09.341, E09.349, E09.51, E09.52, E09.59, E09.610, E09.618, E09.620, E09.621, E09.622, E09.628, E09.630, E09.638, E09.641, E09.649, E09.65, E09.69, E09.8, E09.9, E16.8, T38.0X1A, T38.0X2A, T38.0X3A, T38.0X4A, T50.0X1A, T50.0X2A, T50.0X3A, T50.0X4A
	Gestational Diabetes
	ICD-9-CM: 648.80, 648.81, 648.82, 648.83, 648.84
	ICD-10-CM: O24.410, O24.414, O24.419, O24.420, O24.424, O24.429, O24.430, O24.434, O24.439, O99.810, O99.814, O99.815
Risk Adjustment	No risk adjustment or risk stratification Not applicable
Stratification	Depending on the operational use of the measure, measure results may be stratified by:

	0545 Adherence to Statins for Individuals with Diabetes Mellitus
	 Accountable Care Organizations (ACOs)* Plan Physician Group Age - Divided into 6 categories: 18-24, 25-44, 45-64, 65-74, 75-84, and 85+ years Race/Ethnicity Dual Eligibility *ACO attribution methodology is based on where the beneficiary is receiving the plurality of his/her primary care services and subsequently assigned to the participating providers.
Type Score	Rate/proportion better quality = higher score
Algorithm	To calculate Adherence to Statins for Individuals with Diabetes Mellitus, Medicare administrative claims data and related files, as described in detail in Section S.24, will be required. Denominator: Individuals at least 18 years of age as of the beginning of the measurement period with diabetes mellitus and at least two prescriptions for statins during the measurement period (12 consecutive months).
	Create Denominator 1. Pull individuals who are 18 years of age or older as of the beginning of the measurement period.
	2. Include individuals who were continuously enrolled in Part D coverage during the measurement year, with no more than a one-month gap in enrollment during the measurement year, or up until their death date if they died during the measurement period.
	3. Include individuals who had no more than a one-month gap in Part A enrollment, no more than a one-month gap in Part B enrollment, and no more than one month of HMO enrollment during the current measurement period (FFS individuals only).
	4. Of those individuals identified in Step 3, keep those who had:
	At least two face-to-face encounters with a principal or secondary diagnosis of diabetes with different dates of service in an outpatient setting or non-acute inpatient setting during the measurement period; OR
	At least one face-to-face encounter with a principal or secondary diagnosis of diabetes in an acute inpatient setting or emergency department setting during the measurement period; OR
	At least one ambulatory prescription claim for insulin or other oral diabetes medication dispensed during the measurement period.
	5. Of the individuals identified in Step 4, exclude those with a diagnosis of polycystic ovaries, gestational diabetes, or steroid-induced diabetes who do not have at least one face-to-face visit with a diagnosis of diabetes in any setting during the measurement period.
	6. Pull all Part D claims for statins. Attach generic name and drug ID to the dataset.
	7a. Keep individuals with at least two claims for a drug in the statin class on different dates of service during the measurement period.
	7b. Of the individuals not excluded in Step 5, keep those that are also in the statins class dataset created in Step 7a. This is the denominator.
	7c. For each individual in the dataset created in Step 7b, identify the date of the first prescription in the measurement period as the index event.
	Numerator: Individuals in the denominator with at least two prescriptions for statins with a PDC of at least 0.8 for statins.

	0545 Adherence to Statins for Individuals with Diabetes Mellitus
	Create Numerator For the individuals in the denominator, calculate the PDC for each individual according to the following methods:
	 Determine the individual's measurement period, defined as the number of days from the index prescription date through the end of the measurement year, or death, whichever comes first. Index date is the date of the first statin prescription in the measurement period.
	2. Within the measurement period, count the days the individual was covered by at least one drug in the statin class based on the prescription fill date and days of supply.
	a. Pull Part D claims for drugs in the respective drug class for individuals in the denominators. Attach drug ID and generic name to the datasets.
	b. Sort and de-duplicate claims by beneficiary ID, service date, generic name, and descending days' supply. If prescriptions for the same drug (generic name) are dispensed on the same date of service for an individual, keep the dispensing with the largest days' supply.
	c. Calculate the number of days covered per individual for each drug class.
	i. For prescriptions with a days' supply that extends beyond the end of the measurement period, count only the days for which the drug was available to the individual during the measurement period.
	ii. If prescriptions for the same drug (generic name) overlap, then adjust the prescription start date to be the day after the previous fill has ended.
	iii. If prescriptions for different drugs (different generic names) overlap, do not adjust the prescription start date.
	3. Calculate the PDC for each individual. Divide the number of covered days found in Step 2 by the number of days in the individual's measurement period found in Step 1.
	An example of SAS code for Steps 1-3 was adapted from PQA and is also available at the URL: http://www2.sas.com/proceedings/forum2007/043-2007.pdf.
	4. Of the individuals identified in Numerator Step 3, count the number of individuals with a calculated PDC of at least 0.8 for the statins class. This is the numerator. Available in attached appendix at A.1
Submission items	5.1 Identified measures: 0055 : Comprehensive Diabetes Care: Eye Exam (retinal) performed 0056 : Diabetes: Foot Exam
	0057 : Comprehensive Diabetes Care: Hemoglobin A1c (HbA1c) testing
	0059 : Comprehensive Diabetes Care: Hemoglobin A1c (HbA1c) Poor Control (>9.0%)
	0061 : Comprehensive Diabetes Care: Blood Pressure Control (<140/90 mm Hg)
	0062 : Comprehensive Diabetes Care: Medical Attention for Nephropathy
	0063 : Comprehensive Diabetes Care: LDL-C Screening
	0064 : Comprehensive Diabetes Care: LDL-C Control <100 mg/dL
	0417 : Diabetic Foot & Ankle Care, Peripheral Neuropathy – Neurological Evaluation
	0541 : Proportion of Days Covered (PDC): 3 Rates by Therapeutic Category 0542 : Adherence to Chronic Medications
	0543 : Adherence to Statin Therapy for Individuals with Coronary Artery Disease
	0569 : ADHERENCE TO STATINS
	0575 : Comprehensive Diabetes Care: Hemoglobin A1c (HbA1c) Control (<8.0%)
	0604 : Adult(s) with diabetes mellitus that had a serum creatinine in last 12 reported months.
	0619 : Diabetes with Hypertension or Proteinuria - Use of an ACE Inhibitor or ARB
	0630 : Diabetes and Elevated HbA1C – Use of Diabetes Medications
	1879 : Adherence to Antipsychotic Medications for Individuals with Schizophrenia

0545 Adherence to Statins for Individuals with Diabetes Mellitus
0416 : Diabetic Foot & Ankle Care, Ulcer Prevention – Evaluation of Footwear
5a.1 Are specs completely harmonized? No
5a.1 Are specs completely harmonized? No 5a.2 If not completely harmonized, identify difference, rationale, impact: NQF 0545 is related to and completely harmonized with the four NQF-endorsed measure that use the Proportion of Days Covered (PDC) method of calculating adherence. These four measures include one NQF-endorsed measure by PQA (NQF 0541) and three NQF-endorsed measures by CMS (NQF 0542, 0543, and 1879). For the related measures that are not completely harmonized with NQF 0545, the following sections identify differences between these measures and NQF 0545, rationale, and impact on interpretability, and data collection burden. Diabetes Measures by National Committee for Quality Assurance (NCQA) and Optum - NQF 0545 has the same target population (i.e., individuals with diabetes mellitus) as the nine Diabetes Measures developed by the National Committee for Quality Assurance (NCQA) and one measure developed by Optum. The nine NCQA measures (NQF 0055, 0056, 0057, 0059, 0061, 0062, 0063, 0064, and 0075) and the Optum measure (NQF 0604) are related to, but are not completely harmonized with, NQF 0545. Differences Between NQF 0545 and NCQA and Optum Diabetes Measures - Identification of Individuals with Diabetes Mellitus: NQF 0545 uses the same algorithm for identifying individuals with diabetes as the NCQA and Optum Diabetes Measures, which entails using diagnosis codes and/or drug proxy to identify diabetes mellitus within the inpatient or outpatient claims data. However, NQF 0545 uses only claims for the 12-month measurement period, whereas the NCQA and Optum Diabetes Measures use a look-back period of one year for both the prescription data and diagnosis data. In addition, the Optum measure (NQF 0604) also uses a Disease Registry Input File, if available, to identify patients with diabetes mellitus. Age of Individuals Included in the Measure: NQF 0545 includes individuals who are at least 18 years of age and older as of the beginning of the measurement year, whereas the NCQA and Optum Diabetes Measures,
claims or encounter data, so the data collection burden should be similar. The Optum Diabetes measure uses a Disease Registry Input File, if available, and therefore, may require more time
and resources than administrative data to identify patients with diabetes mellitus. Diabetes Measures by American Podiatric Medical Association (APMA) - NQF 0545 has the same target population (i.e., individuals with diabetes mellitus) as the two Diabetes Measures by the
APMA (NQF 416 and 417). These two APMA measures are related to, but are not completely harmonized with NQF 0545. Differences Between NQF 0545 and APMA Diabetes Measures -
Identification of Individuals with Diabetes Mellitus: NQF 0545 uses a different algorithm for identifying individuals with diabetes than the APMA Diabetes Measures. NQF 0545 requires two outpatient or nonacute inpatient visits or one acute inpatient or emergency department
visit or a prescription claim for insulin or other anti-diabetic medication. However, the APMA Diabetes Measures require only one claim for an outpatient visit or a nonacute inpatient visit
or a selected procedure with a diagnosis of diabetes mellitus, but they do not use acute inpatient data or pharmacy data for identifying individuals with diabetes. Rationale - NQF

0545 Adherence to Statins for Individuals with Diabetes Mellitus
0545 requires two claims so the coded outpatient or nonacute inpatient diagnosis is confirmed. Using only one outpatient diagnosis could lead to including individuals who do not actually have diabetes. NQF 0545 uses acute inpatient and pharmacy data in the definition of
diabetes, in addition to outpatient and nonacute inpatient data, to capture as many individuals with a diagnosis of diabetes as possible. Impact on interpretability - Requiring two
claims for an outpatient or nonacute inpatient diagnosis of diabetes will eliminate individuals who received a diagnosis of diabetes in error, or if it was coded as a rule-out diagnosis. If the additional data sources (i.e., acute inpatient data and pharmacy data) are not used, only
individuals who have an outpatient or nonacute inpatient diagnosis of diabetes would be included in the denominator; those with only an inpatient admission or a prescription for diabetes would not be included. This might result in missing individuals with diabetes. Data collection burden - The target populations of NQF 0545 and the APMA Diabetes measures
both are identified using administrative claims or encounter data, so the data collection burden should be similar. Diabetes Measures by ActiveHealth Management - NQF 0545 has
the same target population (i.e., individuals with diabetes mellitus) as two Diabetes Measures by ActiveHealth Management, NQF 0619 and 0630. These two ActiveHealth Management measures are related to, but are not completely harmonized with, NQF 0545. Differences
Between NQF 0545 and ActiveHealth Management Diabetes Measures - Identification of Individuals with Diabetes Mellitus: NQF 0545 uses an algorithm for identifying individuals with diabetes, which entails using diagnosis codes and/or drug proxy to identify diabetes mellitus
within the inpatient or outpatient claims data during the 12-month measurement period. The two ActiveHealth Management Diabetes Measures require four diabetes mellitus diagnoses from administrative claims in the past 12 months, one diabetes mellitus diagnosis from
electronic clinical data anytime in the past, one diabetes mellitus diagnosis in the electronic personal health record, or one diabetes mellitus diagnosis from administrative claims in the
past five years plus filled prescriptions for diabetes medications, insulin, or a HbA1C value in the past 12 months. In addition, the target populations in the two ActiveHealth Management Diabetes Measures are further restricted either to those with diabetes mellitus and
hypertension or proteinuria (NQF 0619), or to those with diabetes mellitus and at least one elevated HbA1C in the past six months (NQF 0630). Age of Individuals Included in the Measure: NQF 0545 includes individuals who are at least 18 years of age as of the beginning of
the measurement year, whereas the ActiveHealth Management Diabetes Measures include individuals who are 18-75 years of age. Rationale - The target population of NQF 0545 is
defined on the basis of a diagnosis of diabetes mellitus and either at least two prescriptions of statins. This denominator definition of NQF 0545 limits the measure to those individuals who have been on the medication long enough for the prescribing provider to determine that
statin therapy is appropriate for the patient and is tolerated. NQF 0545 includes individuals 18 years and older, rather than 18-75 years for the ActiveHealth Management Diabetes measures, because many Medicare beneficiaries are over 75 years of age, and the guideline
recommendations do not restrict to the 18-75 age group. Impact on interpretability - NQF 0545 is easier to interpret than the ActiveHealth Management Diabetes measures because it estimates adherence to medications among individuals with diabetes mellitus who have had
at least two prescriptions, and it includes all adults 18 years and older. Data collection burden - NQF 0545 is based on administrative claims data. The ActiveHealth Management Diabetes
measures are based on multiple data sources (e.g., administrative claims, electronic clinical data, patient data from electronic personal health records and feedback, provider survey). Therefore, NQF 0545 presents less of a data collection burden. NQF 0569 Adherence to
Statins (Health Benchmark-IMS Health) - NQF 0545 and 0569 address the same measure focus (i.e., adherence to statin therapy), but NQF 0569 has a different target population (i.e., diabetes, hyperlipidemia, and CAD). Differences Between NQF 0545 and NQF 569 - NQF 0545 uses the PDC methodology rather than MPR. The PDC used in NQF 0545 provides a more

0545 Adherence to Statins for Individuals with Diabetes Mellitus
conservative estimate of adherence when a patient might be switching among several medications for the same indication or using multiple medications within a single class (Nau, undated) than the MPR used by NQF 0569. The PDC provides a better estimate of adherence under these circumstances. NQF 0569 excludes "new users of a statin that started after the first three months of the measurement year." NQF 0545 covers the entire 12-month measurement period. The impact of the exclusion used in NQF 0569 would be to limit the measure to those who have at least 9 months of data. Rationale - NQF 0545 is intended as a statin adherence measure for all patients with diabetes. Impact on interpretability - NQF 0545 is easier to interpret than NQF 569 because it calculates adherence for all patients with diabetes, rather than those with diabetes and other indications. Data collection burden - There are no differences in data collection burden. Citation for 5a.2 - Nau, D. P. (undated). Proportion of Days Covered (PDC) as a Preferred Method of Measuring Medication Adherence. Pharmacy Quality Alliance. Retrieved November 12, 2013 from http://www.pqaalliance.org/images/uploads/files/PQA%20PDC%20vs%20%20MPR.pdf
5b.1 If competing, why superior or rationale for additive value: Not applicable

	0575 Comprehensive Diabetes Care: Hemoglobin A1c (HbA1c) Control (<8.0%)
Steward	National Committee for Quality Assurance
Description	The percentage of patients 18-75 years of age with diabetes (type 1 and type 2) whose most recent HbA1c level is <8.0% during the measurement year.
Туре	Outcome
Data Source	 Administrative claims, Electronic Clinical Data, Electronic Clinical Data : Laboratory, Paper Medical Records, Electronic Clinical Data : Pharmacy This measure is based on administrative claims and medical record documentation collected in the course of providing care to health plan patients. NCQA collects the Healthcare Effectiveness Data and Information Set (HEDIS) data for this measure directly from Health Management Organizations and Preferred Provider Organizations via NCQA's online data submission system. No data collection instrument provided Attachment 0575_CDC_HbA1c_Control_Value_Sets- 635219475215342352.xlsx
Level	Clinician : Group/Practice, Health Plan, Clinician : Individual, Integrated Delivery System
	Ambulatory Care : Clinician Office/Clinic
Setting Time Window	Measurement year (12-month period)
Numerator Statement	Patients whose most recent HbA1c level is less than 8.0% during the measurement year. The outcome is a result of an HbA1c test, indicating desirable control of diabetes. Poor control puts the individual at risk for complications including renal failure, blindness, and neurologic damage. There is no need for risk adjustment for this intermediate outcome.
Numerator Details	ADMINISTRATIVE CLAIMS: Due to the extensive volume of codes associated with identifying numerator events for this measure, we are attaching a separate file with code value sets. See code value sets located in question S.2b.
	MEDICAL RECORD: At a minimum, documentation in the medical record must include a note indicating the date when the HbA1c test was performed and the result. The patient is numerator compliant if the result for the most recent HbA1c level during the measurement year is <8.0%. The patient is not numerator compliant if the result for the most recent HbA1c level during the measurement year is >8.0% or is missing, or if an HbA1c test was not performed during the measurement year. Ranges and thresholds do not meet criteria for this measure. A distinct numeric result is required for numerator compliance.
Denominator Statement	Patients 18-75 years of age by the end of the measurement year who had a diagnosis of diabetes (type 1 or type 2) during the measurement year or the year prior to the measurement year.
Denominator Details	Patients with diabetes can be identified two ways: CLAIM/ENCOUNTER DATA:
	-Patients who had at least two outpatient visits, observation visits or nonacute inpatient encounters on different dates of service, with a diagnosis of diabetes. Visit type need not be the same for the two visits.
	-Patients with at least one acute inpatient encounter with a diagnosis of diabetes.
	-Patients with at least one ED visit with a diagnosis of diabetes.
	*SEE ATTACHED EXCEL FILE FOR CODE VALUE SETS INCLUDED IN QUESTION S.2B PHARMACY DATA:
	Patients who were dispensed insulin or hypoglycemics/antihyperglycemics on an ambulatory basis during the measurement year or the year prior to the measurement year (Table CDC-A). PRESCRIPTIONS TO IDENTIFY PATIENTS WITH DIABETES (TABLE CDC-A):
	Alpha-glucosidase inhibitors:
	Acarbose, Miglitol

	0575 Comprehensive Diabetes Care: Hemoglobin A1c (HbA1c) Control (<8.0%)
	Amylin analogs:
	Pramlinitide
	Antidiabetic combinations:
	Glimepiride-pioglitazone, Glimepiride-rosiglitazone, Glipizide-metformin, Glyburide- metformin, Linagliptin-metaformin, Metformin-pioglitazone, Metformin-rosiglitazone, Metaformin-saxagliptin, Metformin-sitagliptin, Saxagliptin, Sitagliptin-simvastatin Insulin:
	Insulin aspart, Insulin aspart-insulin aspart protamine, Insulin detemir, Insulin glargine, Insulin glulisine, Insulin inhalation, Insulin isophane beef-pork, Insulin isophane human, Insulin isophane-insulin regular, Insulin lispro, Insulin lispro-insulin lispro protamine, Insulin regular human
	Meglitinides:
	Nateglinide, Repaglinide
	Miscellaneous antidiabetic agents:
	Exenatide, Linagliptin, Liraglutide, Metformin-repaglinide, Sitagliptin
	Sodium glucose cotransporter 2 (SGLT2) inhibitor:
	Canagliflozin
	Sulfonylureas:
	Acetohexamide, Chlorpropamide, Glimepiride, Glipizide, Glyburide, Tolazamide, Tolbutamide
	Thiazolidinediones:
	Pioglitazone, Rosiglitazone
Exclusions	Exclusions (optional):
	-Exclude patients who did not have a diagnosis of diabetes, in any setting, during the measurement year or the year prior to the measurement year.
	-Exclude patients who meet either of the following criteria:-A diagnosis of polycystic ovaries, in any setting, any time in the patient's history through
	December 31 of the measurement year.
	-A diagnosis of gestational or steroid-induced diabetes, in any setting, during the
	measurement year or the year prior to the measurement year.
Exclusion Details	ADMINISTRATIVE CLAIMS: Due to the extensive volume of codes associated with identifying the denominator for this measure, we are attaching a separate file with code value sets. See code value sets located in question S.2b.
	MEDICAL RECORD:
	-Exclusionary evidence in the medical record must include a note indicating the patient did not have a diagnosis of diabetes, in any setting, during the measurement year or the year prior to the measurement year and had a diagnosis of polycystic ovaries any time in the patient's history through December 31 of the measurement year.
	instory through December 51 of the measurement year.
	OP
	OR -Exclusionary evidence in the medical record must include a note indicating the patient did not have a diagnosis of diabetes, in any setting, during the measurement year or the year prior to the measurement year and a diagnosis of gestational or steroid-induced diabetes, in any setting, during the measurement year or the year prior to the measurement year
Risk Adjustment	-Exclusionary evidence in the medical record must include a note indicating the patient did not have a diagnosis of diabetes, in any setting, during the measurement year or the year prior to

	0575 Comprehensive Diabetes Care: Hemoglobin A1c (HbA1c) Control (<8.0%)
Stratification	N/A
Type Score	Rate/proportion better quality = higher score
Algorithm	STEP 1. Determine the eligible population. To do so, identify patients who meet all the specified criteria. -AGES: 18-75 years as of December 31 of the measurement year.
	-EVENT/DIAGNOSIS: Identify patients with diabetes in two ways: by claim/encounter data and by pharmacy data. Claim/Encounter Data:
	-Patients who had at least two outpatient visits, observation visits or nonacute inpatient encounters on different dates of service, with a diagnosis of diabetes. Visit type need not be the same for the two visits.
	-Patients with at least one acute inpatient encounter with a diagnosis of diabetes.
	-Patients with at least one ED visit with a diagnosis of diabetes.
	*SEE ATTACHED EXCEL FILE FOR CODE VALUE SETS INCLUDED IN QUESTION S.2B Pharmacy Data:
	Patients who were dispensed insulin or hypoglycemics/antihyperglycemics on an ambulatory basis during the measurement year or the year prior to the measurement year. *SEE PRESCRIPTIONS TO IDENTIFY PATIENTS WITH DIABETES IN S.9
	STEP 2. Determine the number of patients in the eligible population who had a recent HbA1c test result during the measurement year through the search of administrative data systems. STEP 3. Identify patients with a most recent HbA1c test performed and the result.
	STEP 4. Identify the most recent result with an HbA1c level <8.0% (numerator compliant). Identify the most recent result with an HbA1c level >=8.0%, a missing result or no HbA1c test done during the measurement year (not numerator compliant).
	STEP 5. Exclude from the eligible population patients from step 2 for whom administrative system data identified an exclusion to the service/procedure being measured. *SEE DENOMINATOR EXCLUSION CRITERIA IN QUESTION S.10
	STEP 6. Calculate the rate (number of patients with HbA1c control <8.0%). No diagram provided
Submission items	5.1 Identified measures: 0024 : Weight Assessment and Counseling for Nutrition and Physical Activity for Children/Adolescents (WCC)
	5a.1 Are specs completely harmonized? No
	5a.2 If not completely harmonized, identify difference, rationale, impact: Measure 0575 is a single measure that uses health plan reported data to assess the percentage of patients 18-75 years of age with diabetes (type 1 and type 2) whose most recent HbA1c level is <8.0%. Measure 0729 is a composite measure that uses physician reported data to assess the percentage of adult diabetes patients who have optimally managed modifiable risk factors (A1c, LDL, blood pressure, tobacco non-use and daily aspirin usage for patients with diagnosis of ischemic vascular disease). HARMONIZED MEASURE ELEMENTS: Both measures focus on an adult patient population 18-75 years with diabetes. Both measures assess whether the patient had a target HbA1c level <8.0%. Both measures include visit criteria in the last two years to be included in the denominator. UNHARMONIZED MEASURE ELEMENTS: -Data Source: Measure 0575 is collected through use of administrative claims and/or medical record. Measure 0729 is collected through medical record abstractionLevel of Accountability:

0575 Comprehensive Diabetes Care: Hemoglobin A1c (HbA1c) Control (<8.0%)
recognition programs. Measure 0729 is a physician level measure and therefore only includes only patients who had an office visit with a reporting providerExclusions: Measure 0575 includes denominator exclusions for those without a diagnosis of diabetes in the last two years in any setting and a diagnosis of polycystic ovaries in measurement year or diagnosis of gestational or steroid-induced diabetes in the last two years. Measure 0729 includes denominator exclusions for patients with only one visit in the last two years, patients who were pregnant, patients who died, or patients who were in hospice or permanently living in a nursing home. IMPACT ON INTERPRETABILITY AND DATA COLLECTION BURDEN: The differences between these measures do not have an impact on interpretability of publically reported rates. Measure 0575 is collected at the health plan level and the sample does not allow for calculation of a provider specific rate. Measure 0729 is collected at the provider level and is not reported by enough providers to allow for aggregation to the health plan level. There is no added burden of data collection because the data for each measure is collected from different data sources by different entities.
5b.1 If competing, why superior or rationale for additive value: N/A

	2362 Glycemic Control - Hyperglycemia
Steward	Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services
Description	Average percentage of hyperglycemic hospital days for individuals with a diagnosis of diabetes mellitus, anti-diabetic drugs (except metformin) administered, or at least one elevated glucose level during the hospital stay
Туре	Outcome
Data Source	Electronic Clinical Data, Electronic Clinical Data : Electronic Health Record, Electronic Clinical Data : Laboratory, Electronic Clinical Data : Pharmacy • Hospital electronic health record (EHR) data
	• For measure calculation, the following EHR data were required:
	o Inpatient (IP) Master Patient file with demographic, diagnostic, and procedural information for inpatients
	o Glucose test file with the names, results, and times of glucose tests for both laboratory and point-of-care testing
	o Medication administration records (MARs) for anti-diabetic drugs
	o Location file with the care units and the start and end times of patients' stays
	No data collection instrument provided Attachment Hyperglycemia_value_sets.xls
Level	Facility
Setting	Hospital/Acute Care Facility
Time Window	Measure data will be aggregated annually (12 months) and reported on a rolling quarter.
Numerator Statement	Sum of the percentage of hospital days in hyperglycemia for each admission in the denominator
Numerator Details	 Hyperglycemic hospital days are defined as days in which: 1. Two or more blood glucose levels were elevated (>200 mg/dL [11.1 mmol/L]), measured at least six hours apart; Or 2. A single blood glucose level was elevated, if only one value was available that day; Or 3. No blood glucose level was measured that day, and it was not preceded by two normoglycemic days.
Denominator Statement	Total number of admissions with a diagnosis of diabetes mellitus, at least one administration of insulin or any anti-diabetic medication except metformin, or at least one elevated blood glucose value (>200 mg/dL [11.1 mmol/L]) at any time during the entir
Denominator Details	 For each admission, hospital days included in the analysis are the first 10 calendar days during the hospital stay after excluding: The 1st day (date of admission), if the patient is admitted before noon The 1st and 2nd day, if the patient is admitted after noon or the patient is admitted before
	 noon with the first glucose level >400 mg/dL The 1st, 2nd, and 3rd day, if the patient is admitted after noon with the first glucose level
	>400 mg/dL • The day of discharge
	For cardiothoracic (CT) surgery patients, the calendar days adjacent to the time period from operating room (OR) start time until OR end time plus 18 hours are removed from the analysis.
	Table 1.1. Identification of Diabetes Mellitus ICD-9-CM: 250.xx

2362 Glycemic Control - Hyperglycemia
 ICD-10-CM: E10.10, E10.11, E10.21, E10.22, E10.29, E10.311, E10.319, E10.321, E10.329, E10.331, E10.339, E10.341, E10.349, E10.351, E10.359, E10.36, E10.39, E10.40, E10.41, E10.42, E10.43, E10.44, E10.49, E10.51, E10.52, E10.59, E10.610, E10.618, E10.620, E10.621, E10.622, E10.628, E10.630, E10.638, E10.641, E10.649, E10.65, E10.69, E10.8, E10.9, E11.00, E11.01, E11.21, E11.22, E11.29, E11.311, E11.319, E11.321, E11.329, E11.331, E11.339, E11.341, E11.349, E11.351, E11.359, E11.60, E11.618, E11.620, E11.621, E11.622, E11.628, E11.630, E11.638, E11.641, E11.649, E11.65, E11.69, E11.8, E11.9, E13.00, E13.01, E13.10, E13.11, E13.21, E13.22, E13.29, E13.311, E13.319, E13.321, E13.329, E13.331, E13.339, E13.341, E13.349, E13.351, E13.359, E13.66, E13.39, E13.40, E13.41, E13.42, E13.43, E13.44, E13.49, E13.51, E13.52, E13.59, E13.610, E13.618, E13.620, E13.621, E13.622, E13.628, E13.630, E13.638, E13.641, E13.649, E13.65, E13.69, E13.8, E13.9
The following are the diabetic medications by class for the denominator. The route of administration includes all oral, inhalation, and injectable formulations of the medications listed below.
Table 1.2. Anti-Diabetic Medications Excluding Metformin Generic names – Brand Names – Rx Norm Codes:
Alpha-glucosidase inhibitors: acarbose – (Precose) – (199150, 200132, 199149) miglitol – (Glyset) – (205331, 205329, 205330)
Anti-diabetic amylin analogs: pramlintide – (Symlin) – (861042, 861044, 861039, 861035)
Anti-diabetic combinations: glipizide-metformin (Metaglip, Glipizide/Metformin HCL) – (861731, 861736, 861740) glyburide-metformin (Glucovance, Glyburide/Metformin HCL) – (861743, 861748, 861753) linagliptin-metformin (Jentadueto)
pioglitazone-glimepiride (Duetact) – (647237, 647239) pioglitazone-metformin (Actoplus MET) – (899989, 899996, 899994, 900001, 861783, 861822) rosiglitazone-glimepiride (Avandaryl) – (602544, 602549, 706895, 602550, 706896)
rosiglitazone-metformin (Avandamet) – (861760, 861763, 861806, 861816) saxagliptin-metformin (Kombiglyze) – (1043563, 1043570, 1043578, 1043568, 1043575, 1043583)
sitagliptin-metformin (Janumet) (861769, 861819) repaglinide-metformin (Prandimet) (861787, 861790)
sitagliptin-simvastatin (Juvisync) – (1189804, 1189808, 1189821) Dipeptidyl peptidase-4 (dpp-4) inhibitors: sitagliptin – (Januvia) – (665033, 665038, 665042)
saxagliptin – (Onglyza) – (858042, 858036) linagliptin – (Tradjenta) – (1100702)
Incretin mimetics: exenatide – (Byetta, Bydureon) – (847915, 847910) liraglutide – (Victoza) – (897122)
Insulin: insulin detemir – (Levemir) – (847239, 484322) insulin glargine – (Lantus, Solostar) – (847230, 311041)
insulin glargine – (Lantus, Solostar) – (847230, 311041) insulin isophane & reg (human) – (Humulin, Novolin, Relion) – (245265, 311048, 847187,

2362 Glycemic Control - Hyperglycemia
847256)
insulin isophane (human) – (Humulin, Novolin, Relion) – (311028, 847197, 847278)
Rapid/Short-acting Insulin:
insulin aspart – (Novolog) – (311040, 847263)
insulin aspart protamine & aspart (human) – (Novolog) – (847191, 351297)
insulin glulisine – (Apidra) – (847259, 485210)
insulin lispro (human) – (Humalog) – (847207, 847416, 242120)
insulin lispro protamine & lispro (human) – (Humalog) – (847252, 847211, 259111, 260265)
insulin regular (human) includes inhalation – (Humulin, Exubera, Novolin) – (763020, 763015, 847417, 847203, 763002, 763007, 763013, 763014, 311034, 249220)
Meglitinides:
nateglinide – (Starlix) – (311919, 314142)
repaglinide – (Prandin) – (200257, 200256, 200258)
Sulfonylureas:
chlorpropamide – (Diabinese) – (197495, 197496)
glimepiride – (Amaryl) – (199245, 199246, 199247)
glipizide – (Glucotrol) – (315107, 310489, 314006, 844827, 310488, 844809, 844824, 310490)
glyburide – (Micronase, Diabeta) – (197737, 310534, 310537)
tolazamide – (Tolazamide) – (198292, 198293)
tolbutamide – (Tolbutamide) – (198294)
glyburide micronized – (Glynase, Glycron) – (252960, 310536, 310539, 314000)
Thiazolidinediones:
pioglitazone – (Actos) – (317573, 312440, 312441)
rosiglitazone – (Avandia) – (312859, 312860, 312861)
Table 1.3. LOINC Codes Used to Identify Glucose Tests* 2309-0 – Glucose [Mass/Volume] in Blood
2309-0 – Glucose [Mass/Volume] in Blood by Test Strip Auto
2340-8 – Glucose [Mass/Volume] in Blood by Test Strip Auto 2341-6 – Glucose [Mass/Volume] in Blood by Test Strip Manual
2345-7 – Glucose [Mass/Volume] in Serum or Plasma
32016-8 – Glucose [Mass/Volume] in Capillary Blood
41651-1 – Glucose [Mass/Volume] in Arterial Blood
41652-9 – Glucose [Mass/Volume] in Venous Blood
41653-7 – Glucose [Mass/Volume] in Capillary Blood by Glucometer
*Definition of eligible glucose tests: random or peri-prandial blood (capillary, serum, plasma, whole blood) glucose tests excluding fasting or post-glucose
Note: Laboratory and point-of-care glucose tests are both required for the calculated measure rate to be valid.
Table 1.4. Codes Used to Identify Cardiac Procedures
ICD-9-CM: 35.05, 35.06, 35.07, 35.08, 35.09, 35.10, 35.11, 35.12, 35.13, 35.14, 35.20, 35.21,
35.22, 35.23, 35.24, 35.25, 35.26, 35.27, 35.28, 35.31, 35.32, 35.33, 35.34, 35.35, 35.39, 35.42,
35.50, 35.51, 35.53, 35.54, 35.60, 35.61, 35.62, 35.63, 35.70, 35.71, 35.72, 35.73, 35.81, 35.82, 35.83, 35.84, 35.91, 35.92, 35.93, 35.94, 35.98, 35.99, 36.03, 36.10, 36.11, 36.12, 36.13, 36.14, 36.15, 36.16, 36.17, 36.19, 36.31, 36.91, 36.99, 37.10, 37.11, 37.32, 37.33, 37.36, 37.41, 37.49,
37.55, 37.60, 37.62, 37.63, 37.64, 37.66, 37.67

2362 Glycemic Control - Hyperglycemia
ICD-10-CM: 0210093, 0210098, 0210099, 021009C, 021009F, 021009W, 02100A3, 02100A8,
02100A9, 02100AC, 02100AF, 02100AW, 02100J3, 02100J8, 02100J9, 02100JC, 02100JF, 02100JW, 02100Z2, 0210Z2, 02100Z2, 0210Z2, 0210
02100JW, 02100K3, 02100K8, 02100K9, 02100KC, 02100KF, 02100KW, 02100Z3, 02100Z8, 02100Z9, 0210Z9, 0
02100Z9, 02100ZC, 02100ZF, 0210493, 0210498, 0210499, 021049C, 021049F, 021049W,
02104A3, 02104A8, 02104A9, 02104AC, 02104AF, 02104AW, 02104J3, 02104J8, 02104J9, 02104J6, 02104J5, 02104J9, 02104K9, 021
02104JC, 02104JF, 02104JW, 02104K3, 02104K8, 02104K9, 02104KC, 02104KF, 02104KW,
02104Z3, 02104Z8, 02104Z9, 02104ZC, 02104ZF, 0211093, 0211098, 0211099, 021109C,
021109F, 021109W, 02110A3, 02110A8, 02110A9, 02110AC, 02110AF, 02110AW, 02110J3,
02110J8, 02110J9, 02110JC, 02110JF, 02110JW, 02110K3, 02110K8, 02110K9, 02110KC,
02110KF, 02110KW, 02110Z3, 02110Z8, 02110Z9, 02110ZC, 02110ZF, 0211493, 0211499, 021140C, 0200C, 0200
021149C, 021149F, 021149W, 02114A3, 02114A8, 02114A9, 02114AC, 02114AF, 02114AW, 02114A2, 02114AB, 02114B, 02114B, 02114B, 02114B, 02114B, 02114B, 02114B, 0214B, 0214B
02114J3, 02114J8, 02114J9, 02114JC, 02114JF, 02114JW, 02114K3, 02114K8, 02114K9, 02114KC, 02114K9, 02114K9, 02114K2, 02114K9, 02114K2, 021
02114KC, 02114KF, 02114KW, 02114Z3, 02114Z8, 02114Z9, 02114ZC, 02114ZF, 0212093, 0212008, 0212009, 0212006, 0212008, 021208, 0208, 020
0212098, 0212099, 021209C, 021209F, 021209W, 02120A3, 02120A8, 02120A9, 02120AC,
02120AF, 02120AW, 02120J3, 02120J8, 02120J9, 02120JC, 02120JF, 02120JW, 02120K3,
02120K8, 02120K9, 02120KC, 02120KF, 02120KW, 02120Z3, 02120Z8, 02120Z9, 02120ZC, 02120Z5, 02120A92, 021200
02120ZF, 0212493, 0212498, 0212499, 021249C, 021249F, 021249W, 02124A3, 02124A8, 02124A9, 02124A6, 02124A6, 02124A9, 021
02124A9, 02124AC, 02124AF, 02124AW, 02124J3, 02124J8, 02124J9, 02124JC, 02124JF, 02124JW, 02124K2, 021
02124JW, 02124K3, 02124K8, 02124K9, 02124KC, 02124KF, 02124KW, 02124Z3, 02124Z8, 02124Z9, 02124ZC, 02124ZF, 0213093, 0213098, 0213099, 021309C, 021309F, 021309W,
02130A3, 02130A8, 02130A9, 02130AC, 02130AF, 02130AW, 02130J3, 02130J8, 02130J9, 02130J6, 02130J5, 02130J4, 02130K9, 02130K9, 02130K6, 0200K6, 0200K
02130JC, 02130JF, 02130JW, 02130K3, 02130K8, 02130K9, 02130KC, 02130KF, 02130KW, 02130Z2, 02120Z2, 020
02130Z3, 02130Z8, 02130Z9, 02130ZC, 02130ZF, 0213493, 0213498, 0213499, 021349C, 0212405, 0212405, 0212402, 021
021349F, 021349W, 02134A3, 02134A8, 02134A9, 02134AC, 02134AF, 02134AW, 02134J3, 02134A9, 021
02134J8, 02134J9, 02134JC, 02134JF, 02134JW, 02134K3, 02134K8, 02134K9, 02134KC,
02134KF, 02134KW, 02134Z3, 02134Z8, 02134Z9, 02134ZC, 02134ZF, 021609P, 021609Q, 021600P, 021604P, 02160P, 02160P, 02160P, 0216P, 0216P, 0216P, 02160P, 02160P, 0216P, 021
021609R, 02160AP, 02160AQ, 02160AR, 02160JP, 02160JQ, 02160JR, 02160KP, 02160KQ, 02160KP, 02160AP, 021
02160KR, 02160Z7, 02160ZP, 02160ZQ, 02160ZR, 021649P, 021649Q, 021649R, 02164AP, 0216AP, 02
02164AQ, 02164AR, 02164JP, 02164JQ, 02164JR, 02164KP, 02164KQ, 02164KR, 02164Z7, 02164ZP, 02164ZQ, 02164ZR, 021709P, 021709Q, 021709R, 02170AP, 02170AQ, 02170AR,
02170JP, 02170JQ, 02170JR, 02170KP, 02170KQ, 02170KR, 02170ZP, 02170ZQ, 02170ZR,
021749P, 021749Q, 021749R, 02174AP, 02174AQ, 02174AR, 02174JP, 02174JQ, 02174JR, 02174JP, 02174JQ, 02174JP, 02174P, 02174P, 02174P, 02174P, 02174P, 02174P, 02174P, 02174P, 02
02174KP, 02174KQ, 02174KR, 02174ZP, 02174ZQ, 02174ZR, 021K09P, 021K09Q, 021K09R, 021K0AP, 021K0AQ, 021K0AR, 021K0JP, 021K0JQ, 021K0JR, 021K0KP, 021K0KQ, 021K0KR,
021K0AP, 021K0AQ, 021K0AK, 021K0JP, 021K0JQ, 021K0JK, 021K0JK, 021K0KP, 021K0AQ, 021K0KK, 021K0AA, 021K0AAQ, 021K0AQ, 021K0
021K425, 021K42F, 021K42Q, 021K42K, 021K45F, 021K45Q, 021K45K, 021K4AF, 021K4AQ, 021K4AR, 021K4JQ, 021K4JQ, 021K4JQ, 021K4AR, 021K4ZQ, 021K4K7, 021K4ZQ, 021
021K4XR, 021K4XP, 021K4XP, 021K4XP, 021K4XP, 021K4XR, 021K4XP, 021K4ZP, 021K2P, 021K2P, 021K2P, 021K4ZP, 021K4ZP, 021K4ZP, 021K4ZP, 021K4Z
02570ZK, 02570ZZ, 02573ZK, 02574ZK, 02580ZZ, 02590ZZ, 0250ZZ, 0250ZZZ, 0250ZZZ, 0250ZZZ, 0250ZZZ, 0250ZZZ, 0250ZZZ, 0250ZZZ, 0250ZZZZZZZZZZZZZZZZZZZZZZZZZZZZZZZZZZZ
025702k, 025702z, 025732k, 025742k, 025802z, 025902z, 025002z, 025032z, 025042z, 025
02700D6, 02700DZ, 02500ZZ, 02500ZZ, 02500ZZ, 02500ZZ, 02500ZZ, 02500ZZ, 0270046, 027004Z, 027004Z, 02700DZ, 02700DZ, 02700TZ, 02700ZG, 02700ZZ, 0271046, 027104Z, 02710D6,
02710DZ, 02710TG, 02710TZ, 02710ZG, 02710ZZ, 02700ZG, 02700ZZ, 027104G, 027104Z, 02710DG, 02720DZ, 02710DZ, 02710ZG, 02710ZZ, 027204G, 027204Z, 02720DG, 02720DZ,
02710D2, 0271018, 0271012, 0271026, 0271026, 0271022, 0272046, 0272042, 0272046, 0272006, 02720D2, 02720D2, 02720D2, 02720D2, 0273046, 0273042, 02730D6, 02730D2, 02730T6,
0272016, 0272012, 0272026, 0272026, 0272022, 0273046, 0273042, 0273046, 0273006, 0273002, 0273016, 0276016, 0273016, 0276016, 0273016, 027600000000000000000
027H04Z, 027H0DZ, 027H0ZZ, 027H04Z, 027H0DZ, 027H0ZZ, 027H04Z, 027H0DZ, 027H0ZZ, 027H0DZ, 027H0DZ, 027H0ZZ, 02H
027K34Z, 027K3DZ, 027K3ZZ, 027K4ZZ, 027J0ZZ, 027J0ZZ, 027K04Z, 027K0DZ, 027K0ZZ, 027K0ZZ, 027K0ZZ, 027K3ZZ, 027K3ZZ, 027K4ZZ, 027K4ZZ, 027K4ZZ, 027K0ZZ, 027
027R34Z, 027R3DZ, 027R3ZZ, 027R44Z, 027R4DZ, 027R4ZZ, 027R4ZZ, 027R04T, 027R04T, 027R02T, 027R3ZZ, 02894ZZ,
028D0ZZ, 028D3ZZ, 028D4ZZ, 02840ZZ, 02843ZZ, 02844ZZ, 02850ZZ, 02853ZZ, 02854ZZ, 02854ZZ,
02860ZZ, 02863ZZ, 02864ZZ, 02840ZZ, 02843ZZ, 02843ZZ, 02834ZZ, 02834ZZ, 02853ZZ, 02853ZZ, 02854ZZ, 02854ZZ, 02870ZZ, 02873ZK, 02873ZZ, 02874ZZ, 02874ZZ, 02870ZZ, 02873ZZ, 02873ZZ, 02874ZZ, 02874ZZ, 02870ZZ, 02873ZZ, 02873ZZ, 02874ZZ, 02874ZZ, 02874ZZ, 02870ZZ, 02873ZZ, 02873ZZ, 02874ZZ, 028
02B602Z, 02B65ZZ, 02B64ZZ, 02B70ZK, 02B70ZZ, 02B70ZZ, 02B73ZZ, 02B73ZZ, 02B74ZK, 02B74ZZ, 02B74ZZ, 02B70ZZ, 02B00ZZ, 02BD0ZZ, 02BD0ZZ, 02BD0ZZ, 02BD0ZZ, 02B04ZZ, 02B70ZZ, 02B04ZZ, 02B70ZZ, 02B04ZZ, 02B70ZZ, 02D70ZZ, 02D70ZZ, 02D70ZZ, 02D70ZZ, 02D70ZZ, 02D70ZZ, 02D70ZZ, 02D70ZZ, 02D
02BJ0ZZ, 02BJ0ZZ, 02BD0ZZ, 02BD0ZZ, 02BD3ZZ, 02BD4ZZ, 02BF0ZZ, 02BF0ZZ, 02BF0ZZ, 02BF0ZZ, 02BF0ZZ, 02BC0ZZ, 02B
02C10ZZ, 02C20ZZ, 02C30ZZ, 02C40ZZ, 02C43ZZ, 02C44ZZ, 02C50ZZ, 02C53ZZ, 02C54ZZ,

2362 Glycemic Control - Hyperglycemia
02C60ZZ, 02C63ZZ, 02C64ZZ, 02C70ZZ, 02C73ZZ, 02C74ZZ, 02C80ZZ, 02C83ZZ, 02C84ZZ,
02C90ZZ, 02C93ZZ, 02C94ZZ, 02CD0ZZ, 02CD3ZZ, 02CD4ZZ, 02CF0ZZ, 02CG0ZZ, 02CH0ZZ,
02CJ0ZZ, 02CK0ZZ, 02CK3ZZ, 02CK4ZZ, 02CL0ZZ, 02CL3ZZ, 02CL4ZZ, 02CM0ZZ, 02CM3ZZ,
02CM4ZZ, 02FN0ZZ, 02FN3ZZ, 02FN4ZZ, 02H402Z, 02H403Z, 02H40DZ, 02H432Z, 02H433Z,
02H43DZ, 02H442Z, 02H443Z, 02H44DZ, 02H602Z, 02H603Z, 02H60DZ, 02H632Z, 02H633Z,
02H63DZ, 02H642Z, 02H643Z, 02H64DZ, 02H702Z, 02H703Z, 02H70DZ, 02H732Z, 02H733Z,
02H73DZ, 02H742Z, 02H743Z, 02H74DZ, 02HA0QZ, 02HA0RS, 02HA3QZ, 02HA3RS, 02HA4QZ,
02HA4RS, 02HK03Z, 02HK0DZ, 02HK33Z, 02HK3DZ, 02HK43Z, 02HK4DZ, 02HL02Z, 02HL03Z,
02HL0DZ, 02HL32Z, 02HL33Z, 02HL3DZ, 02HL42Z, 02HL43Z, 02HL4DZ, 02HN0MZ, 02HN3MZ,
02HN4MZ, 02L70CK, 02L70DK, 02L70ZK, 02L73CK, 02L73DK, 02L73ZK, 02L74CK, 02L74DK,
02L74ZK, 02LR0ZT, 02LS0ZZ, 02LT0ZZ, 02N40ZZ, 02N43ZZ, 02N44ZZ, 02N50ZZ, 02N53ZZ,
02N54ZZ, 02N60ZZ, 02N63ZZ, 02N64ZZ, 02N70ZZ, 02N73ZZ, 02N74ZZ, 02N80ZZ, 02N83ZZ,
02N84ZZ, 02N90ZZ, 02N93ZZ, 02N94ZZ, 02ND0ZZ, 02ND3ZZ, 02ND4ZZ, 02NF0ZZ, 02NG0ZZ,
02NH0ZZ, 02NH0ZZ, 02NJ0ZZ, 02NK0ZZ, 02NK3ZZ, 02NK4ZZ, 02NL0ZZ, 02NL3ZZ, 02NL4ZZ,
02NM0ZZ, 02NM3ZZ, 02NM4ZZ, 02PA02Z, 02PA03Z, 02PA07Z, 02PA08Z, 02PA0CZ, 02PA0DZ,
02PA0JZ, 02PA0KZ, 02PA0QZ, 02PA0RZ, 02PA32Z, 02PA33Z, 02PA37Z, 02PA38Z, 02PA3CZ,
02PA3DZ, 02PA3JZ, 02PA3KZ, 02PA3QZ, 02PA3RZ, 02PA4ZZ, 02PA43Z, 02PA47Z, 02PA48Z,
02PA4CZ, 02PA4DZ, 02PA4JZ, 02PA4KZ, 02PA4QZ, 02PA4RZ, 02Q00ZZ, 02Q03ZZ, 02Q04ZZ,
02Q10ZZ, 02Q13ZZ, 02Q14ZZ, 02Q20ZZ, 02Q23ZZ, 02Q24ZZ, 02Q30ZZ, 02Q33ZZ, 02Q34ZZ,
02Q40ZZ, 02Q43ZZ, 02Q44ZZ, 02Q50ZZ, 02Q50ZZ, 02Q53ZZ, 02Q53ZZ, 02Q54ZZ, 02Q60ZZ,
02Q63ZZ, 02Q64ZZ, 02Q70ZZ, 02Q73ZZ, 02Q74ZZ, 02Q80ZZ, 02Q83ZZ, 02Q84ZZ, 02Q90ZZ,
02Q93ZZ, 02Q94ZZ, 02QA0ZZ, 02QA3ZZ, 02QA4ZZ, 02QB0ZZ, 02QB3ZZ, 02QB4ZZ, 02QC0ZZ,
02QC3ZZ, 02QC4ZZ, 02QD0ZZ, 02QD3ZZ, 02QD4ZZ, 02QF0ZZ, 02QF3ZZ, 02QF4ZZ, 02QG0ZZ,
02QG3ZZ, 02QG4ZZ, 02QH0ZZ, 02QH3ZZ, 02QH4ZZ, 02QJ0ZZ, 02QJ3ZZ, 02QJ4ZZ, 02QK0ZZ,
02QK3ZZ, 02QK4ZZ, 02QH0ZZ, 02QH3ZZ, 02QH4ZZ, 02QH0ZZ, 02QH3ZZ, 02QH4ZZ, 02QH0ZZ, 02QH4ZZ, 02QN0ZZ,
02QN3ZZ, 02QN4ZZ, 02QE0ZZ, 02QE3ZZ, 02QE4ZZ, 02QM0ZZ, 02QM3ZZ, 02QM4ZZ, 02QM4ZZ, 02QE0ZZ, 02QE50ZZ, 02QE50ZZ, 02R50ZZ, 0
02R54KZ, 02R607Z, 02R608Z, 02R60JZ, 02R60KZ, 02R647Z, 02R648Z, 02R64JZ, 02R64KZ,
02R707Z, 02R708Z, 02R70JZ, 02R70KZ, 02R747Z, 02R748Z, 02R74JZ, 02R74KZ, 02R907Z,
02R908Z, 02R90JZ, 02R90KZ, 02R947Z, 02R948Z, 02R94JZ, 02R94KZ, 02R907Z, 02R908Z,
02RD0JZ, 02RD0KZ, 02RD47Z, 02RD48Z, 02RD4JZ, 02RD4KZ, 02RF07Z, 02RF08Z, 02RF0JZ, 02RF0KZ, 02RF37H, 02RF37Z, 02RF38H, 02RF38Z, 02RF3JH, 02RF3JZ, 02RF3KH, 02RF3KZ,
02RF47Z, 02RF48Z, 02RF4JZ, 02RF4KZ, 02RG07Z, 02RG08Z, 02RG0JZ, 02RG0KZ, 02RG37H,
02RG37Z, 02RG38H, 02RG38Z, 02RG3JH, 02RG3JZ, 02RG3KH, 02RG3KZ, 02RG47Z, 02RG48Z,
02RG4JZ, 02RG4KZ, 02RH07Z, 02RH08Z, 02RH0JZ, 02RH0KZ, 02RH37H, 02RH37Z, 02RH38H,
02RH38Z, 02RH3JH, 02RH3JZ, 02RH3KH, 02RH3KZ, 02RH47Z, 02RH48Z, 02RH4JZ, 02RH4KZ, 02RH4Z, 02RH4KZ, 02RH
02RJ07Z, 02RJ08Z, 02RJ0JZ, 02RJ0KZ, 02RJ47Z, 02RJ48Z, 02RJ4JZ, 02RJ4KZ, 02RK07Z, 02RK08Z,
02RK0JZ, 02RK0KZ, 02RK47Z, 02RK48Z, 02RK4JZ, 02RK4KZ, 02RL07Z, 02RL08Z, 02RL0JZ,
02RL0KZ, 02RL47Z, 02RL48Z, 02RL4JZ, 02RL4KZ, 02RM07Z, 02RM08Z, 02RM0JZ, 02RM0KZ,
02RM47Z, 02RM48Z, 02RM4JZ, 02RM4KZ, 02RN07Z, 02RN08Z, 02RN0JZ, 02RN0KZ, 02RN47Z,
02RN48Z, 02RN4JZ, 02RN4KZ, 02RP0JZ, 02RQ07Z, 02RQ0JZ, 02RR07Z, 02RR0JZ, 02SP0ZZ,
02SW0ZZ, 02T50ZZ, 02T53ZZ, 02T54ZZ, 02T80ZZ, 02T90ZZ, 02T93ZZ, 02T94ZZ, 02TD0ZZ,
02TD3ZZ, 02TD4ZZ, 02TH0ZZ, 02TH3ZZ, 02TH4ZZ, 02TM0ZZ, 02TM3ZZ, 02TM4ZZ, 02U507Z,
02U508Z, 02U50JZ, 02U50KZ, 02U537Z, 02U538Z, 02U53JZ, 02U53KZ, 02U547Z, 02U548Z,
02U54JZ, 02U54KZ, 02U607Z, 02U608Z, 02U60JZ, 02U60KZ, 02U637Z, 02U638Z, 02U63JZ,
02U63KZ, 02U647Z, 02U648Z, 02U64JZ, 02U64KZ, 02U707Z, 02U708Z, 02U70JZ, 02U70KZ,
02U737Z, 02U738Z,02U73KZ, 02U747Z, 02U748Z, 02U74KZ, 02U907Z, 02U908Z, 02U90JZ,
02U90KZ, 02U937Z, 02U938Z, 02U93JZ, 02U93KZ, 02U947Z, 02U948Z, 02U94JZ, 02U94KZ,
02UA07Z, 02UA08Z, 02UA0JZ, 02UA0KZ, 02UA37Z, 02UA38Z, 02UA3JZ, 02UA3KZ, 02UA47Z,
02UA48Z, 02UA4JZ, 02UA4KZ, 02UD07Z, 02UD08Z, 02UD0JZ, 02UD0KZ, 02UD37Z, 02UD38Z,
02UD3JZ, 02UD3KZ, 02UD47Z, 02UD48Z, 02UD4JZ, 02UD4KZ, 02UF07Z, 02UF08Z, 02UF0JZ,
02UF0KZ, 02UF37Z, 02UF38Z, 02UF3JZ, 02UF3KZ, 02UF47Z, 02UF48Z, 02UF4JZ, 02UF4KZ,

Exclusions
Exclusion Details
Risk Adjustment
Stratification

	2362 Glycemic Control - Hyperglycemia
	407, 408, 409, 410, 411, 412, 413, 414, 415, 416, 417, 418, 419, 420, 421, 422, 423, 424, 425, 453, 454, 455, 456, 457, 458, 459, 460, 461, 462, 463, 464, 465, 466, 467, 468, 469, 470, 471, 472, 473, 474, 475, 476, 477, 478, 479, 480, 481, 482, 483, 484, 485, 486, 487, 488, 489, 490, 491, 492, 493, 494, 495, 496, 497, 498, 499, 500, 501, 502, 503, 504, 505, 506, 507, 508, 509, 510, 511, 512, 513, 514, 515, 516, 517, 518, 519, 520, 525, 526, 527, 528, 529, 530, 531, 532, 567, 568, 569, 570, 571, 572, 573, 574, 575, 576, 577, 578, 579, 580, 581, 582, 583, 584, 585, 614, 615, 616, 617, 618, 619, 620, 621, 622, 623, 624, 625, 626, 627, 628, 629, 630, 652, 653, 654, 655, 656, 657, 658, 659, 660, 661, 662, 663, 664, 665, 666, 667, 668, 669, 670, 671, 672, 673, 674, 675, 707, 708, 709, 710, 711, 712, 713, 714, 715, 716, 717, 718, 734, 735, 736, 737, 738, 739, 740, 741, 742, 743, 744, 745, 746, 747, 748, 749, 750, 765, 766, 767, 768, 769, 770, 799, 800, 801, 802, 803, 804, 820, 821, 822, 823, 824, 825, 826, 827, 828, 829, 830, 853, 854, 855, 856, 857, 858, 876, 901, 902, 903, 904, 905, 906, 907, 908, 909, 927, 928, 929, 939, 940, 941, 955, 956, 957, 958, 959, 969, 970, 981, 982, 983, 984, 985, 986, 987, 988, 989
Type Score	Ratio better quality = lower score
Algorithm	Target Population
J	Inpatient admissions/encounters where individuals are at least 18 years of age on admission date, both admission and discharge dates are within the measurement period, and the length of stay is less than 120 days
	Denominator: Total number of admissions with a diagnosis of diabetes mellitus, at least one administration of insulin or any oral anti-diabetic medication except metformin, or at least one elevated blood glucose value (>200 mg/dL [11.1 mmol/L]) at any time during the entire hospital stay
	 Was the admission during the measurement period? If Yes, go to Step 2. If No, exclude. Determine the patient's age in years. The patient's age is equal to the admission date minus the birth date. If the patient is at least 18 years old, go to Step 3. If less than 18 years old, exclude from the measure population.
	3. Determine the length of hospital stay in days. The length of stay is equal to the discharge date minus the admission date. If the length of stay is at least 120 days, move to step 4. If the length of stay is less than 120 days, exclude from the measure population.
	4. During the admission did the patient have a diagnosis of diabetes mellitus (on Table 1.1), or receive an anti-diabetic medication excluding Metformin (on Table 1.2), or have at least one elevated blood glucose level greater than 200 mg/dL (on Table 1.3)? If Yes, go to Step 5. If No, exclude from the measure population.
	5. Determine if, during the admission, any random or peri-prandial blood glucose tests (on Table 1.3) were conducted. If Yes, go to Step 6. If No, exclude from the measure population.
	6. If there was no diagnosis of diabetic ketoacidosis (DKA on Table 1.5) during the admission, go to Step 7. If there was a diagnosis of DKA, exclude from the measure population.
	7. If there was no diagnosis of hyperglycemic hyperosmolar syndrome (HHS on Table 1.6) during the admission, determine the measureable days, as described in Step 8. If there was a diagnosis of HHS, exclude from the measure population.
	8. To determine the measureable days in the admission:
	a. Remove the admission and discharge day.
	b. Remove the first day following the admission date, if the patient was admitted after noon or the patient was admitted before noon with the first blood glucose level greater than 400 mg/dL.
	c. Remove the first and second day following the admission date, if the patient was admitted after noon with the first glucose level greater than 400 mg/dL.
	d. Remove any days in which any part of the day was covered by the patient in the operating

	2362 Glycemic Control - Hyperglycemia
	room (OR) for a cardio-thoracic procedure (on Table 1.4) through 18 hours after they leave the OR.
	9. Is there at least one measurable day left? If Yes, go to Step 10. If No, exclude from the measure population.
	10. If there were 10 calendar days or less, go to Step 11. Exclude any calendar days over 10 days from the measure population.
	11. Count the number of admissions left. The total number of the qualifying admissions is the measure denominator.
	Numerator: Sum of the percentage of hospital days in hyperglycemia for all admissions in the denominator
	1. For each calendar day identified in Step 10 of the denominator logic, extract the test results that are from either random or peri-prandial blood glucose tests. Sort them by the collection time in ascending order.
	2. For each day, determine if there were at least six hours between the first elevated blood glucose level (> 200 mg/dL) and the last elevated blood glucose level; or there was one single elevated blood glucose level (if only one value was available); or no blood glucose level was measured and two normoglycemic days did not precede it. If Yes, mark the day as a Hyperglycemic Day. If No, exclude the day from the numerator population.
	3. For each admission, count the number of Hyperglycemic Days (from Numerator Step 2) and the number of measureable days qualified for the measure (from Denominator Step 10).
	4. Calculate the percentage of hospitals days in hyperglycemia, which is equal to Hyperglycemic Days divided by measureable days.
	5. Add the percentages calculated in Step 4 from all the admissions in the denominator. The sum of the percentage is the measure numerator.
	A flow diagram of the denominator and numerator logics is attached to the NQF Submission Form as a supplemental document. No diagram provided
Submission items	5.1 Identified measures: 0055 : Comprehensive Diabetes Care: Eye Exam (retinal) performed 0056 : Diabetes: Foot Exam
	0057 : Comprehensive Diabetes Care: Hemoglobin A1c (HbA1c) testing
	0059 : Comprehensive Diabetes Care: Hemoglobin A1c (HbA1c) Poor Control (>9.0%)
	0061 : Comprehensive Diabetes Care: Blood Pressure Control (<140/90 mm Hg)
	0062 : Comprehensive Diabetes Care: Medical Attention for Nephropathy
	0063 : Comprehensive Diabetes Care: LDL-C Screening
	0064 : Comprehensive Diabetes Care: LDL-C Control <100 mg/dL
	0300 : Cardiac Surgery Patients With Controlled Postoperative Blood Glucose
	0416 : Diabetic Foot & Ankle Care, Ulcer Prevention – Evaluation of Footwear
	0417 : Diabetic Foot & Ankle Care, Peripheral Neuropathy – Neurological Evaluation
	0519 : Diabetic Foot Care and Patient Education Implemented
	0545 : Adherence to Statins for Individuals with Diabetes Mellitus
	0546 : Diabetes: Appropriate Treatment of Hypertension
	0575 : Comprehensive Diabetes Care: Hemoglobin A1c (HbA1c) Control (<8.0%)
	0603 : Adult(s) taking insulin with evidence of self-monitoring blood glucose testing.
	0604 : Adult(s) with diabetes mellitus that had a serum creatinine in last 12 reported months.
	0618 : Diabetes with LDL-C greater than 100 – Use of a Lipid Lowering Agent
	0619 : Diabetes with Hypertension or Proteinuria - Use of an ACE Inhibitor or ARB
	0630 : Diabetes and Elevated HbA1C – Use of Diabetes Medications

2362 Glycemic Control - Hyperglycemia
0632 : Primary Prevention of Cardiovascular Events in Diabetics – Use of Aspirin or Antiplatele Therapy
0704 : Proportion of Patients Hospitalized with AMI that have a Potentially Avoidable Complication (during the Index Stay or in the 30-day Post-Discharge Period)
0705 : Proportion of Patients Hospitalized with Stroke that have a Potentially Avoidable Complication (during the Index Stay or in the 30-day Post-Discharge Period)
0708 : Proportion of Patients Hospitalized with Pneumonia that have a Potentially Avoidable Complication (during the Index Stay or in the 30-day Post-Discharge Period)
5a.1 Are specs completely harmonized? No
Sa.2 If not completely harmonized, identify difference, rationale, impact: This proposed measure is a new measure. The definition of diabetes in the measure was harmonized, where feasible, with NQF-endorsed NCQA measures (#0055, 0056, 0057, 0059, 0061, 0062, 0063, 0064, and 0575) and NQF-endorsed CMS measures (#0519 and 0545). The measure specifications of the proposed measure are not completely harmonized with NQF #0300 Cardiac Surgery Patients with Controlled Postoperative Blood Glucose, which has the same measure focus (hyperglycemia in the inpatient hospital setting) as the proposed measure. Below we describe the differences. Data Source - Difference: The proposed measure set hospital EHR data as the data source. NQF #0300 uses administrative claims and paper medical records as the data source for the measure. Rationale: The utilization of hospital EHR data should streamline data collection and analysis and therefore require less time and resources. Impact on interpretability: Hospital EHR data, it should require less time and resources than the analysis of claims data and abstraction of paper medical records for blood glucose levels. Data collection burden: Because the proposed measure is a based on hospital EHR data, it should require less time and resources than the analysis of claims data and abstraction of paper medical records for the proposed measure is all inpatient admissions 18 years or older with specified exclusions. Rationale: The proposed measure adds value becaus it includes all patients at risk of hyperglycemia in the inpatient hospital setting, rather than only cardiac surgery patients as in NQF #0300. The impact on interpretability: By broadening the target population to include all inpatient admissions, the proposed measure is based on hospital EHR data, identifying the target population should require less time and resources than the analysis of claims data and abstraction of paper medical records that are required for NQF #0300. Definition of Darger Podication bunden: Because the propos
broader set of patients. Impact on interpretability: By including all patients at risk of hyperglycemia, the proposed measure should be easier to interpret. Data collection burden:
Because the proposed measure is based on hospital EHR data, identifying individuals for the

2362 Glycemic Control - Hyperglycemia
denominator should require less time and resources than the analysis of claims data and abstraction of paper medical records that are required for NQF #0300. Blood Glucose Threshold Used in the Measures - Difference: A glucose threshold of >200 mg/dL is used in the proposed measure to define hyperglycemia. A glucose threshold of =180 mg/dL is used to define normoglycemia in NQF #0300. Rationale: A glucose threshold of >200 mg/dL to define hyperglycemia is supported by evidence from the literature (Wexler et al., 2007) and recommendations from clinical practice guidelines (Qaseem et al., 2011). Since the proposed measure includes all hospital admissions, the Technical Expert Panel recommended that the highest blood glucose threshold of >200 mg/dL. Impact on interpretability: By using a threshold of >200 mg/dL rather than the threshold of >180 mg/dL used in NQF #0300, the proposed measure focuses on a subset of patients with more severe hyperglycemia. Data collection burden: Because the proposed measure is based on hospital EHR data, identifying blood glucose values should require less time and resources than the analysis of claims data and abstraction of paper medical records that are required for NQF #0300. Time Period Covered by Measures - Difference: The proposed measure for NQF #0300. Time Period Covered by Measures - Difference: The proposed measure should be asign to interpretability: By including the entire hospital stay, whereas NQF #0300 focuses on the 18 to 24 hours after anesthesia end time. Rationale: The impact of the proposed measure would be higher because it includes all days during the hospital stay, rather than being limited to the 18-24 hours following surgery. Impact on interpretability: By including the entire hospital stay, the proposed measure should be easier to interpret. Data collection burden: Because the proposed measure is based on hospital EHR data, calculating the measure should require less time and resources than the analysis of claims data and abstraction of paper medical record
5b.1 If competing, why superior or rationale for additive value: Not applicable; there are no NQF-endorsed measures that compete with the proposed measure.

	2363 Glycemic Control - Hypoglycemia
Steward	Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services
Description	The rate of hypoglycemic events following the administration of an anti-diabetic agent
Туре	Outcome
Data Source	Electronic Clinical Data, Electronic Clinical Data : Electronic Health Record, Electronic Clinical Data : Laboratory, Electronic Clinical Data : Pharmacy • Hospital electronic health record (EHR) data
	 For measure calculation, the following EHR data were required: Inpatient (IP) Master Patient file with demographic, diagnostic, and procedural information for inpatients
	o Glucose Tests file with the names, results, and times of glucose tests
	o Medication administration records (MARs) for anti-diabetic drugs
	o Location file with the care units and the start and end times of patients' stays
	No data collection instrument provided Attachment Hypoglycemia_2013-value_sets.xls
Level	Facility
Setting	Hospital/Acute Care Facility
Time Window	Measure data will be aggregated annually (12 months) and reported on a rolling quarter.
Numerator Statement	Total number of hypoglycemic events (<40 mg/dL) that were preceded by administration of rapid/short-acting insulin within 12 hours or an anti-diabetic agent other than short-acting insulin within 24 hours, were not followed by another glucose value greater than 80 mg/dL within five minutes, and were at least 20 hours apart
	Optional numerator: Total number of hypoglycemic events (<70 mg/dL) that were preceded by administration of rapid/short-acting insulin within 12 hours or an anti-diabetic agent other than short-acting insulin within 24 hours, were not followed by another glucose value greater than 80 mg/dL within five minutes, and were at least 20 hours apart
Numerator	Table 2.2 LOINC Codes Used to Identify Glucose Tests*
Details	2309-0 – Glucose [Mass/Volume] in Blood
	2340-8 – Glucose [Mass/Volume] in Blood by Test Strip Auto
	2341-6 – Glucose [Mass/Volume] in Blood by Test Strip Manual
	2345-7 – Glucose [Mass/Volume] in Serum or Plasma
	32016-8 – Glucose [Mass/Volume] in Capillary Blood
	41651-1 – Glucose [Mass/Volume] in Arterial Blood
	41652-9 – Glucose [Mass/Volume] in Venous Blood
	41653-7 – Glucose [Mass/Volume] in Capillary Blood by Glucometer
	*Definition of eligible glucose tests: random or peri-prandial blood (capillary, serum, plasma, whole blood) glucose tests excluding fasting or post-glucose
	Note: Laboratory and point-of-care glucose tests are both required for the calculated measure rate to be valid.
Denominator Statement	Total number of hospital days with at least one anti-diabetic agent administered
Denominator	Table 2.1 Anti-Diabetic Medications:
Details	Generic Names – Brand Names – Rx Norm Codes:
	Metformin:
	metformin – (Glucophage, Riomet, Glumetza, Fortamet, Appformin) – (476506, 358336, 860996, 860975, 860981, 541765, 311571, 311570, 311572, 861025, 860999, 861004, 860978,

2363 Glycemic Control - Hypoglycemia
861007, 860984, 861010)
Anti-diabetic amylin analogs:
pramlintide – (Symlin) – (861042, 861044, 861039, 861035)
Anti-diabetic combinations:
glipizide-metformin (Metaglip, Glipizide/Metformin HCL) – (861731, 861736, 861740)
glyburide-metformin (Glucovance, Glyburide/Metformin HCL) – (861743, 861748, 861753)
linagliptin-metformin
pioglitazone-glimepiride (Duetact) – (647237, 647239)
pioglitazone-metformin (Actoplus MET) – (899989, 899996, 899994, 900001, 861783, 861822)
rosiglitazone-glimepiride (Avandaryl) – (602544, 602549, 706895, 602550, 706896)
rosiglitazone-metformin (Avandamet) – (861760, 861763, 861806, 861816)
saxagliptin-metformin (Kombiglyze) – (1043563, 1043570, 1043578, 1043568, 1043575,
1043583)
sitagliptin-metformin (Janumet) – (861769, 861819)
repaglinide-metformin (Prandimet) – (861787, 861790)
sitagliptin-simvastatin (Juvisync) – (1189804, 1189808, 1189821)
Dipeptidyl peptidase-4 (dpp-4) inhibitors:
sitagliptin – (Januvia) – (665033, 665038, 665042)
saxagliptin – (Onglyza) – (858042, 858036)
linagliptin – (Tradjenta) – (1100702)
Incretin mimetics:
exenatide – (Byetta, Bydureon) – (847915, 847910)
liraglutide – (Victoza) – (897122)
Insulin:
insulin detemir – (Levemir) – (847239, 484322)
insulin glargine – (Lantus, Solostar) – (847230, 311041)
insulin isophane & reg (human) – (Humulin, Novolin, Relion) – (245265, 311048, 847187, 847256)
insulin isophane (human) – (Humulin, Novolin, Relion) – (311028, 847278, 847197)
Short-acting insulin:
insulin aspart – (Novolog) – (311040, 847263)
insulin aspart protamine & aspart (human) – (Novolog) – (847191, 351297)
insulin glulisine – (Apidra) – (847259, 485210)
insulin lispro (human) – (Humalog) – (847207, 847416, 242120)
insulin lispro protamine & lispro (human) – (Humalog) – (847252, 847211, 259111, 260265)
insulin regular (human) includes inhalation – (Humulin, Exubera, Novolin) – (763020, 763015, 847417, 847203, 763002, 763007, 763013, 763014, 311034, 249220)
Meglitinides:
nateglinide – (Starlix) – (311919, 314142)
repaglinide – (Prandin) – (200257, 200256, 200258)
Sulfonylureas:
chlorpropamide – (Diabinese) – (197495, 197496)
glimepiride – (Amaryl) – (199245, 199246, 199247)
glipizide – (Glucotrol) – (315107, 310489, 314006, 844827, 310488, 844809, 844824, 310490)

	2363 Glycemic Control - Hypoglycemia
	glyburide – (Micronase, Diabeta) – (197737, 310534, 310537) tolazamide – (Tolazamide) – (198292, 198293)
	tolbutamide – (Tolbutamide) – (198294)
	glyburide micronized – (Glynase, Glycron) – (252960, 310536, 310539, 314000)
	Thiazolidinediones:
	pioglitazone – (Actos) – (317573, 312440, 312441)
	rosiglitazone – (Avandia) – (312859, 312860, 312861)
	Optional Denominator: The number of patients with anti-diabetic drug therapy
Exclusions	Admissions with lengths of stay greater than 120 days are excluded.
Exclusion Details	Not applicable
Risk Adjustment	No risk adjustment or risk stratification
	Not applicable
Stratification	None
Type Score	Ratio better quality = lower score
Algorithm	Target Population
	Inpatient admissions/encounters where individuals are at least 18 years of age on admission date, both admission and discharge dates are within the measurement period, and the length of stay is less than 120 days
	Denominator: Total number of hospital days with at least one anti-diabetic agent administered
	1. Was the admission during the measurement period? If Yes, go to Step 2. If No, exclude from measure population.
	2. Determine the patient's age in years. The patient's age is equal to the admission date minus the birth date. If the patient is at least 18 years old, go to Step 3. If less than 18 years old, exclude from the measure population.
	3. Determine the length of hospital stay in days. The length of stay is equal to the discharge date minus the admission date. If the length of stay is at least 120 days, move to step 4. If the length of stay is less than 120 days, exclude from the measure population.
	4. Determine if there was at least one anti-diabetic medication (Table 2.1) administered. If Yes, go to Step 5. If No, exclude from the measure population.
	5. For each admission, determine the number of hospital days that had at least one anti- diabetic medication administered.
	6. Sum the number of hospital days identified in Step 5 from all the qualifying admissions and this is the denominator for the measure population.
	Numerator: Total number of hypoglycemic events (<40 mg/dL) that were preceded by administration of rapid/short-acting insulin within 12 hours or an anti-diabetic agent other than rapid/short-acting insulin within 24 hours, were not followed by another glucose value greater than 80 mg/dL within five minutes, and were at least 20 hours apart
	7. Determine if, during the admission, any random or peri-prandial blood glucose tests were conducted. If Yes, go to Step 7. If No, exclude from the measure population.
	8. Determine if the admission included blood glucose results of less than 40 mg/dL from the blood glucose tests that are either random or peri-prandial. If Yes, go to Step 8. If No, exclude from the measure population. Each result of less than 40 mg/dL from a random or peri-prandial blood glucose test indicates a Hypoglycemic Event.
	9. For each Hypoglycemic Event identified in the admission, determine if there was an administration of a rapid/short-acting insulin within 12 hours or other anti-diabetic medication within 24 hours before the event. If Yes, go to Step 10. If No, then the event is excluded from

	2363 Glycemic Control - Hypoglycemia
	the measure population.
	10. For each remaining Hypoglycemic Event, determine that there was not a blood glucose result that was greater than 80 mg/dL within five minutes of the event. If Yes, go to Step 11. If No, exclude the event from the measure population.
	11. For each remaining Hypoglycemic Event, determine if this event occurred more than 20 hours after the previous event. If Yes, then this event is a valid event, go to Step 12. If No, exclude the event from the measure population.
	12. Determine the total number of valid Hypoglycemic Events remaining from all the qualifying admissions. This is the numerator for the measure population.
	A flow diagram for the denominator and numerator logics is attached to the NQF Submission Form as a supplemental document. No diagram provided
Submission items	5.1 Identified measures:
	5a.1 Are specs completely harmonized? No
	5a.2 If not completely harmonized, identify difference, rationale, impact: Not applicable; there are no NQF-endorsed measures that are related (i.e., have either the same measure focus or target population) to the proposed measure.
	5b.1 If competing, why superior or rationale for additive value: Not applicable; there are no NQF-endorsed measures that compete (i.e., have the same measure focus and the same target population) with the proposed measure.

	2416 Laboratory Investigation for Secondary Causes of Fracture
Steward	The Joint Commission
Description	Percentage of patients age 50 and over with fragility fracture who have had appropriate laboratory investigation for secondary causes of fracture ordered or performed prior to discharge from inpatient status.
Туре	Process
Data Source	Electronic Clinical Data, Electronic Clinical Data : Electronic Health Record, Paper Medical Records The data source is the medical record. No data collection instrument provided Attachment OAF_Appendix_Final.xlsx
Level	Facility
Setting	Hospital/Acute Care Facility
Time Window	The time period for measurement is the duration of the hospitalization.
Numerator Statement	 Patients who have all the specified laboratory tests ordered or performed prior to discharge: 1. Complete blood cell count (CBC) 2. Kidney function test 3. Liver function test 4. Serum calcium 5. 25(OH) Vitamin D level OR Oral Administration of Vitamin D
Numerator	Data Elements:
Details	Laboratory Tests Ordered or Performed Prior to Discharge - The specific laboratory tests are (all five): Complete Blood Count (CBC) and Kidney Function Test - may be either: Serum Creatinine Kidney Function Panel Kidney Panel Renal Function Panel Renal Function Panel Liver Function Test – may be either: Liver Function Test – may be either: Liver Panel Liver Profile Liver Function Panel Hepatic Panel Hepatic Panel Hepatic Profile Hepatic Function Profile All of the following: Bilirubin Alk. Phos AST ALT
	Total Protein
	Albumin
	and

	2416 Laboratory Investigation for Secondary Causes of Fracture
	Serum Calcium
	and
	25(OH) Vitamin D level
	Instructions to the patient must be specific for the laboratory test to be performed; general terms such as "labs" are unacceptable.
	If some of the laboratory tests are performed while an inpatient and the patient is given a prescription for the remaining laboratory tests on discharge, select value 1, (Yes).
	Allowable Values:
	1 (Yes) There is an order for the specified laboratory tests.
	2 (Yes) There are results for the specified laboratory tests in the record.
	3 (Yes) A prescription for performance of the specified laboratory tests was given to the patient on discharge.
	4 (Yes) Written discharge instructions given to the patient include instructions to follow up with his or her physician for the specified laboratory tests.
	5 (Partial) The only lab test not ordered or performed is the Vitamin D test, 25(OH)D.
	6 (No) There is no order for all the specified laboratory tests, the specified laboratory test results are not in the record, there is no prescription given to the patient for the specified laboratory tests, and there are no written discharge instructions given to the patient to follow up with his or her physician for the specified laboratory tests.
	7 (Refused) There is evidence in the record that the patient refused all laboratory testing for osteoporosis.
	Oral Administration of Vitamin D - Administration of Vitamin D, alone or in combination with other components, by mouth. Vitamin D must be given by mouth at a dose to equal or exceed 800 IU daily. Examples of dosing regimens that are acceptable are:
	1000 IU daily
	400 IU. b.i.d.
	10,000 IU weekly
	50,000 IU weekly
	Other dosing regimens that calculate to or are ordered at a level of 800 IU or greater per day are also acceptable.
	At least one dose needs to have been administered prior to discharge; orders alone are insufficient.
	The Vitamin D can be administered as a single drug or in combination with another medication, such as Os-Cal Extra D3.
	Allowable Values:
	Y (Yes) There is documentation the patient received Vitamin D by mouth at a dose equal to or greater than 800 IU daily.
	N (No) There is no documentation that Vitamin D by mouth at a dose equal to or greater than 800 IU. Daily was ordered.
	U (Unable to determine)
	R (Refused) Vitamin D was ordered in a dose equal to or greater than 800 IU daily, but the patient refused.
Denominator Statement	Patients age 50 and over discharged from inpatient status with an ICD-9-CM Principal or Other Diagnosis Code of selected fractures as defined in Table 3.1 Vertebral Fracture, Table 4.1 Hip Fracture, or Table 5.1 Other Fracture
Denominator	Patients age 50 and over discharged from inpatient status with an ICD-9-CM Principal or Other

	2416 Laboratory Investigation for Secondary Causes of Fracture
Details	Diagnosis Code of selected fractures as defined in Table 3.1 Vertebral Fracture, Table 4.1 Hip Fracture, or Table 5.1 Other Fracture. (See codes in attached Excel file – Tables).
	Data Elements: (See definitions provided in the attached Excel file – Data Elements)
	Admission date
	Birthdate
	ICD-9-CM Principal Diagnosis Code
	ICD-9-CM Other Diagnosis Codes
	Comfort Measures Only
	Clinical Trial
	Laboratory Testing Performed in the Prior 12 Months
	Discharge Date
	Discharge Disposition
Exclusions	Exclusions are those patients with:
	Age less than 50 years
	"Comfort Measures Only" documented
	Enrollment in a clinical trial pertaining to osteoporosis
	Laboratory testing performed in the prior 12 months
	• Expired
Exclusion Details	Age less than 50 years Admission date is subtracted from birth date to calculate age.
	Comfort Measures Only Comfort Measures Only refers to medical treatment of a dying person where the natural dying process is permitted to occur while assuring maximum comfort. It includes attention to the psychological and spiritual needs of the patient and support for both the dying patient and the patient's family. Comfort Measures Only is commonly referred to as "comfort care" by the general public. It is not equivalent to a physician order to withhold emergency resuscitative measures such as Do Not Resuscitate (DNR).
	Clinical Trial Documentation that during this hospital stay the patient was enrolled in a clinical trial in which patients with the same condition as the measure set were being studied (i.e., fragility fracture).
	Laboratory Testing Performed in the Prior 12 Months Documentation in the current medical record that all five required laboratory tests were performed in the 12 months prior to the admission date. The five required laboratory tests are:
	Complete blood cell count (CBC)
	Kidney function test
	Liver function test
	Serum calcium
	Vitamin D level (25(OH)D)
Risk Adjustment	No risk adjustment or risk stratification N/A
Stratification	This measure is not stratified.
Type Score	Rate/proportion better quality = higher score
Algorithm	1. Target population identified as inpatients age 50 and over
agonann	 Target population dentified as inpatients age 50 and over Target population of fragility fracture patients identified by Diagnosis Code
	 Patients to be excluded by virtue of discharge status expired, comfort measures only and clinical trial are excluded

	2416 Laboratory Investigation for Secondary Causes of Fracture
	4. Patients for whom the physician has documented that they are known to have osteoporosis, or for whom there is documentation of a known cause of osteoporosis, are excluded from the measure to avoid testing for information that is known.
	5. Patients who had all the laboratory testing in the prior 12 months are excluded from the measure.
	6. Remaining patients who had all the laboratory testing done during the current inpatient stay are placed in the numerator
	7. Remaining patients whose only missing laboratory test is a 25(OH)D are identified; if they received at least one oral dose of Vitamin D equal to or greater than 800IU daily they are placed in the numerator
	8. All remaining patients are in the denominator. Available at measure-specific web page URL identified in S.1
Submission items	5.1 Identified measures: 0045 : Osteoporosis: Communication with the Physician Managing On-going Care Post Fracture of Hip, Spine or Distal Radius for Men and Women Aged 50 Years and Older
	5a.1 Are specs completely harmonized? No
	 5a.2 If not completely harmonized, identify difference, rationale, impact: Differences : 1. Target population of #0045 is the ambulatory care/clinic or physician office patient; target population of this measure (OAF-01) is hospital inpatient. 2. Numerator of #0045 is notification of physician following the patient that patient should be tested or treated for osteoporosis; numerator of OAF-01 is ordering of laboratory testing for underlying causes of osteoporosis/osteopenia or administration of Vitamin D. 3. Denominator of #0045 is patients with hip, spine or distal radial fracture; denominator of OAF-01 includes those sites of fracture plus additional sites of fracture known to be sites of fragility fracture such as humerus, ankle, and pelvis. 4. The level of analysis for OAF-01 is facility=specific; the leve of analysis for #0045 is the individual physician. Rationale: 1. Communication to a following physician does not ensure that testing will be ordered; reviewing hospital inpatients encourages appropriate testing during hospitalization or ordering post discharge. 2. If the patient does not follow up with a physician, or a different physician than the one who was communicated to (partners, etc.), then the communication is lost in terms of benefit to the patient. 3. OAF-01 indicates specifically which laboratory tests should be done, while 0045 does not. Often, patients are not assessed for Vitamin D deficiency/insufficiency. Given that Vitamin D insufficiency is at epidemic levels in the United States and is a substance necessary to enhance the absorption of calcium and increase the efficacy of osteoporosis/ deteoporial. <i>dot</i> deteopor deteops and perpetuates the fragmentary care for osteoporosis that has resulted in inadequate diagnosis and treatment for underlying causes of outeoporosis for the orthopedic community to "Own the Bone" and perpetuates the fragmentary care for osteoporosis that has resulted in inadequate diagnosis and treatment thus far. Impact on interpretability: #0045 seults gi

2416 Laboratory Investigation for Secondary Causes of Fracture
5b.1 If competing, why superior or rationale for additive value: No NQF-endorsed competing measures were found.

	2417 Risk Assessment/Treatment After Fracture
Steward	The Joint Commission
Description	Patients age 50 or over with a fragility fracture who have either a dual-energy X-Ray absorptiometry (DXA) scan ordered or performed, or a prescription for FDA-approved pharmacotherapy for osteoporosis, or who are seen by or linked to a fracture liaison service prior to discharge from inpatient status,. If DXA is not available and documented as such, then any other specified fracture risk assessment method may be ordered or performed.
Туре	Process
Data Source	Electronic Clinical Data : Electronic Health Record, Paper Medical Records A data collection instrument has been developed by The Joint Commission for the purpose of the pilot test. Contracted vendors will develop data collection tools specific to their performance measurement systems when the measures specifications are released to them. No data collection instrument provided Attachment OAF_Appendix_Final-
	635231390001572897.xlsx
Level	Facility
Setting	Hospital/Acute Care Facility
Time Window	The time period for measurement is the duration of the hospitalization.
Numerator	Patients who had either a DXA scan ordered or performed, OR a prescription for FDA-
Statement	approved pharmacotherapy for osteoporosis treatment, OR those who were seen by, contacted by, or linked to a fracture liaison service prior to discharge OR had other fracture risk assessment method ordered or performed if DXA is not available.
Numerator	Data Elements: (See attached Excel file for definitions and allowable values)
Details	DXA Scan Ordered or Performed Prior to Discharge
	Other Fracture Risk Assessment Method Ordered or Performed Prior to Discharge
	FDA-approved Pharmacotherapy for Osteoporosis Treatment
	Reason for No DXA Scan
	Reason for No FDA-approved Pharmacotherapy for Treatment of Osteoporosis
	Fracture liaison service
Denominator Statement	Patients age 50 and over discharged from inpatient status with an ICD-9-CM Principal or Other Diagnosis Code of selected fractures as defined in Table 3.1 Vertebral Fracture, Table 4.1 Hip Fracture, or Table 5.1 Other Fracture,
Denominator	Data Elements: (See definitions and allowable values in attached Excel file)
Details	Admission date
	Birthdate
	ICD-9-CM Principal Diagnosis Code
	ICD-9-CM Other Diagnosis Code
	Comfort Measures Only
	Clinical Trial
	Bone Mineral Density Test Performed in the 12 Months Prior to the Fracture
	On FDA-approved Pharmacotherapy for Treatment of Osteoporosis Prior to Fracture
	Discharge Date
	Discharge Disposition
Exclusions	Age less than 50 years
	"Comfort Measures Only" documented
	Enrollment in a clinical trial pertaining to osteoporosis

	2417 Risk Assessment/Treatment After Fracture
	 On FDA-Approved pharmacotherapy for osteoporosis treatment as defined in Table prior to the fracture date Bone Mineral density test documented in the 12 months prior to the fracture Expired See attached Excel file for definitions
Exclusion Details	See attached Excel file for definitions of exclusions as listed in S-10.
Risk Adjustment	No risk adjustment or risk stratification
	N/A
Stratification	This measure is not stratified.
Type Score	Rate/proportion better quality = higher score
Algorithm	 Target population is identified by principal or other diagnosis code Admission and appropriate age identified; those not admitted and under age 50 are excluded
	 Expired patients are excluded Patients who had comfort measures only or who participated in a clinical trial for osteoporosis are excluded
	5. Patients who had a bone mineral density test in the prior 12 months or who were on FDA=approved pharmacotherapy for osteoporosis immediately prior to the fracture are excluded
	 6. Those who had a DXA scan ordered or performed are in the numerator 7. For those remaining patients without a DXA scan if some other risk assessment method was performed, they are placed in the numerator.
	8. For those remaining patients without a scan or fracture risk assessment method performed, if they were seen by or linked to a fracture liaison service or placed on FDA-approved pharmacotherapy for osteoporosis, they are placed in the numerator.
	9. For those remaining patients without a scan or fracture risk assessment method or pharmacotherapy, if there is a documented reason for no pharmacotherapy they are placed in the numerator; if the patient refused pharmacotherapy they are excluded from the measure
	10. For those patients remaining who have had no DXA scan ordered or performed, no other fracture risk assessment method, and no pharmacotherapy administered and there is no reason for no pharmacotherapy documented and they have not refused pharmacotherapy, if they were contacted by, seen by or linked to a fracture liaison service they are placed in the numerator.
	11. All remaining patients are part of the denominator population. Available at measure- specific web page URL identified in S.1
Submission items	 5.1 Identified measures: 0048 : Osteoporosis: Management Following Fracture of Hip, Spine or Distal Radius for Men and Women Aged 50 Years and Older 0053 : Osteoporosis Management in Women Who Had a Fracture
	5a.1 Are specs completely harmonized? No
	 5a.2 If not completely harmonized, identify difference, rationale, impact: Differences: 1. NQF#0048 is intended for use in Care Settings of Ambulatory Care: Clinician Office/Clinic, Ambulatory Care: Urgent Care; OAF-02 is intended for use in acute care hospitals. 2. Denominator of #0045 is patients with hip, spine or distal radial fracture; denominator of OAF-02 includes those sites of fracture plus additional sites of fracture. 3.

2417 Risk Assessment/Treatment After Fracture
NQF#0048 allows only central DXA to be performed and does not allow for any other fracture risk assessment method. 4. NQF #0048 does not address the use of a fracture liaison service. 5. NQF #0048 does not state a time frame for performance of the testing 6. The data source for NQF#0048 is administrative claims, while the data source for OAF-02 is the medical record. 7. NQF#0053 excludes men, excludes women under the age of 67, and excludes patients with an acute care hospitalization. 8. NQF#0053 allows 6 months to elapse from the date of the fracture. 9. The level of analysis of NCQA measures is either health-plan or physician-specific; OAF-02 level of analysis of NCQA measures is either health-plan or physician-specific; OAF-02 level of analysis of NCQA measures the likelihood of diagnosis and treatment of osteoporosis, particularly in a timely manner that will curtail intervening fragility fractures that will occur with a delay in diagnosis and treatment. 2. OAF-02 includes additional sites of fracture known to be sites of fragility fracture such as humerus, clavicle, ankle, tibia, and pelvis 3. OAF-02 recognizes that there are instances in which a DXA cannot be performed due to lack of equipment, scheduling, or other patient issues (such as inability to position the patient in a DXA scanner or patient access issues) and allows for the use of valid alternative risk assessment methods. 4. The physician following the patient may not be skilled or specialized in the diagnosis or treatment of osteoporosis, such as fracture liaison services or specialty physicians, if the diagnostic testing is not actually done while an inpatient. 5. Rapid assessment and management reduce the re-fracture rate that can occur while the patient is waiting to be assessed or managed in NQF#0048. 6. NQF#0048 indicates that documented patient, system or medical reasons exclude the patient from the measure. How is that determined on an administrative claim? While the same considerations are active in OAF-02, that information is only docu
 they initiate or have in place. 10. OAF-02 can increase compliance with #0053 and #0048. 5b.1 If competing, why superior or rationale for additive value: No NQF-endorsed competing measures were found.

	2467 Adherence to ACEIs/ARBs for Individuals with Diabetes Mellitus
Steward	Centers for Medicare & Medicaid
Description	The measure addresses adherence to angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitors (ACEIs)/angiotensin receptor blockers (ARBs). The measure is reported as the percentage of eligible individuals with diabetes mellitus who had at least two prescriptions for ACEIs/ARBs and who have a Proportion of Days Covered (PDC) of at least 0.8 during the measurement period (12 consecutive months).
Туре	Process
Type Data Source	Administrative claims, Other, Electronic Clinical Data : Pharmacy For measure calculation, the following Medicare files were required: • Denominator tables • Prescription drug benefit (Part D) coverage tables • Beneficiary file • Institutional claims (Part A) • Non-institutional claims (Part D) claims For ACO attribution, the following were required: • Denominator tables for Parts A and B enrollment • Prescription drug benefit (Part D) coverage tables • Beneficiary file • Institutional claims (Part A) • Non-institution, the following were required: • Denominator tables for Parts A and B enrollment • Prescription drug benefit (Part D) coverage tables • Beneficiary file • Institutional claims (Part A) • Non-institutional claims (Part B)—physician carrier/non-DME • Prescription drug benefit (Part D) claims For physician group attribution, the following were required: • Non-institutional claims (Part B)—physician carrier/non-DME • Prescription drug benefit (Part D) claims For physician group attribution, the following were required: • Non-institutional claims (Part B)—physician carrier/non-DME • Denominator tables to determine individual enrollment • Beneficiary file or coverage table
	National Plan & Provider Enumeration System (NPPES) database
	No data collection instrument provided Attachment NQF2467Codes_Table _ACEIs_ARBs.xls
Level	Clinician : Group/Practice, Health Plan, Integrated Delivery System, Population : State
Setting	Ambulatory Care : Clinician Office/Clinic
Time Window	The time period for data is defined as any time during the measurement period (12 consecutive months).
Numerator Statement	Individuals in the denominator with at least two prescriptions for ACEIs/ARBs with a PDC of at least 0.8 for ACEIs/ARBs.
Numerator Details	 The numerator is defined as individuals with a PDC of 0.8 or greater. The PDC is calculated as follows: PDC Numerator: The PDC numerator is the sum of the days covered by the days' supply of all drug claims in each respective drug class. The period covered by the PDC starts on the day the first prescription is filled (index date) and lasts through the end of the measurement period, or death, whichever comes first. For prescriptions with a days' supply that extends beyond the end of the measurement period, count only the days for which the drug was available to the individual during the measurement period. If there are prescriptions for the same drug

	2467 Adherence to ACEIs/ARBs for Individuals with Diabetes Mellitus
	(generic name) on the same date of service, keep the prescription with the largest days' supply. If prescriptions for the same drug (generic name) overlap, then adjust the prescription start date to be the day after the previous fill has ended.
	• PDC Denominator: The PDC denominator is the number of days from the first prescription date through the end of the measurement period, or death date, whichever comes first.
Denominator Statement	Individuals at least 18 years of age as of the beginning of the measurement period with diabetes mellitus and at least two prescriptions for ACEIs/ARBs during the measurement period (12 consecutive months).
Denominator Details	 Target population meets the following conditions: 1. Continuously enrolled in Part D with no more than a one-month gap in enrollment during the measurement year; 2. Continuously enrolled in Part A and Part B with no more than a one-month gap in Part A enrollment and no more than a one-month gap in Part B enrollment during the measurement
	year; and, 3. No more than one month of HMO enrollment during the measurement year. IDENTIFICATION OF DIABETES MELLITUS
	Individuals with diabetes mellitus are identified using diagnosis codes and/or drug proxy to identify diabetes mellitus within the inpatient or outpatient claims data.*
	Individuals must have: At least two encounters with a principal or secondary diagnosis of diabetes with different dates of service in an outpatient setting or non-acute inpatient setting during the measurement period;
	OR At least one encounter with a principal or secondary diagnosis of diabetes in an acute inpatient or emergency department setting during the measurement period; OR
	At least one ambulatory prescription claim for insulin or other oral diabetes medication dispensed during the measurement period.
	*Adapted from NCQA HEDIS 2012 (2012). Note: HEDIS uses a look-back period of one year for both the prescription data and diagnosis.
	Table 1. Codes Used to Identify Diabetes Mellitus Diagnosis ICD-9-CM: 250.xx, 357.2, 362.01, 362.02, 362.03, 362.04, 362.05, 362.06, 362.07, 366.41, 648.00, 648.01, 648.02, 648.03, 648.04
	 ICD-10-CM: E08.311, E08.319, E08.321, E08.329, E08.331, E08.339, E08.341, E08.349, E08.351, E08.359, E08.40, E08.42, E09.311, E09.319, E09.321, E09.329, E09.331, E09.339, E09.341, E09.349, E09.351, E09.359, E09.36, E09.40, E09.42, E10.10, E10.11, E10.21, E10.22, E10.29, E10.311, E10.319, E10.321, E10.329, E10.331, E10.339, E10.341, E10.349, E10.351, E10.359, E10.36, E10.39, E10.40, E10.41, E10.42, E10.43, E10.44, E10.49, E10.51, E10.52, E10.59, E10.610, E10.618, E10.620, E10.621, E10.622, E10.628, E10.630, E10.638, E10.641, E10.649, E10.65, E10.69, E10.8, E10.9, E11.00, E11.01, E11.21, E11.22, E11.29, E11.311, E11.319, E11.321, E11.329, E11.331, E11.339, E11.341, E11.349, E11.351, E11.359, E11.36, E11.39, E11.40, E11.621, E11.622, E11.628, E11.630, E11.638, E11.641, E11.649, E11.65, E11.69, E11.8, E11.9, E13.00, E13.01, E13.11, E13.21, E13.22, E13.29, E13.311, E13.319, E13.321, E13.329, E13.331, E13.339, E13.341, E13.349, E13.351, E13.359, E13.36, E13.39, E13.40, E13.41, E13.42, E13.43, E13.44, E13.49, E13.51, E13.52, E13.59, E13.610, E13.618, E13.40, E13.41, E13.42, E13.43, E13.44, E13.49, E13.51, E13.55, E13.59, E13.610, E13.618, E13.40, E13.41, E13.42, E13.43, E13.44, E13.49, E13.51, E13.52, E13.59, E13.610, E13.618, E13.40, E13.41, E13.44, E13.49, E13.51, E13.55, E13.59, E13.610, E13.618, E13.40, E13.41, E13.44, E13.49, E13.51, E13.55, E13.59, E13.610, E13.618, E13.40, E13.41, E13.44, E13.49, E13.51, E13.55, E13.59, E13.610, E13.618, E13.40, E13.41, E13.44, E13.49, E13.51, E13.55, E13.59, E13.610, E13.618, E13.40, E13.41, E13.44, E13.49, E13.51, E13.55, E13.59, E13.610, E13.618, E13.40, E13.44, E13.49, E13.51, E13.55, E13.59, E13.610, E13.618, E13.40, E13.41, E13.44, E13.49, E13.51, E13.55, E13.59, E13.610, E13.618, E13.40, E13.41, E13.44, E13.49, E13.51, E13.55, E13.59, E13.610, E13.618, E13.40, E13.41, E13.44, E13.49, E13.51, E13.55, E13.59, E13.610, E13.618, E13.40, E13.41, E13.44, E13.49, E13.51, E13.55, E13.59, E13.610, E13.618, E13.40, E13.41, E13.41, E13.41, E13.51, E13.55, E13.59, E13.610,
	E13.40, E13.41, E13.42, E13.43, E13.44, E13.49, E13.51, E13.52, E13.59, E13.010, E13.016, E13.016, E13.010, E13

2467 Adherence to ACEIs/ARBs for Individuals with Diabetes Mellitus
O24.113, O24.119, O24.12, O24.13, O24.311, O24.312, O24.313, O24.319, O24.32, O24.33, O24.811, O24.812, O24.813, O24.819, O24.82, O24.83, O24.911, O24.912, O24.913, O24.919, O24.92, O24.93
DRG: 637,638
Codes Used to Identify Encounter Type
Table 2.1. Outpatient Setting
CPT: 92002, 92004, 92012, 92014, 99201-99205, 99211-99215, 99217-99220, 99241-99245, 99341-99345, 99347-99350, 99384-99387, 99394-99397, 99401-99404, 99411, 99412, 99420, 99429, 99455, 99456
UB-92 revenue: 051x, 0520-0523, 0526-0529, 057x-059x, 077x, 082x-085x, 088x, 0982, 0983
Table 2.2 Non-Acute Inpatient
CPT: 99304-99310, 99315, 99316, 99318, 99324-99328, 99334-99337
UB-92 revenue: 0118, 0128, 0138, 0148, 0158, 019x, 0524, 0525, 055x, 066x
Table 2.3 Acute Inpatient
CPT: 99221-99223, 99224-99226, 99231-99233, 99238, 99239, 99251-99255, 99291
UB-92 revenue: 010x, 0110-0114, 0119, 0120-0124, 0129, 0130-0134, 0139, 0140-0144, 0149, 0150-0154, 0159, 016x, 020x-022x, 072x, 080x, 0987
Table 2.4 Emergency Department
CPT: 99281-99285
UB-92 revenue: 045x, 0981
The following are the diabetic medications by class for the denominator. The route of administration includes all oral and injectable formulations of the medications listed below.
Table 3. Codes Used to Identify Diabetic Individuals
Alpha-glucosidase inhibitors:
acarbose
miglitol
Anti-diabetic amylin analogs:
pramlintide
Anti-diabetic combinations:
alogliptin-metformin
alogliptin-pioglitazone
glipizide-metformin
glyburide-metformin
pioglitazone-glimepiride
pioglitazone-metformin
rosiglitazone-glimepiride
rosiglitazone-metformin
saxagliptin-metformin
sitagliptin-metformin
repaglinide-metformin
sitagliptin-simvastatin
linagliptin- metformin
Dipeptidyl peptidase-4 (dpp-4) inhibitors:
alogliptin

2467 Adherence to ACEIs/ARBs for Individuals with Diabetes Mellitus
sitagliptin,
saxagliptin,
linagliptin
Incretin mimetics:
exenatide
liraglutide
Insulin:
insulin aspart
insulin aspart
protamine & aspart (human)
insulin detemir
insulin glargine
insulin glulisine
insulin isophane & reg (human)
insulin isophane (human)
insulin lispro (human)
insulin lispro protamine & lispro (human)
insulin regular (human)
Meglitinides:
nateglinide
repaglinide
Sodium-glucose cotransporter 2 Inhibitors:
canagliflozin
Sulfonylureas:
chlorpropamide
glimepiride
glipizide
glyburide
tolazamide
tolbutamide
glyburide micronized
Thiazolidinediones:
pioglitazone
rosiglitazone
The following are the ACEI/ARB medications by class for the denominator. The route of
administration includes all oral formulations of the medications listed below.
Table 4. ACEI/ARB Medications
Angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors (ACEIs):
benazepril
captopril
enalapril
fosinopril
lisinopril
moexipril

	2467 Adherence to ACEIs/ARBs for Individuals with Diabetes Mellitus
	perindopril
	quinapril
	ramipril
	trandolapril
	Angiotensin II receptor blockers (ARBs):
	candesartan
	eprosartan
	irbesartan
	losartan
	olmesartan
	telmisartan
	valsartan
	azilsartan
	Antihypertensive combinations:
	aliskiren-valsartan
	amlodipine-benazepril
	amlodipine-olmesartan
	amlodipine -valsartan
	amlodipine-valsartan-hydrochlorothiazide
	benazepril-hydrochlorothiazide
	candesartan-hydrochlorothiazide
	captopril-hydrochlorothiazide
	enalapril maleate-hydrochlorothiazide
	eprosartan-hydrochlorothiazide
	fosinopril-hydrochlorothiazide
	irbesartan-hydrochlorothiazide
	lisinopril- hydrochlorothiazide
	lisinopril-dietary management product
	losartan-hydrochlorothiazide
	moexipril-hydrochlorothiazide
	olmesartan-hydrochlorothiazide
	olmesartan medoxomil-amlodipine-hydrochlorothiazide
	quinapril-hydrochlorothiazide
	telmisartan-amlodipine
	telmisartan-hydrochlorothiazide
	trandolapril-verapamil
	valsartan-hydrochlorothiazide
	amlodipine-olmesartan-hydrochlorothiazide
	azilsartan medoxomil-chlorthalidone
Exclusions	We excluded the following individuals from the denominator:
	Individuals with polycystic ovaries, gestational diabetes, or steroid-induced diabetes who do
	not have a face-to-face visit with a diagnosis of diabetes in any setting during the
	measurement period.
	Exclusion 1

	2467 Adherence to ACEIs/ARBs for Individuals with Diabetes Mellitus
	Individuals with a diagnosis of polycystic ovaries who do not have a visit with a diagnosis of diabetes in any setting during the measurement period*; and, Exclusion 2
	Individuals with a diagnosis of gestational diabetes or steroid-induced diabetes who do not have a visit with a diagnosis of diabetes mellitus in any setting during the measurement period.
	*Adapted from NCQA HEDIS 2013 (2013). Note: HEDIS uses a look-back period of one year prior to the measurement period for both the prescription data and diagnosis.
Exclusion Details	Table 5. Diagnostic Exclusions for Diabetes Denominator
	Exclusion 1
	Polycystic Ovaries
	ICD-9-CM: 256.4
	ICD-10-CM: E28.2
	Exclusion 2
	Steroid-Induced Diabetes
	ICD-9-CM: 249.xx, 251.8, 962.0
	ICD-10-CM: E08.00, E08.01, E08.10, E08.11, E08.21, E08.22, E08.29, E08.311, E08.319, E08.321, E08.329, E08.331, E08.339, E08.341, E08.349, E08.351, E08.359, E08.36, E08.39, E08.40, E08.41, E08.42, E08.43, E08.44, E08.49, E08.51, E08.52, E08.59, E08.610, E08.618, E08.620, E08.621, E08.622, E08.628, E08.630, E08.638, E08.641, E08.649, E08.65, E08.69, E08.8, E08.9, E09.00, E09.01, E09.10, E09.11, E09.21, E09.22, E09.29, E09.311, E09.319, E09.321, E09.329, E09.331, E09.339, E09.341, E09.349, E09.351, E09.359, E09.36, E09.39, E09.40, E09.41, E09.42, E09.43, E09.44, E09.49, E09.51, E09.52, E09.59, E09.610, E09.618, E09.620, E09.621, E09.622, E09.628, E09.630, E09.638, E09.641, E09.649, E09.65, E09.69, E09.8, E09.9, E16.8, T38.0X1A, T38.0X2A, T38.0X3A, T38.0X4A, T50.0X1A, T50.0X2A, T50.0X3A
	T50.0X4A
	Gestational Diabetes
	ICD-9-CM: 648.80, 648.81, 648.82, 648.83, 648.84
	ICD-10-CM: O24.410, O24.414, O24.419, O24.420, O24.424, O24.429, O24.430, O24.434, O24.439, O99.810, O99.814, O99.815
Risk Adjustment	No risk adjustment or risk stratification
	Not applicable
Stratification	Depending on the operational use of the measure, measure results may be stratified by:
	• State
	Accountable Care Organizations (ACOs)*
	• Plan
	Physician Group**
	• Age - Divided into 6 categories: 18-24, 25-44, 45-64, 65-74, 75-84, and 85+ years
	Race/Ethnicity
	Dual Eligibility
	*ACO attribution methodology is based on where the beneficiary is receiving the plurality of his/her primary care services and subsequently assigned to the participating providers.
Type Score	Rate/proportion better quality = higher score
Algorithm	To calculate Adherence to ACEIs/ARBs for Individuals with Diabetes Mellitus, Medicare administrative claims data and related files, as described in detail in Section S.24, will be

2467 Adherence to ACEIs/ARBs for Individuals with Diabetes Mellitus
required.
Denominator: Individuals at least 18 years of age as of the beginning of the measurement period with diabetes mellitus and at least two prescriptions for ACEIs/ARBs during the measurement period (12 consecutive months).
Create Denominator
1. Pull individuals who are 18 years of age or older as of the beginning of the measurement period.
2. Include individuals who were continuously enrolled in Part D coverage during the measurement year, with no more than a one-month gap in enrollment during the measurement year, or up until their death date if they died during the measurement period.
3. Include individuals who had no more than a one-month gap in Part A enrollment, no more than a one-month gap in Part B enrollment, and no more than one month of HMO enrollment during the current measurement period (FFS individuals only).
4. Of those individuals identified in Step 3, keep those who had:
At least two face-to-face encounters with a principal or secondary diagnosis of diabetes with different dates of service in an outpatient setting or non-acute inpatient setting during the measurement period;
OR
At least one face-to-face encounter with a principal or secondary diagnosis of diabetes in an acute inpatient setting or emergency department setting during the measurement period;
OR
At least one ambulatory prescription claim for insulin or other oral diabetes medication dispensed during the measurement period.
5. Of the individuals identified in Step 4, exclude those with a diagnosis of polycystic ovaries, gestational diabetes, or steroid-induced diabetes who do not have at least one face-to-face visit with a diagnosis of diabetes in any setting during the measurement period.
6. Pull all Part D claims for ACEIs and ARBs. Attach generic name and drug ID to the dataset.
7a. Keep individuals with at least two claims for ACEIs/ARBs on different dates of service during the measurement period.
7b. Of the individuals in Step 5, include those that are also in the ACEIs/ARBs class dataset created in Step 7a. This is the denominator.
7c. For each individual in the dataset created in Step 7b, identify the date of the first prescription in the measurement period as the index event.
Numerator: Individuals in the denominator with at least two prescriptions for ACEIs/ARBs with a PDC of at least 0.8 for ACEIs/ARBs.
Create Numerator
For the individuals in the denominator, calculate the PDC for each individual according to the following methods:
1. Determine the individual's measurement period, defined as the number of days from the index prescription date through the end of the measurement year, or death, whichever come first. Index date is the date of the first ACEIs/ARBs prescription in the measurement period.
2. Within the measurement period, count the days the individual was covered by at least one drug in the class based on the prescription fill date and days of supply.
a. Pull Part D claims for drugs in the respective drug class for individuals in the denominators. Attach drug ID and generic name to the datasets.
b. Sort and de-duplicate claims by beneficiary ID, service date, generic name, and descending days' supply. If prescriptions for the same drug (generic name) are dispensed on the same

	2467 Adherence to ACEIs/ARBs for Individuals with Diabetes Mellitus
	date of service for an individual, keep the dispensing with the largest days' supply.
	c. Calculate the number of days covered per individual for each drug class.
	i. For prescriptions with a days' supply that extends beyond the end of the measurement period, count only the days for which the drug was available to the individual during the measurement period.
	ii. If prescriptions for the same drug (generic name) overlap, then adjust the prescription start date to be the day after the previous fill has ended.
	iii. If prescriptions for different drugs (different generic names) overlap, do not adjust the prescription start date.
	3. Calculate the PDC for each individual. Divide the number of covered days found in Step 2 by the number of days in the individual's measurement period found in Step 1.
	An example of SAS code for Steps 1-3 was adapted from PQA and is also available at the URL: http://www2.sas.com/proceedings/forum2007/043-2007.pdf.
	4. Of the individuals identified in Numerator Step 3, count the number of individuals with a calculated PDC of at least 0.8 for the ACEIs/ARBs class. This is the numerator. Available in attached appendix at A.1
Submission items	5.1 Identified measures: 0055 : Comprehensive Diabetes Care: Eye Exam (retinal) performed 0056 : Diabetes: Foot Exam
	0057 : Comprehensive Diabetes Care: Hemoglobin A1c (HbA1c) testing
	0059 : Comprehensive Diabetes Care: Hemoglobin A1c (HbA1c) Poor Control (>9.0%)
	0061 : Comprehensive Diabetes Care: Blood Pressure Control (<140/90 mm Hg)
	0062 : Comprehensive Diabetes Care: Medical Attention for Nephropathy
	0063 : Comprehensive Diabetes Care: LDL-C Screening
	0064 : Comprehensive Diabetes Care: LDL-C Control <100 mg/dL
	0417 : Diabetic Foot & Ankle Care, Peripheral Neuropathy – Neurological Evaluation
	0541 : Proportion of Days Covered (PDC): 3 Rates by Therapeutic Category
	0542 : Adherence to Chronic Medications
	0543 : Adherence to Statin Therapy for Individuals with Coronary Artery Disease
	0575 : Comprehensive Diabetes Care: Hemoglobin A1c (HbA1c) Control (<8.0%)
	0604 : Adult(s) with diabetes mellitus that had a serum creatinine in last 12 reported months.
	0619 : Diabetes with Hypertension or Proteinuria - Use of an ACE Inhibitor or ARB
	0630 : Diabetes and Elevated HbA1C – Use of Diabetes Medications
	1879 : Adherence to Antipsychotic Medications for Individuals with Schizophrenia
	0416 : Diabetic Foot & Ankle Care, Ulcer Prevention – Evaluation of Footwear
	5a.1 Are specs completely harmonized? No
	5a.2 If not completely harmonized, identify difference, rationale, impact: NQF 2467 is related to and completely harmonized with the four NQF-endorsed measure that use the Proportion
	of Days Covered (PDC) method of calculating adherence. These four measures include one
	NQF-endorsed measure by PQA (NQF 0541) and three NQF-endorsed measures by CMS (NQF
	0542, 0543, and 1879). For the related measures that are not completely harmonized with
	NQF 2467, the following sections identify differences between these measures and NQF 2467,
	rationale, and impact on interpretability and data collection burden. Diabetes Measures by National Committee for Quality Assurance (NCQA) and Optum - NQF 2467 has the same target population (i.e., individuals with diabetes mellitus) as the nine Diabetes Measures developed

2467 Adherence to ACEIs/ARBs for Individuals with Diabetes Mellitus
by the National Committee for Quality Assurance (NCQA) and one measure developed by Optum. The nine NCQA measures (NQF 0055, 0056, 0057, 0059, 0061, 0062, 0063, 0064, and 0075) and the Optum measure (NQF 0604) are related to, but are not completely harmonized
with, NQF 2467. Differences Between NQF 2467 and NCQA and Optum Diabetes Measures -
Identification of Individuals with Diabetes Mellitus: NQF 2467 uses the same algorithm for identifying individuals with diabetes as the NCQA and Optum Diabetes Measures, which
entails using diagnosis codes and/or drug proxy to identify diabetes mellitus within the inpatient or outpatient claims data. However, NQF 2467 uses only claims for the 12-month
measurement period, whereas the NCQA and Optum Diabetes Measures use a look-back period of one year for both the prescription data and diagnosis data. In addition, the Optum
measure (NQF 0604) also uses a Disease Registry Input File, if available, to identify patients with diabetes mellitus. Age of Individuals Included in the Measure: NQF 2467 includes
individuals who are at least 18 years of age and older as of the beginning of the measurement year, whereas the NCQA and Optum Diabetes Measures include individuals who are 18-75
years as of December 31st of the measurement year. Rationale - NQF 2467 uses a one-year
time frame, rather than two years for the NCQA Diabetes measures, which allows more individuals (i.e., those with one year of data) to be included. NQF 2467 includes individuals 18
years and older, rather than 18-75 years for the NCQA and Optum measures, because many Medicare beneficiaries are over 75 years of age, and the guideline recommendations for the
medication therapies do not restrict to the 18-75 age group. Impact on interpretability - NQF 2467 is easier to interpret than the NCQA and Optum Diabetes measures because it focuses
on a single year and includes all adults 18 years and older. Data collection burden - The target
populations of NQF 2467 and the NCQA Diabetes measures are identified using administrative
claims or encounter data, so the data collection burden should be similar. The Optum Diabetes measure uses a Disease Registry Input File, if available, and therefore, may require more time
and resources than administrative data to identify patients with diabetes mellitus. Diabetes
Measures by American Podiatric Medical Association (APMA) - NQF 2467 has the same target population (i.e., individuals with diabetes mellitus) as the two Diabetes Measures by the
APMA (NQF 416 and 417). These two APMA measures are related to, but are not completely
harmonized with NQF 2467. Differences Between NQF 2467 and APMA Diabetes Measures -
Identification of Individuals with Diabetes Mellitus: NQF 2467 uses a different algorithm for identifying individuals with diabetes than the APMA Diabetes Measures. NQF 2467 requires
two outpatient or nonacute inpatient visits or one acute inpatient or emergency department
visit or a prescription claim for insulin or other anti-diabetic medication. However, the APMA
Diabetes Measures require only one claim for an outpatient visit or a nonacute inpatient visit or a selected procedure with a diagnosis of diabetes mellitus, but they do not use acute
inpatient data or pharmacy data for identifying individuals with diabetes. Rationale - NQF
2467 requires two claims so the coded outpatient or nonacute inpatient diagnosis is confirmed. Using only one outpatient diagnosis could lead to including individuals who do not
actually have diabetes. NQF 2467 uses acute inpatient and pharmacy data in the definition of
diabetes, in addition to outpatient and nonacute inpatient data, to capture as many
individuals with a diagnosis of diabetes as possible. Impact on interpretability - Requiring two
claims for an outpatient or nonacute inpatient diagnosis of diabetes will eliminate individuals who received a diagnosis of diabetes in error, or if it was coded as a rule-out diagnosis. If the
additional data sources (i.e., acute inpatient data and pharmacy data) are not used, only
individuals who have an outpatient or nonacute inpatient diagnosis of diabetes would be
included in the denominator; those with only an inpatient admission or a prescription for
diabetes would not be included. This might result in missing individuals with diabetes. Data collection burden - The target populations of NQF 2467 and the APMA Diabetes measures
both are identified using administrative claims or encounter data, so the data collection
burden should be similar. Diabetes Measures by ActiveHealth Management - NQF 2467 has

T
2467 Adherence to ACEIs/ARBs for Individuals with Diabetes Mellitus
2467 Adherence to ACEIs/ARBs for Individuals with Diabetes Mellitus the same target population (i.e., individuals with diabetes mellitus) as two Diabetes Measures by ActiveHealth Management, NQF 0619 and 0630. These two ActiveHealth Management measures are related to, but are not completely harmonized with, NQF 2467. Differences Between NQF 2467 and ActiveHealth Management Diabetes Measures - Identification of Individuals with Diabetes Mellitus: NQF 2467 uses an algorithm for identifying individuals with diabetes, which entails using diagnosis codes and/or drug proxy to identify diabetes mellitus within the inpatient or outpatient claims data during the 12-month measurement period. The two ActiveHealth Management Diabetes Measures require four diabetes mellitus diagnoses from administrative claims in the past 12 months, one diabetes mellitus diagnosis from electronic clinical data anytime in the past, one diabetes mellitus diagnosis in the electronic personal health record, or one diabetes mellitus diagnosis from administrative claims in the past five years plus filled prescriptions for diabetes medications, insulin, or a HbA1C value in the past 12 months. In addition, the target populations in the two ActiveHealth Management Diabetes Measures are further restricted either to those with diabetes mellitus and at least one elevated HbA1C in the past six months (NQF 0630). Age of Individuals Included in the Measure: NQF 2467 includes individuals who are at least 18 years of age as of the beginning of the measurement year, whereas the ActiveHealth Management Diabetes Measures include individuals who are 18-75 years of age. Rationale - The target population of NQF 2467 is defined on the basis of a diagnosis of diabetes mellitus and at least two prescriptions of ACEI/ARBs (Measure B). This denominator definition of NQF 2467 limits the measure to those individuals who have been on the medication long enough for the prescribing provider to determine that ACEI/ARB therapy is appropriate for the patient and is tolerated.
claims, electronic clinical data, patient data from electronic personal health records and feedback, provider survey). Therefore, NQF 2467 presents less of a data collection burden.
5b.1 If competing, why superior or rationale for additive value: Not applicable

	2468 Adherence to Oral Diabetes Agents for Individuals with Diabetes Mellitus
Status	Endorsed
Steward	Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services
Description	The measure addresses adherence to oral diabetes agents (ODA). The measure is reported as the percentage of eligible individuals with diabetes mellitus who had at least two prescriptions for a single oral diabetes agent or at least two prescriptions for multiple agents within a diabetes drug class and who have a Proportion of Days Covered (PDC) of at least 0.8 for at least one diabetes drug class during the measurement period (12 consecutive months)
Туре	Process
Data Source	Administrative claims, Other, Electronic Clinical Data : Pharmacy For measure calculation, the following Medicare files were required: • Denominator tables • Prescription drug benefit (Part D) coverage tables • Beneficiary file • Institutional claims (Part A) • Non-institutional claims (Part B)—physician carrier/non-DME • Prescription drug benefit (Part D) claims For ACO attribution, the following were required: • Denominator tables for Parts A and B enrollment • Prescription drug benefit (Part D) coverage tables • Beneficiary file • Institutional claims (Part A) • Non-institutional claims (Part A) • Non-institutional claims (Part A) • Non-institutional claims (Part A) • Institutional claims (Part A) • Non-institutional claims (Part D) claims For physician group attribution, the following were required: • Non-institutional claims (Part D) claims For physician group attribution, the following were required: • Non-institutional claims (Part B)—physician carrier/non-DME • Prescription drug benefit (Part D) claims For physician group attribution, the following were required: • Non-institutional claims (Part B)—physician carrier/non-DME • Denominator tables to determine individual enro
	No data collection instrument provided Attachment NQF2468Codes_TableODA.xls
Level	Clinician : Group/Practice, Health Plan, Integrated Delivery System, Population : State
Setting	Ambulatory Care : Clinician Office/Clinic
Time Window	The time period for data is defined as any time during the measurement period (12 consecutive months).
Numerator Statement	Individuals in the denominator with at least two prescriptions for oral diabetes agents, in any diabetes drug class, with a PDC of at least 0.8 for at least one diabetes drug class.
Numerator Details	 The numerator is defined as individuals with a PDC of 0.8 or greater. The PDC is calculated as follows: PDC Numerator: The PDC numerator is the sum of the days covered by the days' supply of all drug claims in each respective drug class. The period covered by the PDC starts on the day the first prescription is filled (index date) and lasts through the end of the measurement period, or death, whichever comes first. For prescriptions with a days' supply that extends beyond the end of the measurement period, count only the days for which the drug was available to the individual during the measurement period. If there are prescriptions for the same drug

	2468 Adherence to Oral Diabetes Agents for Individuals with Diabetes Mellitus
	(generic name) on the same date of service, keep the prescription with the largest days' supply. If prescriptions for the same drug (generic name) overlap, then adjust the prescription start date to be the day after the previous fill has ended.
	• PDC Denominator: The PDC denominator is the number of days from the first prescription date through the end of the measurement period, or death date, whichever comes first.
Denominator Statement	Individuals at least 18 years of age as of the beginning of the measurement period with diabetes mellitus and at least two prescriptions for a single oral diabetes agent or at least two prescriptions for multiple agents within a diabetes drug class during the measurement period (12 consecutive months).
Denominator	A separate denominator is calculated for each diabetes drug class.
Details	Target population meets the following conditions:
	1. Continuously enrolled in Part D with no more than a one-month gap in enrollment during the measurement year;
	2. Continuously enrolled in Part A and Part B with no more than a one-month gap in Part A enrollment and no more than a one-month gap in Part B enrollment during the measurement year; and,
	3. No more than one-month of HMO enrollment during the measurement year. IDENTIFICATION OF DIABETES MELLITUS
	Individuals with diabetes mellitus are identified using diagnosis codes and/or drug proxy to identify diabetes mellitus within the inpatient or outpatient claims data.*
	Individuals must have:
	At least two encounters with a principal or secondary diagnosis of diabetes with different dates of service in an outpatient setting or non-acute inpatient setting during the measurement period; OR
	At least one encounter with a principal or secondary diagnosis of diabetes in an acute inpatient or emergency department setting during the measurement period; OR
	At least one ambulatory prescription claim for insulin or other oral diabetes medication dispensed during the measurement period.
	*Adapted from NCQA HEDIS 2012 (2012). Note: HEDIS uses a look-back period of one year for both the prescription data and diagnosis.
	Table 1. Codes Used to Identify Diabetes Mellitus Diagnosis
	ICD-9-CM: 250.xx, 357.2, 362.01, 362.02, 362.03, 362.04, 362.05, 362.06, 362.07, 366.41, 648.00, 648.01, 648.02, 648.03, 648.04
	ICD-10-CM: E08.311, E08.319, E08.321, E08.329, E08.331, E08.339, E08.341, E08.349, E08.351 E08.359, E08.40, E08.42, E09.311, E09.319, E09.321, E09.329, E09.331, E09.339, E09.341, E09.349, E09.351, E09.359, E09.36, E09.40, E09.42, E10.10, E10.11, E10.21, E10.22, E10.29, E10.311, E10.319, E10.321, E10.329, E10.331, E10.339, E10.341, E10.349, E10.351, E10.359, E10.36, E10.39, E10.40, E10.41, E10.42, E10.43, E10.44, E10.49, E10.51, E10.52, E10.59,
	E10.610, E10.618, E10.620, E10.621, E10.622, E10.628, E10.630, E10.638, E10.641, E10.649, E10.65, E10.69, E10.8, E10.9, E11.00, E11.01, E11.21, E11.22, E11.29, E11.311, E11.319,
	E11.321, E11.329, E11.331, E11.339, E11.341, E11.349, E11.351, E11.359, E11.36, E11.39, E11.40, E11.41, E11.42, E11.43, E11.44, E11.49, E11.51, E11.52, E11.59, E11.610, E11.618, E11.620, E11.621, E11.622, E11.628, E11.630, E11.638, E11.641, E11.649, E11.65, E11.69, E11.8, E11.9, E13.00, E13.01, E13.10, E13.11, E13.21, E13.22, E13.29, E13.311, E13.319,
	E11.8, E11.9, E13.00, E13.01, E13.10, E13.11, E13.21, E13.22, E13.29, E13.311, E13.319, E13.321, E13.329, E13.331, E13.339, E13.341, E13.349, E13.351, E13.359, E13.36, E13.39, E13.40, E13.40, E13.41, E13.42, E13.43, E13.44, E13.49, E13.51, E13.52, E13.59, E13.610, E13.618,

2468 Adherence to Oral Diabetes Agents for Individuals with Diabetes Mellitus
E13.620, E13.621, E13.622, E13.628, E13.630, E13.638, E13.641, E13.649, E13.65, E13.69, E13.8, E13.9, O24.011, O24.012, O24.013, O24.019, O24.02, O24.03, O24.111, O24.112, O24.113, O24.119, O24.12, O24.13, O24.311, O24.312, O24.313, O24.319, O24.32, O24.33, O24.811, O24.812, O24.813, O24.819, O24.82, O24.83, O24.911, O24.912, O24.913, O24.919, O24.92, O24.93
DRG: 637,638
Codes Used to Identify Encounter Type
Table 2.1. Outpatient Setting
CPT: 92002, 92004, 92012, 92014, 99201-99205, 99211-99215, 99217-99220, 99241-99245, 99341-99345, 99347-99350, 99384-99387, 99394-99397, 99401-99404, 99411, 99412, 99420, 99429, 99425, 99455, 99456
UB-92 revenue: 051x, 0520-0523, 0526-0529, 057x-059x, 077x, 082x-085x, 088x, 0982, 0983 Table 2.2 Non-Acute Inpatient
CPT: 99304-99310, 99315, 99316, 99318, 99324-99328, 99334-99337
UB-92 revenue: 0118, 0128, 0138, 0148, 0158, 019x, 0524, 0525, 055x, 066x
Table 2.3 Acute Inpatient
CPT: 99221-99223, 99224-99226, 99231-99233, 99238, 99239, 99251-99255, 99291
UB-92 revenue: 010x, 0110-0114, 0119, 0120-0124, 0129, 0130-0134, 0139, 0140-0144, 0149, 0150-0154, 0159, 016x, 020x-022x, 072x, 080x, 0987
Table 2.4 Emergency Department
CPT: 99281-99285
UB-92 revenue: 045x, 0981
The following are the diabetic medications by class for the denominator. The route of administration includes all oral and injectable formulations of the medications listed below.
Table 3. Codes Used to Identify Diabetic Individuals
Alpha-glucosidase inhibitors:
acarbose
miglitol
Anti-diabetic amylin analogs:
pramlintide
Anti-diabetic combinations:
alogliptin-metformin
alogliptin-pioglitazone
glipizide-metformin
glyburide-metformin
pioglitazone-glimepiride
pioglitazone-metformin
rosiglitazone-glimepiride
rosiglitazone-metformin
saxagliptin-metformin
sitagliptin-metformin
repaglinide-metformin
sitagliptin-simvastatin
linagliptin- metformin
 Dipeptidyl peptidase-4 (dpp-4) inhibitors:

2468 Adherence to Oral Diabetes Agents for Individuals with Diabetes Mellitus
alogliptin
sitagliptin,
saxagliptin,
linagliptin
Incretin mimetics:
exenatide
liraglutide
Insulin:
insulin aspart
insulin aspart
protamine & aspart (human)
insulin detemir
insulin glargine
insulin glulisine
insulin isophane & reg (human)
insulin isophane (human)
insulin lispro (human)
insulin lispro protamine & lispro (human)
insulin regular (human)
Meglitinides:
nateglinide
repaglinide
Sodium-glucose cotransporter 2 Inhibitors:
canagliflozin
Sulfonylureas:
chlorpropamide
glimepiride
glipizide
glyburide
tolazamide
tolbutamide
glyburide micronized
Thiazolidinediones:
pioglitazone
rosiglitazone
The following are the oral diabetes agents by class for the denominator. The route of
administration includes all oral formulations of the medications listed below.
Table 4. Oral Diabetes Agents
Alpha-glucosidase inhibitors:
acarbose
miglitol
Anti-diabetic combinations:
alogliptin-metformin
 alogliptin-pioglitazone

	2468 Adherence to Oral Dishetes Agents for Individuals with Dishetes Mollitus
	2468 Adherence to Oral Diabetes Agents for Individuals with Diabetes Mellitus
	glipizide-metformin
	glyburide-metformin
	metformin -dietary management product
	pioglitazone-glimepiride
	pioglitazone-metformin
	rosiglitazone-glimepiride
	rosiglitazone-metformin
	sitagliptin-metformin
	repaglinide-metformin
	saxagliptin-metformin
	sitagliptin-simvastatin
	linagliptin-metformin
	Biguanides:
	metformin
	Dipeptidyl peptidase-4 (dpp-4) inhibitors:
	alogliptin
	sitagliptin
	saxagliptin
	linagliptin
	Meglitinides:
	nateglinide
	repaglinide
	Sodium-glucose cotransporter 2 inhibitor:
	canagliflozin
	Sulfonylureas:
	chlorpropamide
	glimepiride
	glipizide
	glyburide
	tolazamide
	tolbutamide
	glyburide micronized
	Thiazolidinediones:
	pioglitazone
	rosiglitazone
Exclusions	We excluded the following individuals from the denominator:
	Individuals with polycystic ovaries, gestational diabetes, or steroid-induced diabetes who do
	not have a face-to-face visit with a diagnosis of diabetes in any setting during the
	measurement period.
	Exclusion 1
	Individuals with a diagnosis of polycystic ovaries who do not have a visit with a diagnosis of
	diabetes in any setting during the measurement period*; and,
	Exclusion 2
	Individuals with a diagnosis of gestational diabetes or steroid-induced diabetes who do not
	have a visit with a diagnosis of diabetes mellitus in any setting during the measurement

	2468 Adherence to Oral Diabetes Agents for Individuals with Diabetes Mellitus
	period.
	*Adapted from NCQA HEDIS 2013 (2013). Note: HEDIS uses a look-back period of one year
	prior to the measurement period for both the prescription data and diagnosis.
Exclusion details	Table 5. Diagnostic Exclusions for Diabetes Denominator
	Exclusion 1
	Polycystic Ovaries
	ICD-9-CM: 256.4
	ICD-10-CM: E28.2
	Exclusion 2
	Steroid-Induced Diabetes
	ICD-9-CM: 249.xx, 251.8, 962.0
	ICD-10-CM: E08.00, E08.01, E08.10, E08.11, E08.21, E08.22, E08.29, E08.311, E08.319, E08.321, E08.329, E08.331, E08.339, E08.341, E08.349, E08.351, E08.359, E08.36, E08.39, E08.40, E08.41, E08.42, E08.43, E08.44, E08.49, E08.51, E08.52, E08.59, E08.610, E08.618, E08.620, E08.621, E08.622, E08.628, E08.630, E08.638, E08.641, E08.649, E08.65, E08.69, E08.8, E08.9, E09.00, E09.01, E09.10, E09.11, E09.21, E09.22, E09.29, E09.311, E09.319, E09.321, E09.329, E09.331, E09.339, E09.341, E09.349, E09.351, E09.359, E09.36, E09.39, E09.40, E09.41, E09.42, E09.43, E09.44, E09.49, E09.51, E09.52, E09.59, E09.610, E09.618, E09.620, E09.621, E09.622, E09.628, E09.630, E09.638, E09.641, E09.649, E09.65, E09.69, E09.8, E09.9, E16.8, T38.0X1A, T38.0X2A, T38.0X3A, T38.0X4A, T50.0X1A, T50.0X2A, T50.0X3A, T50.0X4A
	Gestational Diabetes
	ICD-9-CM: 648.80, 648.81, 648.82, 648.83, 648.84
	ICD-10-CM: O24.410, O24.414, O24.419, O24.420, O24.424, O24.429, O24.430, O24.434, O24.439, O99.810, O99.814, O99.815
Risk Adjustment	No risk adjustment or risk stratification
	Not applicable
Stratification	 Depending on the operational use of the measure, measure results may be stratified by: State Accountable Care Organizations (ACOs)* Plan Physician Group Age - Divided into 6 categories: 18-24, 25-44, 45-64, 65-74, 75-84, and 85+ years Race/Ethnicity Dual Eligibility *ACO attribution methodology is based on where the beneficiary is receiving the plurality of his/her primary care services and subsequently assigned to the participating providers.
Type Score	Rate/proportion better quality = higher score
Algorithm	To calculate Adherence to Oral Diabetes Agents for Individuals with Diabetes Mellitus, Medicare administrative claims data and related files, as described in detail in Section S.24, will be required. Denominator: Individuals at least 18 years of age as of the beginning of the measurement period with diabetes mellitus and at least two prescriptions for a single oral diabetes agent or
	at least two prescriptions for multiple agents within a diabetes drug class during the measurement period (12 consecutive months).
	Create Denominator

 2468 Adherence to Oral Diabetes Agents for Individuals with Diabetes Mellitus
1. Pull individuals who are 18 years of age or older as of the beginning of the measurement period.
2. Include individuals who were continuously enrolled in Part D coverage during the measurement year, with no more than a one-month gap in enrollment during the measurement year, or up until their death date if they died during the measurement period.
3. Include individuals who had no more than a one-month gap in Part A enrollment, no more than a one-month gap in Part B enrollment, and no more than one month of HMO enrollment during the current measurement period (FFS individuals only).
4. Of those individuals identified in Step 3, keep those who had:
At least two face-to-face encounters with a principal or secondary diagnosis of diabetes with different dates of service in an outpatient setting or non-acute inpatient setting during the measurement period;
OR
At least one face-to-face encounter with a principal or secondary diagnosis of diabetes in an acute inpatient setting or emergency department setting during the measurement period; OR
At least one ambulatory prescription claim for insulin or other oral diabetes medication dispensed during the measurement period.
5. Of the individuals identified in Step 4, exclude those with a diagnosis of polycystic ovaries, gestational diabetes, or steroid-induced diabetes who do not have at least one face-to-face visit with a diagnosis of diabetes in any setting during the measurement period.
6. Pull all Part D claims for oral diabetes agents. Attach generic name and drug ID to the dataset.
7a. Classify the claims into one of eight diabetes drug classes
Alpha-glucosidase inhibitors
Anti-diabetic combinations
• Biguanides
 Dipeptidyl peptidase-4 (dpp-4) inhibitors
Meglitinides
Sodium-glucose cotransporter 2 inhibitors
• Sulfonylureas
• Thiazolidinediones (drug category=Insulin sensitizing agents)
7b. Keep individuals with at least two claims for a drug in the corresponding diabetes drug class on different dates of service during the measurement period.
7c. Of the individuals not excluded in Step 5, keep those that are also in the drug class dataset created in Step 7b.
7d. For each individual in each diabetes drug class dataset created in Step 7c, identify the date of the first prescription in the measurement year as the index event.
7e. Concatenate the eight diabetes drug class denominator datasets created in Step 7c. De- duplicate the full dataset by the beneficiary identifier to determine the number of unique individuals in the oral diabetes agent denominator.
Numerator: Individuals in the denominator with at least two prescriptions for oral diabetes agents, in any diabetes drug class, with a PDC of at least 0.8 for at least one diabetes drug class.
Create Numerator
For the individuals in the eight diabetes drug denominator datasets (created in Denominator Step 7d), calculate the PDC for each individual according to the following methods:

	2468 Adherence to Oral Diabetes Agents for Individuals with Diabetes Mellitus
	1. Determine the individual's measurement period, defined as the number of days from the index prescription date through the end of the measurement year, or death, whichever comes first. Index date is the date of the first prescription in the measurement period.
	2. Within the measurement period, count the days the individual was covered by at least one drug in the class based on the prescription fill date and days of supply.
	a. Pull Part D claims for drugs in the respective drug class for individuals in the denominators. Attach drug ID and generic name to the datasets.
	b. Sort and de-duplicate claims by beneficiary ID, service date, generic name, and descending days' supply. If prescriptions for the same drug (generic name) are dispensed on the same date of service for an individual, keep the dispensing with the largest days' supply.
	c. Calculate the number of days covered per individual for each drug class.
	i. For prescriptions with a days' supply that extends beyond the end of the measurement period, count only the days for which the drug was available to the individual during the measurement period.
	ii. If prescriptions for the same drug (generic name) overlap, then adjust the prescription start date to be the day after the previous fill has ended.
	iii. If prescriptions for different drugs (different generic names) overlap, do not adjust the prescription start date.
	3. Calculate the PDC for each individual. Divide the number of covered days found in Step 2 by the number of days in the individual's measurement period found in Step 1.
	An example of SAS code for Steps 1-3 was adapted from PQA and is also available at the URL: http://www2.sas.com/proceedings/forum2007/043-2007.pdf.
	4. Of the individuals identified in Numerator Step 3, count the number of individuals with a calculated PDC of at least 0.8 for each drug class. This will create eight diabetes drug numerator datasets, which will be used to calculate the numerator.
	5. Merge the eight diabetes drug numerator datasets created in Numerator Step 4 by beneficiary identifier, so a dataset is created with the unique beneficiary identifier and the eight separate PDCs for each oral diabetes drug class. If a PDC does not exist for a certain oral diabetes drug class for an individual, it will be set to missing.
	6. For each individual, if any of the eight oral diabetes drug PDCs are at least 0.8, then that individual is included in the numerator. Available in attached appendix at A.1
Copyright / Disclaimer	5.1 Identified measures: 0055 : Comprehensive Diabetes Care: Eye Exam (retinal) performed 0056 : Diabetes: Foot Exam
	0057 : Comprehensive Diabetes Care: Hemoglobin A1c (HbA1c) testing
	0059 : Comprehensive Diabetes Care: Hemoglobin A1c (HbA1c) Poor Control (>9.0%)
	0061 : Comprehensive Diabetes Care: Blood Pressure Control (<140/90 mm Hg)
	0062 : Comprehensive Diabetes Care: Medical Attention for Nephropathy
	0063 : Comprehensive Diabetes Care: LDL-C Screening
	0064 : Comprehensive Diabetes Care: LDL-C Control <100 mg/dL
	0417 : Diabetic Foot & Ankle Care, Peripheral Neuropathy – Neurological Evaluation
	0541 : Proportion of Days Covered (PDC): 3 Rates by Therapeutic Category
	0542 : Adherence to Chronic Medications
	0543 : Adherence to Statin Therapy for Individuals with Cardiovascular Disease
	0575 : Comprehensive Diabetes Care: Hemoglobin A1c (HbA1c) Control (<8.0%)
	0604 : Adult(s) with diabetes mellitus that had a serum creatinine in last 12 reported months.
	0619 : Diabetes with Hypertension or Proteinuria - Use of an ACE Inhibitor or ARB
	0630 : Diabetes and Elevated HbA1C – Use of Diabetes Medications

2468 Adherence to Oral Diabetes Agents for Individuals with Diabetes Mellitus
1879 : Adherence to Antipsychotic Medications for Individuals with Schizophrenia
0416 : Diabetic Foot & Ankle Care, Ulcer Prevention – Evaluation of Footwear
5a.1 Are specs completely harmonized? No
5a.2 If not completely harmonized, identify difference, rationale, impact: NQF 2468 is related
to and completely harmonized with the five NQF-endorsed measure that use the Proportion of
Days Covered (PDC) method of calculating adherence. These five measures include one NQF-
endorsed measure by PQA (NQF 0541) and three NQF-endorsed measures by CMS (NQF 0542, 0543, and 1879). For the related measures that are not completely harmonized with NQF
2468, the following sections identify differences between these measures and NQF 2468,
rationale, and impact on interpretability and data collection burden. Diabetes Measures by
National Committee for Quality Assurance (NCQA) and Optum - NQF 2468 has the same target
population (i.e., individuals with diabetes mellitus) as the nine Diabetes Measures developed
by the National Committee for Quality Assurance (NCQA) and one measure developed by
Optum. The nine NCQA measures (NQF 0055, 0056, 0057, 0059, 0061, 0062, 0063, 0064, and
0075) and the Optum measure (NQF 0604) are related to, but are not completely harmonized
with, NQF 2468. Differences Between NQF 2468 and NCQA and Optum Diabetes Measures -
Identification of Individuals with Diabetes Mellitus: NQF 2468 uses the same algorithm for
identifying individuals with diabetes as the NCQA and Optum Diabetes Measures, which entails using diagnosis codes and/or drug proxy to identify diabetes mellitus within the
inpatient or outpatient claims data. However, NQF 2468 uses only claims for the 12-month
measurement period, whereas the NCQA and Optum Diabetes Measures use a look-back
period of one year for both the prescription data and diagnosis data. In addition, the Optum
measure (NQF 0604) also uses a Disease Registry Input File, if available, to identify patients
with diabetes mellitus. Age of Individuals Included in the Measure: NQF 2468 includes
individuals who are at least 18 years of age and older as of the beginning of the measurement
year, whereas the NCQA and Optum Diabetes Measures include individuals who are 18-75
years as of December 31st of the measurement year. Rationale - NQF 2468 uses a one-year
time frame, rather than two years for the NCQA Diabetes measures, which allows more
individuals with one year of data to be included. NQF 2468 includes individuals 18 years and older, rather than 18-75 years for the NCQA and Optum measures, because many Medicare
beneficiaries are over 75 years of age, and the guideline recommendations for the medication
therapies do not restrict to the 18-75 age group. Impact on interpretability - NQF 2468 is
easier to interpret than the NCQA and Optum Diabetes measures because it focuses on a
single year and includes all adults 18 years and older. Data collection burden - The target
populations of NQF 2468 and the NCQA Diabetes measures are identified using administrative
claims or encounter data, so the data collection burden should be similar. The Optum Diabetes
measure uses a Disease Registry Input File, if available, and therefore, may require more time
and resources than administrative data to identify patients with diabetes mellitus. Diabetes
Measures by American Podiatric Medical Association (APMA) - NQF 2468 has the same target population (i.e., individuals with diabetes mellitus) as the two Diabetes Measures by the
APMA (NQF 416 and 417). These two APMA measures are related to, but are not completely
harmonized with NQF 2468. Differences Between NQF 2468 and APMA Diabetes Measures -
Identification of Individuals with Diabetes Mellitus: NQF 2468 uses a different algorithm for
identifying individuals with diabetes than the APMA Diabetes Measures. NQF 2468 requires
two outpatient or nonacute inpatient visits or one acute inpatient or emergency department
visit or a prescription claim for insulin or other diabetes medication. However, the APMA
Diabetes Measures require only one claim for an outpatient visit or a nonacute inpatient visit
or a selected procedure with a diagnosis of diabetes mellitus, but they do not use acute
inpatient data or pharmacy data for identifying individuals with diabetes. Rationale - NQF
2468 Adherence to Oral Diabetes Agents for Individuals with Diabetes Mellitus

2468 Adherence to Oral Diabetes Agents for Individuals with Diabetes Mellitus 2468 requires two claims so the coded outpatient or nonacute inpatient diagnosis is confirmed. Using only one outpatient diagnosis could lead to including individuals who do not actually have diabetes. NQE 2468 uses acute inpatient data, to capture as many individuals with a diagnosis of diabetes as possible. Impact on interpretability - Requiring two claims for an outpatient or nonacute inpatient diagnosis of diabetes will eliminate individuals who received a diagnosis of diabetes in error, or if it was coded as a rule-out diagnosis. If the additional data sources (i.e., acute inpatient data and pharmacy data) are not used, only individuals who have an outpatient or nonacute inpatient diagnosis of diabetes would be included in the denominator; those with only an inpatient admission or a prescription for diabetes would not be included. This might result in missing individuals with diabetes. Data collection burden - The target populations of NGE 2468 and the APMA Diabetes measures both are identified using administrative claims or encounter data, so the data collection burden should be similar. Diabetes Measures by ActiveHealth Management NQF 2468 has the same target population (i.e., individuals with diabetes mellitus) as the following two Diabetes Measures by ActiveHealth Management (NQF 6619 and 0630). These two ActiveHealth Management measures are related to, but are not completely harmonized with, NQF 2468. Differences Between NQF 2468 and ActiveHealth Management Diabetes Measures - Identification of Individuals with Diabetes Mellitus: NQF 2468 uses an algorithm for identify diabetes mellitus within the inpatient or outpatient claims data during the 12-month, measurement period. The two ActiveHealth Management Diabetes Measures require four diabetes mellitus diagnosis from electronic clinical data anytime in the past, one diabetes mellitus diagnosis in the electronic personal health record, or one diabetes mellitus diagnosis for d
burden.
5b.1 If competing, why superior or rationale for additive value: Not applicable

Appendix F: Related and Competing Measures

Comparison of NQF #0059, 0575 and 0057

Steward Description	0057: Comprehensive Diabetes Care: Hemoglobin A1c (HbA1c) testing National Committee for Quality Assurance The percentage of patients 18-75 years of age with diabetes (type 1 and type 2) who received an HbA1c test during the measurement year.	0059: Comprehensive Diabetes Care: Hemoglobin A1c (HbA1c) Poor Control (>9.0%) National Committee for Quality Assurance The percentage of patients 18-75 years of age with diabetes (type 1 and type 2) whose most recent HbA1c level during the measurement year was greater than 9.0% (poor control) or was missing a result, or if an HbA1c test was not done during the measurement year.	0575: Comprehensive Diabetes Care: Hemoglobin A1c (HbA1c) Control (<8.0%) National Committee for Quality Assurance The percentage of patients 18-75 years of age with diabetes (type 1 and type 2) whose most recent HbA1c level is <8.0% during the measurement year.		
Туре	Process	Outcome	Outcome		
Data Source	Administrative claims, Electronic Clinical Data : Electronic Health Record, Electronic Clinical Data : Laboratory, Paper Medical Records This measure is based on administrative claims and medical record documentation collected in the course of providing care to health plan members. NCQA collects the Healthcare Effectiveness Data and Information Set (HEDIS) data for this measure directly from Health Management Organizations and Preferred Provider Organizations via NCQA's online data submission system. No data collection instrument provided Attachment 0057_CDC_HbA1c_Testing_ Value_Sets- 635219472851147197.xlsx	Administrative claims, Electronic Clinical Data, Electronic Clinical Data : Laboratory, Paper Medical Records, Electronic Clinical Data : Pharmacy This measure is based on administrative claims and medical record documentation collected in the course of providing care to health plan patients. NCQA collects the Healthcare Effectiveness Data and Information Set (HEDIS) data for this measure directly from Health Management Organizations and Preferred Provider Organizations via NCQA's online data submission system. No data collection instrument provided Attachment 0059_CDC_HbA1c_Poor_Control_ Value_Sets- 635219472170982837.xlsx	Administrative claims, Electronic Clinical Data, Electronic Clinical Data : Laboratory, Paper Medical Records, Electronic Clinical Data : Pharmacy This measure is based on administrative claims and medical record documentation collected in the course of providing care to health plan patients. NCQA collects the Healthcare Effectiveness Data and Information Set (HEDIS) data for this measure directly from Health Management Organizations and Preferred Provider Organizations via NCQA's online data submission system. No data collection instrument provided Attachment 0575_CDC_HbA1c_Control_Va lue_Sets- 635219475215342352.xlsx		
Level	Health Plan, Integrated Delivery System	Clinician : Group/Practice, Health Plan, Clinician : Individual, Integrated Delivery System, Population : National, Population : Regional, Population : State	Clinician : Group/Practice, Health Plan, Clinician : Individual, Integrated Delivery System		

	0057: Comprehensive	0059: Comprehensive Diabetes	0575: Comprehensive				
	Diabetes Care: Hemoglobin	Care: Hemoglobin A1c (HbA1c)	Diabetes Care: Hemoglobin				
	A1c (HbA1c) testing	Poor Control (>9.0%)	A1c (HbA1c) Control (<8.0%)				
Setting	Ambulatory Care : Clinician	Ambulatory Care : Clinician	Ambulatory Care : Clinician				
	Office/Clinic	Office/Clinic	Office/Clinic				
Numerator Statement	Patients who had an HbA1c test performed during the measurement year.	Patients whose most recent HbA1c level is greater than 9.0% or is missing a result, or for whom an HbA1c test was not done during the measurement year. The outcome is an out of range result of an HbA1c test, indicating poor control of diabetes. Poor control puts the individual at risk for complications including renal failure, blindness, and neurologic damage. There is no need for risk adjustment for this intermediate outcome measure.	Patients whose most recent HbA1c level is less than 8.0% during the measurement year. The outcome is a result of an HbA1c test, indicating desirable control of diabetes. Poor control puts the individual at risk for complications including renal failure, blindness, and neurologic damage. There is no need for risk adjustment for this intermediate outcome.				
Numerator Details	ADMINISTRATIVE CLAIMS: Due to the extensive volume of codes associated with identifying numerator events for this measure, we are attaching a separate file with code value sets. See code value sets located in question S.2b. MEDICAL RECORD: At a minimum, documentation in the medical record must include a note indicating the date when the HbA1c test was performed and the result. The patient is numerator compliant if the HbA1c test completed during the measurement year and result are documented. The patient is not numerator compliant if the HbA1c test and result are missing. Ranges and thresholds do not meet criteria for this measure. A distinct numeric result is required for numerator compliance.	ADMINISTRATIVE CLAIMS: Due to the extensive volume of codes associated with identifying numerator events for this measure, we are attaching a separate file with code value sets. See code value sets located in question S.2b. MEDICAL RECORD: At a minimum, documentation in the medical record must include a note indicating the date when the HbA1c test was performed and the result. The patient is numerator compliant if the result for the most recent HbA1c level during the measurement year is >9.0% or is missing, or if an HbA1c test was not done during the measurement year. The patient is not numerator compliant if the result for the most recent HbA1c level during the measurement year is =9.0%. Ranges and thresholds do not meet criteria for this measure. A distinct numeric result is required for numerator compliance. *A lower rate indicates better performance for this indicator (i.e., low rates of poor control indicate better care).	ADMINISTRATIVE CLAIMS: Due to the extensive volume of codes associated with identifying numerator events for this measure, we are attaching a separate file with code value sets. See code value sets located in question S.2b. MEDICAL RECORD: At a minimum, documentation in the medical record must include a note indicating the date when the HbA1c test was performed and the result. The patient is numerator compliant if the result for the most recent HbA1c level during the measurement year is <8.0%. The patient is not numerator compliant if the result for the most recent HbA1c level during the measurement year is >8.0% or is missing, or if an HbA1c test was not performed during the measurement year. Ranges and thresholds do not meet criteria for this measure. A distinct numeric result is required for numerator compliance.				

	0057: Comprehensive Diabetes Care: Hemoglobin A1c (HbA1c) testing	0059: Comprehensive Diabetes Care: Hemoglobin A1c (HbA1c) Poor Control (>9.0%)	0575: Comprehensive Diabetes Care: Hemoglobin A1c (HbA1c) Control (<8.0%)
Denominat or Statement	Patients 18-75 years of age by the end of the measurement year who had a diagnosis of diabetes (type 1 or type 2) during the measurement year or the year prior to the measurement year.	Patients 18-75 years of age by the end of the measurement year who had a diagnosis of diabetes (type 1 or type 2) during the measurement year or the year prior to the measurement year.	Patients 18-75 years of age by the end of the measurement year who had a diagnosis of diabetes (type 1 or type 2) during the measurement year or the year prior to the measurement year.
Denominat or Details	Patients with diabetes can be identified two ways: CLAIM/ENCOUNTER DATA: -Patients who had at least two outpatient visits, observation visits or nonacute inpatient encounters on different dates of service, with a diagnosis of diabetes. Visit type need not be the same for the two visits. -Patients with at least one acute inpatient encounter	Patients with diabetes can be identified two ways: -CLAIM/ENCOUNTER DATA: -Patients who had at least two outpatient visits, observation visits or nonacute inpatient encounters on different dates of service, with a diagnosis of diabetes. Visit type need not be the same for the two visits. -Patients with at least one acute inpatient encounter with a diagnosis of diabetes.	Patients with diabetes can be identified two ways: CLAIM/ENCOUNTER DATA: -Patients who had at least two outpatient visits, observation visits or nonacute inpatient encounters on different dates of service, with a diagnosis of diabetes. Visit type need not be the same for the two visits. -Patients with at least one acute inpatient encounter with a diagnosis of diabetes.
	 with a diagnosis of diabetes. -Patients with at least one ED visit with a diagnosis of diabetes. *SEE ATTACHED EXCEL FILE FOR CODE VALUE SETS INCLUDED IN QUESTION S.2B PHARMACY DATA: Patients who were dispensed insulin or hypoglycemics/antihypergly cemics on an ambulatory basis during the 	 -Patients with at least one ED visit with a diagnosis of diabetes. *SEE ATTACHED EXCEL FILE FOR CODE VALUE SETS INCLUDED IN QUESTION S.2B -PHARMACY DATA: Patients who were dispensed insulin or hypoglycemics/antihyperglycemics on an ambulatory basis during the measurement year or the year prior to the measurement year or the year (Table CDC-A). PRESCRIPTIONS TO IDENTIFY PATIENTS WITH DIABETES (TABLE CDC-A): 	-Patients with at least one ED visit with a diagnosis of diabetes. *SEE ATTACHED EXCEL FILE FOR CODE VALUE SETS INCLUDED IN QUESTION S.2B PHARMACY DATA: Patients who were dispensed insulin or hypoglycemics/antihyperglyce mics on an ambulatory basis during the measurement year or the year prior to the measurement year (Table CDC-A).
	measurement year or the year prior to the measurement year (Table CDC-A). PRESCRIPTIONS TO IDENTIFY MEMBERS WITH DIABETES (Table CDC-A) Alpha-glucosidase inhibitors: Acarbose, Miglitol Amylin analogs:	Alpha-glucosidase inhibitors: Acarbose, Miglitol Amylin analogs: Pramlinitide Antidiabetic combinations: Glimepiride-pioglitazone, Glimepiride-rosiglitazone, Glipizide-metformin, Glyburide- metformin, Linagliptin- metaformin, Metformin- pioglitazone, Metformin-	PRESCRIPTIONS TO IDENTIFY PATIENTS WITH DIABETES (TABLE CDC-A): Alpha-glucosidase inhibitors: Acarbose, Miglitol Amylin analogs: Pramlinitide Antidiabetic combinations: Glimepiride-pioglitazone, Glimepiride-rosiglitazone, Glipizide-metformin,

Exclusions	0057: Comprehensive Diabetes Care: Hemoglobin A1c (HbA1c) testing Pramlinitide Antidiabetic combinations: Glimepiride-pioglitazone, Glimepiride-rosiglitazone, Glipizide-metformin, Metformin-pioglitazone, Metformin-sitagliptin, Saxagliptin, Sitagliptin- simvastatin Insulin: Insulin aspart, Insulin aspart- insulin aspart protamine, Insulin detemir, Insulin glargine, Insulin glulisine, Insulin detemir, Insulin isophane beef-pork, Insulin isophane human, Insulin isophane, Insulin lispro- insulin lispro protamine, Insulin regular human, Meglitinides: Nateglinide, Repaglinide Miscellaneous antidiabetic agents: Exenatide, Liraglutide, Metformin-repaglinide, Sitagliptin Sulfonylureas: Acetohexamide, Chlorpropamide, Glimepiride, Glipizide, Glyburide, Tolazamide, Tolbutamide Thiazolidinediones: Pioglitazone, Rosiglitazone	0059: Comprehensive Diabetes Care: Hemoglobin A1c (HbA1c) Poor Control (>9.0%) rosiglitazone, Metaformin- saxagliptin, Metformin-sitagliptin, Saxagliptin, Sitagliptin-simvastatin Insulin Insulin aspart, Insulin aspart- insulin aspart protamine, Insulin detemir, Insulin glargine, Insulin glulisine, Insulin inhalation, Insulin isophane beef-pork, Insulin isophane human, Insulin isophane- insulin regular, Insulin lispro, Insulin lispro-insulin lispro protamine, Insulin regular human Meglitinides: Nateglinide, Repaglinide Miscellaneous antidiabetic agents: Exenatide, Linagliptin, Liraglutide, Metformin-repaglinide, Sitagliptin Sodium glucose cotransporter 2 (SGLT2) inhibitor: Canagliflozin Sulfonylureas: Acetohexamide, Chlorpropamide, Glimepiride, Glipizide, Glyburide, Tolazamide, Tolbutamide Thiazolidinediones: Pioglitazone, Rosiglitazone	0575: Comprehensive Diabetes Care: Hemoglobin A1c (HbA1c) Control (<8.0%) Glyburide-metformin, Linagliptin-metaformin, Metformin-pioglitazone, Metaformin-saxagliptin, Saxagliptin, Sitagliptin- simvastatin Insulin: Insulin aspart, Insulin aspart- insulin aspart protamine, Insulin detemir, Insulin glargine, Insulin gluisine, Insulin detemir, Insulin isophane beef-pork, Insulin isophane human, Insulin isophane human, Insulin isophane human, Insulin isophane human, Sulin isophane human, Insulin isophane human, Insulin isophane seef-pork, Insulin isophane human, Insulin isophane seef-pork, Insulin isophane human, Insulin isophane human, Insulin isophane seef-pork, Insulin isophane human, Insulin isophane human, Insulin isophane human, Insulin isophane human, Insulin isophane human, Insulin isophane human Meglitinides: Nateglinide, Repaglinide Miscellaneous antidiabetic agents: Exenatide, Linagliptin, Liraglutide, Metformin- repaglinide, Sitagliptin Sodium glucose cotransporter 2 (SGLT2) inhibitor: Canagliflozin Sulfonylureas: Acetohexamide, Chlorpropamide, Glimepiride, Glipizide, Glyburide, Tolazamide, Tolbutamide Thiazolidinediones: Pioglitazone, Rosiglitazone
	-Exclude patients who did	-Exclude patients who did not have	-Exclude patients who did not
	not have a diagnosis of	a diagnosis of diabetes, in any	have a diagnosis of diabetes,
	diabetes, in any setting,	setting, during the measurement	in any setting, during the
	during the measurement	year or the year prior to the	measurement year or the year
	year or the year prior to the	measurement year.	prior to the measurement
	measurement year.	AND	year.
	AND	-Exclude patients who meet either	AND

	0057: Comprehensive Diabetes Care: Hemoglobin A1c (HbA1c) testing	0059: Comprehensive Diabetes Care: Hemoglobin A1c (HbA1c) Poor Control (>9.0%)	0575: Comprehensive Diabetes Care: Hemoglobin A1c (HbA1c) Control (<8.0%)
	 -Exclude patients who meet either of the following criteria: -A diagnosis of polycystic ovaries, in any setting, any time in the patient's history through December 31 of the measurement year. -A diagnosis of gestational or steroid-induced diabetes, in any setting, during the measurement year or the year prior to the measurement year. 	of the following criteria: -A diagnosis of polycystic ovaries, in any setting, any time in the patient's history through December 31 of the measurement year. -A diagnosis of gestational or steroid-induced diabetes, in any setting, during the measurement year or the year prior to the measurement year.	 -Exclude patients who meet either of the following criteria: -A diagnosis of polycystic ovaries, in any setting, any time in the patient's history through December 31 of the measurement year. -A diagnosis of gestational or steroid-induced diabetes, in any setting, during the measurement year or the year prior to the measurement year.
Exclusion Details	ADMINISTRATIVE CLAIMS: Due to the extensive volume of codes associated with identifying the denominator for this measure, we are attaching a separate file with code value sets. See code value sets located in question S.2b. MEDICAL RECORD Exclusionary evidence in the medical record must include a note indicating a diagnosis of polycystic ovaries at any time in the member's history, but must have occurred by the end of the measurement year. The member must not have a face-to-face encounter in any setting, with a diagnosis of diabetes, during the measurement year or year prior to the measurement year. Exclusionary evidence in the medical record must include a note indicating a diagnosis of gestational or steroid- induced diabetes during the measurement year or the year prior to the measurement year. The measurement year or the year prior to the measurement year or the year prior to the measurement year. The measurement year or the year prior to the measurement year. The member must not have a	ADMINISTRATIVE CLAIMS: Due to the extensive volume of codes associated with identifying the denominator for this measure, we are attaching a separate file with code value sets. See code value sets located in question S.2b. MEDICAL RECORD: -Exclusionary evidence in the medical record must include a note indicating the patient did not have a diagnosis of diabetes, in any setting, during the measurement year or the year prior to the measurement year and had a diagnosis of polycystic ovaries any time in the patient's history through December 31 of the measurement year. OR -Exclusionary evidence in the medical record must include a note indicating the patient did not have a diagnosis of diabetes, in any setting, during the measurement year or the year prior to the measurement year and a diagnosis of gestational or steroid-induced diabetes, in any setting, during the measurement year or the year prior to the measurement year.	ADMINISTRATIVE CLAIMS: Due to the extensive volume of codes associated with identifying the denominator for this measure, we are attaching a separate file with code value sets. See code value sets located in question S.2b. MEDICAL RECORD: -Exclusionary evidence in the medical record must include a note indicating the patient did not have a diagnosis of diabetes, in any setting, during the measurement year or the year prior to the measurement year and had a diagnosis of polycystic ovaries any time in the patient's history through December 31 of the measurement year. OR -Exclusionary evidence in the medical record must include a note indicating the patient did not have a diagnosis of diabetes, in any setting, during the measurement year. OR

	0057: Comprehensive Diabetes Care: Hemoglobin A1c (HbA1c) testing	0059: Comprehensive Diabetes Care: Hemoglobin A1c (HbA1c) Poor Control (>9.0%)	0575: Comprehensive Diabetes Care: Hemoglobin A1c (HbA1c) Control (<8.0%)
	face-to-face encounter in any setting, with a diagnosis of diabetes, during the measurement year or the year prior to the measurement year.		prior to the measurement year.
Risk Adjustment	No risk adjustment or risk stratification N/A	No risk adjustment or risk stratification N/A	No risk adjustment or risk stratification N/A
Stratificatio n	N/A	N/A	N/A
Type Score	Rate/proportion better quality = higher score	Rate/proportion better quality = lower score	Rate/proportion better quality = higher score
Algorithm	STEP 1. Determine the eligible population. To do so, identify patients who meet all the specified criteria. -AGES: 18-75 years as of December 31 of the measurement year. -EVENT/DIAGNOSIS: Identify patients with diabetes in two ways: by claim/encounter data and by pharmacy data. Claim/Encounter Data: -Patients who had at least two outpatient visits, observation visits or nonacute inpatient encounters on different dates of service, with a diagnosis of diabetes. Visit type need not be the same for the two visits. -Patients with at least one acute inpatient encounter with a diagnosis of diabetes. -Patients with at least one ED visit with a tleast one ED visit with a diagnosis of diabetes. *SEE ATTACHED EXCEL FILE FOR CODE VALUE SETS INCLUDED IN QUESTION	STEP 1. Determine the eligible population. To do so, identify patients who meet all the specified criteria. -AGES: 18-75 years as of December 31 of the measurement year. -EVENT/DIAGNOSIS: Identify patients with diabetes in two ways: by claim/encounter data and by pharmacy data. Claim/Encounter Data: -Patients who had at least two outpatient visits, observation visits or nonacute inpatient encounters on different dates of service, with a diagnosis of diabetes. Visit type need not be the same for the two visits. -Patients with at least one acute inpatient encounter with a diagnosis of diabetes. -Patients with at least one ED visit with a diagnosis of diabetes. *SEE ATTACHED EXCEL FILE FOR CODE VALUE SETS INCLUDED IN QUESTION S.2B Pharmacy Data: Patients who were dispensed insulin or hypoglycemics/antihyperglycemics on an ambulatory basis during the measurement year or the year	STEP 1. Determine the eligible population. To do so, identify patients who meet all the specified criteria. -AGES: 18-75 years as of December 31 of the measurement year. -EVENT/DIAGNOSIS: Identify patients with diabetes in two ways: by claim/encounter data and by pharmacy data. Claim/Encounter Data: -Patients who had at least two outpatient visits, observation visits or nonacute inpatient encounters on different dates of service, with a diagnosis of diabetes. Visit type need not be the same for the two visits. -Patients with at least one acute inpatient encounter with a diagnosis of diabetes. -Patients with at least one ED visit with a diagnosis of diabetes. *SEE ATTACHED EXCEL FILE FOR CODE VALUE SETS INCLUDED IN QUESTION S.2B Pharmacy Data: Patients who were dispensed insulin or hypoglycemics/antihyperglyce
	S.2B Pharmacy Data:	prior to the measurement year. *SEE PRESCRIPTIONS TO IDENTIFY	mics on an ambulatory basis during the measurement year

	0057: Comprehensive	0059: Comprehensive Diabetes	0575: Comprehensive
	_		
	Diabetes Care: Hemoglobin A1c (HbA1c) testing Patients who were dispensed insulin or hypoglycemics/antihypergly cemics on an ambulatory basis during the measurement year or the year prior to the measurement year. *SEE PRESCRIPTIONS TO IDENTIFY PATIENTS WITH DIABETES IN S.9 STEP 2. Determine the number of patients in the eligible population who had a recent HbA1c test during the measurement year through the search of administrative data systems. STEP 3. Identify patients with a most recent HbA1c test performed. STEP 4. Identify the most recent HbA1c test with result (numerator compliant). Identify a missing result or no HbA1c test done during the measurement year (not	Care: Hemoglobin A1c (HbA1c) Poor Control (>9.0%) PATIENTS WITH DIABETES IN QUESTION S.9 STEP 2. Determine the number of patients in the eligible population who had a recent HbA1c test result during the measurement year through the search of administrative data systems. STEP 3. Identify patients with a most recent HbA1c test performed and the result. STEP 4. Identify the most recent result with an HbA1c level >9.0%, a missing result or no HbA1c test done during the measurement year (numerator compliant). Identify the most recent result with an HbA1c level <=9.0% (not numerator compliant). STEP 5. Exclude from the eligible population patients from step 2 for whom administrative system data identified an exclusion to the service/procedure being measured. *SEE DENOMINATOR EXCLUSION CRITERIA IN QUESTION S.10 STEP 6. Calculate the rate (number	Diabetes Care: Hemoglobin A1c (HbA1c) Control (<8.0%) or the year prior to the measurement year. *SEE PRESCRIPTIONS TO IDENTIFY PATIENTS WITH DIABETES IN S.9 STEP 2. Determine the number of patients in the eligible population who had a recent HbA1c test result during the measurement year through the search of administrative data systems. STEP 3. Identify patients with a most recent HbA1c test performed and the result. STEP 4. Identify the most recent result with an HbA1c level <8.0% (numerator compliant). Identify the most recent result with an HbA1c level >=8.0%, a missing result or no HbA1c test done during the measurement year (not numerator compliant). STEP 5. Exclude from the eligible population patients from step 2 for whom administrative system data
	numerator compliant). STEP 5. Exclude from the eligible population patients from step 2 for whom administrative system data identified an exclusion to the service/procedure being measured. *SEE DENOMINATOR EXCLUSION CRITERIA IN QUESTION S.10 STEP 6. Calculate the rate (number of patients that had an HbA1c test). No diagram provided	of patients with poor HbA1c control >9.0%). No diagram provided	identified an exclusion to the service/procedure being measured. *SEE DENOMINATOR EXCLUSION CRITERIA IN QUESTION S.10 STEP 6. Calculate the rate (number of patients with HbA1c control <8.0%). No diagram provided
Submission items	5.1 Identified measures:5a.1 Are specs completely harmonized?	5.1 Identified measures: 5a.1 Are specs completely harmonized?	5.1 Identified measures: 0024 : Weight Assessment and Counseling for Nutrition and Physical Activity for Children/Adolescents (WCC)
	5a.2 If not completely	5a.2 If not completely harmonized,	5a.1 Are specs completely

0057: Comprehensive	0059: Comprehensive Diabetes	0575: Comprehensive Diabetes Care: Hemoglobin
Diabetes Care: Hemoglobin A1c (HbA1c) testing	Care: Hemoglobin A1c (HbA1c) Poor Control (>9.0%)	A1c (HbA1c) Control (<8.0%)
harmonized, identify difference, rationale,	identify difference, rationale, impact: N/A	harmonized? No
impact: N/A	5b.1 If competing, why superior or	5a.2 If not completely harmonized, identify
		harmonized, identify difference, rationale, impact: Measure 0575 is a single measure that uses health plan reported data to assess the percentage of patients 18-75 years of age with diabetes (type 1 and type 2) whose most recent HbA1c level is <8.0%. Measure 0729 is a composite measure that uses physician reported data to assess the percentage of adult diabetes patients who have optimally managed modifiable risk factors (A1c, LDL, blood pressure, tobacco non-use and daily aspirin usage for patients with diagnosis of ischemic vascular disease). HARMONIZED MEASURE ELEMENTS: Both measures focus on an adult patient population 18-75 years with diabetes. Both measures assess whether the patient had a target HbA1c level <8.0%. Both measures include visit criteria in the last two years to be included in the denominator. UNHARMONIZED MEASURE ELEMENTS: -Data Source:
		Measure 0575 is collected through use of administrative claims and/or medical record.
		Measure 0729 is collected through medical record abstractionLevel of
		Accountability: Measure 0575 is a health plan level measure
		and is also widely used in clinician quality and
		recognition programs. Measure 0729 is a physician
		level measure and therefore only includes only patients

0057: Comprehensive Diabetes Care: Hemoglobin	0059: Comprehensive Diabetes Care: Hemoglobin A1c (HbA1c)	0575: Comprehensive Diabetes Care: Hemoglobin		
A1c (HbA1c) testing	Poor Control (>9.0%)	A1c (HbA1c) Control (<8.0%)		
		 who had an office visit with a reporting provider Exclusions: Measure 0575 includes denominator exclusions for those without a diagnosis of diabetes in the last two years in any setting and a diagnosis of polycystic ovaries in measurement year or diagnosis of gestational or steroid-induced diabetes in the last two years. Measure 0729 includes denominator exclusions for patients with only one visit in the last two years, patients who were pregnant, patients who died, or patients who were in hospice or permanently living in a nursing home. IMPACT ON INTERPRETABILITY AND DATA COLLECTION BURDEN: The differences between these measures do not have an impact on interpretability of publically reported rates. Measure 0575 is collected at the health plan level and the sample does not allow for calculation of a provider specific rate. Measure 0729 is collected at the provider level and is not reported by enough providers to allow for aggregation to the health plan level. There is no added burden of data collection because the data for each measure is collected from different data sources by different entities. 		
		5b.1 If competing, why		

PAGE 155



Appendix G: FMQAI Memo

Response to Steering Committee Concerning NQF 2468: Adherence to Oral Diabetes Agents for Individuals with Diabetes Mellitus Submitted By: FMQAI on behalf of CMS May 14, 2014

The NQF Endocrine Steering Committee, which met on February 27, 2014, requested a revision to the measure specifications that would account for patients who switched from oral diabetes agents to insulin-only during the measurement period. In addition, FMQAI received a public comment requesting the measure account for patients using incretin mimetics (i.e., exenatide and liraglutide). This document provides results from additional analyses conducted to evaluate these scenarios and recommendations regarding revision to the measure specifications.

- 1. What proportion of patients in the denominator use insulin and incretin mimetics? In the 10-state sample, 24.3% (150,774/620,934) of the denominator population had at least one claim for insulin, and 2.85% (17,690/620,934) had at least one claim for incretin mimetics. Since both insulin and incretin mimetics have the indication to be used as the sole medication therapy for diabetes, the impact of medication switching should be evaluated.
- 2. What proportion of individuals switched from oral diabetes agents (ODAs) to insulin- or incretin mimetic-only therapy during the measurement period? In the 10 state sample, among individuals who had at least one claim for insulin (n=150,774), 13.1% switched from ODAs to an insulin-only therapy. Among individuals who had at least one claim for incretin mimetics (n=17,690), 8.8% switched from ODAs to an incretin mimetic-only therapy. This suggests that measure rates would be falsely lowered by not accounting for switching in the measure specification.
- **3.** How are individuals who switched from ODAs to insulin or incretin mimetics identified? Individuals switching to insulin or incretin mimetics are identified by having at least one claim for any type of insulin or incretin mimetic after the end of the days' supply of the last ODA prescription.
- 4. How would adherence to ODAs be calculated for individuals who switched to insulin- or incretin mimetics-only during the measurement period? For these individuals, the ODA measurement period is set to the end date of the days' supply of the last ODA prescription during the measurement year. Therefore, adherence is only calculated while the patient is taking ODAs and there is no disincentive for providers to switch their patients to insulin or incretin mimetics-only.
- 5. Should the measure specifications also address switching between ODAs? The current measure specifications calculate an individual's adherence to each class of ODAs separately (e.g., biguanides, sulfonylureas, etc.) and the individual would need to achieve a Proportion of Days Covered (PDC) ≥0.8 for at least <u>one</u> of the classes to qualify for the numerator. Since individuals might be switched from one ODA to other and it would be difficult

PAGE 156

to operationalize all the potential switching that would occur, FMQAI proposes a second revision of the specifications that would calculate medication adherence to the whole category of ODAs regardless of the class. Therefore, as long as the proportion of days covered across all ODAs was at least 0.8, the individual would qualify for the numerator.

6. What are the impacts from the proposed specification changes on the measure rates and scientific acceptability?

On average, the mean measure rate has increased by approximately 1-3% across each level measured and a substantial gap in performance remains with a mean rate of approximately 76% overall (Appendix A). Variation in performance remains approximately 10-14% between the 10th and 90th percentile (Appendix A). Reliability remains adequate across all levels of measurement and convergent validity is improved (Appendix B).

7. Based on the review, what are the final recommendations and conclusions for the Steering Committee?

FMQAI recommends revising the specifications to account for individuals switching to insulinor incretin mimetic-only therapy and to calculate adherence across all ODA drug classes collectively. Proposed revisions to the specifications are shown below in red.

Revised Specifications

Numerator Statement: Individuals with diabetes mellitus who have at least two claims for ODAs and have a PDC of at least 0.8 for oral diabetes agents.

Numerator Details:

The numerator is defined as individuals with a PDC of 0.8 or greater.

The PDC is calculated as follows:

• PDC Numerator: The PDC numerator is the sum of the days covered by the days' supply of all drug claims in the ODA class. The period covered by the PDC starts on the day the first prescription is filled (index date) and lasts through the end of the measurement period, or death, whichever comes first. For prescriptions with a days' supply that extends beyond the end of the measurement period, count only the days for which the drug was available to the individual during the measurement period. If there are prescriptions for the same drug (generic name) on the same date of service, keep the prescription with the largest days' supply. If prescriptions for the same drug (generic name) overlap, then adjust the prescription start date to be the day after the previous fill has ended.

• PDC Denominator*: The PDC denominator is the number of days from the first prescription date through the end of the measurement period, or death date, whichever comes first.

*Individuals switching to insulin or incretin mimetics are identified by having at least one claim for any type of insulin or incretin mimetics after the end of the days' supply of the last ODA prescription. For these individuals, the ODA measurement period is set to the end date of the days' supply of the last ODA prescription during the measurement year.

Denominator Statement: Individuals at least 18 years of age as of the beginning of the measurement period with diabetes mellitus and at least two claims for oral diabetes agents during the measurement period (12 consecutive months).

Appendix G – Meaningful Differences in Performance

		Mea	Media									
	n	n	n	Min	Max	STD	IQR	P10	P25	P50	P75	P90
Origina												
1	10	73.9	75.2%	67.7	80.8	4.0	5.7	68.2	70.3	75.2	76.0	78.4
Measur	10	%	15.2%	%	%	%	%	%	%	%	%	%
е												
Revise												
d	10	76.6	77.9%	70.2	83.2	3.9	5.2	70.9	73.3	77.9	78.5	81.0
Measur	10	%	11.9%	%	%	%	%	%	%	%	%	%
е												

Table A1. Summary of State Level Performance

Based on the revised measure, four of the 10 states (40.0%) had scores statistically significantly lower than the mean and six states (60.0%) had scores significantly higher than the mean. Measure rates ranged from 70.2% in Mississippi to 83.2% in Iowa, indicating suboptimal performance across all 10 states.

Mea Media Min Max STD IQR P10 P25 P50 P75 P90 n n n Origina 74.2 60.7 83.6 5.7 6.8 66.0 71.2 75.0 78.0 80.8 75.0% 40 Measur % % % % % % % % % % е Revise 76.7 63.2 86.3 5.4 6.4 69.2 73.9 77.5 80.4 82.1 d 77.5% 40 Measur % % % % % % % % % % е

 Table A2. Summary of Plan Level Performance

Based on the revised measure at the plan level, 27.5% of providers were statistically significantly lower than the mean, and 50.0% of providers were statistically significantly higher than the mean. For those plans with at least 175 eligible individuals, high- (90th percentile) and low- (10th percentile) performing plans were 12.9% apart, indicating suboptimal performance across all plans and variation between high- and low-performing plans.

 Table A3. Summary of Physician Group Level Performance

		Mea	Media									
	n	n	n	Min	Max	STD	IQR	P10	P25	P50	P75	P90
Origina												
1	54	72.6	72 40/	43.6	88.7	6.3	7.6	64.8	69.6	73.4	77.2	79.6
Measur	3	%	73.4%	%	%	%	%	%	%	%	%	%
е												
Revise	46	75.9	76.6%	50.5	90.5	5.8	7.3	68.2	72.6	76.6	79.9	82.3

d	4	%	%	%	%	%	%	%	%	%	%
Measur											
е											

Based on the revised measure at the physician group level, 20.3% of providers were statistically significantly lower than the mean, and 23.9% of providers were statistically significantly higher than the mean, indicating a wide range of scores. For those physician groups with at least 175 eligible individuals, high- (90th percentile) and low- (10th percentile) performing physician groups were 14.1% apart. The results indicate ample room for improvement and meaningful differences in quality of care between the highest and lowest performing physician groups.

		Mea	Media									
	n	n	n	Min	Max	STD	IQR	P10	P25	P50	P75	P90
Origina												
1	31	74.6	74.9%	67.5	82.5	3.9	5.6	69.0	71.9	74.9	77.5	79.5
Measur	31	%	74.9%	%	%	%	%	%	%	%	%	%
е												
Revise												
d	31	75.9	76.5%	69.1	83.4	3.9	5.8	70.3	72.6	76.5	78.4	80.8
Measur	31	%	/0.5%	%	%	%	%	%	%	%	%	%
e												

Table A4. Summary of ACO Level Performance

Based on the revised measure at the ACO level, 29.0% of providers were statistically significantly lower than the mean, and 38.7% of providers were statistically significantly higher than the mean. Among all 31 ACOs, high- (90th percentile) and low- (10th percentile) performing ACOs were 10.5% apart, indicating suboptimal performance across all ACOs and variation between high- and low-performing ACOs.

Interpretation of the Results

The results indicate that overall performance, calculated using the revised measure, is suboptimal with variation in performance across states, plans, ACOs, and physician groups. Statistically significant differences were identified at the state, plan, ACO, and physician group level when compared to the overall mean.

State		Original	Measure		Revised Measure				
	Num	Denom	Rate	Reliability	Num	Denom	Rate	Reliability	
Overall	449,843	620,934	72.5%		469,476	623,987	75.2%		
AZ	19,533	27,773	70.3%	0.994	20,494	27,946	73.3%	0.995	
DE	7,706	10,233	75.3%	0.986	8,007	10,286	77.8%	0.988	
FL	105,256	144,262	73.0%	0.999	109,918	145,033	75.8%	0.999	
IA	30,625	37,915	80.8%	0.997	31,630	38,012	83.2%	0.997	
IN	47,862	63,664	75.2%	0.998	49,860	63,946	78.0%	0.998	
MO	46,197	60,955	75.8%	0.998	47,976	61,184	78.4%	0.998	
MS	32,702	48,289	67.7%	0.996	34,048	48,472	70.2%	0.997	
RI	6,146	8,082	76.1%	0.982	6,365	8,107	78.5%	0.985	
ТΧ	123,050	179,316	68.6%	0.999	129,167	180,416	71.6%	0.999	
WA	30,766	40,445	76.1%	0.996	32,011	40,585	78.9%	0.997	

Appendix B – Reliability and Validity

Based on the revised measure, we concluded that the reliability test was adequate, since all state-level reliability scores were greater than 0.7, indicating that the measure would produce reliable scores at the state level.

	Min			
	Denominator	# of Plans	Mean Rate	Reliability Score
Original	150	40	74.2%	0.695
Measure				
Revised	175	40	76.7%	0.717
Measure				

Based on the revised measure and using the method of mean denominator and volume categories, a minimum denominator of 175 resulted in an overall reliability score of >0.7, which is within acceptable norms and indicates sufficient signal strength to discriminate performance between plans.

		# of		
	Min	Physician		
	Denominator	Groups	Mean Rate	Reliability Score
Original	150	543	72.6%	0.697
Measure				
Revised	175	464	75.9%	0.713
Measure				

Based on the revised measure and using the method of mean denominator and volume categories, a minimum denominator of 175 resulted in an overall reliability score of >0.7,

which is within acceptable norms and indicates sufficient signal strength to discriminate performance between physician groups.

ACO		Original	Measure	1	Revised Measure					
	Num	Denom	Rate	Reliability	Num	Denom	Rate	Reliability		
Overall	42,619	57,454	74.2%		43,548	57,722	75.4%			
1	1,327	1,669	79.5%	0.929	1,358	1,675	81.1%	0.932		
2	923	1,205	76.6%	0.897	940	1,211	77.6%	0.898		
3	1,409	1,854	76.0%	0.929	1,446	1,860	77.7%	0.932		
4	760	1,018	74.7%	0.875	777	1,023	76.0%	0.877		
5	947	1,276	74.2%	0.897	959	1,279	75.0%	0.897		
6	691	892	77.5%	0.868	701	894	78.4%	0.869		
7	926	1,199	77.2%	0.898	938	1,206	77.8%	0.898		
8	2,013	2,773	72.6%	0.948	2 <i>,</i> 056	2,778	74.0%	0.948		
9	1,984	2,732	72.6%	0.947	2,046	2,753	74.3%	0.949		
10	873	1,283	68.0%	0.886	891	1,290	69.1%	0.886		
11	1,694	2,244	75.5%	0.940	1,739	2,267	76.7%	0.942		
12	528	709	74.5%	0.829	538	709	75.9%	0.831		
13	1,465	1,891	77.5%	0.933	1,492	1,894	78.8%	0.935		
14	1,035	1,267	81.7%	0.914	1,051	1,272	82.6%	0.916		
15	1,470	1,943	75.7%	0.932	1,498	1,952	76.7%	0.933		
16	2,284	2,996	76.2%	0.955	2,319	3,000	77.3%	0.956		
17	1,677	2,241	74.8%	0.939	1.714	2,248	76.3%	0.940		
18	798	1,026	77.8%	0.884	828	1,035	80.0%	0.890		
19	659	799	82.5%	0.872	668	801	83.4%	0.874		
20	1,112	1,485	74.9%	0.911	1,139	1,488	76.6%	0.913		
21	783	982	79.7%	0.885	797	986	80.8%	0.888		
22	427	633	67.5%	0.793	448	637	70.3%	0.799		
23	2,382	3,148	75.7%	0.957	2,448	3,164	77.4%	0.958		
24	2,471	3,436	71.9%	0.957	2,542	3,449	73.7%	0.958		
25	1,097	1,589	69.0%	0.907	1,113	1,602	69.5%	0.907		
26	750	1,069	70.2%	0.870	777	1,077	72.1%	0.873		
27	1,190	1,654	72.0%	0.915	1,207	1,664	72.5%	0.915		
28	768	1,129	68.0%	0.872	786	1,136	69.2%	0.873		
29	847	1,210	70.0%	0.883	863	1,217	70.9%	0.884		
30	1,119	1,425	78.5%	0.916	1,133	1,429	79.3%	0.916		
31	6,210	8,677	71.6%	0.982	6,336	8,726	72.6%	0.982		

Table B4. ACO Level Measure Rates and Reliability Assessments

We concluded that the reliability test was adequate, since all ACO-level reliability scores were much greater than 0.7, indicating that the measure would produce reliable scores at the ACO level.

Interpretation of the Results

The results from the reliability assessment indicated that the revised measure was reliable for state and ACO level regardless of the denominator size. For physician groups and plans, the reliable scores (i.e., >0.7) were identified with a minimum denominator sizes of 175.

Convergent Validity

We compared a related NQF-endorsed measure, NQF 0543, which assesses adherence to statin therapy for individuals with coronary artery disease (CAD) at the state, ACO, plan, and physician group levels. We would expect a positive correlation between the two measure scores since both measure medication adherence. We tested the measure distributions for normality at each unit of analysis and then selected the appropriate statistical test for the distribution and assessed the significance of the correlation coefficient.

		Mean				
		Measure	Standard			
Measure	n	Rate	Deviation	Median	Minimum	Maximum
NQF 2468:						
Adherence to Oral						
Diabetes Agents for	10	76.6%	3.9%	77.9%	70.2%	83.2%
Individuals with						
Diabetes Mellitus						
NQF 0543:						
Adherence to Statin	10	71.9%	3.7%	72.6%	65.3%	77.8%
Therapy for	10	/1.9%	5.7%	12.0%	03.3%	11.8%
Individuals with CAD						

Table B5. Convergent Va	alidity: Distribution	of State Measure Rates
		of state measure mates

The measure rate is positively correlated with NQF 0543 at the state level (ρ = 0.95, p<0.0001).

		Mean				
		Measure	Standard			
Measure	n	Rate	Deviation	Median	Minimum	Maximum
NQF 2468:						
Adherence to Oral						
Diabetes Agents for	70	75.9%	10.9%	77.1%	40.0%	100%
Individuals with						
Diabetes Mellitus						
NQF 0543:						
Adherence to Statin	70	71 (0)	7.00	72.00/	F0.0%	00.0%
Therapy for	70	71.6%	7.6%	73.0%	50.0%	90.0%
Individuals with CAD						

Table B6. Convergent Validity: Distribution of Plan Measure Rates

The measure rate is positively correlated with NQF 0543 at the plan level (ρ = 0.58, p<0.0001).

Table B7. Convergent Validity: Distribution of Physician Group Measure Rates

		Mean Measure	Standard			
Measure	n	Rate	Deviation	Median	Minimum	Maximum
NQF 2468: Adherence to Oral Diabetes Agents for Individuals with Diabetes Mellitus	6,461	73.4%	17.2%	75.0%	0.0%	100%
NQF 0543: Adherence to Statin Therapy for Individuals with CAD	6,461	67.7%	21.5%	69.4%	0.0%	100%

The measure rate is positively correlated with NQF 0543 at the physician group level (ρ =0.25, p<0.0001).

		Mean				
		Measure	Standard			
Measure	n	Rate	Deviation	Median	Minimum	Maximum
NQF 2468:						
Adherence to Oral						
Diabetes Agents for	31	75.9%	3.9%	76.5%	69.1%	83.4%
Individuals with						
Diabetes Mellitus						
NQF 0543:						
Adherence to Statin	31	70.3%	4.6%	70.8%	59.2%	80.2%
Therapy for	51	70.5%	4.0%	70.8%	55.270	00.2%
Individuals with CAD						

Table B8. Convergent Validity: Distribution of ACO Measure Rates

The measure rate is positively correlated with NQF 0543 at the ACO level (ρ = 0.84, p<0.0001).

Interpretation of the Results

The measure was positively correlated with NQF 0543 (Adherence to Statin Therapy for Individuals with CAD) and statistically significant at all reporting levels with the state and ACO levels showing the strongest correlation.

PAGE 165